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Have you ever overslept because the carefully set alarm clock just 
did not ring in the morning? It sounds banal. But, an unreliable 
alarm clock results in trust dwindling. Trust is an asset so easy to 
unsettle. All the same, we need it day in, day out, as our author 
shows in an experiment on himself (page 50).  

Obviously we trust our family more easily than an unknown  
bus driver. Whether it is a matter of the first insecure metres  
on the bike or investing money later on in life. We trust the tried  
and tested knowledge of our family which has been gathered  
over generations. But particularly today, in a time when there is  
a transformation on the capital markets, the wisdom of yesterday 
is not the last word. This is demonstrated in our study “The family 
genetic code of investing” (page 38). 

This makes it quite clear – when making an investment trusting 
experts pays off. And these experts, the local consultants in coop-
erative banks should be able to trust that client service employees 
at Union Investment will be there to support them when questions 
arise (page 16). 

As a shareholder of our company, you trust that Union Investment 
was economically successful again this reporting year. That we also 
earn your trust, this is something you can convince yourselves of 
in the financial part of the annual report and the CSR report for 
2015.

For this aggregation of trust on the part of our investors, partner 
banks and shareholders, I would like to thank you and would like 
to wish you pleasant reading. And do not forget to set your alarm 
clock this evening …

Hans Joachim Reinke
Chief Executive Officer 
Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Ways to an era  
of no interest

S t r a t e g y

Doubling assets with interest-bearing investments. Between 
1960 and 2000, this was possible in nine to eleven years. Today 
it takes 195 years. This is due primarily to the unprecedented 

low level of interest rates. The Union Investment Board of 
 Managing    Directors shows how it is still possible to generate 

adequate  returns.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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the road to a balanced asset structure, which 
includes capital market investments, we need 
their trust. This we can gain only by a stable 
appreciation of our portfolios.” 

A look at the performance confirms this. 
“With an annual performance of 4.6% across 
all securities classes over the last five years, 
we have shown that we generate good 
investment results for our clients on a long-
term basis.” For this reason it is not surprising 
that more and more investors appreciate 
investment funds as an investment alter-
native in a period of low interest rates. “As 
we know from market research, at the end 
of 2015 funds have the top ranking in the 
minds of investors. With an approval rate of 
35%, funds outrank classical interest-bearing 
investments such as call money, fixed-term 
deposits, fixed-income securities and the 
savings account.”  

The evolution of saving has started

“That investment funds are becoming more 
popular among investors is an important 
step. However, we are only at the beginning 
of the road and there is an incredible amount 
of things still to be done,” continued Reinke. 
From pure-play interest-bearing investments 
to a balanced asset structure, the evolution 
of saving has only just started. But in terms 
of the monetary assets of private households 
in Germany, there is not yet any indication 
to point to the current move to investment 
funds. “There is no change in the 81% for 
interest-bearing investments. The perception 
of having to change something matures only 
gradually.”

“To expedite the evolution of saving is  
a long-term task. A marathon lies in front 
of us – and we have just left the stadium,” 
underlined Reinke. To generate adequate 

Trust makes the difference

Interest and compound interest have more 
or less disappeared – supposedly a textbook 
situation for asset managers. But if one looks 
more closely, the situation turns out to be 
a blessing and a curse at the same time. 
In the low-interest environment it is still 
possible to generate returns, but it is much 
more challenging. “As asset managers we 
have a broader range of tools than other 
players precisely to cope with this challenge,” 
declares Reinke. It was a great opportunity. At 
the same time, it presented a huge responsi-
bility. “If we want to accompany investors on 

The persistent environment of low interest 
rates cannot be compared to any previous 
period. The context for investment decisions 
has changed fundamentally. In the past, in-
terest-bearing investments were inextricably 
connected with reliable returns. The desire for 
security only meant foregoing income. Today 
classical interest-bearing investments no 
longer provide sufficient income. “Someone 
wanting to achieve his investment objec-
tives has to start earlier, save more or invest 
more efficiently,” says Hans Joachim Reinke, 
CEO of Union Investment. “In this situation, 
investment funds have proved to be a reliable 
instrument for long-term investment.”

“To secure the affluence of 
the saver, the investment 
monoculture for private clients 
has to be broken up.”
Hans Joachim Reinke, Chief Executive Officer
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returns and to secure the affluence of the 
saver, the investment monoculture for private 
clients has to be broken up. Together with the 
partners in the Genossenschaftliche Finanz-
Gruppe it is necessary to build bridges, “We 
need simple investment solutions. Only in this 
way is it possible to ensure that profitable 
investment forms which fit the saver’s risk 
profile are not excluded from the outset.” 
According to Reinke, it is not only asset man-
agers and banks but also those responsible 
for financial policy who should keep the 
affluence of savers in their sights.

Low interest rates and regulations 
force a rethink

It is also the view of Alexander Schindler, 
the director on the Union Investment Board 
of Managing Directors responsible for the 
institutional business, that those responsible 
for financial policy play a big role in today’s 
capital market environment, in particular 
those responsible for regulation and central 
bankers. 

Schindler is sure that the massive interven-
tion of the central banks in the wake of 
the financial and economic crisis after the 
Lehman bankruptcy levelled the path for 
the low-interest environment. “In order to 
prevent the collapse of the real economy and 
deflation, key interest rates were reduced 
to around zero and the market was flooded 
with more and more money on the basis of 
the instrument of quantitative easing. This 
was the origin of the low-interest environ-
ment.” On an ongoing basis this low-interest 
environment is a brake on yields, which 
tangibly impacts investor returns. According 
to Schindler, the performance of proprietary 
bank investments (the so-called A securities 
account) declined from 5.2% in 2005 to just 
under 1.8% in 2015. And many life insurance 
companies could not retain their guarantee 
levels if they maintained their current asset 
structure.

Alongside the central banks, regulatory 
authorities are also exercising their influence 
in the post-Lehman era – with certain side 
effects as Schindler recognises, “It is true 
that the more stringent regulation of banks, 
insurance companies and investors has the 
objective of making the financial system safer. 

However, it does increase the risk of shocks.” 
As a consequence of the regulatory require-
ments, large investor groups must make their 
investments in similar positions. On financial 
markets, this leads to a homogeneous move-
ment of various asset classes and could thus 
“result in a simultaneous shock at several 
banks or insurance companies”.

Paradigm shift needed

Despite the environment of low interest rates 
and higher regulation, Schindler also sees 
something positive in the trends over the last 
few years. For example, increased profession-
alism in respect to investments for institution-
al investors. “The low-interest environment 
and increasing regulation have resulted in a 
paradigm shift for investments,” he stated. 
Large investors were facing new challenges 

where familiar approaches often no longer 
functioned. “Today investors have to scruti-
nise established investment concepts and get 
to grips with new asset classes. “Gradually 
opportunity-oriented investments are thus 
again playing an increasing role with institu-
tional investors, “especially as higher-yielding 
bonds are gradually maturing”. 

Key factors: diversification and 
 internationalisation

To support institutional investors in the 
opportunity-oriented alignment of their 
investments, Schindler considers that asset 
managers also have an obligation. “From 
the very start, asset managers must establish 
their investment strategies in such a way 
that they are compliant with the regulatory 
requirements of the different investor groups. 

“More flexibility and more 
risk – but on a controlled basis 
and within the framework of 
regulatory options.”
Alexander Schindler,  Institutional Clients Director

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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breaks being quite evident. “Markets will 
become more unstable and increasingly com-
plex,” confirms Wilhelm. What is even more 
important is the fact that momentum on the 
global economy leaves a lot to be desired. 
This circumscribes the yield potential, not 
only for bonds, but also for other traditional 
investment classes. Due to overcapacity, 
there has been huge pressure on commodity 
investments, particularly oil. And unless the 
global economy brightens considerably, the 
opportunities for equities are also limited. 
This is driven by structural factors, something 
which will not disappear from one day to the 
next. “We thus are talking about ‘lower for 
longer,’” stated Wilhelm. “We are anticipating 
a longer period of low yields.” Furthermore, 
there was an increasing number of market 
participants whose investments were not 
driven by fundamental trends, but by com-
puter-generated signals. “Finding convincing 
answers here is a central task of the fund 
industry,” summarises Wilhelm. For providers 
the ability to innovate was a key competency. 

Innovative finance concepts offer 
opportunities

The good news is that Wilhelm does see 
interesting and new concepts and approaches 
resulting from portfolio theory which can be 
deployed in the low-interest environment, 
“Currently we are making considerable 
investments to expand our expertise in the 
area of alternative risk premiums,” declared 
Wilhelm. In broad terms, this relates to 
investment approaches where it is  possible  
to generate adequate returns largely 
independent from the trends on traditional 
capital markets. “This is high-tech investing,” 
Wilhelm concludes, “But this is the only way 
that we can compensate the melting interest 
returns and other classical risk premiums.” 

Exploit range of asset classes

However, in spite of the alignment to inno-
vate, the tried and tested should not be lost. 
It still is true that investments in real estate 
assets should be part of a sensibly structured 
portfolio. “Real assets such as real estate ben-
efit from the policy of cheap money. “More 
than ever, open-ended real estate funds are 
an essential part of private and institutional 
asset allocation,” confirms Wilhelm.

tors responsible for portfolio management 
and real estate investments, investors should 
have sufficient flexibility and risk propen-
sity. On this basis, despite the challenging 
general conditions, he sees further investment 
opportunities on financial markets. “The time 
of simple solutions has gone. Investors need 
to made broader-based and more innovative 
investments,” underlines Wilhelm. The key 
message is that “In an ongoing low-interest 
environment, not taking a risk is simply the 
bigger risk.”

Fund industry called for

It is not only investors who need to reori-
ent themselves, but also the fund industry.  
Although it is true that asset managers have 
a broader range of options than others, 
operating on financial markets has become 
considerably more challenging, with structural 

They have to provide their investors with 
adequate income and customised reporting.”

First of all, it is a question of a broad diver-
sification of the investments. “Alongside the 
usual investments such as high-yield, subor-
dinate and convertible bonds together with 
securitisations, equity strategies and real es-
tate investments also need to be deployed,” 
stated Schindler. He also recommended an 
internationalisation of the investment strate-
gy so as to benefit from global differences in 
interest rates and growth. Schindler’s watch-
word is “More flexibility and more risk – but 
on a controlled basis and in the framework  
of regulatory options.“ 

Active opportunity management

According to Jens Wilhelm, director on the 
Union Investment Board of Managing Direc-

“The time of simple solutions is 
gone. Investors need to take more 
risks and invest in a more active 
fashion on a broader basis.”
Jens Wilhelm, Portfolio Management and Property Director
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Well prepared for the future

There are clear factors driving success 
for open-ended real estate funds. “What 
is needed is a large real estate portfolio 
diversified across regions and sectors and 
a fund management positioned across the 
whole value chain.” Wilhelm adds a key issue 
for investors, “ Regulation in recent years has 
made open-ended real estate funds even 
more secure for the future.“

Regulation benefiting investors

Designing the regulatory framework in such 
a way that it benefits investors is something 
which is also demanded by Dr Andreas 
Zubrod, director on the Union Investment 
Board of Managing Directors responsible 
for Legal Affairs, Finance and Infrastructure: 
“Regulation can and must contribute to 
restoring trust in the finance industry and its 
offers which has been lost since the financial 
crisis.“ It was important to plan the meas-
ures well and to regulate them in a well-con-
sidered manner to the benefit of investors. 
“Measures which ultimately impact primarily 
private investors due to higher costs, the lack 
of advice and other disadvantages have to 
be avoided,” underlined Zubrod. Particularly 
in the current capital market environment, 
they were already facing enough challenges 
in securing and increasing their wealth. 

Keeping the side effects in sight

For this reason, small investors should have in-
centives to diversify their investments broadly. 
An example – according to Zubrod a balanced, 
broadly based portfolio included open-ended 
real estate funds to diversify risk. Here he still 
sees a clear need for action on the part of the 
legislator. When the Investment Tax Act was 
reformed, instead of increasing incentives, side 
effects were generated which tend to mean 
small savers have to shoulder extra burdens. 
“At the end of 2015, the Federal Ministry of 
Finance published a draft which also disadvan-
tages small investors.” According to the draft 
it was planned to abolish the tax exemption 
on real estate capital gains on disposal after 
the current exemption period of ten years. 
This would result in discriminating against 
open-ended real estate funds as against a 
direct investment “and impacts savers for 

whom it is not financially possible to invest in 
real estate directly,” continued Zubrod. 

Create incentives

As the reform of the Investment Tax Act 
showed, with the planned regulation it 
should be ensured that unintended and 
in some cases serious side effects do not 
result for private and institutional investors. 
Zubrod also sees the legislator as having the 
obligation of creating incentives to make 

savers and investors rethink their investment 
strategy and align it to the current market 
environment. “Investors are already in diffi-
culties. They frequently vacillate between the 
historically driven need for safely and what 
has become a necessary broader diversifi-
cation of their investments. Particularly in 
this low-interest environment, tax incentives 
which make profitable saving attractive are 
important so that investors and savers can 
continue to generate adequate returns,” 
concludes Zubrod.  

“Regulation can and must 
contribute to restoring trust 
in the finance industry 
which has been lost since  
the financial crisis.”
Dr Andreas Zubrod, Legal Affairs, Finance and Infrastructure Director

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Sustainability 
means  
future

R e p o r t

The 2015 Union Investment Sustainability Study, in which 
200  institutional investors with an investment volume of 

almost EUR 3 trillion were surveyed confirms there is  
“a steady upward trajectory in the  acceptance of sustainable 
investment strategies”. With SIRIS, a research platform for 

sustainability topics, Union Investment is  anchoring the 
 importance of the issue in its own investment strategy.
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In the past anyone who talked about investments and sustainability 
in the same breath was not infrequently belittled as a naive idealist. 
But today, sustainability topics are no longer exotic and for many big 
investors are long since part of standard investment practice. 

“Sustainable investments have moved out of the niche,” was the 
 Börsen-Zeitung headline in summer 2015. “Sustainability now has 
a fi xed place in the portfolios of many institutional investors,” 
comments also Alexander Schindler, director on the Union Investment 
Board of Managing Directors responsible for institutional business. 
It was by no means a fashion. The topic would also be around in the 
future. Sustainability, stated Schindler had “become sustainable”. 

Sustainability as risk fi lter

A growing number of investors now paid attention to sustainable 
corporate management. And this was not done out of pure altruism. 
On the contrary – environmental catastrophes, scandals and misman-
agement represented serious risks for the investment. “Sustainability 
has proven itself as an effective risk fi lter,” explains Björn Jesch, Head 
of Portfolio Management at Union Investment, and continued, “It is 
also for this reason that we established an internal team for sustaina-
bility and Engagement as a cross-divisional competency. In this way it 
impacts across the entire portfolio management spectrum. The insights 
of the specialists are used in all investment classes. At the same time, 
important contributions for our sustainability research come from all 
areas.”

The term “sustainability” originated from the forward-thinking 
 Freiberg-based Hans Carl von Carlowitz (1645 – 1714). In today’s 
 public perception, it covers three different dimensions – ecological, 
social and economic sustainability.

The principle of sustainability should ensure that a system is retained 
in its material properties on a long-term basis. Thus in times of fi nan-
cial crises it is not a great surprise that the ideas of von Carlowitz are 
gaining in popularity worldwide. USD 59,000 billion is the fi gure for 
the assets under management of the 1,380 companies (as of 30 July 
2015) which participate in the voluntary obligations of the UN Princi-
ples for Responsible Investment. It is the international benchmark for 
responsible investments. 

Union Investment signed as early as April 2010, one of the fi rst Ger-
man asset managers to do so. With over EUR 17.9 billion client assets 
in sustained investments under management, Union Investment is one 
of the leading German providers in this area. This is also highlighted 
by the award from the FERI rating agency EuroRatings and the Han-
delsblatt in the context of the FERI EuroRating Awards 2016. “We are 
proud to have been awarded the ranking as the best asset manager 
in the ‘Socially Responsible Investing’ category for the second time in 
succession,” declared Jesch. The award underlined the ongoing high 
commitment of Union Investment in the matter of sustainability.

In Germany, investors deploy sustainable investment strategies quite 
clearly because they are largely convinced of the advantages of 
sustainable investing. In a survey among 200 institutional investors, 
56% of users indicated that they were satisfi ed with the results of 

EUR 17.9 
billion
With over EUR 17.9 billion client assets under 
management in sustainable investments, Union 
Investment is one of the leading German players 
in this area.

Ecological sustainability 

Social sustainability

Economic sustainability

The three dimensions of sustainability:

Ecological sustainability 

Social sustainability

Economic sustainability

Union Asset Management Holding AG

11



 sustainable investment. Not even one in ten of them expressed  
a contrary opinion. 

As bond investments in Germany traditionally dominate the portfolios 
of institutional investors, it is not a great surprise that bonds also 
predominate sustainable investments in practise. The represent 42% 
of the assets managed on a sustainable basis. Equities, which tend 
to play a subordinate role for large investors, are ranked second with 
27%. In third place is the real estate asset class. Here 17% of sustain-
able investments are managed. 

Active management benefiting investors

Just how deeply sustainability is anchored in the core business at Union 
Investment is shown not only by the fact that the company created its 
first private label fund with a sustainability filter as early as 1990.

Today active management deploying various measures is normal. 
Jesch comments, “At more than 1,200 annual general meetings, Union 
Investment votes every year on behalf of its investors as an active 
shareholder.” This basis combined with some 4,000 talks to company 
representatives every year has been the way that many urgent sustain-
ability topics are addressed in companies directly and publicly. “The 
basis for this ‘engagement process’ is our conviction that corporate 
management aligned to the principles of sustainability creates added 
value for the investor,“ explains Jesch.

For sustainability to be deployed for risk management, it is first neces-
sary to generate research signals for the various sustainability topics. 
Union Investment takes account of this – with its propriety research 
tool “Sustainable Investment Research Information System” (SIRIS), 
which has been deployed in the portfolio management Sustainability 
competency team since 2013. “The research platform covers data on 
4,500 companies and 95 countries. There the sustainability signals are 
generated for securities and issuers in various asset classes,” explains 
Florian Sommer, Senior Strategist at Union Investment who played a 
key role in developing SIRIS. From 2016, all portfolio managers should 
then be able to access the platform. 

Minimising risks across all asset classes

SIRIS combines figures from internationally known databases on 
environmental, social and governance risks (ESG risks) with its own 
research results, e.g. those generated from company meetings. Even 
current events such as environmental catastrophes or political events 
are integrated, thus increasing the quality and timeliness of the anal-
ysis. The object of IRIS is “to make sustainability in portfolio manage-
ment quantifiable and manageable, across all asset classes. Just as we 
are used to from other key financial indicators,” underscored Sommer.

SIRIS provides a big plus, particularly for institutional investors. 
“According to the definition of sustainability or the investment 
objective, we can combine the performance spectrum on an individual 
basis, for example by combining exclusion criteria or integrating ESG 
ratings,” says Jesch. The necessary background information and data 
are provided by the research platform and the portfolio management 
sustainability experts. 

SIRIS is managed by the Sustainability and Engagement competency 
centre, a team of portfolio managers with demonstrated expertise in 
sustainable investments. The sustainability team reports directly to 
Björn Jesch as Head of Portfolio Management. “This is another way 
we expressly show just how important sustainability topics are across 
all asset classes at Union Investment,” underlines Jesch.  

59,000
USD 59,000 billion is the figure for the assets 
under management of the 1,380 companies (as of 
30 July 2015) which participated in the voluntary 
obligations of the UN Principles for Responsible 
Investment.

Investment

Sustainability 
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E x p e r t  i n t e r v i e w

“Asset managers must 
play an active role”

What exactly does the Governmental Commission of the 
German Corporate Governance Code do? What are the 
 challenges it is facing today?
The core task of the Commission is to observe and analyse ongoing 
development of internationally and nationally recognised standards 
of good and responsible management. Where it is necessary and 
expedient, the Code can be adjusted by recommendations and sug-
gestions. A review also takes place once a year. In addition, it is our 
intention to intensify the dialogue with political decision-makers. This 
applies particularly at the level of the EU. Here an increasing amount 
of corporate governance initiatives originates. 

What does the Governmental Commission of the German 
Corporate Governance Code expect in the area of corporate 
governance from a responsible asset manager? 
In our system, institutional investors play a key role. They are also 
stakeholders who ultimately assess whether a corporation is perme-
ated with good corporate governance or not. This impacts investment 
decisions. For example, for years Union Investment has also been 
analysing governance within companies, if necessary accompanying 
this with public and constructive criticism. 

How can asset managers support good corporate 
 governance within companies – and thus also the work of 
the Corporate Governance Governmental Commission?
By their actively playing their role and with appropriate behaviour 
contributing to ensuring that the topic of corporate governance 
remains at the top of the agenda at individual companies. In respect 
to international investors, I would like to see a better understanding 
of the dual system of corporate organisation with the Management 
Board and the Supervisory Board. 

What is the status of sustainability for corporate 
 governance? 
In the foreword to the Code, we stated that Management Board and 
the Supervisory Board had to ensure the continued existence of the 
enterprise and its sustainable creation of value in conformity with the 
principles of the social market economy. This principles are repeatedly 
underscored with various concrete recommendations in the Code, 
e.g. 4.1.1. 

After all, there is nothing static about corporate governance 
and the best practise regulations which are to be drafted. 
They need to develop on an ongoing basis, reacting to 
changing external circumstances and new questions. Are 
there are current examples for this? 
The German Corporate Governance Code is one of the most com-
pact in Europe. In our view, it is a “mature” compendium of good 
corporate governance. At this present moment in time, we do not see 
any urgent need to make adjustments. However, this does not exclude 
clarifi cations of the Commission which can result from an ongoing 
dialogue with users of the Code and in practise. One topic which we 
will address at the coming Corporate Governance Conference in June 
2016 is the relationship between Supervisory Board and Management 
Board, something which is also undergoing a transformation in the 
wake of a changing profi le of responsibilities. 

Dr Manfred Gentz, Chairman of the Governmental 

Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code.

Manfred Gentz on the Governmental Commission of 
the German Corporate Governance Code.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Aggregation 
of trust

To make progress the help of other people is 
necessary. Clients, consultants in the cooperative 

banks and Union Investment employees form 
a network in which one assumes responsibility 

for the others.

E s s a y

Before you continue reading, just look out of the window for a minute. 
Maybe another load of trust is sweeping past on the street. Every day, 
millions of people sit in buses, and entrust their lives to the bus driver. 
We let the dentist do what he wants in our mouths, without being able to 
assess what he really is doing there and if it is necessary. We are constantly 
trusting people with skills we do not have. But this goes far beyond professional knowledge. 
In love we expose ourselves voluntarily to a danger – the idea of loyalty, the prerequisite for 
a partnership or marriage – would not be possible without trust. 

The help of other people is necessary to make progress. The volume of knowledge is simply too 
large to be able to understand everything oneself. Opportunities are simply too extensive to be 
able to achieve everything on one’s own. What trust brings into such an environment is some-
thing which the sociologist Max Weber recognised and described as early as 1900. Only with 
trust can people operate in highly complex environments without knowing much about them. 

It was a prophetic statement. After all, the world today is more complex than it has ever been. 
And because it is not possible for one person to be an expert in all environments, things have 
become more treacherous than ever before. But with a little bit of trust, this complex world 
has an infi nite number of options. Because we trust, we can not only travel with the bus from 
one end of the city to the other, reading a book the while, we can also cross the Atlantic or 

vanquish illnesses that were incurable twenty years ago. From the astronauts Alexander 
Gerst and Chris Hadfi eld we can fi nd out what life is like in space on the interna-

tional space station. 

And we can be loyal to another person, without being sure if he is 
 r eciprocating.

Trust is the basis of society today, the lubricant of our living together. But for 
those that people entrust, that trust beings responsibility. From time to time, 
the bus driver really feels that he is driving around dozens of people, without 
a seat belt, vulnerable in their trust towards him. Husband and wife both know 

that they also have to do some work for happiness in the partnership, to check each 
other, to behave responsibly. 

We let the dentist do what he wants in our mouths, without being able to 
assess what he really is doing there and if it is necessary. We are constantly 
trusting people with skills we do not have. But this goes far beyond professional knowledge. 
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Showing oneself to be worthy of the trust also means dealing responsibly with the trust which 
has been placed. 

In the process even with all the care and caution in the world, dangers and risks cannot be 
completely excluded. On the night of the wedding, no-one can predict if the marriage which 
has just been solemnised will also last for years. No doctor can promise his patient that the 
cold will be cured within a week and will not develop into pneumonia. But the expertise and 
knowledge are there to keep risks low.

In the end, the basis of trust compensates the lack of knowledge on the part of one of the 
parties and ensures that the skill and experience of the other allows an assessment of the 
opportunities and threats to achieve the optimum result.

This is also possible for everyone when investing. But as with most specialist areas, trust 
originates only when people are connected. In such an important area as fi nances, trust needs 
to be earned. As in a relationship. 

The consultants in the cooperative banks have the necessary expertise and take time 
in meetings. They know what is important for their clients. Our clients. For Union 
Investment is more than just a partner of the cooperative banks 
which supplies customised products. They can place their 
trust in us. Each client consultant in the bank can 
access the specialist knowledge of the Union 
Investment experts at any time. When a client 
in a cooperative bank speaks with his 
 consultant, if he entrusts his generally 
hard earned money to a certain 
extent, then he also places it in our 
hands. 

It is ultimately this aggregation 
of trust which makes Union 
Investment unique.  

“  Trust originates 
only when 
people are 
connected.”

The consultants in the cooperative banks have the necessary expertise and take time 
in meetings. They know what is important for their clients. Our clients. For Union 
Investment is more than just a partner of the cooperative banks 
which supplies customised products. They can place their 
trust in us. Each client consultant in the bank can 
access the specialist knowledge of the Union 
Investment experts at any time. When a client 
in a cooperative bank speaks with his 
 consultant, if he entrusts his generally 
hard earned money to a certain 
extent, then he also places it in our 

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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R e c o r d s

Good connection
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The Union Investment client service is the centre of competence for 
private clients and consultants. Investors often clarify questions they 
have with the bank consultant they trust. If things become tricky, the 
client service is happy to help. Most of the 1.25 million telephone calls 
a year with the client service are made by consultants. Support client 
services for the local experts are thus being expanded on an ongoing 
basis. In turn, the continuous exchange between the local consultants 
provides impulses for sales, which are passed on via client service 
staff to the relevant positions in the company. Thus there is a mutual 
benefit – clients obtain help with their questions and at the same time 
Union Investment obtains a deeper understanding about its client 
requirements.

With rising regulatory requirements and more volatile markets, the 
tasks of client service staff have become increasingly complex over the 
last few years. They are always finding new solutions for investors and 
consultants. For this reason, staff regularly undertake training so as to 
be able to help quickly, competently, thoroughly and reliably – all at 
once. 

Whatever questions relating to the financial world or existing invest-
ments arise, the client service is there to answer them. But who really 
is at the other end of the line for the bank consultant and the end 
client when the friendly voice answers? Four client service employees 
report on their normal working day, about challenges, targets and 
successes.

Whether by phone, letter, fax, e-mail 
or Facebook – the Union Investment 
client service department receives 
thousands of enquires from cooper-
ative bank consultants and investors 
every day. Four employees report 
on their normal working day, about 
challenges, targets and successes. 

Expert support for private clients and consultants – 

Union Investment client service staff.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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350
350 1 Union Investment client service staff  – 
a central pillar for successful sales. 

“It is important to maintain 
a balance between speed and 
thoroughness.”
Alexander Sommer, Union Investment client consultant

In my department we respond to all questions relating to the topics 
“S ecurity Accounts“ and “Riester Pension Products“. About 60% of the 
calls are from bank consultants, 40% from private clients. Overall, there are very few 
enquiries which are similar or identical. In the morning, I do not know what the day 
will bring. That is what is interesting about my job. When dealing with “Securities 
Accounts“, client buy or sell orders have to be executed. With “Riester Pension 
 Products“ the question often crops up about how subsidies can be clawed back. 
We support with clarifi cation here, and discuss the necessary steps which need to 
be taken to ensure our clients obtain the subsidy. If necessary, we even organise 
a conference call between the caller and the Central Pension Benefi ts Agency. Clients 
and bank consultants are enthusiastic about this service, because usually the clarifi -
cation is successful. I am satisfi ed if I can help the caller, when I can see that there is 
a meaning to the work I am doing. We take the time, even if the call sometimes takes 
longer to make sure all questions are defi nitely clarifi ed. It is important to maintain 
a balance between speed and thoroughness.  

“I personally can 
contribute something 
and bring in ideas.”
Miriam Ziegenbein, Union Investment client consultant

I provide support on on-line issues to bank consultants and private clients. At the 
same time, I am involved in various projects in the company. We work on a cross-departmental 
basis. I have direct contact with the clients. At the same time, I have a lot to do within the com-
pany. This makes my job very varied. At regular meetings and conference calls, I can get myself up 
to date and exchange information. Here new ideas are discussed and a check is made if the ideas 
can actually be implemented. I personally can also contribute something and bring in ideas. In the 
second half of 2015, one of the projects I worked on was integrating the Union securities account 
into on-line banking for the cooperative banks. This means that the client can have an overview 
of his fi nances and his investments. Another focal point within our group was working on the 
redesign of our website for private clients. Over the years, my activity has become more complex, 
but at the same time more interesting. Quality is particularly important for me. I am pleased if I am 
able to help the client. Comments such as “You are a real treasure“, or “You have saved my day“, 
motivate me and confi rm me in what I am doing.  

450
Around 5,000 2 calls and 
approximately 450 e-mails are 
received every day. 

2 December 2014 to November 2015.

1 As of 30 November 2015 (permanent employees, 
plus temporary employees and students).
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“We are the proverbial ear 
to the world.”
Jan Dorstewitz, Union Investment client consultant

80%

“I am pleased if I am able 
to help the client.”
Nicole Lengersdorff, Union Investment client consultant

I have been on the team only since the summer 
of 2015. At the beginning, I received training for a period 
of a month together with the other new colleagues. The 
training covered specialist topics and communication. 
I obtained a broad level of knowledge in order to help 
clients on the phone in relation to all their issues. It is 
necessary to be up to date at all times. In the morning on 
the train to work, I read the current business and fi nancial 
news. I now have more than 50 telephone conversations 
a day. Some calls last only a few seconds. Sometimes the 
devil lies in the detail. Then we have to contact the relevant 
departments in order to be able to give a defi nitive answer. 
In addition, our digital reference material is useful – there 
the right solutions for complex cases can also be located. 
I am pleased if I am able to help the client, if his problem is 
solved by the end of the call. In my leisure time, to balance 
things out I take part in sporting activities, and enjoy having 
long telephone conversations with my friends – really 
(laughs).  

1.4

In the most recent survey, 
bank consultants rated 
client service at 1.4 on 
a scale from 1 to 5. Th ose 
surveyed particularly like 
the rapid clarifi ca tion of 
their enquiries and the 
comprehensive responses 
of the staff .

I have been here for ten years. This means I have 
been working a long time in the Union Investment 
client service. Most of my time I spend answering calls 
from bank consultants and private clients. But I am now 
also a trainer in the company and give seminars locally at 
cooperative banks. In Frankfurt, I train new staff. I explain to 
them how the systems function, give courses on working on 
the phone, as well as refresher courses for staff who have 
been with us for some time to update their knowledge. My 
tip for all new employees – even when things get hectic, 
keep calm and always pose questions to understand what 
exactly the client at the other end of the line really wants. 
This saves time, and he is not inundated with unnecessary 
information he does not even want. In Client Service, we 
are often helpful for other departments. After all, we are the 
proverbial ear to the world. If the client has ideas, proposals 
or suggestions for improvement, we note them down and 
pass them on to the relevant department.  

80% of the calls 
are taken within 
30 seconds. 

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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With new tools Union Investment relieves 
its clients of much of the work that the new 
regulations bring. This is also clear from the 

example of Solvency II.

Quick 
support

R e p o r t 

What happens when a horse gets out of control or happens if he 
stumbles due to exuberance and falls to the ground? Either one trusts 
somewhat that the horse learns from its experience, or one puts an 
additional heavy harness on the exhausted animal in order to exercise 
even more control. The latter is the way that the European Union and 
many countries worldwide reacted to the turmoil on financial markets in 
2008. Since then legislators have and will continue to expand the regu-
latory framework in a comprehensive fashion. Particularly for the banks 
and insurance companies which were ailing anyway, this results in addi-
tional burdens – more documentation, more expenses, less flexibility. 

With prescience Union Investment introduced a series of measures in 
order to automate the increased requirements resulting from the ex-
panded regulatory framework as far as possible. With such initiatives, 
Union Investment managed repeatedly to relieve its clients of a large 
part of the extra work related to the regulations. This is also shown by 
the Solvency II project which Union Investment started in 2014 and 
finished successfully in 2015.

Supporting insurance clients

The Solvency II project is named after the eponymous directive of the 
European Union whose application has been mandatory since the 
beginning of 2016. It states that insurance companies must report 
how they invest their funds. As a result a solvency equity requirement 
is derived in each case. If the insurance company invests in invest-
ments with high risk, for example equities, it must maintain higher 

levels of solvency capital than in the case of investments with lower 
risk, such as highly rated sovereign bonds. If the insurance company 
cannot provide detailed information on its investments, with unknown 
investments the highest risk category is assumed. This results in 
increased solvency capital requirements and can be a severe burden 
on the insurance company.

To determine individually and in detail investments which have been 
made and to make all the reports from the very start would be ex-
tremely time consuming for insurance companies. In some cases, they 
do not have the detailed knowledge on complex investment strategies. 
In order to assist its insurance clients and to provide the necessary in-
formation in line with requirements, in 2014 Union Investment started 
to develop electronic reports for its insurance clients in the context of 
the Solvency II project.

Some 20 Union Investment employees from different areas devoted 
several months’ time to Solvency II and were assisted by five external 
service providers each of which deployed two or three staff. The 
objective of the project was to support insurance clients, not only in 
meeting the reporting and notification requirements but also in deter-
mining the solvency capital requirements. To start off with, the project 
members created 50 data fields with information on the investments 
for the electronic reports. Over the course of the project, the number 
of data fields expanded to around 250. One of the reasons for this is 
that in the Solvency II reports other data was integrated, data defined 
in the new European data exchange format within the asset manage-
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Three questions for Tobias Ultsch

Mr Ultsch, you were involved in the electronic 

Solvency II report. Since the middle of 2015, it 

has been available to insurance clients. What 

feedback did you get? 

Primarily positive, also because we made the Solvency 

II reports available so quickly. Many of our competitors 

started much later in developing comparable reporting 

tools.

What would be different for clients if the 

project had not been implemented? 

Almost all our insurance clients use the Solvency II 

reports. The project was developed specifically for 

insurance companies that invest in our funds. If there 

were no electronic Solvency II reports, it would be 

necessary for the client to make considerably more 

provisions. After all, if the investments cannot be 

 specified in detail, the worst case is assumed in 

 calculating solvency capital requirements. This is the 

last thing the client wants.

Are other projects in the works? 

Of course. We are tracking very closely what the 

 legislator is doing. Recently things seem to have 

become more and more impulsive. The lead time for 

new legislation is become shorter and shorter. For 

this reason, it is all the more important that as asset 

managers we can react quickly to new trends so as 

to support our clients in the best possible manner. In 

respect to bank reporting – in particular Basel III – 

there will certainly be some changes. Whenever there 

is a new law on the horizon, or a change is in the 

offing, we examine immediately if we should extend 

an existing project or set up a new one.

Tobias Ultsch has a degree in Economics and 

Engineering. Since 2013, he has been working 

at Union Investment in Advisory Services, Risk 

Management and Supervisory Law group.

“We must react 
promptly to new 

trends”

ment industry and defined with the insurance companies. There were 
also further changes on the part of the legislator as a result of new 
requirements from the European Insurance and Occupational Pension 
Authority (EIOPA) which prescribed extended reporting as of 1 January 
2016. 

Inestimable added value

Despite the considerable expansion, the project was completed on 
time at the end of June 2015, six months before the Solvency II Euro-
pean directive had to be translated into national law, making it a legal 
requirement. This meant that insurance companies could get to grips 
with the reporting required by the legislator in good time, while  
having a tool which assumed most of this reporting. Previously there 
were 18 categories for investments and no precise listing of the indi-
vidual positions. In view of the new regulatory requirement this repre-
sented a gap in the information needed. Once the Solvency II Project 
was successfully completed, Union Investment insurance clients were 
able to receive a summary of their investments and funds with a 
mouse click, as well as having a listing of all individual positions. And 
this only in a form which complied with all requirements imposed by 
the new reporting and notification obligations. 

The electronic reports even make it possible to combine the data 
records with those of other investments automatically. An inestimable 
value added that many competitors were not able to offer their clients 
in such a way so quickly.  

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Moments  
of trust

Life is based on trust. Trust in one-
self, in one’s fellow men, intelligence 

and creativeness. A photo gallery. 

I m p r e s s i o n s

The man seems lost. Has the Rilseseca turned his yellow kayak into a play-
thing it controls? No, the man knows what he is doing. Only the best kayak 
paddlers in the world dare to take the 64 meters descent down the waterfall. 
Ben Stookesberry is one of them. The most important thing is to remain re-
laxed in order to cushion the unpredictable shocks and water movements, say 
extreme wild water drivers. To trust one’s strength and that of the material. 
But what counts more than anything is experience and instinct. The more 
frequently you are buffeted in the river, they say, they better you are able to 
react intuitively to the changing wave.  

In the Rio Alseseca in Mexico 

In wild waters
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The mind says it really is safe. The eyes have already seen how 
others have dipped into the water and are doing their laps. But the 
body, the body maintains its resistance. The legs tremble a little 
with the fi rst steps into the pool. It takes a little bit of self-per-
suasion to get into the pool of the Holiday Inn Shanghai Pudong 
Kangqiao. After all the swimming pool is suspended in the 24th 
fl oor above the city and the bottom of the pool is transparent. But 
the swimmers are safe. The pool designed by Chan Sau Yan Associ-
ates was drafted by several specialised architects and examined for 
safety by space experts. Now there was only one more struggle – 
trust in oneself. It is worth it. After all, those who have swum in the 
pools say it feels like fl ying.

In the Holiday Inn in Shanghai

Suspended swimming

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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On the mountain, every step must be right. After hours of ascent, when 
strength is fading and the air becomes thin, then every decision can be 
a matter of life and death. The mountain guide moves ahead, showing the 
way. His task is to reduce risk and danger to a minimum. It is impossible to 
eliminate them totally. On the mountain the risk factor is always there, just as 
in every other moment in life, say the most experienced Alpine guides. Every 
year they bring thousands of people to the most beautiful, the highest, the 
most spectacular peaks. The guests trust the professionals. They follow their 
decisions. They experience an adventure which takes them to their limits. The 
seemingly impossible becomes possible. The moment at the peak is pure joy, 
fulfi lment, satisfaction, exhaustion, happiness. 

In the Austrian Alps

Icy heights 
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It connects the straights on San Francisco Bay. It is 2,737 metres long,  
27 metres wide and 227 metres high – the Golden Gate Bridge. This 
 monument which was completed in 1937 is justifiably considered to be one 
of the modern wonders of the world. It can be crossed on six traffic lanes 
and two pedestrian and cycle tracks, something 120,000 vehicles do every 
day. San Francisco has often done the impossible – this phrase from engineer 
Joseph B. Strauss was instrumental in securing the mandate to build the 
bridge. Doing the impossible. Not only the trust in human engineering skills, 
construction, in the materials used and their stability gives us this peerless 
feeling of freedom which inevitably encompasses one when travelling over 
the suspension bridge. 

At the Golden Gate Bridge in San Francisco

Monument made of steel

31

Union Asset Management Holding AG



The mentee: Siegfried Ehlert 

When I found out that I had been selected as mentee for the men-
toring program and took part in the kick-off meeting with the other 
13 mentees, I received a piece of paper with my name and the name 
of my mentor together with a few key points on the person. In the 
Intranet I then immediately looked to see what I could find out about 
Dr Frank Engels. I had heard the name a few times, but I did not know 
Dr Engels personally.

At the beginning of the mentoring program, each mentee had filled 
out a profile sheet. Here it was possible to indicate the preferred key 
areas of work. For me these included management and change com-
petency. And these were areas in which Frank had a lot of experience 
to pass on. It is probably for this reason that we came up a match.

Before the first meeting I was positively excited and above all curious. 
It was a little bit like a blind date. At the beginning, the most impor-
tant thing for both of us was getting to know each other – to gener-
ate trust. In total we met six, seven times over the last twelve months. 
Generally spontaneously. In the interim we mailed each other quite 
frequently. I learnt a great deal from Frank. He showed me how to 
make a conscious decision to distance oneself from a current situation 
in order to allow oneself to think strategically. A good example where 
I succeeded in putting the tips I received from Frank into practise was 
in March when I assumed the management of a specialist project. It 
worked out well.

“As mentee one has to be open and have the ability to reflect.”  
One must be willing to discuss things which are uncomfortable. Even 
after the end of the program, Frank and I will maintain the exchange. 
I would then be confident that I could hold him the mirror. I can even 
imagine being a mentor myself, initially with trainees or graduate 
trainees.   

R e c o r d s

For a whole year, a mentor and a mentee exchanged 
views – now they give their report. 

Gaining experience  
with  mentoring

“ As mentee one has to be 
open and have the ability 
to reflect.” 
Siegfried Ehlert works as Group Manager Digital Experience and Coordination. 

The 30-year old with an MBA started his career in 2005 as bank administrator at 

Volksbank Solling eG and in 2010 was a Management Trainee in the Private Clients 

segment at Union Investment.
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The mentor: Dr Frank Engels 

For our meeting, informality was important. And outside the   
normal working environment. We made sure there was enough time.  
I recounted a lot of personal things to create a basis of trust. I wanted 
that Siegfried knows: What type of person is this Frank Engels? How 
does he tick? Topics relating to work and career could come later. 
And for subsequent meetings, we also did not specify a fixed agenda. 
Topics which came up often were management competence and 
change. And Siegfried often introduced ad-hoc matters. It was also my 
expectation that the impulses should come from the mentee. I then 
tried to report from my work experience with comparable examples 
and to provide tips.

Undoubtedly the best experience in the mentoring program for me 
was when Siegfried came through the UniPotenzial Program Assess-
ment Centre with flying colours. I had fun passing on my knowledge. 
We even had exchanges over the weekend via WhatsApp. It was 
a  really great experience that my advice was taken up so well by 
 Siegfried and the plan was successful.

As a result of the exchange I was able to think beyond the confines of 
my own segment, to hear about project topics and how decisions are 
made there.

In the mentoring program it is essential that the mentor and mentee 
do not work in the same unit and are not direct reports. This excludes 
dependencies. One needs to take time and be open for a wide variety 
of topics. And it is important to be a good communicator as one often 
discusses complex situations and things outside one’s own subject 
area.

We will continue after the official end of the program, but in a 
somewhat more balanced way. Looking forward, there will certainly 
be situations in which I will take account of Siegfried’s opinion when 
making decisions. Then I would hope he holds up the mirror.  

What is mentoring?

Mentoring is a process in which a manager with 

experience (the mentor) accompanies a new, generally 

younger employee (the mentee) over a certain period 

of time in a targeted fashion. The mentor advises the 

mentee in his professional and personal development 

and lets him participate from his own experience 

and professional network. The objective of mentoring 

is the development of potential abilities and new 

 competencies. 

In the summer of 2014, a mentoring program was initi-

ated at Union Investment in the form of a pilot project 

with 14 tandems, consisting of mentors and mentees.

“ I was able to think 
beyond the confines of 
my own segment.” 
Dr Frank Engels is an executive at Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH.  

As Managing Director he is responsible for fixed income management.  

The 47-year old has a Ph.D. in Economics, is married with two children.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Almost invariably opportunity and risk make up a unit. With every 
 opportunity there is a risk. And vice versa. Generally the higher the 
gain which can be achieved on the basis of the opportunity, the 
 greater the underlying risk. 

When investing, this principle is of paramount importance. In view 
of the experience gained in the last crisis and increasing regulatory 
requirements, the wish for transparency, risk minimisation and loss 
mitigation has intensified. The challenge is that in a networked world 
the investment risk has long since become a multi-dimensional phe-
nomenon, made up of numerous aspects such as credit and market 
risks, but also reputational and operating risks. This demands a holistic 
risk assessment and management. This is compounded by the fact  
that in a zero-interest environment, nothing is possible without as-
suming risk. As a result risk management is developing more from  
a risk avoidance approach to attacking opportunity management.

For over 20 years, Union Investment has been dealing with risk man-
agement questions relating to investing. As a pioneer in this area, ten 
years ago with the Risk Management Conference the fund company 

created a forum to promote the risk culture in Germany. Every year, 
 academics and investment professionals meet to exchange infor-
mation on the latest developments. What is special is the top-class 
experts – which include the American economist, Daron Acemoglu, 
Professor for Applied Economics at the Massachusetts Institute 
of Technology (MIT), the star international economist Prof. Tomáš 
Sedlácek and the former President of the European Commission,  
José Manuel Barroso. And clients also benefit from the exchange  
between experts, between academics and day-to-day practise. For 
many of the results gained in the conferences trickle down into  
communication at Union Investment – and account can be taken  
of them in investment decisions. 

The three examples below show just how varied risk management can 
be – and that it makes sense to regard it on an interdisciplinary basis. 
They are an excerpt from an even more multifaceted overview on risk 
management.

Risk management 
has many facets

The Risk Management tour can be found here: 

www.dievermessungdesrisikos.de

R e p o r t

When you think about risk management and associate it  
with  formulas, statistics and calculations, you are right. In  
a  networked world with complex challenges, a perspective  

honed on  mathematics would be too narrow.
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It starts with the children. Serious planning 
takes place, even before they come into the 
world – from conception to a full training 
program from birth on. This is only an exam-
ple. There seems to be a prevailing impres-
sion of being able to control and calculate 
everything nowadays – and therefore having 
to do it. But of course this impression of 
calculation is an illusion. We become all the 
more uncertain about something once the 
incalculable comes into play.

This uncertainty when dealing with uncer-
tainty has become a problem in today’s 
technological world. Repeatedly in a wave-
like movement, we are seized by fear and 
spring into action simply for the sake of doing 
something. An example was the apocalyptic 
computer crash scenarios as a result of the 
time change to 2000. This was followed by 
mad cow disease, bird and swine fl u. Despite 
waves of fear, all these threats fortunately 
ended well. But this does not mean that that 
they should have attracted no attention or 
should not have been examined. 

But fears can also become a security risk, as 
was shown by the terror attacks of 

11 September 2001. Due to the fear of 
further attacks, many people switched from 
the plane to the car – with fatal consequenc-
es. Travelling by car is much more dangerous 
than fl ying. As a result, in the twelve months 
after the attacks, there were approximately 
1,600 more deaths on the road than in 
previous years. 

To take good decisions even in periods of 
uncertainty is thus particularly important. 
But how can this be done successfully? 
What we need to know is what type of 
uncertainty we are dealing with. Am I in a 
situation in which I know all the options and 
know approximately the probability of which 
event will occur? We call this deciding under 
risk. In this case, I need statistical thinking. 
But generally, I do not even know all my 
options, let alone the probability of the 
various results. We call this deciding under 
uncertainty. In this case, statistical calcula-
tions do not take us any further. Rather we 
need gut feelings and simple decision-mak-
ing rules (“heuristics”). We have to ignore 
information in order to make decisions more 
quickly, more economically and with greater 
precision. 

Th e art of the good decision: 
in an uncertain world we need 
minds and guts.

With these options in the back of the mind, 
good decisions in periods of uncertainty are 
possible. The more calculable the situation is 
(“risk”), the more we need statistical thinking 
and complex models. The more incalculable 
the situation is (“uncertainty”), the more we 
need simple behavioural rules and intuition. 
The art of good decision-making lies in know-
ing when I am in which situation in order to 
deftly deploy the relevant decision-making 
tools. And it takes the courage not to avoid 
or delay decisions, but to make them cou-
rageously and to take the responsibility for 
having done so.  

Wolfgang Gaissmaier, 
born 1977, does research 

on decisions made under 

uncertainty as Professor for 

Social Psychology and Decision 

Research at Konstanz University. 

Before this he was a senior 

researcher at the Harding Center for Risk Literacy 

at the Berlin-based Max-Planck Institute for Human 

Development. He has won many prizes, including the 

Otto Hahn medal of the Max-Planck-Gesellschaft for 

outstanding academic work and is a member of Die 

Junge Akademie at the Berlin-Brandenburgischen 

Akademie der Wissenschaften und der Leopoldina.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Dr Myriam Dunn 
 Cavelty, born 1976, is 

 Lecturer and Deputy for 

Research and Teaching at the 

Center for Security Studies 

at the Swiss Federal Institute 

of Technology in Zurich. Her 

research focuses on political sociology with topics such 

as risk and security, cyber-security and resilience.

Resilience is a much sought-after resource. 
It designates the ability to react to stress, 
shocks and emergencies without collapsing 
and subsequently to return to the original 
or even improved functionality. The greatest 
benefi t of resilience as part of the tool box 
of today's risk management is the ability 
to deal better with uncertainties. In view of 
the variety, complexity and unpredictability 
of current risks, it is a sheer impossibility 
to guarantee absolute certainty. Even with 
the best possible risk management, it is not 
possible to prevent crises and catastrophes. 
For risk provision there thus is an increasing 
focus on being able to cope with crises better, 
not on how such events can be avoided. 

“We must demand resilience […] It is true 
that the government has a key role here […] 
But we all have to help make the country 
safer.” The British security strategy proposed 
this as early as 2010. And in relation to home 
security, US President Barack Obama noted, 
“Emerging and evolving threats require the 
engagement of our entire nation. Let each 
of us do our part to build a more resilient 
nation.” 

For the risk landscape in the 21st century 
 is changing. The pressure to distribute 
responsibility between states and citizens 
is increasing. The latter are taking on more 
responsibility. 

Some observers see a reinforcement of 
self-determination and society in the transfer 
of responsibility, especially if it results in 
greater participation of citizen-managed 
initiatives. However, other observers warn 
against any excessive romantisation of the 
concept of “community”. They point out the 
negative side effects of regarding resilience 
as an all-encompassing security paradigm. 
Resilience can function only when there is 
an awareness that there are insuperable 
uncertainties. In the realignment to resilience, 
citizens have to be made aware that society 
must always be vigilant against dangers. 

While the new concept of resilience and the 
redistribution of responsibility is relatively 
well established in academic circles and 
international organisations, in the population 
a traditional view of protection and safety 
prevails. In many cases, the state is consid-
ered responsible for ensuring security and 
protection. 

This comes as no surprise. In the framework 
of the social contract, unequivocal roles and 
responsibilities have been specifi ed between 
the governing and the governed. However, 
in applying the resiliency approach this 
relationship will change. Until this has taken 
place, the clear distribution of roles between 
the state and its citizens will be blurred. The 
examination of expectations and reality in 

Resilience – yes, please! But how?
Responsibility and security for all.

respect to responsibility will thus take on 
a key function because it indicates the key 
challenges in the distribution of responsibility 
for risk managers and politicians. Without re-
negotiating the social contract, risk managers 
must act with caution, be in equilibrium on 
how the distribution of responsibility results 
in more security – in a matter which is politi-
cally and socially compatible and effective.  

Dr Tim Prior, born 1975, 

is head of the Risk and 

Resilience Research team at 

the Center for Security Studies 

at the Swiss Federal Institute 

of Technology in Zurich. His 

focus is on the practical use of 

resilience in catastrophe management and reaching 

decisions in risk conditions.
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Current statistics show that of 100,000 
Germans who die, 26,000 die from cancer. 
But according to the general medical assess-
ment only in 26 cases can the cancer can be 
traced back to pesticide residues or chemical 
preservatives in food. Nonetheless, in surveys 
Germans cite pesticide residues as one of the 
greatest current health risks. An unbalanced 
diet, lack of exercise, alcohol consumption 
and smoking, i.e. the four causes to which 
more than half of all early deaths in Germany 
can be traced, play virtually no role in the 
general perception of risk.

Our assessments about risk are often inap-
propriate and demonstrate little rationality. 
Why are we frightened of dangers and risks 
which according to best scientifi c information 
cause little damage? And at the same time 
why do we close our eyes to or largely ignore 
risks which pose a considerable threat? The 
fl ood of media reports on the dangers of 
genetically engineered food, to take an exam-
ple, is one of the causes for this risk paradox. 
In many thousands of years of evolution, one 
has learned to assess anything unsettling as a 

potential danger to the extent that it is close 
in place or time. If the things which are close 
are classifi ed as threatening by experts, then 
our judgement is quickly clear. 

In the past, this direct causality link was 
extremely helpful, for example recognising 
a sabre tooth tiger creeping up as a risk to 
get into safety in due time. However, it tends 
to be a hindrance with the prevailing complex 
risks today. In the reality of risk, what is ob-
vious is often incorrect. For dangers resulting 
from an unbalanced diet, lack of exercise, 
smoking and alcohol consumption impact 
neither directly nor do they increase in a 
linear fashion. 

Things become even more complicated with 
non-linear risks which are interlinked on a 
global basis, such as those emanating from 
climate change or from the global fi nance 
system and the resulting and closely corre-
lated growing imbalance between poor and 
rich. For a layman who thinks in direct causal 
chains, systemic risks are no longer pene-
trable. Even experts have found it diffi cult to 

Do we fear the wrong thing? 
Statistics, psychology and the risk paradox. 

The anniversary: The 10th Risk Management Conference 

There is virtually no other topic which impacted institutional investments in 2015 

more than the euro crisis and the correlating interest yield dilemma. What will the 

future of Europe look like? Is a repetition of the Greek drama possible? What role 

will the European institutions play over the next few years? José Manuel Barroso, 

former President of the European Commission, gave answers to these questions at 

the Union Investment Risk Management Conference. At the Rheingoldhalle in Mainz, 

experts from the fi elds of industry and science gave presentations on this topic in 

front of over 300 institutional investors at the Union Investment Risk Management 

Conference. Jens Wilhelm, member of the Union Investment Board of Managing 

Directors, showed what opportunities are open to investors on today’s markets and 

what investment concepts are constructive. 

model systemic risks even approximately and 
thus to derive reliable recommendations for 
action, for example for risk management. 

What does this mean for our handling of 
risk? Risk management must be aligned to 
a balance between effi ciency and resilience. 
In addition, the solutions must be fair for the 
people affected. This means we need to inte-
grate the uncertainties in the risk compilation 
more and offer solutions which impact even 
in the case of unexpected events (resilience). 
We need a risk management which demon-
strably limits the risks, which deals with the 
scarce resources in a thrifty manner, but 
helps to cope with improbable but possible 
downturns, while at the same time allowing 
a fair distribution of benefi ts and risks.  

Ortwin Renn, born 1951, 

Professor of Environmental So-

ciality and Technical Assessment 

at the University of Stuttgart, 

Dean of the Economic and 

Social Sciences Department and 

Director of the Stuttgart Re-

search Center for Interdisciplinary Risk and Innovation 

Studies at the University of Stuttgart. Founder of the 

DIALOGIK research institute, a not-for-profi t company 

for the investigation and testing of innovative commu-

nication and participation strategies in planning and 

confl ict solution issues.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Grandchild and 
compound interest

F a m i l y  s t u d y
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“Take care of the pence and the pounds will 
take care of themselves.” – “Waste not, want 
not.”  

These sayings may sound somewhat outmod-
ed, but for German investors they are very of-
ten right up to date. Only rarely are questions 
asked as to whether they fit today. On the 
contrary – frequently they are ascribed a uni-
versal claim to validity which helps investors 
find their way in a world which is becoming 
more and more complex. Often the nuggets 
of wisdom and the sayings originate from 
one’s own family and are thus considered to 
be particularly credible. For this reason good 
arguments propounded by experts frequently 
meet with a stony response.

In extensive interviews with family members 
across many generations from more than 

30 families the researchers wanted to find 
out what role the family context plays for 
financial decisions. What interpretation and 
behavioural patterns can be identified? How 
are these patterns passed on to the next 
generation?  

Loyalty to the piggy bank 

The central result of study is that “Individual 
financial decisions are made in the context 
of family experience and values.” This is 
 underlined by the Berlin Sociology Professor 
Christian von Scheve, one of the study’s 
a uthors. Families carry a “big rucksack of 
experiential knowledge” with them. “In 
 mediating financial knowledge it should be 
noted that dealing with money is demonstrat-
ed in an unconscious manner – children learn 
on the basis of observation and imitation. 
Even in families which make great efforts to 
 provide a basic financial education, most of 
the knowledge is mediated in an unconscious 
fashion,” explains von Scheve. “Rules of 
thumb in respect to dealing with money are 
frequently quite old and often originate from 
hard times.” The result is that when saving 
or making pension provisions investors in 
private households shy away from yield-ori-
ented investment forms. Instead they prefer 
to maintain loyalty to the piggy bank. 

Breaking through traditional savings 
behaviour

In an outlook, the study indicates ways to 
escape from traditional savings habits and to 
facilitate promising investments. Alongside 
the individual situation the investor finds 
himself in, one important point is tracking 
down the client’s family environment. It 
is only in this way that clients can under-
stand and counteract non-rational financial 
decisions. 

That is pays to examine the treasure trove of 
family experience and to transfer it to the cur-
rent situation is shown by the Cologne-based 
von Bock family.

There are only a few Germans 
who invest according to the text-
book. They hoard their savings 
in investment forms which have 
proved successful over genera-
tions, but which in times of low 
interest rates bring virtually 
no returns. Why do investors 
still trust traditional saving and 
 investment solutions? The study 
“The family genetic code of 
investing” looks for answers to 
these questions and finds them  
in the family. 

The von Bock family 
is one of the more 
than 30 families who 
partici pated in the 
study. 

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Fedor von Bock learned how to waste not 
from his grandmother, “Before I buy some-
thing, I sleep on it for at least one night,“ 
says the 17-year old from Cologne. He did 
this when he wanted to buy a Micky Mouse 
comic and the situation is the same today. 
“My parents told me again and again – save 
a few cents from each euro you earn. Actually 
I stick to this. I consider very carefully if  
I want to buy something.”
   
This he has in common with his sister Fabiana. 
Before she buys anything, she visualises 
“how long I would have to work for it, for 
example, by babysitting. From a very early 
age, my parents taught me that money does 
not grow on trees.” For her the traditional 
family aphorisms relating to money “have a 
lot to do with the reality. In my view they re-
ally do make sense”. However, this does not 
prevent her from “going out with her friends 
a few times to week to eat sushi,” complains 
mother Beate von Bock laughing, “When she 
does that I tell her that there is food on the 
table at home, for nothing.” 

Grandparents set an example

Beate von Bock, the mother of Fedor and 
Fabiana, often used the motto “Waste not, 
want not”. “I passed this on, even though it 
already was a fearfully clever sounding piece 
of parental advice.” She just had learnt it this 
way. “And my grandparents set the example 
for my parents,” she said. They are well aware 
that the mottoes came from hard times.   

Her husband, Christian von Bock, also thinks 
the reason for his adamant saving is the 
experience of his parents and grandparents 

in times of war. “I come from a family where 
nothing could be thrown out.” His mother 
was the embodiment of thriftiness. “To  
spend money with exuberance is something 
I could not do,” he said. “For all big-ticket 
items, I had to do something myself – deliver 
newspapers, work at the garage.” He would 
pass on this motto for future generations –  
“I worked for the money. Now it should also 
work for me.”   

But now it was no longer enough simply  
to “put money aside. It is important to create 
an investment equilibrium on a secure basis.  
A savings book as in the time of his grand-
parents is equally inappropriate as the poten-
tial best returns, which then often brings with 
them greater risks.”  

“I save a few 
cents from each 
euro I earn.”
Fedor von Bock (17)

“Money does 
not grow on 
trees.”
Fabiana von Bock (21)

You can see the complete study on  

www.wohlstand-familie.de
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E x p e r t  i n t e r v i e w

“Behavioural patterns in dealing 
with money are deeply embed-
ded – and diffi cult to change”

What was the most surprising result of the study? 
What particularly surprised me was the normative character of the 
rules of thumb. Following rules which aim to describe a sensible 
handling of money became a value per se. When children follow these 
rules, they harvest praise and recognition. If they deviate from them, 
there are sanctioned in a number of ways. On the other hand, I had 
not expected just how little families actually talk about money. Of 
course it is easy to make a general statement that one is reluctant to 
talk about money. But as was the case in our interviews three gener-
ations were sitting at the table and it was suddenly clear that there 
never had been a real conversation about dealing with money in the 
family – that was quite remarkable.

Were those surveyed aware that their rules of thumb were 
often pretty ancient?  
On the one hand those surveyed reported that the generation of 
the grandparents had a way with dealing with money which still 
applies, and not only led by example in respect to a specifi c savings 
and spending behaviour, but also established a family tradition, often 
in the form of sayings. On the other hand, it is not always really 
clear where these rules of thumb originate from and that they had 
been passed on over several generations. “The resulting behavioural 
patterns in dealing with money are deeply embedded – and diffi cult 
to change.”

In which period did the sayings originate? 
Most of them come from times which generally were considered 
“diffi cult” or “problematical”, especially of course the time after 
the Second World War. In such times, the possibility of improving the 
income side was often very limited. Very often the rules of thumb 
relate to spending – and urge prudence, thriftiness, economy. Such 
behaviour is still regarded as virtuous even if the social and economic 
environment has long since changed.

What can private people learn from the study? 
Investors can be clear about the fact that such traditional rules of 
thumb exist, without we having to be aware of them in our every-
day decision-making processes. Quite naturally they should also ask 

the question of the targets they are pursuing with their investment 
decisions. If the target is to maximise return, then in all probability the 
traditional rules of thumb are not the optimum option.   

And what can investment consultants learn from the study? 
In general it is certainly possible to say that simply the knowledge 
that such rules of thumb exist and the traditional way of dealing with 
 money should allow the consultant to be suitably aware to be respon-
sive to the wishes of the client in an ideal fashion.

Prof. Christian von Scheve co-author 

of the study “The family genetic code of 

investing”.

Christian von Scheve on the results of the study.
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2015
On 5 July 2015, the Chilehaus together 
with the Kontorhaus district and the 
Speicherstadt was taken up into the 
UNESCO World Heritage list.

Henry Brarens Sloman bought 4.8 million 
bricks from several architects who suffered 
from infl ation. This is what makes the 
Chile haus unmistakeable to this day.  

1924

35,000 m²  

At the age of 60, Henry 
Brarens Sloman buys the 
plot of land which covers 
5,000 square metres. 
Architect Fritz Höger plans 
the Chilehaus which opened 
in 1924. 

The 35,000 square metres of 
rental space in the Chilehaus has 
a vacancy level of under 5%.

4.8 
million
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Chilean 
 heritage

R e a l  e s t a t e  p o r t r a i t

Maybe what the Chilehaus actually is can 
be discovered best up here, from a hot air 
balloon 100 metres over Hamburg. Just like a 
miniature landscape, the centre of Hamburg 
spreads out below. Directly on the Elbe is the 
recently completed Hafencity with its modern 
glass façades, then Speicherstadt constructed 
out of red brick which is criss-crossed by the 
arms of the River Elbe and finally the Kon-
torhaus district in the centre of which is the 
Chilehaus, the most famous office building in 
Hamburg. From this height it is immediately 
apparent that the horizontal ground plan of 
the Chilehaus with its pointed end on the one 
side as the prow and the wide front on the 
other side as the stern embodies nothing else 
than a huge ship.

A fitting symbol in view of the history of its 
builder, Henry Brarens Sloman. Penniless and 
young, in 1869 Sloman, after completing an 
apprenticeship as a metalworker, travels by 
ship to Chile. After working for 22 years in 
the South American country, he sets up on 
his own with his first saltpetre factory “Gute 

Hoffnung”. In 1898, he crosses the Atlantic 
by ship again, returning to Hamburg as a 
rich man. At the age of 60, he decides to do 
something good for his home town. On 21 
October 1922, he buys the approximately 
5,000 square metre plot of land for the Chile-
haus. He addition, he acquires 4.8 million 
bricks from architects hard hit by the rampant 
inflation. Headed by the famous architect 
Fritz Höger, the complex construction of the 
Chilehaus soon starts. It is finished as early 
as 1924. 

International alignment 

For all maritime citizens of Hamburg who 
know Sloman’s story, the ground plan as pas-
senger ship symbolises two things – anyone 
who leaves for the big wide world by ship 
from the Hamburg Port can dream that his 
life will take a turn for the better and that he 
may even become rich. And whenever a ship 
enters Hamburg Port, it may well be bringing 
people from the big wide world who bring 
success and wealth into the city.

The Hamburg Chile-
haus is a fund property 
at Union Investment – 
and a World Heritage 
building since 2015. Its 
history and architec-
ture also say something 
about the real estate 
expertise of the fund 
company.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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Better positioned than ever 
 
The Chilehaus is part of the UniImmo: 
Deutschland open-ended real estate fund 
and has long since been one of the most 
well-known properties owned by Union 
Investment. Just recently it obtained further 
recognition. Since 5 July 2015, the Hamburg 
Chilehaus has officially been a piece of the 
World Heritage. Together with the Kontorhaus 
district and the Speicherstadt, the iconic of-
fice building was taken up into the UNESCO 
World Heritage list. For the investors and 
also for Union Investment, the recognition 
as owner and asset manager was something 
very special. Just how many companies have 
a World Heritage building in their portfolio 
and one which has been generating excellent 
income for years?

The Chilehaus is part of one of the open-ended 
real estate funds. These investment prod-

From the very beginning, the Chilehaus was 
about vastness and distance. And this was 
why the impressive and elegant building fits 
so well to Union Investment, which acquired 
the Chilehaus in 1993. For the real estate 
business at Union Investment has an une-
quivocal international alignment. Some 57% 
of its real estate assets are located outside 
Germany – distributed on 18 European 
markets, two markets in North and Central 
America and four markets in the Asian-Pacific 
region.

The total assets which Union Investment 
currently manages in its 20 real estate funds 
amounts to EUR 31 billion. This makes Union 
Investment one of the leading investment 
companies for real estate. Most of this busi-
ness is from private clients, which is operated 
under the umbrella of Union Investment Real 
Estate GmbH. It is made up of EUR 23.7 
billion in three mutual funds.

ucts are particularly important for Union 
 Investment as they offer private investors 
with small assets the opportunity of investing 
in real estate and of generating income in 
this area. Due to crises on the real estate 
market, in the recent past the legislator has 
increased the requirements for mutual real 
estate funds in respect to transparency and 
solvency. While this is a reason for many real 
estate fund companies to turn away from 
mutual real estate funds,  Union Investment 
meets these legal requirements and actively 
supports further internationalising open- 
ended real estate funds and harmonising the 
products at EU level. Today Union Investment 
Real Estate GmbH is the largest asset mana-
gement company for open-end real estate 
funds in Germany. In 2015, Union Investment 
celebrated 50 years of real estate expertise. 
Also due to the success of the open-end real 
estate funds, its positioning in the private 
client area is better than ever before.

Just one year previously, there was another 
anniversary. With a big celebration, the 90th 
birthday of the Chilehaus was commemorated. 
In his speech, Hamburg’s Mayor Olaf Scholz 
praised the extraordinary architecture, com-
menting on “the playful use of heavy materi-
als”. In addition, the building was presented 
with the largest birthday cake in the history of 
Hamburg – a exactly reconstructed mini Chile-
haus, 2.40 metres long, 1.20 metres wide and 
80 centimetres high. The masterpiece of cake 
making weighed 400 kilograms, including 150 

The interior courtyard of the Chilehaus, part of 

the Kontorhaus district.

Since 1993, the Chilehaus has been owned by Union 

Investment.
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kilograms of sugar and 50 kilograms of choc-
olate, Added to this were 1,600 marzipan and 
sugar iced windows. An extraordinary present 
for an extraordinary building.

Significant to the entire city 

The Chilehaus is only one of many high-qual-
ity buildings in which Union Investment has 
invested. Whether the “Alexa” in Berlin, the 
“Centre d’affaires” in Paris-Trocadéro, the 
“Zebra Tower” in Warsaw, the “Torre Mayor” 

Many of the properties are important for the 
district they are located in or even for the 
whole city. Alongside the Michel, the Chile-
haus has long since been one of the land-
marks of Hamburg. Every day thousands of 
tourists wander around the inner courtyard. 
95% of the 35,000 square metres of rental 
space is occupied. In the ground floor there 
are many retailers such as Manufactum. The 
rest of the building has tenants which include 
a large management consultancy, insurance 
brokers, shipping companies and the Spanish 
Cultural Institute.

With its long history, the Chilehaus also 
symbolises another feature of the Union 
Investment real estate expertise – upgrading 
properties. When the Chilehaus came into the 
ownership of Union Investment in 1993, the 
building was renovated and overhauled. Tak-
ing account of the strict provisions relating 
to listed buildings, the active asset manager 
has since secured the maintenance and the 
ongoing upgrading of the property. This 
secures excellent tenants who are looking for 
an attractive property in a 1A location, while 
at the same time keeping the building in top 
condition. Together this results in an not to 
be underestimated economic value added.  

Typically Chilehaus: red brick. 

in Mexico or the “Watermark Place” in 
London – all of them underpin, quite literally, 
the Union Investment investment strategy. 
Currently it focusses on investments in large 
cities, with a preference for office spaces, 
business parks, hotels and shopping centres, 
recently also in logistics properties. The prop-
erty portfolio of Union Investment’s mutual 
real estate funds currently comprises some 
380 objects. Increasingly, promising invest-
ment opportunities are also taken in B-cities 
and up-and-coming international markets. 

Some of Hamburg’s landmarks around the Speicherstadt.

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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“Two mutual funds and 14 special funds  
for institutional investors”
Institutional investors currently have invested EUR 7.3 billion at 

Union Investment in a total of two institutional mutual funds and 

14 special funds.

“With open-ended real estate funds, large   
portfolio of approximately 380 properties and  
projects worldwide”
This real estate portfolio covers Germany, as well as other European countries, 

America and Asia. In the commercial property sector, Union Investment operates 

as institutional investor and active asset manager. 
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A n n i v e r s a r y  f a c t s

Five decades of real  
estate expertise

“Five decades of real estate  
expertise mean experience  
and innovation”
In 2015, Union Investment celebrated five decades 

of real estate expertise. This durability and the 

resulting ability to emerge strengthened from many  

a real estate crisis makes Union Investment interest-

ing not only for clients, but also attracts promising 

up-and-coming talent as employees. 

“57% of the real estate assets are 
 invested outside Germany”
Today Union Investment invests worldwide, in 18 European mar-

kets, two markets in North and Central America and four markets 

in the Asian-Pacific region. To do so Union Investment maintains 

four regional locations, in Singapore, Paris, Madrid and New York.

“Across Germany, the No. 1 for 
open-ended real estate funds”
Union Investment is not only the largest asset management 

company for open-ended real estate funds in Germany, but 

also is committed to the further development of the product. 

The key objective is to internationalise the products and to 

harmonise them at EU level.

“Diversification has resulted in open-
ing up more than 20 new country 
markets over the last 15 years”
Union Investment takes advantage of the opportunities 

resulting from different real estate cycles on a global basis 

and those occurring regionally. Over time this has resulted 

in a diversification of investment properties not only within 

Germany, but also internationally as new investment regions 

are opened up.

“All properties are subjected to  
a sustainability test”
Sustainability assessments are a fixed part of the investment 

process. Methods to ensure this include the Portfolio Sustaina-

bility Management System which is management software for 

recording, documenting and analysing sustainability-related 

characteristics for real estate. 

Source: Union Investment, as at 31 December 2015.

Union Asset Management Holding AG

“EUR 23.7 billion in investments make  
Union Investment a heavyweight in the 
 private client business”
The money is invested in three mutual funds. Investors invest much 

of the volume in open-ended real estate funds. In this way they 

benefit from the broad Union Investment portfolio and protect their 

investments.
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Union Investment has a strong commitment 
in politics, quasi-political organisations and 
industry associations. Lobbying takes place in 
a very transparent fashion. The cooperative 
investment company registered itself in the 
EU Transparency Register on a voluntary 
basis. 

“Responsible lobbying” is an important 
principle which has been followed for a long 
time. “Only in this way, is it possible to repre-
sent our positions on a long-term basis which 
is what we want to do,” says Dr Andreas 
Zubrod, member of the Board of Managing 
Directors. “We deal openly with our interests 
and political positions.” 

The heart of the commitment is the best 
possible design of the regulatory and political 

environment to the benefit of the investor. 
It is a question of establishing opinion in 
the financial and political arenas, something 
which is positioned on the basis of arguments 
based on solid facts. Furthermore, Union 
Investment also takes part in the general 
political dialogue to be instrumental in the 
design of the European capital market on a 
long-term basis. 

Stance as neutral experts 

The core of this work is to create an 
 environment which offers investors in Europe 
efficient capital markets. Union Investment 
does not stand alone here. “We always 
endeavour to address important points with 
cooperation partners and competitors,” 
continues member of the Board of  

Managing Directors Zubrod. “In this way we 
can design the overall  political framework 
of the fund industry in the best possible way 
together and mitigate counterpositions with 
broad-based arguments backed by facts.” 

Lobby work and commitment – this  
means formulating and pursuing one’s  
own targets and perspectives. It also means 
being the contact and a neutral expert in 
matters of facts in political and in pre- 
political territory – with associations and 
lobby groups. 

The path Union Investment treads in doing  
so is exemplary. Just recently in a Fund 
Research report, the Union Investment lobby 
work was explicitly highlighted as a positive 
example.  

Union Investment commits itself to financial policy – in an 
open and transparent manner. This relates primarily to  

re presenting investor interests, but also to corporate matters. 
This means the fund company can be always addressed as  
a trusting  expert for politicians and industry associations.

R e p o r t

Transparent
interests 
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What we stand for:

European Fund and Asset Management 
Association (EFAMA)  
Alexander Schindler, member of the Union Investment 

Board of Managing Directors, is President of the Europe-

an Fund and Asset Management Association (EFAMA). 

Via the national member association, as umbrella 

association, the European Fund and Asset Management 

Association with its headquarters in Brussels represents some 900 investment 

companies and is committed across all the European instances to achieve an 

appropriate legal framework and to eliminate legal and fiscal obstacles for the 

European investment industry. 

European Parliamentary Financial 
 Services Forum (EPFSF)  
Dr Andreas Zubrod, member of the Union Investment 

Board of Managing Directors, is a member of the 

European Parliamentary Financial Services Forum. Via this 

exchange platform representatives of the European finan-

cial industry remain in regular exchange with members of 

the European Parliament. The aim of the initiative is improved competitive clout 

of the European financial market.

Deutsches Aktieninstitut (DAI)  
Jens Wilhelm, member of the Union Investment Board of 

Managing Directors, is a member of the Board and Exec-

utive Board at Deutsches Aktieninstitut. As a lobbyist, the 

institute works actively to shape German and European 

capital markets and their general conditions. The DAI 

represents German business with an interest in capital 

markets and acts as an agency of the Governmental Commission of the German 

Corporate Governance Code. 

 www.forum-ng.org

 www.bvi.de

 

 www.rics.org

 www.epfsf.org

Federal Association of German Fund 
Management Companies  
Hans Joachim Reinke, member of the Union Investment 

Board of Managing Directors, is a Board member in 

the Federal Association of German Fund Management 

Companies in Frankfurt am Main. This national industry 

association represents the interests of its 92 members 

and is the competency centre and central contract for politicians and regulatory 

authorities for a financial market policy aligned to investor interests.  

Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(RICS)  
Martin J. Brühl, executive at Union Investment Real 

Estate GmbH, is President of the Royal Institution of 

Chartered Surveyors, a leading global professional 

body for real estate business with 120,000 members 

which is headquartered in London. In this function, 

Brühl is responsible for the dissemination and implementation of international 

professional and ethical standards. His focus is on the responsible investment 

of trust assets, both in reference to ecologically sustainable investments and to 

contemporary risk management. 

Principles for Responsible Investment 
(PRI)  
Florian Sommer, Senior Strategist for Sustainability at 

 Union Investment, is a member of the Fixed Income 

Advisory Committee at Principles for Responsible Invest-

ment (PRI), a finance initiative of the United Nations 

which develops principles for responsible investment. 

The particular focus of the initiative is the increasing importance of the areas 

environment, social issues and corporate management.

 

www.esma.europa.eu

European Securities and Markets 
 Authority (ESMA) 
Dr Mike Rinker, lawyer in the Union Investment legal 

department, is a member of the Consultative Working 

Group (CWG) of the Market Data Standing Committee 

(MDSC) of the European Securities and Markets Authority. 

In particular, the MDSC drafts the technical standards, 

directives and well as questions and answers in relation to the reporting 

requirements resulting from the EMIR and MiFID II. The expert group is advised 

by a CWG, the members of which are determined by the ESMA from the group 

of European market participants.

Forum Nachhaltige Geldanlagen (FNG) 
Matthias Stapelfeldt, responsible at Union Investment 

for the development and implementation of sustainable 

strategy is a Board member in the Forum Nachhaltige 

Geldanlagen (FNG), the professional body for sustainable 

investments in Germany, Austria, Liechtenstein and 

Switzerland. FNG stands for more sustainability in the 

financial industry and aims to achieve better legal and political conditions for 

sustainable investments. 

www.efama.org

www.epfsf.org

ww.dai.de

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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A day full  
of trust 

Our author kept a record for a whole day when he trusted 
 other people. His conclusion: without trust our daily life would 
collapse like a house of cards. Even the visit to the hairdresser 

would be perilous. But read for yourself.

A n  e x p e r i m e n t
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6.00 a.m., wake up
Ring, ring. The alarm clock rings, I turn over onto the other side. Of 
course, when I set it yesterday evening, I trusted the clock, or more 
precisely its manufacturer, that it would wake me up on time. But 
that I even survived the night has something to do with my landlord 
and my chimney sweep. They deal with the regular maintenance and 
control of the gas boiler in the kitchen, which we use to heat our 
apartment. With this in mind, I consider when it was checked the last 
time, and am concerned when I cannot recall when it happened. Ring, 
ring. The alarm clocks rings more loudly. 

7.50 a.m., crossing the zebra crossing
I put my one-year old twins in the trailer and jump onto my bike to 
bring the two of them into the crèche. On the way there is a traffic 
light for pedestrians. I trust the car drivers will stop at a red traffic 
light and when my traffic light turns green I start off without looking 
left or right. Today I note this with alarm. And of course, I trust that 
the traffic light circuit is working correctly and that green will not be 
showing in two directions at once.

8.00 a.m., leave children at the crèche
Two nursery school teachers care for 16 to 20 children in the crèche. 
Every day I trust that they will manage to keep a regular eye on my 
twins, alongside all the other children. It is crazy that the other  
parents also trust that this will be the case. 

8.01 a.m., the mobile network 
I have left the crèche and reassure myself that the nursery school 
teachers will call me if anything happens to my small children. So  
I also trust my mobile or more exactly the network operator that the 
nursery school teachers from the crèche can reach me. Technology. 
Just as with the alarm clock. From this point on, I will not mention  
it anymore, but in the course of the day, I will trust technology innu-
merable times – when I use my mobile phone, when I start up  
my computer in the office, when I put on the light in the evening. In 
the end, even the innumerable glances at my watch are small signs  
of trust in the excellent timepiece. In most cases I have no choice but 
to trust. Without technology, I would have no electricity, no heating, 
no telephone, no internet. In other words – I have no choice but to 
trust in the technology.

8.09 a.m., getting onto the bus
A classic example of trust which happens every day. Previously I was 
not aware of it. I put on my seat belt in my own car, even for a very 
short trip. But in the bus I sit and allow myself to be ferried around 
through the commuter traffic without a seat belt for twenty minutes 
by a completely unknown person.

8.30 a.m., at the hairdressers
I have my hair cut – or expressed in the words of trust – I allow  
a cool young lady with scissors to play around with my hair! By the 
way – this is a true story – last year in Tajikistan a prison governor 
wanted to have his hair cut by an hairdresser convict – who stabbed 
him to death with the scissors.

9.00 a.m., in the office on time
I start up the computer. There is no password. I go onto the internet 
and see that I am still logged into my e-mail account. Happens to me 
quite often. My colleagues would never read my e-mails. I trust them 
on that.

11.00 a.m., read the paper
A report on rubbish on Mount Everest. The journalist lets a Sherpa 
speak, a Sherpa who climbs every day from the Base Camp approxi-
mately 1,000 metres and disposes of the rubbish during the moun-
taineering season for a period of several months. Really every day!?  
I trust the journalist, who in turn trusts the Sherpa. 

12.30 p.m., lunch in the canteen
Baked potatoes in cream of mushroom sauce. There is a crunching 
sound in my mouth. The last time I was so shocked I spit everything 
out, thinking it was a piece of glass. My colleagues laughed as the 
cook explained that he was using thick grained salt. Since then I have 
preferred to trust him, even if there is another crunching sound in my 
mouth today.

3.00 p.m., research Wikipedia
I enter an abbreviation from the finance industry which I do not un-
derstand and find a Wikipedia entry on the subject. To be on the safe 
side, I use another source, but this too I have to trust. We now obtain 
information round the clock, not only from the media, which at least 
evidences a very low rate of error, but also from our contacts, from 
Facebook, from Wikipedia. How often do we really check how much 
truth is in it? Almost never.

4.00 p.m., an appointment outside the office
I have an appointment outside the office, and ask a passer-by how to 
get there. “Down the road, then left after the traffic light.” Without 
hesitating, I follow his directions.

4.00 p.m. my wife will manage it
My wife picks up the children in the afternoon, as she does today. 
Then she crosses the pedestrian traffic light on the bike with them in 
the trailer, carries them up the steps and gives them something to eat. 
I would never dream of not trusting her.

7.00 p.m., driving home using car-sharing
Before I can start the Mini rented from DriveNow, I must confirm there 
is no new damage. I do not even walk around the car. Much too com-
plicated. After all, the previous driver will not have had an accident.

10.00 p.m., going to sleep
I set the alarm clock for the next day. And going to sleep, I reflect on 
what happened during the day. Without trust, life would be a night-
mare. With trust, it is actually quite pleasant.  

Union Asset Management Holding AG
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2015 financial year

Key Performance Indicators

“ 2015 was another successful year for 
Union Investment. Our development  
is based on two stable pillars: business 
with institutional investors and our 
 l ong-standing relationship with more  
than 4.1 million retail clients.”

   Hans Joachim Reinke,  
   CEO of Union Investment

Source: Union Investment. 
All data as at 31 December 2015

Rise in assets under management
from EUR 232.1 billion in 2014 to EUR 260.8 
billion in 2015.
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New business in the Union Investment Group
Net inflows in EUR billion

Net inflows and assets under management (AuM)  
of institutional and retail clients
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Net inflows  
in EUR billion
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in EUR billion
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2015 18.2 147.7 8.0 113.1

2014 11.1 130.0 5.1 102.3
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10 March 2016 will go down in history as the day when the ECB reduced the key interest 
rate to zero and raised the “penalty interest rate” for deposits held by commercial banks 
to 0.4 percent. By now, it should be clear to everyone that the old familiar forms of saving 
are no longer viable, because no substantial interest can be earned and this is likely to re-
main the case for the foreseeable future. This puts German savers in what looks to be an 
irresolvable dilemma. For all they are able to rationally comprehend that the old methods 
are no more and they need to change the way they invest their money, their instinct tells 
them that security is the supreme priority and they should not shift from this view.

Nevertheless, we are seeing signs of movement on the market. A movement that is be-
ing triggered by responsible advisory services. 65 percent of Germans consider personal 
advice and support from their bank to be extremely important when making financial 
decisions. The question is not whether saving needs to evolve, but how. We are still in the 
relatively early stages. If you were to compare a long-term change in saving behaviour 
with a marathon, we would barely have left the stadium.

As a trustee for EUR 261 billion in customer deposits, Union Investment feels it has  
a special responsibility in this regard. We want to inspire people to seek more balance 
in their investments. Funds can be a major part of the solution, as they meet customers' 
security requirements and assume some of the risk management responsibility whilst  
also generating adequate income.

Our results for the past year serve to illustrate the success we have enjoyed in this 
respect. At EUR 26.2 billion, our net new business in 2015 was higher than in any other 
year since our company was founded 60 years ago. We also generated earnings before 
taxes of EUR 556 million.

The role of the asset manager has changed considerably over the years. Having started 
out as pure financial intermediaries, today's asset managers are responsible investors in 

Dear Readers, 
Dear Shareholders,
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their own right. Union Investment advocates for good corporate governance in more  
than 4,000 meetings with companies every year. In addition, we now manage almost 
EUR 18 billion in sustainable funds and are Germany’s leading provider in this segment. 
Because we take our social responsibility seriously, we work to permanently advance our 
work in the field of sustainability. In December 2015, to coincide with the United Nations  
Climate Change Conference in Paris, Union Investment adopted a climate strategy entitled 
“2° sind machbar” (2 degrees is achievable) expressing its voluntary commitment to 
implementing and actively supporting the long-term political targets for the reduction of 
emissions as a company.

We stand up for our business, social and ecological environment because our success is 
closely linked to a prosperous society and the confidence placed in us by investors and 
clients. This report, “Aggregation of Trust”, clearly shows that we handle this confidence 
responsibly. It also underlines the fact that we will only be able to achieve our target by 
working together with our partners from the Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe and with 
the impressive commitment of our around 2,700 employees. For this they have my thanks 
on behalf of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Investment. 

We hope you enjoy reading this report,

Hans Joachim Reinke
Chief Executive Officer of Union Asset Management Holding AG:
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Supervisory Board and Executive Committee

In the 2015 financial year, the Supervisory Board 
and its Executive Committee monitored the manage-
ment activities of the Board of Managing Directors in 
accordance with the applicable legal provisions and 
the Articles of Association, and decided on items of 
business that required their consent.

To carry out its responsibilities and in compliance 
with the applicable legal provisions, the Supervisory 
Board formed an Executive Committee that operates, 
in particular, as a Human Resources Committee and 
Audit Committee and prepared the resolutions of the 
Supervisory Board. The Executive Committee met four 
times in 2015. The Supervisory Board was regularly 
reported to on its activities.

The Annual General Meeting on 26 May 2015 elected 
Stefan Schindler, Chief Executive Officer of Sparda-
Bank Nürnberg eG, as a member of the Supervisory 
Board with effect from the end of the Annual General 
Meeting to the end of the Annual General Meeting in 
the 2017 financial year. The Supervisory Board wishes 
Stefan Schindler all the best and much success in his 
new function as a member of the Supervisory Board.

Report of the Supervisory Board

Cooperation with the Board of Managing 
Directors

The Board of Managing Directors provided the Super-
visory Board with regular, timely and comprehensive 
written and oral reports on the position and perfor-
mance of the company and the Group and on general 
business developments. The Board of Managing Direc-
tors also regularly informed the Supervisory Board 
about ongoing operations and future business policy, 
including the corporate strategy and organisational 
structures of the Union Investment Group.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the risk position 
of the company and the Group, in addition to the 
development of systems and procedures used to man-
age operational, market and credit / guarantee risks, 
and examined other material risks specific to fund 
management business.

Supervisory Board meetings

The Supervisory Board held four meetings in the 
past financial year. At these meetings, and by way of 
regular reports, in particular the quarterly reports, the 
Supervisory Board was regularly and comprehensively 
informed of the current position of the company and 
the Group, primarily with regard to general busi-
ness performance, key individual transactions and 
any personnel developments. The Supervisory Board 
was informed comprehensively and promptly of the 
work carried out by the Executive Committee. The 
Supervisory Board also approved material investment 
decisions and business action plans. In the period 
under review, this related in particular to the acqui-
sition of 100 % of the shares in Volksbank Invest 
Kapitalanlagegesellschaft m.b.H. (Vienna) and 94.5 % 
of the shares in Immo Kapitalanlage AG (Vienna) by 
Union Asset Management Holding AG, as well as the 
establishment of the VisualVest advisory portal. Other 
key issues covered in the Supervisory Board meet-
ings included budgeting and the effect of regulatory 
changes on the Union Investment Group’s business. 

In addition, the Supervisory Board defined targets in 
accordance with section 111 (5) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) for the proportion of female 
members of the company's Supervisory Board and 
Board of Managing Directors to be met by 30 June 
2017. The target for the Supervisory Board is 20 %. 
In the period under review, the proportion of female 
members of the Supervisory Board was 13.3 %. For 



7

Union Asset Management Holding AG Annual Report 2015 Report of the Supervisory Board

the Board of Managing Directors, which had a propor-
tion of female members of 0 % in the period under 
review, the Supervisory Board defined the current level 
as the target for 30 June 2017.  

Between its meetings, the Supervisory Board was 
informed by the Board of Managing Directors in 
writing about important events such as personnel 
matters. In urgent cases the Supervisory Board ap-
proved significant transactions between meetings by 
adopting resolutions by written procedure. Outside 
the meetings, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board, 
who also chairs the Executive Committee, held 
regular discussions with the Chief Executive Officer 
regarding important decisions and specific individual 
transactions.

Cooperation with the auditor

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesells-
chaft, Eschborn, Frankfurt / Main, was elected as the 
independent auditor by the Annual General Meeting 
on 26 May 2015 and subsequently engaged by the 
Supervisory Board to perform the audit.

In its capacity as the independent auditor, Ernst & 
Young GmbH confirmed that the separate financial 
statements for the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements – including the bookkeeping sys-
tem – as well as the management report for the Com-
pany and the group management report for the 2015 
financial year together with the report on relationships 
with affiliated companies prepared and submitted 
by the Board of Managing Directors complied with 
the applicable legal provisions. The auditors issued 
an unqualified opinion for each of these items. In 
connection with the audit of the report submitted by 
the Board of Managing Directors on relationships with 
affiliated companies, Ernst & Young GmbH confirmed 
that after due audit and assessment “1. the actual 
disclosures in the report are accurate, 2. the considera-
tion paid by the Company for the transactions listed 
in the report was not inappropriately high, and 3. as 
regards the activities listed in the report, there are 
no circumstances that would support an assessment 
materially different from that arrived at by the Board 
of Managing Directors.”

The audit reports were submitted to the members of 
the Supervisory Board, who discussed them in detail. 
The Supervisory Board agrees with the findings of the 
audit.

Adoption of the financial statements

The Executive Committee (Audit Committee) chaired 
by Wolfgang Kirsch prepared for the final examination 
of the Supervisory Board by reviewing the separate 
financial statements, the management report, the 
dependent company report by the Board of Manag-
ing Directors and the proposal for the appropriation 
of profits which was then given a detailed review by 
the full Supervisory Board which also held detailed 
discussions on these matters in the presence of the 
independent auditors. No reservations were expressed. 
The Supervisory Board has also reviewed in detail the 
consolidated financial statements and the Group man-
agement report and, here too, held detailed discussions 
on these matters in the presence of the independent 
auditors. No reservations were expressed here either.

The Supervisory Board also acknowledged and ap-
proved the findings of the audit of the separate finan-
cial statements, the consolidated financial statements, 
the management report for the company, the Group 
management report and the dependent company 
report conducted by the independent auditors. In a 
resolution adopted on 2 March 2016, the Supervisory 
Board approved the separate financial statements 
prepared by the Board of Managing Directors; these 
financial statements were thereby formally adopted. 
The Supervisory Board also agreed with the proposed 
appropriation of profit. In a resolution adopted today, 
the Supervisory Board approved the consolidated 
financial statements prepared and submitted by the 
Board of Managing Directors.

Following the concluding findings of the review 
conducted by the Supervisory Board, no reservations 
were expressed regarding the concluding statement 
by the Board of Managing Directors in the dependent 
company report.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the Board of 
Managing Directors and all employees for their valu-
able contribution in 2015.

Frankfurt / Main, 21 March 2016

Union Asset Management Holding AG 

Wolfgang Kirsch
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Group Management Report  
of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
for the Financial Year  
from 1 January to 31 December 2015
Note

This management report should be read in the context 
of the audited financial data and disclosures in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The 
management report also includes forward-looking 
statements that are based on current planning, as-
sumptions and estimates rather than on historical 
facts. Forward-looking statements always apply to the 
time the statements are made. Union Asset Manage-
ment Holding AG (UMH) is under no obligation to re-
vise these statements when new information becomes 
available. Forward-looking statements are always 
subject to risk and uncertainty. We therefore explicitly 
note that actual events can differ significantly from 
those forecast as a result of a number of factors. Fac-
tors that currently appear to be material are described 
under “Forecast, Report on Risks and Opportunities” 
and in other sections of this report. 

Note: Tables and references may contain rounding 
differences compared with the precise mathematical 
figures (monetary units, percentages, etc.).
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1)  Comprises the equity investments included in the consolidated group of the UMH Group, as at 31 December 2015.

A Basic Information  
 on the Group
Union Asset Management Holding AG and its subsidi-
aries (Union Investment) form part of the cooperative 
financial network (Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe). 
The objectives and strategies pursued by Union Invest-
ment are therefore shaped by the guiding principles 
of the Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe, which 
focus on mutual benefit and decentralisation. In this 
structure, the local primary banks and their members 
are supported by specialist service providers that pool 
expertise in particular types of products and services 
and operate at a national level. The range of services 
provided by Union Investment – highly professional, 
innovative asset management products and solutions 
with competitive terms and conditions – is aimed at 
both retail and institutional clients. 

In retail business, Union Investment services are 
exclusively available to the retail clients of the partner 
banks (“Verbund First”). Union Investment offers 
precisely tailored support for the client advisory pro-
cess conducted by the partner banks, which involves 
a two-stage sales approach. As a solutions provider, 
it identifies and stimulates retail client needs. It then 
provides targeted support in the form of suitable 
products and services to cover the entire partner value 
chain, enabling the partner to offer the best possible 
range of asset management options. 

The products and services in institutional clients busi-
ness are aimed at discerning institutional investors 
of varying sizes. Clients from within the Genossen-
schaftliche FinanzGruppe include partner banks, the 
other specialist institutions and the corporate clients 
of the cooperative partner banks. Union Investment 
also competes to attract custom from other insti-
tutional investors outside the Genossenschaftliche 
FinanzGruppe, such as pension funds. 

The core geographical area of the retail client activities 
of Union Investment is the territory covered by the 
Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe (Germany). The 
institutional clients business also has a regional focus 
in Germany, although there are some activities in 
other markets on a selective basis. The main locations 
of the Union Investment asset management units are 
Frankfurt, Hamburg, Luxembourg, Vienna and Warsaw.

The Union Investment Group comprises a number of 
individual companies with Union Asset Management 

Holding AG (UMH) as the parent holding company. 
The consolidated group of UMH consists of 23 
entities.1) These entities also include non-operating 
companies whose purpose is, for example, to hold 
properties. The most significant equity investments in 
the Union Investment portfolio can be broken down 
as follows: 

•  Asset management companies in Germany and 
abroad: Bundling of asset management expertise 
for different management styles, asset classes or 
regional capital markets. 

• Financial service providers: 
 Portfolio management, consulting and advice in the  
 field of quantitative asset management. 

• Banks: 
 Provision of investment accounts for retail clients.

• Service companies: 
 Provision of fund management services and  
 infrastructure.

• Securities trading companies: 
 Bundling of fund brokerage, investment custody  
 business and funds sales for various companies  
 based in Luxembourg. 
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Germany Rest of world

Asset management companies Service companies Other subsidiaries  Management companies

Union Investment 
Privatfonds

Union IT-Services BIG-Immobilien GmbH & Co. 
Betriebs KG

Union Investment 
Luxembourg

Union Investment  
Institutional

Union Service-Gesellschaft BIG-Immobilien GmbH Union Investment  
TFI Warsaw

Union Investment  
Real Estate

UIR Verwaltungsgesellschaft VisualVest BEA Union Investment
Hong Kong

Union Investment  
Institutional Property Non-controlling interests Union Investment Austria,

Vienna

R+V Pensionsfonds Immo Kapitalanlage,
Vienna

compertis
Securities trading

companies

Banks Financial service providers Nalinus Union Investment Financial
Services, Luxembourg

Union Investment  
Service Bank Quoniam Asset Management VR Consultingpartner GmbH attrax

Luxembourg

For external purposes the Union Investment Group  
is managed by the individual companies as legal 
entities. Internally, the management concept at Union 
Investment is defined by a uniform company- and 
location-wide organisation according to segments. 
The core competencies of marketing and portfolio 
management are each organised into two segments: 

Retail Clients and Institutional Clients for the former, 
and Portfolio Management and Real Estate for the 
latter. There are two further segments known as Fund 
Services (fund administration, investment custody 
business, fund brokerage) and Infrastructure (IT, 
 general administration, project management). 

Specifically, these are the following companies:
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UNION ASSET MANAGEMENT HOLDING AG

Central and management units of the holding company

Fund asset  
managementMarketing Investment custody business,  

fund administration, fund brokerage

SEGMENTS
Retail Clients,  

Institutional Clients

SEGMENT
Fund 

Services

SEGMENTS
Portfolio Management,  

Real Estate

The companies of the Union Investment Group are 
allocated to these segments. In some cases, individual 
units within a company are assigned to different seg-
ments. Exceptions to this are non-integrated compa-
nies, such as joint ventures (for example, BEA Union 
Investment) on account the ownership structure, and 
Union Investment equity investments in which self-
contained management is beneficial because of the 
business model involved (for example, Union Invest-
ment TFI). These companies are managed through 
their respective supervisory bodies.

As an asset manager, Union Investment systematically 
and successfully focuses on the investment needs of 
retail and institutional clients. It offers retail investors 
products and services covering a range of require-
ments, including personal pension products, invest-
ment solutions and wealth accumulation. Currently 
the most successful solutions are the Riester pension 
plan product from Union Investment, UniProfiRente, 
and the Privatfonds series. Other options offered to re-

tail investors include equity funds, fixed-income funds, 
money market funds, open-ended real estate funds, 
mixed funds, funds of funds, capital preservation funds 
and multi-asset solutions.  

Union Investment stands out as an innovative, reliable 
and progressive investment expert based on its de-
tailed understanding of the specific needs of institu-
tional investors and on the transparency of its day-to-
day activities. As one of the largest fund management 
companies in Germany, it is able to offer an extensive 
range of diverse investment strategies to satisfy the 
needs of its clients. These strategies include traditional 
special funds, a number of institutional funds with 
varying structures, advisory and outsourcing mandates 
and institutional asset management. 

UMH’s business purpose is essentially the acquisi-
tion, management and disposal of equity investments, 
in particular in asset management companies in 
Germany and abroad, for its own account. Further-

IT services, project management, general administration

Support services

SEGMENT
Infrastructure



14

more, its business purpose is the performance of other 
services exclusively for its subsidiaries, provided that 
the law does not require a special permit for this, and 
transactions and activities directly or indirectly neces-
sary or useful for achieving its business purpose.

In February 2015, Union Asset Management Holding 
AG formed a new company, VisualVest GmbH (VisV), 
domiciled in Frankfurt / Main. The purpose of the com-
pany is to provide Internet-based investment advisory 
and brokerage services solely for funds administered 
in accordance with the UCITS Directive (EU Directive 
2009/65/EC dated 13 July 2009). A corresponding 
permit in accordance with section 34f (1) of the Trade 
and Industry Code was issued on 18 September 2015. 
Custodial agreements are also brokered via Union 
Investment Service Bank AG (USB). USB will assume 
responsibility for fund unit acquisition and securi-
ties account management for joint customers of VisV 
and USB. Online investment advisory services will be 
launched on the German market in the first quarter of 
2016 with a selection of 14 portfolios.

On 3 July 2015, the company also acquired 100% of 
the shares in Volksbank Invest Kapitalanlagegesells-
chaft mbH (VB Invest), Vienna, Austria, meaning that it 
also acquired 94.5% of the shares in Immo Kapital-
anlage AG, Vienna (Immo KAG). The closing date for 
the transaction, i.e. the date of transfer of the shares 
in the companies and the payment of the agreed 
purchase price, was 17 December 2015. VB Invest has 
traded as Union Investment Austria GmbH (UIA) since 
31 December 2015. To date, Union Investment's activ-
ities in Austria have focused on institutional investors. 
This acquisition will provide additional support for this 
client group. In the retail client segment, the extremely 
successful model of close cooperation between Union 
Investment and the primary banks will also be offered 
to the cooperative banks in Austria in future.

In 2015, the UMH subsidiary Union Investment Insti-
tutional GmbH established an international branch in 
the British capital, London. This branch is intended to 
strengthen Union Investment's business activities in 
London and increase its market presence in the United 
Kingdom, particularly for institutional investors. The 
activities to be performed via the London branch will 
be concentrated on local support for international 
clients. The German Federal Financial Supervisory Au-
thority (BaFin) was informed of the start of operations 
in July 2015 and the branch is expected to commence 
operations in the first quarter of 2016. 

B Economic Report

I. General economic and industry  
  conditions 

1. Capital markets

2015 was a challenging year on the capital markets, 
with highly varied and volatile value performance in 
the different investment classes. This was primarily due 
to three factors: Firstly, Greece temporarily risked leav-
ing the euro area following the election victory of the 
Syriza alliance and the “no” vote in the referendum 
on the EU austerity measures. Secondly, many market 
participants became increasingly doubtful as to the 
economic condition of China, and hence the growth 
in the global economy as a whole. And thirdly, the 
question of whether and when the US Federal Reserve 
would initiate a cycle of interest rate increases follow-
ing several years of zero interest rates led to additional 
uncertainty on the capital markets.

Although there were no signs of a significant slow-
down in global growth in 2015, the gap between the 
industrialised nations and the emerging economies 
continued to grow. The USA saw stable economic de-
velopment, while growth in the euro area increasingly 
enjoyed broader foundations thanks to the gradual 
recovery of previously crisis-hit nations such as Spain 
and Italy. In China, various economic data midway 
through the year signalised a slowdown in eco-
nomic momentum. The sustained weakness of many 
commodity prices also had an adverse effect on the 
economic performance of those emerging economies 
with a strong dependence on commodity exports. 

To stimulate the excessively low level of inflation, the 
European Central Bank (ECB) announced a further 
relaxation in its fiscal policy (quantitative easing) in 
January, as well as the purchase of euro-denominated 
government bonds with a monthly volume of EUR 60 
billion until September 2016. From the end of the 
third quarter of 2015, Mario Draghi and his Executive 
Board colleagues began preparing the markets for an 
expansion or extension of the programme initiated in 
March. However, this led to such inflated expectations 
on the part of market participants that the measures 
announced in early December (including a 10 bp 
reduction in the deposit rate and the extension for the 
bond purchase programme to March 2017) proved 
to be bitterly disappointing. On the other side of the 
Atlantic, discussions among the Federal Open Market 
Committee concerning a withdrawal from the US Fed-
eral Reserve's policy of zero interest rates intensified 
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as the year progressed. The interest rate move that 
many market participants had anticipated for Septem-
ber was initially postponed in light of the uncertainty 
in the emerging economies and low inflation, before 
finally taking place in December.
 
The fixed-income markets saw varied performance in 
this challenging capital market environment. The prior-
year trend for government bonds from issuers with 
good credit ratings, such as the USA and Germany, 
initially continued with prices for the leading ten-year 
bonds again enjoying strong growth. However, various 
market-related factors triggered a substantial wave of 
selling in April. With risk aversion increasing, conserva-
tive government bonds again benefited from their 
status as a supposed “safe haven”. Performance over 
the year as a whole was moderately positive. 

The stock markets also enjoyed a friendly start to 
2015. Stock exchanges in the “Old World” in particu-
lar recorded growth on the back of the solid economic 
outlook for the euro area. Meanwhile, US equities 
lagged behind somewhat as the strength of the US 
dollar, which rose to as much as 1.05 EUR/USD during 
the course of the year, and weak commodity prices 
impacted the commodity-sensitive S&P 500 Index. The 
situation turned around midway through the year as 
concerns among many market participants with regard 
to the significant slowdown in economic growth 
in China led to a dramatic slump on the country's 
stock exchange. Almost all the global stock markets 
subsequently fell amid fears that the downturn could 
spread to the world economy as a whole. The lack of 

transparency on the part of the US Federal Reserve 
and the unrest triggered by the Volkswagen emissions 
scandal meant that volatility on the capital markets 
remained high. Sentiment picked up considerably 
from October onwards in anticipation of a significant 
expansion of the ECB's quantitative easing. When 
these hopes were disappointed in early December, 
accompanied by OPEC's near-simultaneous decision 
not to curb oil production and the resulting slump in 
oil prices, the stock markets responded by falling once 
again. All in all, the stock markets of the euro area 
and Japan recorded high single-digit growth in 2015, 
the US market remained essentially unchanged, and 
the emerging markets saw a substantial downturn.

The commodity markets saw little in the way of 
change, with the downward trend in oil prices in par-
ticular accelerating further as the year progressed. At 
the end of the year, Brent Crude was at its lowest level 
since 2004. Other commodity prices also initially con-
tinued to decline in light of fears of slower growth in 
China, although some stabilised in the fourth quarter.
Although the global economic environment is 
characterised by historically low levels of growth, the 
weak oil price in most industrialised nations is likely 
to provide positive impetus for growth. By contrast, 
countries with comparatively strong domestic oil pro-
duction, such as Canada, are expected to be among 
the losers as a result of this development. The same 
applies to the highly commodity-oriented emerging 
economies. China remains a risk factor for the global 
economy, with the necessary economic restructuring 
unlikely to leave the growth trend unscathed. 

Source: Datastream, Union Investment, as at 31 December 2015.

2015: Varied and volatile capital market development
Performance in local currency
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We are anticipating economic growth of 2.1 percent 
in the USA in 2016. The first interest rate move by the 
US Federal Reserve in late 2015 is set to be followed 
by additional moves during the current year. In any 
case, however, the central bank is likely to act with 
great caution and reserve, raising interest rates with 
a sense of proportion so as not to disrupt the current 
sustained economic cycle. 

Low energy prices and the tailwind of a weak euro are 
likely to continue to boost growth in the euro area. 
We expect to see economic growth of 1.4 percent in 
2016. The leading indicators in recent weeks suggest 
a broad-based upturn at both sector and country level.

Despite the start of a cycle of interest rate increases in 
the USA, we do not consider yields on the other side 
of the Atlantic to offer substantial growth potential. 
We expect ten-year US government bond yields to 
amount to 2.2 percent at the end of 2016. German 
government bond yields will also remain low, with 
the extension of the ECB's bond purchase programme 
leading to additional demand. We expect ten-year 
German sovereign bonds to have a yield of 0.7 per-
cent at the end of December 2016.

On the stock markets, prices are likely to rise due to 
high global liquidity and the lack of alternatives in 
other investment classes. The picture looks particularly 
positive when it comes to European equities: with the 
improvement in the economy, the weaker euro and 
lower risk provisioning among banks, we expect Euro-
pean companies to enjoy an upturn in profitability of 
almost ten percent. On the US market, the strong US 
dollar and the low oil price mean that profits are likely 
to remain at the prior-year level. We are adopting a 
cautious view with regard to the emerging markets, 
although the prospects have become more favourable 
of late.

The outlook for commodities also remains funda-
mentally restrained, although many commodity 
prices have recently hit multi-year lows. On the crude 
oil market, the reduction in US production is offset 
by high production rates in Iraq and Saudi Arabia. 
Industrial metals are suffering from the concerns 
surrounding the state of the Chinese economy. The 
strength of the US dollar is likely to pose an ad-
ditional burden, meaning that volatility on the com-
modity markets could remain high over the  coming 
months.

■  2015
■  2016

■  2015
■  2016

Source: Union Investment, as at 8 January 2016.

Growth and inflation forecasts
Changes (%) as against the previous year

GDP Inflation

Euro area Euro areaUnited States United States JapanJapanGermany
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Global markets: almost exclusively rental growth
Property clock, office – Q4 2014

Note
The clock shows where the respective office market is within the rent cycle in the assessment of Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL).
The local markets can move in different directions and at different speeds.
The positions are not necessarily representative for the investment market.

Property clock, office – Q4 2015

Accelerated rent 
decline

Slower rent decline

Amsterdam, Madrid

Stockholm, Tokyo

Singapore, Munich

Luxembourg, 
New York

Hamburg, Frankfurt

Mexico City

London

Slower rent growth

Accelerated rent 
growth

Paris

Zurich

Warsaw

Brussels, Lisbon, Seoul, 
Washington D.C.

Source: Jones Lang LaSalle, Union Investment, as at: Q4 2015.

2. Real estate markets 

2015 was a good year for the global real estate indus-
try. Office space rentals to companies increased on the 
back of the improved economic outlook.

Most of the European office markets enjoyed positive 
development in 2015, with vacancy rates remaining 
stable or declining in many locations. Average prime 
office rents rose by around three percent in the course 
of 2015. London, Luxembourg, Madrid and Stockholm 
saw particularly strong rental growth. The German 
office markets also saw encouraging development. 
The positive performance of the US office real estate 
markets continued in 2015, with rents rising and 
vacancy rates falling across almost all locations. By 
contrast, the major office markets in the Asia / Pacific 
region again saw mixed developments in 2015. In 
Sydney and Tokyo, high demand for office space led 
to significant rental growth and falling vacancy rates, 
whereas rents in Singapore declined significantly 
compared with the previous year.

In light of the positive outlook for the market and the 
sustained low level of financing costs, commercial 
property remained a popular investment class among 
international investors in 2015. At around EUR 650 
billion, the global transaction volume for commercial 
property in 2015 was up around one percent on the 
extremely high figure recorded in the previous year. 
Worldwide, the largest transaction volume was again 
recorded on the American continent, where the com-
mercial property transaction volume increased by four 

percent year-on-year to just under EUR 287 billion. In 
Europe, commercial property with a value of around 
EUR 249 billion was purchased in 2015, down almost 
one percent on the previous year. The transaction vol-
ume in the Asia / Pacific region was around EUR 114 
billion, meaning that investment in commercial prop-
erty declined by a good four percent compared with 
the previous year.
 
The sustained low level of interest rates and the 
robust economic outlook means that demand for real 
estate investments remains high. Many of the active 
investors on the market are still looking for high-
quality properties with long-term tenants and stable 
rental income. However, the substantial price growth 
and the sustained positive market outlook are being 
accompanied by growing risk propensity in terms of 
property and location quality. 2016 is expected to see 
an extremely high transaction volume in the commer-
cial property sector once again.

3. Sales and fund assets 

Sector situation: Mutual funds 

In 2015, the German investment industry reported 
total net inflows in mutual securities funds of EUR 
71.9 billion in this environment. In particular, this 
benefited mixed funds (EUR 38.6 billion), equity funds 
(EUR 21.1 billion) and fixed-income funds (EUR 6.3 
billion). Slight net inflows were recorded by the asset 
classes of money market funds (EUR 1.6 billion) and 
target return funds (EUR 1.6 billion). Mutual fund 
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Singapore
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Mexico City
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investors moved away from capital preservation funds 
(down EUR 1.9 billion). The other asset classes within 
mutual securities funds together accounted for further 
net inflows of EUR 1.3 billion. Open-ended real estate 
funds attracted net inflows of EUR 3.3 billion (source: 
BVI investment statistics 12/2015). 

Sector situation: Special funds

In 2015, the German investment industry generated 
net inflows of EUR 115.4 billion (as at 30 Decem-
ber 2015) in the special securities funds under their 
management, representing an increase as against the 
previous year (30 December 2014: EUR 84.6 billion). 
The volume of special funds under management as 
at the end of December 2015 was higher than in the 
previous year at EUR 1,284.4 billion (30 December 
2014: EUR 1,184.3 billion) (source: BVI statistics).

Sector situation: Real estate funds 

The market for German open-ended real estate funds 
was divided in the 2015 financial year. On the one 
hand, 16 open-ended real estate funds were being 
wound up, while on the other hand the products 
that are being actively sold for the most part saw 
substantial net inflows. Despite the possible knock-on 
effects on investor sentiment from consistent fund 
liquidations, the industry therefore continued to enjoy 
significant investor confidence in the future success of 
open-ended real estate funds. One fund largely held 
by institutional investors, which suspended the re-
demption of fund units, must announce in the course 
of 2016 whether or not it will reopen. 

The shake-out on the market for open-ended real 
estate funds is therefore ongoing. Nonetheless, the 
products still being actively marketed brought the 
industry a net total of approximately EUR 4.7 billion in 
new funds up to October 2015. This is proof positive of 
investors’ fundamental confidence in this asset class.

II. Specific business performance

1.  Overview of assets under manage-
ment and performance 

1.1 Fund business / assets under management 

The number of products set up or managed by UMH 
investees under fund management mandates was 
1,027 in 2015, up considerably on the prior-year level 
of 969.
 
The volume of assets under management climbed 
from EUR 232.1 billion as at 31 December 2014 to 
EUR 260.8 billion in 2015, an increase of EUR +28.7 
billion. This increase was primarily attributable to net 
inflows as well as the positive performance on the 
international capital markets.

The development of assets under management in 
2015 can be summarised as follows:
 
•The volume of mutual funds increased by EUR 16.1 
billion to EUR 152.7 billion.
• The volume of special funds climbed by EUR 9.6 
billion to EUR 78.0 billion.
• The volume of other format (advisory mandates 
and asset management) less outsourced mandates 
was up on the previous year at EUR 30.1 billion (EUR 
27.0 billion).

In addition to the volume of assets under manage-
ment of EUR 260.8 billion, a further EUR 5.2 billion 
resulted from the acquisition of the Austrian compa-
nies UIA and Immo KAG. UIA's assets under man-
agement amounted to EUR 4.5 billion, with mutual 
funds accounting for EUR 1.6 billion, special funds for 
EUR 0.8 billion and other formats for EUR 2.1 billion. 
Immo Kapitalanlage AG's assets under management 
consisted of EUR 0.7 billion in mutual funds.
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Volume of assets under management The volume of assets under management in the Union 
Investment Group was as follows as at the end of the 
reporting period:

Under the UMH banner, the Union Investment 
Group had total assets under management of EUR 
260,801,521 thousand as at the end of the reporting 
period (previous year: EUR 232,057,370 thousand). 
The fund assets comprise equity funds, fixed-income 
funds, money market funds, mixed funds, other securi-
ties funds, capital preservation funds, real estate funds, 
alternative investment funds and hybrid funds issued 
by the Union Investment Group.

The Union Investment Group also manages assets as 
part of its unit-linked asset management and insti-
tutional asset management business, under advisory 
and outsourcing mandates and private banking.  
The volume of the funds issued by the Union 
Investment Group for which portfolio management 
has been outsourced is shown as a deduction. The 

definition of assets under management is based on 
the aggregate statistics from the Federal Associa-
tion of German Fund Management Companies (BVI), 
Frankfurt / Main.

Assets managed on behalf of Group companies 
are included in the breakdowns. Some of these are 
accounted for in accordance with IFRS 10. In line 
with BVI aggregate statistics, the fund volumes for 
BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong 
Kong, a joint venture included in consolidation using 
the equity method, and IPConcept (Luxemburg) S.A., 
Luxembourg-Strassen, (IPC Luxembourg) and IPCon-
cept (Schweiz) AG, Zurich, (IPC Switzerland) have also 
been included in the figures shown. IPC Luxembourg 
and IPC Switzerland are unconsolidated subsidiaries of 
the DZ BANK Group.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Fund assets 230,684,503 205,060,984 25,623,519

Volume in other formats 40,713,945 35,132,153 5,581,792

of which unit-linked asset management 696,000 500,000 196,000

of which institutional asset management 10,341,797 8,400,968 1,940,829

of which advisory and outsourcing 29,676,148 26,231,185 3,444,963

Accounts managed by third parties -10,596,927 -8,135,767 -2,461,160

Total 260,801,521 232,057,370 28,744,151

Net inflows to assets under management The table below gives a breakdown of the net inflows 
to assets under management in the Union Investment 
Group. 

Net inflows to assets under management constitute 
the balance of inflows to and outflows from the 
product formats that make up assets under manage-

ment. This figure was EUR 26,197,028 thousand in 
the financial year (previous year: EUR 16,171,523 
thousand). 

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Net inflows (fund assets) 23,583,402 15,093,227 8,490,175

Net inflows (in other formats) 4,793,263 2,929,358 1,863,905

of which institutional asset management 1,661,075 1,395,474 265,601

of which advisory and outsourcing 3,132,188 1,533,884 1,598,304

Net change in accounts managed by third parties -2,179,637 -1,851,062 -328,575

Total 26,197,028 16,171,523 10,025,505
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Net inflows to fund assets The net inflows to the fund assets of the Union Invest-
ment Group break down as follows: 

Volume of fund assets The volume of the fund assets of the Union Invest-
ment Group as at the end of the reporting period was 
as follows:

  
2015 2014 Change 

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Mutual funds 13,522,278 10,504,821 3,017,457

Equity funds 1,957,771 40,608 1,917,163

Fixed-income funds 160,765 2,562,559 -2,401,794

Money market funds 10,104,255 651,039 9,453,216

Mixed funds 2,322,979 6,189,683 -3,866,704

Other securities funds -142,445 -237,196 94,751

Capital preservation funds -1,030,948 -1,298,356 267,408

Hedge funds 123,677 – 123,677

Open-ended real estate funds 26,224 2,447,285 -2,421,061

Alternative investment funds – 15,521 -15,521

Hybrid funds – 133,678 -133,678

Special funds 10,061,124 4,588,406 5,472,718

Equity funds 100,450 -35,028 135,478

Fixed-income funds – 741,399 -741,399

Money market funds 7,967,112 – 7,967,112

Mixed funds 69,949 2,109,015 -2,039,066

Other securities funds 116,111 96,916 19,195

Capital preservation funds 1,010,872 990,957 19,915

Special real estate funds 9,216 603,071 -593,855

Lifecycle funds 787,414 – 787,414

Alternative investment funds – 82,076 -82,076

Total 23,583,402 15,093,227 8,490,175

 
31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change 

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand 

Mutual funds 152,709,712 136,632,629 16,077,083

Equity funds 37,683,257 33,136,944 4,546,313

Fixed-income funds 2,897,959 37,112,296 -34,214,337

Money market funds 30,958,022 2,670,006 28,288,016

Mixed funds 38,600,512 22,373,045 16,227,467

Other securities funds 863,247 950,014 -86,767

Pension funds 12,978,694 – 12,978,694

Capital preservation funds 752,514 13,994,678 -13,242,164

Hedge funds 800,445 – 800,445

Open-ended real estate funds 27,175,062 24,920,568 2,254,494

Alternative investment funds – 696,054 -696,054

Hybrid funds – 779,024 -779,024

Special funds 77,974,791 68,428,355 9,546,436

Equity funds 516,352 298,009 218,343

Fixed-income funds – 10,995,747 -10,995,747

Money market funds 52,076,488 – 52,076,488

Mixed funds 10,982,548 44,788,187 -33,805,639

Other securities funds 590,437 417,681 172,756

Capital preservation funds 10,340,490 9,304,845 1,035,645

Special real estate funds 95,345 2,542,143 -2,446,798

Lifecycle funds 3,373,131 – 3,373,131

Alternative investment funds – 81,743 -81,743

Total 230,684,503 205,060,984 25,623,519
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Number of funds managed The number of investment funds managed as at the 
end of the reporting period was as follows: 

  
31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change 

Number Number Number 

Mutual funds 795 736 59

Equity funds 181 163 18

Fixed-income funds 13 152 -139

Money market funds 330 12 318

Mixed funds 153 291 -138

Other securities funds 8 7 1

Capital preservation funds 82 91 -9

Hedge funds 15 – 15

Open-ended real estate funds 7 6 1

Funds of funds 6 – 6

Alternative investment funds – 7 -7

Hybrid funds – 7 -7

Special funds 345 324 21

Equity funds 4 1 3

Fixed-income funds – 27 -27

Money market funds 227 – 227

Mixed funds 30 203 -173

Other securities funds 2 2 –

Capital preservation funds 68 76 -8

Special real estate funds – 13 -13

Lifecycle funds 12 – 12

Alternative investment funds 2 2 –

Total 1,140 1,060 80

1.2 Performance of Union Investment  
 Group funds 2) 

The positive performance in most market segments in 
the past twelve months was reflected in the figures 
for the managed funds. Thanks to active management, 
there were positive asset yields in all main categories. 
Weighted by volume, 83.0% of the mutual funds 
outperformed their respective benchmarks.
 
Equity funds

The equity funds managed to increase by an average 
of 13.3% in absolute terms. The differing performance 
of the stock markets was reflected in the figures for 
funds, as was the continued strength of the US dollar 
in 2015. All in all, global blue chip funds (up 13.4%) 
significantly outperformed emerging market funds 
(down 2.9%). In the industrialised  nations, Euro-
pean small cap funds enjoyed the strongest growth 
(up 24.8%). European equity funds also developed 
extremely well (up 15.4%), thereby slightly outper-
forming investment products with a focus on Germany 

(up 14.6%) and the euro area (up 12.7 percent). In 
relative terms, the equity funds left the relevant bench-
marks well behind them (+3.0 percentage points). This 
positive development is reflected in the broad palette 
of equity funds in terms of global composites (global 
+3.0 percentage points, emerging markets +1.8 
percentage points), as well as their European counter-
parts (Europe +3.8 percentage points, euro area +3.2 
percentage points, Germany +3.0 percentage points). 

Fixed-income funds 

The development of fixed-income funds in 2015 was 
driven by the low yields and increased volatility on the 
bond markets. Funds focusing on euro-denominated 
government bonds recorded growth of 0.7% in this 
environment. Corporate bond funds (investment grade 
rating) lost 0.4% over the past twelve months in the 
wake of the turbulence on the corporate bond market, 
but still outperformed the relevant benchmarks by 0.1 
percentage points. Funds with an investment focus on 
emerging market bonds (hard currency) rose by 0.5%, 
also 0.1 percentage points ahead of the respective 

2)  All the performance figures shown below are based on gross performance, i.e. are cost-adjusted and relate to the 2015 financial year.
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benchmarks. European, global and US fixed-income 
mandates benefited from the weakness of the euro in 
2015 to record growth of between 4.1% and 13.0%, 
with the latter outperforming the relevant benchmarks 
by 2.1 percentage points. 
 
Money market funds 

Money market and related funds turned in a convinc-
ing performance of 0.4% on average and were there-
fore 0.4 percentage points ahead of their benchmarks, 
whose yields were practically at zero on account of the 
sustained low interest environment. 
 
Mixed funds 

Mixed mandates added an average of 3.7%, thereby 
outperforming the relevant benchmarks by 0.9 per-
centage points. Asymmetric, dynamic capital preser-
vation products and guarantee funds both recorded 
growth of 1.2% in the challenging capital market 
environment of the past twelve months.

Real estate funds for retail investors 

The open-ended real estate mutual funds managed by 
Union Investment for retail investors reported annual 
returns of +2.9% (UniImmo: Deutschland), +2.7% 
(UniImmo: Europa) and +3.0% (UniImmo: Global) 
as at 31 December 2015. UniImmo: Deutschland 
and UniImmo: Europa improved significantly, while 
UniImmo: Global was stable over the year.

Real estate funds for institutional investors 

Business with institutional real estate investors contin-
ued to expand in 2015. Performance contributions by 
the special funds managed, DEFO-Immobilienfonds 1, 
UII Shopping Nr. 1, UII Hotel Nr. 1 and DIFA-Fonds Nr. 
3, were in line with planning. 

The institutional mutual fund UniInstitutional 
European Real Estate achieved a gain of +2.0% by 
the end of December. UniInstitutional German Real 
Estate, another institutional mutual fund, success-
fully acquired additional properties and therefore also 
remained on target. In line with planning, there were 
no new acquisitions in the year under review for UII 
Immobilien Miteigentumsfonds Nr. 1. 

Immobilien-Spezialfonds Residential Value, BAEV 
Immobilienfonds I, R+V Deutschland Real, VGV Im-
mobilienfonds I, VGV Immobilienfonds II and Redos 
Einzelhandel Deutschland, which were created as 
service asset management mandates, are in the 
continuing investment phase. The investor of SDK Im-
moselect and SDL Immoselect, two funds that provide 
a pooling function for an insurance group, decided to 
significantly reduce the real estate allocation following 
an asset allocation study. SDL Immoselect was merged 
into SDK Immoselect as a result of this decision. In 
addition, a sub-portfolio of around EUR 77 million 
from the merged fund was sold to a third party in 
December 2015. SDK Immoselect will be transferred to 
a master asset management company in spring 2016, 

*Performance since 31 December 2014; rounding differences possible. Source: Union Investment, as at 31 December 2015.

Union funds against benchmark (1 year)*

80 funds /  
EUR 32.4 billion

176 funds /  
EUR 43.3 billion

11 funds /  
EUR 9.9 billion

87 funds / 
EUR 26.9 billion

140 funds / 
EUR 15.1 billion

Equity funds Fixed-
income 
funds

Money market / related 
funds

Mixed funds Asymmetric, dynamic 
products

■  Composite gross 
■  Benchmark (market performance)
■  Active yield

0.4%
0.8%

1.2%0.9%

2.8%
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0.4%
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3.0%

10.2%

13.3%
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at which time it will hold only four of the original  
13 target funds. 

VPV Invest enjoyed encouraging development. This 
fund subscribed to new target funds and has in-
creased its capital resources. This was sufficient to 
almost entirely offset the reduced inflows from the 
two aforementioned pooling vehicles. There was no 
additional subscription period in 2015, meaning that 
the maximum fund capital is EUR 45.75 million for 
sub-fund 1 and EUR 87.50 million for sub-fund 2. In 
the first quarter, Lilbourne wind farm in the UK was 
added to the sub-fund portfolio. The wind farm invest-
ment in Panschow (Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania) 
has complemented the German portfolio since the 
fourth quarter. Following the cash calls required for 
the acquisitions, around 64% of sub-fund 1 and 
around 76% of sub-fund 2 had been called down as 
of the end of the year. At year-end 2015, the fund 
was diversified across eight energy investments with 
an installed rated output of over 112 MW(p) in four 
national markets in Europe (Germany, Ireland, UK, 
France). The portfolio is expected to meet its energy 
target for 2015 (energy production from January to 
November was at 99.25% of the target figure and 
December is also set to be largely in line with expecta-
tions). Negotiations on a purchase agreement for a 
major wind farm in Ireland are currently in progress. If 
successful, this could enable the investment of almost 
all the open capital commitments for Q1 2016. In light 
of the weak wind years in 2013/14 and the ongoing 
J-curve effect, there was no distribution from the fund 
during the investment phase. Distributions from the 
fund and the classification of payments from the in-
vestments are currently being discussed with Product 
Management and the auditors.

 
1.3 Awards, rankings and ratings

For the thirteenth time in a row, the renowned Ger-
man business magazine, Capital, awarded Union In-
vestment its highest rating of five stars in 2015. Union 
Investment was the only asset management company 
to receive this honour in 2015. Other than Union 

Investment, just nine other companies out of 100 
rated in total were awarded the top score. In addition 
to fund quality, the assessment also took into account 
the quality of fund management and of the product 
range. At the start of 2015, Finanzen Verlag awarded 
Union Investment the “Golden Bull”, declaring it 
its “Fund Company of the Year”. At the same time, 
Union Investment received 18 certificates for excellent 
performance at an individual fund level.

In late May, Union Investment was a winner at the 
“2015 Institutional Investor European Money Man-
agement Awards” in London in the “Fixed Income 
EUR Corporates Investment Grade” category. The 
company was also recognised as a quality leader for 
institutional business by the US consulting firm Green-
wich Associates. In the new study, Union Investment 
took first place among major German asset managers 
in the “Customer Service” category. Customers ap-
preciate Union Investment for its expertise in the area 
of risk management in particular. In terms of the indi-
vidual asset classes, Union Investment reached the top 
quartile of the Greenwich study in the fixed-income 
and multi-asset categories. Furthermore, in November 
Feri EuroRatings named the company the best asset 
manager in the sustainability category for the second 
year in succession.

In the quarterly ranking of asset management com-
panies by Feri EuroRating Services as at 31 December 
2015, Union Investment was ranked sixth with a 
ratio of 52.9% of funds with a top rating, meaning it 
remains the best-placed German asset management 
company (Deka: 7th, 51.9%; Allianz Global Investors: 
12th, 48.2%; Deutsche Asset & Wealth Management: 
23rd, 35.1%).

In the rankings issued by the Morningstar ratings 
agency as at 31 December 2015 that compare Union 
Investment against its main competitors in Germany, 
Union Investment was ranked second over one year, 
third over three years and second over five years. The 
proportion of funds in the upper half of each peer 
group was 53.2% over a one-year period, and 51.3% 
and 52.5% over the longer analysis periods. 
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2. Development in net inflows and 
 fund assets 

2.1 Union Investment Group inflows and  
 fund assets 

The Union Investment Group had total assets under 
management of EUR 260.8 billion as at 31 December 
2015 (2014: EUR 232.1 billion). These assets were 
distributed among both retail and institutional clients.

Retail investors – changes in inflows and 
 assets under management 

All funds under the Union Investment brand are of-
fered to retail clients exclusively via our partner banks 
in the cooperative financial network. It is our policy to 
reject the repeated inquiries we receive from internet 
banks for distribution agreements and not to use the 
services of independent brokers. This distinguishes 
Union Investment from most of its competitors. 

Historically, this strategy of clearly focusing on the 
Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe network formed 
the basis for the exceptional level of successes enjoyed 
by the Union Investment Group in the marketplace. 
The close cooperation within the Genossenschaftliche 
FinanzGruppe again proved its worth in 2015. 

At EUR 33.4 billion, gross inflows from retail client 
business were significantly higher in 2015 than in the 
previous year (2014: EUR 18.1 billion). Net inflows 
were also considerably higher at EUR 8.0 billion 

(2014: EUR 5.1 billion). Net inflows were generated in 
the asset classes of mixed funds and open-ended real 
estate funds in particular.

The volume of assets under management in business 
with retail clients rose to EUR 113.1 billion as at 31 
December 2015 (2014: EUR 102.3 billion).

According to fund management statistics of the 
Bundesverband Investment und Asset Management 
e.V. (BVI – Federal Association of German Fund 
Management Companies), the Union Investment 
Group’s share of the managed mutual funds market 
was 18.7% at the end of 2015 (2014: 19.5%). Union 
Investment was therefore the second-largest manager 
of mutual funds in Germany (2014: second).

Institutional investors – changes in inflows and 
assets under management 

The volume of assets under management for institu-
tional investors climbed to EUR 147.7 billion in 2015 
(2014: EUR 129.8 billion). The assets under man-
agement in special funds for institutional investors 
increased to EUR 72.3 billion (2014: EUR 62.7 billion). 
Assets under management in other institutional busi-
ness formats (mutual funds, advisory and institutional 
asset management) increased to EUR 75.4 billion 
(2014: EUR 67.1 billion). 

The growth in assets under management was driven 
in particular by the high level of net inflows. In 2015, 
institutional business generated net inflows of EUR 
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18.2 billion (2014: EUR 11.1 billion). Special funds 
were particularly sought after.

According to BVI investment statistics, the Union 
Investment Group’s market share of total assets in 
special funds at the end of 2015 was 11.5% (2014: 
10.6%). The Group is therefore still the second-largest 
manager of special funds in Germany.

2.2 Custody business and fund brokerage

As at the end of 2015, the Union Investment Group 
managed more than 4.1 million client custody 
accounts with portfolios of the Group’s own and 
third-party investment funds. The portfolio volume was 
increased by EUR 6.2 billion from EUR 84.7 billion in 
total to EUR 90.9 billion.

The number of managed custody accounts with third-
party funds (funds from fund management companies 

outside the Group) was around 252,000 as at the end 
of the period under review (2014: 230,000 custody 
accounts). The volume of assets invested in third-party 
funds was EUR 4.4 billion at the end of 2015 (2014: 
EUR 3.8 billion).

Union Investment Service Bank AG handled a total of 
around 51.4 million customer transactions in 2015, 
which can be broken down as follows: 

• 36.1 million savings plans, withdrawal plans,  
 employer-funded capital formation schemes, etc., 
• 12.9 million income distributions / reinvestment and  
 custody account fees, 
• 2.2 million online transactions, and 
• 0.2 million manual, offline-only special postings. 

1.9 million transactions were entered directly by the 
end investor and banks using the online service. OCR 
technology was used to process around 247,000 
transactions (previous year: 242,000). Automated 
processing accounts for 98.9% (previous year: 98.8%) 
of the transactions processed, still the optimum level 
from a business perspective.

The fund brokerage business processed a total of 
around 1.1 million attrax S.A. client orders with a 
volume of approximately EUR 26.9 billion in the year 
under review. 0.2 million orders worth EUR 7.4 billion 
were posted in Union Investment Group funds.
 
The volume of assets held in custody for attrax clients 
was EUR 41.8 billion as at the end of the year under 
review (previous year: EUR 32.5 billion). EUR 14.8 
billion of this was held for cooperative partner banks 
(previous year: EUR 12.9 billion) and EUR 27.0 billion 
for institutional clients (previous year: EUR 19.6 bil-
lion). The volume of fees and commission paid as trail 
commission in 2015 amounted to approximately EUR 
87.8 million (previous year: EUR 67.8 million).

The fund brokerage business actively managed 184 
cooperative banks, while the number of institutional 
clients managed rose from 122 to 129 as at the end 
of 2015.

Source: Investment statistics of the Federal Association of German Fund Management 
 Companies (BVI) as at December 2015.
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III. Business environment 

To prevent a downturn in economic momentum and 
in light of the low inflation prospects in the euro area, 
the European Central Bank (ECB) had already resolved 
to lower its main refinancing rate, at which banks can 
borrow money from the ECB in order to extend loans 
themselves, to a record low of 0.05% in 2014. The 
ECB's policy of extremely low interest rates continued 
in 2015, with the key interest rate for the euro area 
remaining at the record low of 0.05%. 

As the ECB's key interest rates have almost reached 
their lower limit and in order to provide additional 
support for consumer spending and investment in 
the euro area, the ECB resolved a secondary mar-
kets public-sector asset purchase programme on 4 
March 2015. Under this programme, the ECB may 
make monthly purchases of up to EUR 60 billion until 
September 2016, making a total of EUR 1.1 trillion. 
The purchases will continue until the ECB observes a 
sustained correction to the current inflationary trend. 
The aim is to return inflation to a level of below but 
close to 2% in the medium term.

On 3 December 2015, the ECB also resolved to reduce 
the already negative deposit rate for banks for short-
term investments of superfluous funds by a further 10 
bp to -0.30% with effect from 9 December 2015. This 
is intended to increase the pressure on banks to lend 
more, thereby providing impetus for economic devel-
opment in the euro member states. As a side effect, 
however, banks are increasingly no longer offering 
interest, or only low interest, on investments.

In the current environment of historically low interest 
on borrowings and the associated rise in investment 
funds, institutional and retail investors are having to 
take ever greater risks to still achieve an appropriate 
yield after deducting inflation and taxes. 

Union Investment is continuing to play an active, tar-
geted and successful role in shaping the development 
in conditions for funds at a national and international 
level. At a European level, for example, Union Invest-
ment participates in a wide variety of working groups 
set up by the European Fund and Asset Management 
Association (EFAMA) and has provided its President 
for two years effective 19 June 2015. At a national 
level, Union Investment participates in the commit-
tees of the BVI and the Bundesverband der Deutschen 
Volksbanken und Raiffeisenbanken (BVR – National 
Association of German Cooperative Banks). A suc-
cessful and permanent dialogue also takes place with 

other European regulatory authorities and with politi-
cal representatives at both regional and European 
levels. 
 
• Tax regulations 
 
Due to the US government's “Foreign Account Tax 
Compliance Act – FATCA”, section 117c of the Ger-
man Fiscal Code was amended to create a legal basis 
for the automated cross-border exchange of tax data 
to prevent tax evasion. In addition, the OECD devel-
oped a common reporting standard for the automatic 
exchange of information about financial accounts 
(“Common Reporting Standards – CRS”). Where 
countries enter into an agreement on the mutual 
exchange of information on this basis, assets managed 
abroad may be taxed at source.

The German financial authorities are striving for a 
comprehensive reform of investment taxation in 2016. 
They published an initial discussion draft of an Invest-
ment Tax Reform Act on 21 July 2015. The draft bill of 
the German Federal Ministry of Finance was published 
on 16 December 2015. Under the terms of the draft 
bill, there could be an opaque taxation system for 
mutual funds from 2018 onwards. This means the 
abandonment of the existing principle under which 
fund investments are treated in the same way as 
direct investments. However, a transparent taxation 
system would still apply to special funds subject to 
compliance with additional requirements. 
 
• Amendment of the UCITS Directive 
 
Directive 2014/91/EU on the coordination of laws, 
regulations and administrative provisions relating to 
undertakings for collective investment in transferable 
securities (UCITS) as regards depositary functions, 
remuneration policies and sanctions (“UCITS V Direc-
tive”) came into force on 28 August 2014. This serves 
to harmonise the regulations concerning remuneration 
policies, depositary functions and liability and sanc-
tions in particular on an EU-wide basis. New mecha-
nisms for the reporting of potential or actual violations 
of the corresponding national implementations of the 
(whistle-blower systems) are also being introduced. 
The Directive must be implemented in national law by 
18 March 2016. 

In Germany, the Directive is being implemented via the 
UCITS V Implementation Act, which primarily amends 
provisions of the German Capital Investment Code 
(KAGB). In addition to the implementation of the 
amendments to the current UCITS Directive 2009/65/
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EC, as the KAGB established various uniform regula-
tions for all mutual investment funds, the UCITS V 
Implementation Act extends the new requirements to 
all mutual investment funds.  

Further amendments are also being made to the 
KAGB. Among other things, these include the creation 
of a regulation for the transfer of fund management to 
another asset management company, the amendment 
of the KAGB to reflect the requirements of the FACTA 
agreement concluded with the USA, the establishment 
of a lending framework for alternative investment 
funds (non-UCITS funds – AIF), and relief for share-
holder loans. 
 
• MiFID amendment 
 
The European Markets in Financial Instruments Direc-
tive (MiFID), which entered into effect in 2007, is cur-
rently being revised. The revised framework legislation 
(MiFID II) and a supplementary financial market regu-
lation to be applied immediately (Market in Financial 
Instruments Regulation – MiFIR) were published in the 
Official Journal of the EU on 12 June 2014. Based on 
the current status of the legislation, the new provi-
sions, which are yet to be defined in greater detail 
at European Union level in the form of additional 
implementing measures, must be transposed into 
national law by 3 July 2016 and are effective from 3 
January 2017. Due to expected IT-related bottlenecks 
in the implementation of the legislation, discussions 
are currently in progress with a view to postponing 
the introduction of MiFID II / MiFIR by one year. On 10 
February 2016, the European Commission presented 
its proposals on the postponement of the introduction 
of the new MiFID regime. Under these proposals, the 
application of both pieces of EU legislation will be 
delayed until 3 January 2018. However, the proposed 
changes do not affect the transposition of MiFID II in 
national law, which must still be implemented by 3 
July 2016. In the discussions in the European Councils, 
a number of member states, including Germany, have 
already stated that they are in favour of also chang-
ing this implementation period. As such, this point is 
expected to remain the subject of further discussion.

Particular attention must be paid to the following 
points:

While MiFID II allows the coexistence of commission-
based and non-commission-based consulting, banks 
are only permitted to receive payments if they are de-
signed to enhance the quality of the service performed. 
The quality criteria are comprehensively regulated 

in the EU implementing measures that are yet to be 
adopted, though there is the risk that their application 
will significantly restrict commission-based business. 

Furthermore, execution only business in respect of 
funds will be limited. Structured UCITS and, in all 
probability, AIFs could therefore be considered too 
complex for execution only business. This could have 
substantial repercussions for the current business 
model of Union Investment Service Bank AG. 

In addition, the requirements concerning investor 
information on the services performed and the costs 
and fees charged have been amended. In future, 
securities account holders must be informed about 
the securities under management on a quarterly basis, 
and not annually as was previously the case. The costs 
and fees of securities services and financial products 
must be disclosed both before a securities service is 
provided (ex-ante) in aggregated form as well as while 
the customer relationship is ongoing (ex-post). 

New requirements concerning product governance 
mean that originators of financial instruments will 
be required to specify a target market for them. This 
target market will be taken into account by securities 
service providers when selling products to customers 
in future.

The provisions described above, and all others 
resulting from the MiFID revision, are currently still 
in the legislative procedure. At a national level, in 
mid-October 2015 the German Federal Ministry of 
Finance presented a draft bill of the “Act Amend-
ing Financial Market Provisions following European 
Legislation” (German Financial Market Amendment 
Act – FimanoG), which provides for extensive amend-
ments to the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) in 
particular.

A MiFID II project within Union Investment began 
working on the implementation of MiFID II in April 
2015.
 
• Uniform information requirements for retail  
 investors 
 
European Regulation No. 1286/2014 on key informa-
tion documents for packaged retail and insurance-
based investment products (PRIIPs Regulation) was 
published in the Official Journal of the EU on 9 
December 2014. The Regulation is intended to create 
a new and uniform European information standard 
for all packaged investment products to allow retail 
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investors to compare products based on their features, 
risks and costs. The Regulation sets out the duty of the 
product originator to prepare and review key informa-
tion documents and the duty of the provider to make 
these documents available.

“Packaged” refers to all products where the amount 
repayable to the retail investor is subject to fluctua-
tions because of exposure to reference values or to 
the performance of one or more assets which are not 
directly purchased by the retail investor. These are to 
include investment products such as investment funds, 
life insurance policies with an investment element, 
structured products and structured deposits. 

The Regulation comes into force on 31 December 
2016. Investment funds for which the investor infor-
mation significant under national law is prepared in 
line with the provisions for UCITS funds are initially 
exempt from the implementation of the PRIIPs Regula-
tion until 31 December 2019. Although the Regulation 
is directly applicable and does not have to be trans-
posed into national law, supplementary regulations on 
these provisions have been included in the draft bill 
for the FimanoG and will be implemented in the KAGB 
when the bill is adopted. These regulations provide the 
supervisory authority with powers of intervention in 
the event that market participants do not comply with 
the requirements of the PRIIPs Regulation. 

The provisions of the PRIIPs Regulation are yet to 
be defined in greater detail in the form of additional 
EU implementing measures (“Level 2”). Implement-
ing Technical Standards are currently being jointly 
developed by the EU supervisory authorities (EBA, 
EIOPA and ESMA). An initial draft of a corresponding 
additional EU regulation was presented by the EU 
supervisory authorities on 11 November 2015 as part 
of a public consultation.

IV. Research and development

1. Retail clients

In 2015, product policy in the retail clients business 
continued to focus on investors’ requirements and 
therefore the following four core investment issues: 
optimising assets (PrivatFonds, UniKonzept products), 
old age provision (UniProfiRente, UniProfiRente Select, 
unit-linked pension insurance), investment (UniAb-
soluterErtrag, open-ended real estate funds, capital 
preservation funds, fixed-term bond funds) and sav-
ings (traditional savings plans). Product policy issues 
for retail business are handled collectively by the Prod-
uct Management department of Union Investment 
Privatfonds GmbH (UIP), also comprising the funds of 
the affiliates Union Investment Luxemburg S.A. (UIL) 
and Union Investment Real Estate GmbH (UIR) and 
cooperative business with R+V.

Investment

UniAbsoluterErtrag
The UniAbsoluterErtrag fund (including a class without 
a front-end fee), which involves a dynamic combina-
tion of market-based and relatively market-neutral 
investments in promising asset classes, sectors and 
investment strategies, has enjoyed high inflows since 
its launch on 30 April 2015. Within eight months of 
the launch date, the fund volume had already reached 
around EUR 1.1 billion (as of 31 December 2015). 

Fixed-term bond funds
No new fixed-term bond funds were launched in 2015 
on account of the low interest rate environment and 
the lack of opportunities on the capital markets. Three 
funds came to the end of their terms and were dis-
solved at the respective end date. These were UniEu-
roRenta EM 2015 A as of 31 July 2015 and UniEu-
roRenta Corporates 50 (2015) A as of 30 September 
2015 (each including a class without a front-end fee) 
and UniOptiRenta 2015 (as of 30 November 2015). 
The funds UniEuroRenta Unternehmensanleihen EM 
2021 A and UniEuroRenta EM 2021 A (each including 
a class without a front-end fee), which were launched 
as of 29 September 2014, achieved a total fund 
volume of EUR 401 million in the full year ended 31 
December 2015.

Open-ended real estate funds
Increased demand for open-ended real estate funds 
meant that the asset management company had to 
suspend the issue of new units on several occasions 
in 2015. For the first time, this restriction applied to 
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all three open-ended real estate funds for the retail 
client target group. For example, high eight-figure 
daily inflows meant that UniImmo: Deutschland was 
offered to investors only for just under three months. 
The sales success of UniImmo: Europa and UniImmo: 
Global meant that the issue of new units was sus-
pended in early October 2015 despite the additional 
sales opportunities provided. The sale of several 
properties as a package (Aqua) led to additional new 
liquidity inflows for all three open-ended real estate 
funds in the fourth quarter of 2015 as planned. As at 
31 December 2015, the three open-ended real estate 
funds had attracted net inflows of more than EUR 2.0 
billion in 2015. 

Capital preservation funds
The marketing of capital preservation funds is concen-
trated on maturity management. Sales partners are 
supported with extensive materials and accompanying 
communicative activities. A total of five static guaran-
tee funds and two UniProfiAnlage funds came to the 
end of their terms as of 31 December 2015. 

Optimising assets

PrivatFonds products
PrivatFonds continued to enjoy steady inflows.  
The net inflow since the start of the year was around 
EUR 4.9 billion (as of 31 December 2015). PrivatFonds: 
Kontrolliert (around EUR 3.1 billion) and PrivatFonds: 
Konsequent pro (around EUR 1.3 billion) generated 
the highest net inflows. The total fund value for Privat-
Fonds products was around EUR 13.4 billion. 

UniKonzept funds 
The funds UniKonzept: Portfolio A and UniKonzept: 
Dividenden A (each including a class without a front-
end fee), which were launched in 2014, also enjoyed 
strong demand in 2015 and had reached a total fund 
volume of EUR 2.5 billion by 31 December 2015. The 
two funds are characterised by innovative concepts 
and share a two-level management approach includ-
ing a trend-following strategy.

Providing for old age

Pensions
Based on the Riester products UniProfiRente and 
UniProfiRente Select, Union Investment continued to 
dominate the market for Riester-subsidised unit-linked 
savings plans in 2015 with a market share of 59% (as 
at 30 September 2015) and hence was able to defend 
its position as the market leader over the whole of 

the Riester product market by offering solutions for 
insurance, home savings, funds and banking. The Uni-
Global Vorsorge fund was launched on 31 July 2015 
as part of the change in the terms and conditions of 
UniProfiRente. The international equity fund, which is 
fully invested in equities, also has the option of active 
management of the equity investment ratio (between 
51% and 120%). This is achieved using market trends: 
losses are limited in falling markets, while yield op-
portunities are utilised in periods of positive market 
performance. These two pension solutions attracted 
78 thousand customers up to 31 December 2015. 
As at this same date, Union Investment managed 
around 1.8 million Riester contracts; the total volume 
of Riester pension products was EUR 13.5 billion as at 
31 December 2015. The total volume in cooperative 
business with R+V-Versicherung is currently around 
EUR 5.0 billion (as of 31 December 2015). The joint 
sales concept between Union Investment and R+V for 
unit-linked pension insurance (FRV) and rule-based 
investment strategies (RBA) is still being well received. 
The special fund “UniRBA Welt 38/200” generated  
a net inflow of EUR 617 million in the past year (as of 
31 December 2015). The current RBA portfolio totals 
just under EUR 1.8 billion (as of 31 December 2015).
 
Saving

The 12-month savings volume for unit-linked savings 
plans amounted to EUR 1.8 billion 3) as at 31 Decem-
ber 2015, a year-on-year increase of 23.4%. At 75%, 
mixed and equity funds accounted for the largest 
share. A total of 329.9 thousand new savings agree-
ments were concluded up to 31 December 2015. The 
portfolio exceeded the million barrier in 2015.

Product range in general

The rolling fixed-income funds with a similar invest-
ment policy, UniOptiRenta 4J and UniEuroRenta 5J, 
were merged as of 15 January 2015. At the same 
time, the investment spectrum of the receiving fund, 
UniEuro Renta 5J, was expanded in order to ensure 
that its yield opportunities remain as attractive as 
possible in future. Union Investment attaches great 
importance to updating its existing products in addi-
tion to regularly adjusting its product range. Against 
a backdrop of legislative changes and persistently 
low interest rates, the Retail Client segment is striving 
to offer funds and solutions that reflect the current 
market environment and that make the most of all 
available opportunities to generate significant value 
added.

3) The net inflow and portfolio figures reported for the core investment issue of “saving” include amounts generated by savings plans that are attributable to the 
other core investment issues.
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2. Institutional investors

The Institutional Clients segment of Union Investment 
was extremely successful in the past financial year. Its 
net inflows (including advisory and institutional asset 
management mandates) amounted to EUR 18.2 billion 
(after EUR 11.1 billion in the previous year). It gained 
a total of 66 new clients in the reporting year, 63 of 
which came from outside the cooperative sector. The 
net inflows generated by new clients amounted to EUR 
2.3 billion. 

Given the significant reduction in risk budgets, the key 
challenge for institutional investors is to achieve the 
minimum required rates of return in a risk-controlled 
manner in a sustained low-interest environment. This 
has affected asset allocation. As an alternative to the 
previously dominant government bonds from the euro 
area, equities, corporate bonds and emerging markets 
bonds were particularly sought after. Institutional in-
vestors also increasingly turned to real estate, though 
the market had little to offer.

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt / Main, 
(Quoniam), which is part of the Union Investment 
Group, enjoyed success both in Germany and other 
European countries in the year under review. Its 
customer base was strengthened by seven new clients 
with additional assets under management of EUR 597 
million. Quoniam operates as a specialist in quantita-
tive investment strategies across all asset classes. The 
company currently manages assets of EUR 25.8 billion 
in 133 institutional portfolios.

Union Investment TFI S.A., Warsaw, which is also part 
of the Union Investment Group, enjoyed a good year in 
2015 overall. The company is the seventh largest fund 
management company in Poland with a market share 
in terms of assets under management of 6.6%.
BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong 
Kong, the joint venture set up with Hong Kong-based 
The Bank of East Asia Limited, generated net inflows 
(not including fund-of-funds) of more than EUR 483.4 
million and is therefore still on track for success. Its 
assets under management rose by 18.2%.

3. Outlook 2016

3.1 Retail Clients

Marketing priorities in 2016 are derived from the four 
core investment issues of optimising assets, investing, 
saving and providing for old age. Fixed-term bond 

funds are also launched on a selective basis if condi-
tions on the capital market give rise to opportunities. 
The Retail Clients segment runs an innovation process 
known as ideas screening once a year. The workshops 
held as part of this process present new product ideas, 
with the best being selected for launch. These will be 
added to the product launch schedule for 2016. In 
addition, the coming year will see a number of maturi-
ties for which corresponding sales support is being 
provided as part of marketing. A total of 13 capital 
preservation and fixed-term bond funds will come to 
the end of their term. Marketing activities in 2016 will 
prioritise the core investment issue of “saving”. Meas-
ures aimed at achieving stronger growth in savings 
plan business are intended to attract new customers in 
particular, as well as expanding the breadth of advisory 
expertise. As well as reducing the minimum savings 
amount to EUR 25 from 1 January 2016, these growth 
targets will supported by a wide-scale campaign in the 
second half of the year.

3.2 Institutional Clients

It seems increasingly unlikely that the period of low 
interest rates will end this decade. At the same time, 
restrictions for institutional investors are on the rise. 
Investors are having to take new approaches to 
achieving the yields that they urgently require.

Institutional clients need to take advantage of the 
available investment opportunities with greater 
flexibility. Above all, this means a more international 
investment focus, generating more market-based and 
market-neutral risk premiums, and properly network-
ing their yield sources. Sufficient yields are now only 
possible by taking greater risk. Against this backdrop, 
there is greater demand than ever for active-dynamic 
asset management and risk management – not only 
defensively in order to limit losses, but rather also of-
fensively in terms of seizing the opportunities for yields 
on the market.

Union Investment supports institutional investors by 
providing them with exactly the solutions they need in 
the present capital environment. Union Investment will 
continue to expand its role as a leading provider of 
sustainable products in 2016.

V. Dependent company report

The company received appropriate consideration for 
the transactions and measures listed in the dependent 
company report, based on the circumstances known 
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to the Board of Managing Directors at the time such 
transaction and measures were performed or taken. 
The company was not disadvantaged as a result of 
measures being taken.

The company has not, at the instigation or in the 
interests of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossen-
schaftsbank (DZ BANK AG), Frankfurt / Main, or one 
of its affiliated companies, neglected to carry out any 
measure that could have been beneficial to the com-
pany based on the circumstances known to the Board 
of Managing Directors at the time.
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VI. Position of the company

1. Results of operations 

Net interest income after allowance for losses  
on loans and advances was up on the previous 

 

year at EUR 14.9 million . The reduction of  
a credit facility led to a lower commitment fee, while 
 distributions from own-account fund investments 
increased. 

 
2015 2014 Change 

EUR million EUR million EUR million 

Interest-based business    
Interest-based business Interest income from credit and money market 
business  
and from fixed-income securities 

0.2 0.6 -0.4

Current income from non-fixed-income securities 15.7 13.5 2.2

Interest expenses -1.0 -3.3 2.3

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables 0 0 –

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables 

14.9 10.8 4.1

Commission-based business –

Fee and commission income 1,950.1 1,683.7 266.4

Fee and commission expenses -722.9 -582.6 -140.3

Net fee and commission income 1,227.2 1,101.1 126.1

Net income from investment securities -7.4 -2.7 -4.7

Other net remeasurement income on financial instruments -15.2 11.5 -26.7

Net income from companies accounted for using the equity method 2.1 2.2 -0.1

Administrative expenses –

Staff costs -338.9 -320.1 -18.8

Other administrative expenses -339.5 -313.8 -25.7

Depreciation and amortisation expense -24.2 -21.6 -2.6

Administrative expenses -702.6 -655.5 -47.1

Other operating result 36.6 18.0 18.6

Consolidated earnings before taxes 555.6 485.4 70.2

Income taxes -180.5 -140.1 -40.4

Consolidated net income 375.1 345.3 29.8

Attributable to: –

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 368.3 339.6 28.7

Non-controlling interests 6.8 5.7 1.1

    

2015 2014 Change

Assets under management (final volumes) in EUR billion 260.8 232.1 28.7

Cost / income ratio (CIR) 55.8% 57.4% -1.6%

 
2015 2014 Change 

EUR million EUR million EUR million 

Fee and commission income 1,950.1 1,683.7 266.4

from sales commission 32.1 28.2 3.9

from management fees 1,691.9 1,446.5 245.4

from securities funds 1,413.1 1,199.1 214.0

of which performance fees 91.1 99.4 -8.3

from real estate funds 278.8 247.4 31.4

from securities custody accounts 51.1 50.8 0.3

Other 175.0 158.2 16.8

Fee and commission expenses -722.9 -582.6 -140.3

for volume-based commission -562.2 -452.9 -109.3

Other -160.7 -129.7 -31.0

Net fee and commission income 1,227.2 1,101.1 126.1

The detailed breakdown of net fee and commission income was as follows:
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The key drivers in net fee and commission income 
are the assets under management for the respective 
financial year. Growth in assets under management is 
mainly a function of net new business and the perfor-
mance of the capital markets. Assets under manage-
ment climbed by EUR 28.7 billion over by the end of 
2015 to EUR 260.8 billion, a new record high. This 
increase was primarily attributable to net inflows as 
well as the positive performance on the international 
capital markets. 

Around three quarters of the net fee and commission 
income, specifically the main share of income from 
management fees (not including performance fees) 
and expenses for volume-related fees and commis-
sion (comprising trail commission, sales commission 
and other fees and commission), is determined by the 
volume of assets under management. In net terms, 
these two items increased by EUR +144.4 million in 
2015. This was as a result of the significantly higher 
average volume of assets under management (up 
+15.3%). 

The increase in management fees from property funds 
was due in particular to the higher average volume 
of property funds (+11.5%). In addition, transac-
tion fees were up in the property area as a result of 
higher transaction volume in profit or loss in the 2015 
financial year. 

In 2015, performance-based management fees were 
EUR 8.3 million lower than in the previous year at EUR 
91.1 million. 

The sales commission income represents the propor-
tion of the front-end fee that remains with Union 
Investment. This was significantly higher than the 
prior-year level. In addition, there was a rise in other 
fee and commission income and in other fee and com-
mission expenses as a result of the larger volume of 
transactions in the fund brokerage business involving 
third-party funds. This is not included in assets under 
management.

Net income from investment securities was reduced 
by an impairment loss on the equity investment in BEA 
Union Investment Management Limited in the year 
under review.
 
Other net remeasurement income on financial 
instruments amounted to EUR -15.2 million after 
EUR 11.5 million in the previous year. The lower net 
income was essentially due to the significantly lower 
performance contribution year-on-year from fixed-in-
come funds held for own-account investing activities. 
 
Net income from companies accounted for using 
the equity method was unchanged year-on-year at 
EUR 2.1 million and primarily related to the share of 
the profit or loss of BEA Union Investment Manage-
ment Limited, Hong Kong. This item also reflects the 
Union Investment Group’s share of the profit or loss 
of R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, 
compertis Beratungsgesellschaft für betriebliches Vor-
sorgemanagement mbH, Wiesbaden, and VR Consult-
ingpartner GmbH, Frankfurt / Main.  
 
Administrative expenses were up EUR 47.1 million 
year-on-year at EUR 702.6 million in 2015 (previous 
year: EUR 655.5 million).
 
The increase in staff costs was primarily due to the av-
erage salary adjustments, new jobs and appointments 
to unoccupied positions in 2014/2015. In addition, 
variable remuneration components increased as a 
result of the positive development in the company's 
key data.

Non-staff operating costs increased by EUR 25.7 
million year-on-year to EUR 339.5 million in 2015 
(previous year: EUR 313.8 million).
Increased expenses in the project portfolio resulted 
in higher consulting expenses. Property and occu-
pancy costs increased due to higher rental expenses 
for business premises and non-recurring relocation 
expenses. IT expenses were up on the previous year’s 
level as a result of higher software and hardware 

 
2015 2014 Change    

EUR million EUR million EUR million 

Total -339.5 -313.8 -25.7

IT expenses -82.1 -75.3 -6.8

Public relations / marketing -58.9 -52.7 -6.2

Office expenses -40.5 -38.6 -1.9

Consulting -48.0 -39.0 -9.0

Property and occupancy costs -41.2 -34.1 -7.1

Miscellaneous -68.8 -74.1 5.3
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costs. Increased expenses for public relations / market-
ing resulted from measures aimed at strengthening 
the Union Investment brand, among other things. The 
cost of office operations rose slightly as against the 
previous year. By contrast, net other non-staff operat-
ing costs declined. This was due in part to a provision 
for payments to the Compensatory Fund of Securities 
Trading Companies (EdW) that was recognised in 2014 
and reversed in 2015.
 
Depreciation and amortisation expense rose by EUR 
2.6 million, from EUR 21.6 million in the previous year 
to EUR 24.2 million in 2015. This was primarily due to 
a higher level of capitalised software.

Other net operating income amounted to EUR 36.6 
million in the period under review, up EUR 18.6 million 
on the prior-year figure. This was mainly attributable to 
the reversal of a provision recognised in the previ-
ous year for payments to the Compensatory Fund of 
Securities Trading Companies (EdW).

Based on an average Group tax rate of 30.91%, the 
effective tax rate in the UMH Group was 32.49% 
(previous year: 28.86%). Income tax expense climbed 
by EUR 40.4 million year-on-year to EUR 180.5 mil-
lion in the year under review. It comprises current tax 
expense of EUR 184.7 million (previous year: EUR 
132.8 million) and deferred tax income of EUR 4.2 
million (previous year: deferred tax expense of EUR 7.3 
million). The rise in current tax expense was caused 
by the higher consolidated earnings before taxes and 
the increase in the tax expense for previous years. The 
deferred tax income was largely due to the lower level 
of deferred tax liabilities in connection with investment 
securities.

Overall, the developments described led to a signifi-
cant year-on-year increase in consolidated earnings 
of EUR 29.8 million to EUR 375.1 million (2014: EUR 
345.3 million), the highest level ever achieved by the 
company over an equivalent period.

The very low cost / income ratio of 55.8% is testi-
mony to the efficient use of resources in the Union 
Investment Group. The cost / income ratio is the ratio 
of administrative expenses to the total of all other 
components of earnings before taxes. The cost / income 
ratio improved by -1.6 percentage points year-on-year.

Comparison with earnings originally forecast 
for 2015

The original forecasts for consolidated earnings in 
2015 were exceeded significantly. The main reason for 
this positive development was the higher rise in assets 

under management than originally planned, driven by 
the substantially higher level of net new business and 
the slight improvement in capital market performance 
combined with growth in the share of higher-margin 
products. Moreover, the higher than projected income 
from performance-based management fees and higher 
transaction fees in the property area also contributed 
to the increase in fee and commission income. The rise 
in administrative expenses was slightly higher than 
originally planned. In net terms, this resulted in a con-
siderable improvement in earnings and the cost / in-
come ratio compared with the original planning.

Distribution

As in previous years, a very substantial proportion of 
UMH’s earnings will be distributed to its shareholders. 
The payment of a basic dividend of EUR 10.29 per 
share (previous year: EUR 8.61) and a special dividend 
of EUR 2.80 per share will be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting on 29 April 2016. This would corre-
spond to a total distribution volume of EUR 380.2 mil-
lion (previous year: EUR 250.1 million). The Supervisory 
Board of UMH AG approved the proposed appropria-
tion of profits at its meeting on 2 March 2016.  

2. Financial position and liquidity

2.1 Financial position

Principles and objectives of financial 
 management

All cash and cash equivalents available in the Group’s 
own bank accounts and investment accounts are 
referred to as financial resources. The investment strat-
egy of Union Investment is a conservative one.

Cash flows are analysed on an ongoing basis and 
monitored as part of a rolling liquidity planning 
process so that prompt action can be taken to counter 
any liquidity problems that may be identified. Liquidity 
management begins with the management of cash 
flows from the Group’s operating business. This is sup-
ported by tactical liquidity management, which focuses 
specifically on the selection of investment alternatives. 
Stress tests are regularly carried out as a further ele-
ment in this strategy in order to assess the effect of 
changes in interest rates on the Group’s cash positions. 

The interest rate sensitivity analysis on financial 
resources is not disclosed here as the calculation of 
interest rate sensitivities is only possible with sufficient 
certainty for resources invested in money market and 
fixed-income funds. 
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Financial resources are classified according  
to the following criteria: 
 
Short-term investments for liquidity manage-
ment purposes (liquidity): If financial resources are 
expected to be invested for less than three years, they 
are allocated to the liquidity category. Investments for 
liquidity management purposes include cash accounts, 
time deposits, money market and near-money market 
funds and fixed-income funds.

Initial funding (funding): Investment funds are initially 
funded on the basis of each fund profile with funds 
transferred from the issuing company’s short-term 
investments used for liquidity management. Initial 
funding is repaid as soon as possible to the short-term 
investments used for liquidity management. 
 
Investment in pension plans and employee retention 
programs (employee investments):  
All cash invested by employees of the company as part 
of pension plans and employee retention programs is 
allocated to this investment category.
 
Longer-term capital investments (strategic invest-
ments): Strategic investments are investments in funds 
or securities that are selected on the basis of risk /
reward criteria and are expected to be held for at least 
three years as part of long-term liquidity planning. The 
expected term of the investment is determined before 
the Group enters into the transaction concerned.
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31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

Short-term investments for liquidity management purposes 536.5 50.4 463.4 45.6 73.1

of which fixed-income funds 457.9 43.0 359.6 35.4 98.3

of which money market funds 78.6 7.4 103.8 10.2 -25.2

Strategic investments 443.9 41.7 471.3 46.4 -27.4

of which fixed-income funds 356.8 33.5 370.4 36.5 -13.6

of which equity funds 34.7 3.3 67.1 6.6 -32.4

of which hybrid funds 16.8 1.6 16.7 1.6 0.1

of which real estate funds 16.2 1.5 8.8 0.9 7.4

of which mixed funds 11.0 1.0 1.1 0.1 9.9

of which money market funds 8.4 0.8 2.1 0.2 6.3

of which alternative investment funds 0 0 5.1 0.5 -5.1

Funding 81.7 7.7 71.5 7.0 10.2

of which fixed-income funds 51.0 4.8 52.8 5.2 -1.8

of which mixed funds 14.6 1.4 1.2 0.1 13.4

of which alternative investment funds 8.4 0.8 10.5 1.0 -2.1

of which money market funds 2.1 0.2 0.2 0.0 1.9

of which equity funds 1.8 0.2 6.8 0.7 -5.0

of which real estate funds 0.5 0.0 0 0 0.5

of which other funds 3.3 0.3 0 0 3.3

Employee investments 2.2 0.2 9.5 0.9 -7.3

of which fixed-income funds 1.6 0.1 9.0 0.9 -7.4

of which mixed funds 0.6 0.1 0.5 0.0 0.1

of which equity funds 0 0 0 0 0.0

of which fixed-income funds 0 0 0 0 0.0

Total securities 1,064.3 100.0 1,015.7 100.0 48.6

of which fixed-income funds 867.3 81.5 791.8 78.0 75.5

of which money market funds 89.1 8.4 106.1 10.4 -17.0

of which equity funds 36.5 3.4 73.9 7.3 -37.4

of which mixed funds 26.2 2.5 2.8 0.3 23.4

of which hybrid funds 16.8 1.6 16.7 1.6 0.1

of which real estate funds 16.7 1.6 8.8 0.9 7.9

of which alternative investment funds 8.4 0.8 15.6 1.5 -7.2

of which fixed-income funds 0 0 0 0 0.0

of which other funds 3.3 0.3 0 0 3.3

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

Securities holdings 1,064.3 71.3 1,015.7 72.7 48.6

Bank holdings 428.0 28.7 378.8 27.3 49.2

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,492.3 100.0 1,394.5 100.0 97.8

The table below shows total cash and cash equivalents.

The four categories of financial resources are subject 
to constant risk monitoring and are broken down as 
follows: 

2.2 Liquidity 

Liquidity is constantly monitored to ensure that the 
companies in the Union Investment Group can meet 
their payment obligations at all times. Liquidity plan-

ning in the individual companies is used as the basis 
for monitoring the short- and medium-term liquidity 
situation and for managing liquidity. The objective of 
liquidity planning is to forecast liquidity trends, de-
termine liquidity and capital needs and manage the 
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liquidity situation accordingly. This liquidity planning 
process is supported by IT systems (SAP Business 
Warehouse). It has a monthly rolling structure cover-
ing a planning period of 15 months based on the 
 latest earnings forecasts (budgets and projections) 
and incorporates the actual figures from the preced-
ing months of the current financial year and the 
liquidity (balances in the liquidity and strategic in-
vestments categories) available on the last day of the 
month prior to the start of the respective planning 
period. The liquidity planning structure corresponds 
to the account-based breakdown of the HGB balance 
sheet and income statement. The forecast changes in 
liquidity are derived from the planned cash inflows 
and outflows associated with the budgeted income 
and expenses and from changes in statement of 
financial position items that affect liquidity. At an 
operational level, all bank account transactions are 
managed on a day-by-day basis and subsequently 
checked. 

The Group’s equity ratio was 56.3% as at the end of 
the reporting period. Current liabilities and provisions, 
i.e. those due within one year, are covered in full 
by bank balances, loans and receivables with short 
remaining terms and securities that can be liquidated.

DZ BANK AG has provided UMH AG with a credit 
facility of EUR 250 million, which was granted under 
a framework loan agreement and is available until 
further notice. The credit framework has been provided 
for refinancing the acquisition of fund units. The cur-
rent credit facility has not been utilised.

Taking into account the balance of financial resources 
available as at the end of the reporting period and 
the changes in liquidity forecast by the monthly rolling 
15-month liquidity planning process, all the companies 
in the Union Investment Group will be able to meet the 
financial obligations due in the analysis period from 
the available cash and cash equivalents at all times.

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

Loans and advances to

Banks 435.7 21.9 389.2 22.1 46.5

Customers 63.9 3.2 57.5 3.3 6.4

Investment securities 1,057.9 53.1 1,012.5 57.4 45.4

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method 57.7 2.9 60.7 3.4 -3.0

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 185.7 9.3 117.6 6.7 68.1

Income tax assets 27.3 1.4 25.5 1.4 1.8

Miscellaneous assets 148.0 7.4 89.0 5.1 59.0

Assets held for sale 16.4 0.8 10.1 0.6 6.3

Total assets 1,992.6 100.0 1,762.1 100.0 230.5

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR million % EUR million % EUR million

Liabilities to 

banks 13.1 0.7 16.1 0.9 -3.0

Customers 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 –

Provisions 153.1 7.7 173.8 9.9 -20.7

Income tax liabilities 102.2 5.1 57.1 3.2 45.1

Miscellaneous liabilities 602.3 30.2 536.2 30.5 66.1

Equity 1,121.8 56.3 978.8 55.5 143.0

Total equity and liabilities 1,992.6 100.0 1,762.1 100.0 230.5

3. Net assets

3.1 Overview of net assets 

The following table shows a summary of the individual 
items of the consolidated statement of financial posi-
tion by financial category:
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31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change 

EUR million EUR million EUR million 

Provisions for employee benefits 132.1 144.9 -12.8

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 83.9 96.3 -12.4

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 45.5 44.2 1.3

Provisions for termination benefits 2.7 4.4 -1.7

Other provisions 21.0 28.9 -7.9

Total 153.1 173.8 -20.7

Consolidated total assets increased by 13% year-
on-year to EUR 1,992.6 million. As is typical for the 
industry, the Union Investment Group’s business 
volumes – investment funds and other asset manage-
ment formats – are not reported in the statement of 
financial position. 

Investment securities of EUR 1,057.9 million (previ-
ous year: EUR 1,012.5 million) are the defining item 
on the assets side of the consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position. Investments consist almost exclusively 
of investments in investment funds managed by asset 
management companies of the Union Investment 
Group. The function and breakdown of these invest-
ments is explained in the “Financial position” section. 
Investment securities increased by EUR 45.4 million, 
from EUR 1,012.5 million in the previous year to EUR 
1,057.9 million. This increase relates to the heightened 
regulatory requirements for individual Group compa-
nies to retain more equity. Retained profits contributed 
to the increase in investment securities.
 
Loans and advances to banks rose by EUR 46.5 
million, from EUR 389.2 million in the previous year 
to EUR 435.7 million. This includes bank balances pay-
able on demand of EUR 406.7 million (previous year: 
EUR 378.8 million). 

EUR -2.8 million of the decrease in shares in com-
panies accounted for using the equity method 
relates to BEA Union Investment Ltd, Hong Kong, and 
EUR -0.9 million to Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt / Main. 
The remaining change (EUR +0.7 million) relates to 
the other companies accounted for using the equity 
method. The reduction at BEA Union Investment Ltd, 
Hong Kong, relates to an impairment loss of EUR -7.4 
million, the dividend from BU of EUR -3.0 million in 
the previous year, currency translation in the amount 

of EUR +5.4 million, and the recognition in profit or 
loss of an adjustment to the carrying amount of equity 
in the amount of EUR 2.2 million.

Additions to property, plant and equipment of EUR 
13.3 million were offset by depreciation of EUR 4.1 
million. Including other changes, the net carrying 
amount increased by EUR 9.2 million from EUR 49.4 
million in the previous year to EUR 58.6 million. 
 
Additions to intangible assets of EUR 79.2 million 
were offset by amortisation of EUR 20.1 million in 
the year under review. Including other changes, the 
net carrying amount increased by EUR 58.9 million 
from EUR 68.2 million in the previous year to EUR 
127.1 million. Of the additions to intangible assets, 
EUR 42.9 million was attributable to the capitalisation 
of distribution and exclusive rights for the distribution 
of Union Investment Group products through the Aus-
trian Volksbank Group, while a further EUR 5.7 million 
was attributable to purchased customer relationships 
capitalised as part of purchase price allocation for the 
acquisition of UIA.  

Other assets include receivables from funds of EUR 
111.2 million (previous year: EUR 65.4 million). This 
amount primarily comprised deferred management fee 
receivables for the month of December.
 
The drop in liabilities to banks of EUR 3.0 million 
from EUR 16.1 million to EUR 13.1 million was largely 
attributable to lower fee and commission liabilities in 
connection with fund unit trading.

Provisions decreased by EUR 20.7 million from EUR 
173.8 million to EUR 153.1 million. Provisions for 
defined benefit obligations declined by EUR 12.4 
million. This was mainly due to the interest rate used 

for discounting of 2.25% (previous year: 2.00%). 
Provisions for other long-term employee benefits were 
up by EUR 1.3 million from EUR 44.2 million to EUR 
45.5 million. Termination benefits declined by EUR 1.7 
million from EUR 4.4 million to EUR 2.7 million, while 

other provisions fell by EUR 7.9 million from EUR 28.9 
million to EUR 21.0 million.
 
Equity increased by EUR 143.0 million, from EUR 
978.8 million to EUR 1,121.8 million. EUR 29.8 mil-
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lion of this increase was due to the higher net profit 
and EUR 91.2 million to retained profits. The profits 
were retained by a number of companies in the 
Union Investment Group in response to regulatory 
requirements. 
 
The equity ratio was 56.3%, up 0.8 percentage points 
on the prior-year figure of 55.5%.

3.2 Non-financial performance indicators

Employees

The Union Investment Group’s workforce is critical to 
its performance, future profitability and competitive-
ness. The Union Investment Group pursues an innova-
tive, needs-driven professional development strategy 
in order to provide the best possible framework in 
which it can nurture the capabilities and commitment 
of its employees in line with their responsibilities and 
potential. Around EUR 3.3 million (2014: EUR 2.7 
million) was invested in professional development ac-
tivities in total in the 2015 financial year. Target-driven 
people management and the use of performance-
based remuneration help to ensure that employees 
at all levels learn to think and act from a business 
perspective. Employee motivation and commitment 
to this target-based approach are also encouraged by 
variable remuneration components based on individual 
performance targets. 

As at 31 December 2015, UMH AG employed 260 
people (2014: 242 employees) with an average age 
of 41.6 (2014: 41.5) and an average period of service 
of 9.8 years (2014: 9.7 years). The Union Investment 
Group employed 2,704 people (2014: 2,555) as at 
the end of 2015. Across the Group, the average age 
of employees was 41.8 (2014: 41.3) and the average 
period of service 10.1 years (2014: 9.9 years). Owing 
to the prevalent market uncertainty in 2012 and the 
general economic conditions expected as a result, 
measures were resolved in the context of the UI 2.0 
restructuring project to boost effectiveness and thereby 
safeguard the future viability of the Union Investment 
Group in the long term. These were implemented in 
the intended period or their timely implementation 
was initiated.

Brand performance

The Union Investment brand is systematically managed 
as a corporate brand. This efficient brand architecture 
approach, which is increasingly favoured by financial 
service providers, requires holistic strategic brand man-
agement from a holding company perspective. 

In 2013, as part of its strategic brand management 
activities, UMH started to record brand strength index 
data for all target groups relevant to the brand. This 
index is determined from well-established brand 
management parameters and is expressed as a value 
between 0 and 100. The latest brand strength index 
figure for retail client bank consultants is 94. As 
expected, this meant that it remained unchanged 
compared with the previous year at an extremely high 
level. The figure for retail investors also remained 
constant in the year under review (2014 and 2015: 
72 points). In the year under review, the brand 
strength index for institutional investors increased by 
six points to 86. The index value for real estate busi-
ness partners declined marginally by one point to 81, 
while the figure for tenants in UIR / UII properties rose 
by seven points to 72. Given the varying relevance of 
the brand in the decision-making process within the 
different target groups, the values for all the target 
groups are seen as positive from a brand manage-
ment  perspective. 

In a comparison with the performance of competitor 
brands, the picture established over the last few years 
has remained largely unchanged and Union Invest-
ment has remained well ahead of most of its competi-
tors in terms of the strength of its brand. This brand 
therefore constitutes a valuable asset for the Union 
Investment Group over the long term. We predict that 
the brand parameter values will remain steady in the 
2016 financial year with just a few small deviations 
from the actual values achieved in 2015. 

Client satisfaction

In the 2015 financial year, the satisfaction values  
for all customer groups of the Union Investment Group 
remained at a high level: On a scale of 1 = exception-
ally happy to 5 = unhappy, the average satisfaction 
score for bank executives was 1.8 (2014: 1.9), while 
the figure for bank consultants was unchanged year-
on-year at 1.9. For investors who keep their invest-
ment fund units in UnionDepot securities accounts,  
the average customer satisfaction score was 2.3. In 
2014, the average figure for this customer group  
was 2.5.

Internal satisfaction surveys are carried out among 
Union Investment's institutional investors on a two-
year cycle. The surveys are carried out in uneven years, 
including the year under review. The score for the 
overall satisfaction of institutional investors with their 
business relationship with Union Investment improved 
from an already excellent 1.84 (2013) to 1.75 in the 
year under review.
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The renowned independent consulting firm “Green-
wich Associates” conducts annual market studies on 
the German institutional asset management market. 
Institutional investors are surveyed about the perfor-
mance of the asset managers they are currently work-
ing with. The results are confidential. The “Greenwich 
Overall Quality Index”, which encompasses various 
parameters on participant satisfaction with asset 
management and customer service, declined slightly 
in numerical terms from 561 to 556 points in 2015. 
Despite this, Union Investment improved its ranking 
within the top quartile of the competition and is now 
classified among the absolute leaders.

As in the previous year, the average satisfaction score 
for tenants in German properties of UIR / UII was 2.4 
in 2015. 

It would be ambitious to maintain the high customer 
satisfaction levels for the 2016 financial year. Although 
we made the same forecast in the previous year, we 
still succeeded in maintaining customer satisfaction in 
the customer groups (bank consultants) or increasing 
it further (bank executives, private and institutional 
investors).

The unchanged prediction is based firstly on the as-
sumption that investors quickly become accustomed 
to the level of service offered, and simply maintaining 
this level of service is no longer adequate to achieve 
the same satisfaction scores. Secondly, once high satis-
faction scores have been achieved, it tends to become 
more difficult to raise the level of service further still. 
Moreover, satisfaction scores are also dependent on 
the performance of capital markets. Given that this 
performance can only be predicted to a limited extent, 
any forecast of satisfaction scores must factor in some 
potential for a setback. 

Employee volunteering with the mitMenschen 
initiative

Socially responsible volunteering by employees forms 
part of the Union Investment Group’s sustainability 
strategy. The mitMenschen initiative was launched 
in the 2006 anniversary year, driven by a desire to 
give something back to the community. In the past, 
activities have been planned centrally for set project 
Saturdays, and offered to employees who wish to 
participate. Since November 2012 employees have 
been able to organise such activities themselves. To 
this end, Union Investment maintains a database of 
socially responsible activities on its intranet and em-
ployees are able to add their own activities or register 
for proposed projects.

18 projects were initiated by employees in 2015, 
including three projects in Hamburg, three in Luxem-
bourg, eleven in the Frankfurt region and one that was 
organised across all of the locations simultaneously. 
In total, 768 employees from all hierarchy levels and 
all locations (Frankfurt, Hamburg and Luxembourg) 
volunteered for around 2,331 hours of their own 
time for 15 organisations. This work helped socially 
disadvantaged children, young people and adults and 
people with disabilities.

3.3 Statement of cash flows

The purpose of the statement of cash flows is to deter-
mine and present the cash flows generated or used by 
the Union Investment Group in its operating activi-
ties, investing activities and financing activities in the 
financial year. A statement of cash flows is not particu-
larly meaningful as far as investment companies are 
concerned. The Union Investment Group’s statement 
of cash flows does not replace financial or liquidity 
planning, nor is it used as a management tool.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 

EUR million EUR million 

Cash flow from operating 
activities 

397.5 368.4

Cash flow from investing 
activities 

-150.4 -165.0

Cash flow from financing 
activities 

-247.1 -203.4

=
Changes in cash and cash 
equivalents 

0 0

+
Cash and cash equivalents at 
start of year 

0 0

=
Cash and cash equiva- 
lents at end of year 

0 0

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash 
flows correspond to the cash and cash equivalents 
item in the statement of financial position, which 
comprises cash in hand and balances at central banks, 
plus debt instruments from public-sector entities and 
bills of exchange eligible as collateral for central bank 
funding if the residual maturity is less than three 
months and the amounts concerned are deemed to 
be the retention of liquidity. Receivables from banks 
that are repayable on demand are not included; these 
items are assigned to operating activities.
 
The cash flows from operating activities were deter-
mined using the indirect method and provide informa-
tion on the cash flows from the results of the main 
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 activities recognised in the income statement and from 
changes in items of the statement of financial position 
from the Union Investment Group’s business activi-
ties that are not attributable to investing or financing 
activities. These cash flows demonstrate the Union 
Investment Group’s ability to generate cash from its 
operating activities and from its own resources in 
order to meet its obligations, maintain its operations, 
pay dividends and support capital expenditure without 
having to resort to external sources of funding.
 
The main features of the cash flows from investing 
activities in the year under review were proceeds of 
EUR 944.9 million from the disposal of investment se-
curities and payments of EUR 995.2 million to acquire 
investment securities. In addition, cash payments of 
EUR 73.4 million were made for intangible assets, EUR 
13.3 million in relation to capital expenditure on other 
property, plant and equipment and EUR 13.6 million 
in connection with the acquisition of shares in UIA. 
 
In accordance with the definition in IAS 7.17, cash 
flows from financing activities comprised cash flows 
arising from transactions with equity holders and 
other shareholders in consolidated subsidiaries, from 
other capital and from the utilisation and repayment 
of loans and other borrowings. The cash flows from 
financing activities were primarily accounted for by 
the payment by UMH of the dividend for the 2014 
financial year amounting to EUR 250.1 million and 
the payment of dividends from subsidiaries of UMH to 
non-controlling interests amounting to EUR 4.1 mil-
lion. Offsetting this, there were changes in funds from 
other capital of EUR 7.0 million.

C Supplementary Report 
There were no events of particular significance after 
the end of the financial year.

D Corporate Governance 
 Declaration 

Report in accordance with section 289a (4)  
in conjunction with (2) no. 4 HGB

The Supervisory Board has defined targets in ac-
cordance with section 111 (5) of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) for the proportion of female 
members of the company's Supervisory Board and 
Board of Managing Directors to be met by 30 June 
2017. 

The target for the Supervisory Board is 20%. In the 
 period under review, the proportion of female mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board was 13.3%.

For the Board of Managing Directors, which had a pro-
portion of female members of 0% in the period under 
review, the Supervisory Board defined the current level 
as the target for 30 June 2017.  

In addition, the Board of Managing Directors has 
defined targets in accordance with section 76 (4) AktG 
for the two management levels below the Board of 
Managing Directors; these targets are to be met by 30 
June 2017. 

The target is 25% at head of division level (the first 
level below the Board of Managing Directors) and 0% 
at head of department level (the second level below 
the Executive Board). The aforementioned targets 
were met in the period under review.
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E Forecast, Report  
 on Risks and  
 Opportunities 

I. Report on opportunities 

Union Investment pursues a value-driven business 
policy, which means generating a steady increase in 
enterprise value. This increase is fundamentally to be 
achieved through lasting and profitable growth, taking 
into account risk / reward considerations. Specifically, 
we see it as our mission to increase the assets of our 
customers and to gain their trust. To do this, we ad-
dress the key challenges presented by the capital mar-
kets and develop needs-driven investment solutions. 

The performance of the corporate group is reflected 
particularly in the current net income from equity 
investments, whereby a distinction is made between 
profit transfers and income from equity investments. 
For profit transfers, the profit or loss generated by the 
subsidiary is transferred directly to UMH whereas, in 
the event of income from equity investments, a divi-
dend is paid by the subsidiary to UMH, the amount of 
which can differ from the net profit generated for the 
year. The following opportunities exist in this context, 
which would essentially affect the company’s current 
net income from equity investments.

The current low level of interest rates means there 
are only negligible returns on investment. As such, 
investors can only generate a return if they make 
more broad-based, more active and more innovative 
investments. Compared with many other investment 
products, investment funds are extremely attractive in 
a low-interest environment. Multi-asset and absolute 
return solutions are a promising area. 

Real assets such as real estate are benefiting from the 
low-interest environment. Union Investment’s good 
positioning in this market offers continuing significant 
sales potential among retail and institutional clients.

Following the financial crisis, a large number of legisla-
tive provisions have been implemented resulting in 
a significant impact on the securities business. Real 
assets such as real estate are benefiting from the 
low-interest environment.  Other legislative measures 
are in the preparatory phase. In view of these develop-
ments, Union Investment believes that there is also an 
opportunity to develop customised, solution-oriented 
products and to strengthen customer loyalty.

The low-interest environment and growing regulation 
have also led to a paradigm shift among institutional 
investors. Approaches that worked in the past are 
no longer meeting all expectations. This means that 
opportunity-oriented investments are playing an 
increasingly important role. Union Investment sees an 
opportunity in offering institutional investors diversi-
fied investment strategies with sufficient income that 
also meet the regulatory requirements of the various 
investor groups. Tailored reporting also forms part of 
this overall concept.  

The importance of sustainability remains high. Union 
Investment expects institutional customers to remain 
extremely interested in sustainable investments and 
“UnionEngagement”. The UnionEngagement service 
from Union Investment offers investors the option of 
exerting shareholder influence based on portfolios 
held with Union Investment or with other custodian 
banks. Investors are also provided with sustainability 
research and expertise. This opens up the opportunity 
for Union Investment to firstly further increase inflows 
and asset, and secondly to strengthen its positioning 
as a responsible fund company.

The digital transformation is gradually coming to all 
areas of society and business. For Union Investment 
advancing digitisation means the potential to create 
new customer benefits and to improve processes at all 
stages of the value chain. 

Based on the identified opportunities, Union Invest-
ment believes there is the prospect of boosting net 
inflows and the volume of assets under management 
on an ongoing basis, thereby continuing to increase 
the resulting fee and commission income for the 
Group. Union Investment is also constantly working to 
improve its processes, thereby saving time and costs. 
Overall, this results in both revenue-based and cost-
based opportunities to generate excellent earnings 
performance. At Union Asset Management Holding AG, 
this is reflected in both current net income from equity 
investments, i.e. the transfer of profits and the distribu-
tion of dividends from subsidiaries, and in administra-
tive expenses. 

II. Risk report

1. Proven systems for identifying and  
  managing risk

The Union Investment Group is an asset manager 
and its performance is therefore influenced to a large 
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degree by trends in real estate and capital markets and 
by the investment behaviour of fund investors. It acts 
in the interests of fund investors and pursues a value-
driven business policy with the long-term objective 
of generating a sustained increase in enterprise value 
taking into account a balance of risks and rewards. 
The Board of Managing Directors of UMH therefore at-
taches great importance to the highly skilled manage-
ment of risk. 

Internal management systems are designed so that 
risks can be identified, monitored on a regular basis 
and actively managed. The systems aim to ensure that 
risks potentially leading to negative variances from 
predicted performance are identified as early as pos-
sible and that corrective action is initiated to mitigate 
the risk. At the same time the aim is also to ensure 
that the Group can exploit business opportunities tak-
ing into account profitability and the Group’s capacity 
to assume risk. 

The Union Investment Group’s risk management 
system (RMS) is a continuous process that incorpo-
rates all organisational measures and procedures for 
identifying, measuring, monitoring and managing risk. 
The RMS is organised in compliance with regulatory 
requirements. UMH is a company within the DZ BANK 
Group and is thus integrated into the risk manage-
ment system of this group.

The Board of Managing Directors of UMH bears 
responsibility for risk management in the Union 
Investment Group. The risk strategy categorises 
the material types of risk identified, defines the 
fundamental risk measurement methods used, and 
provides detailed guidance on how to deal with  
the risk in question. The risk strategy is consistent 
with the risk strategies implemented in the  
DZ BANK Group. Risk measurement and manage-
ment procedures have been devised for all the 
material risk types, risk concentrations and interac-
tion with investment fund assets identified in the 
risk inventory. The Risk Management Committee is 
the central risk committee in the Union Investment 
Group. At its meetings, it discusses the risk situation 
of the Group and prepares decisions for the Board of 
Managing Directors of UMH. The Risk Manager and 
the central risk management unit are charged by the 
Board of Managing Directors with ensuring the integ-
rity of the group-wide RMS. Quarterly risk reports on 
UMH and the main companies in the Union Invest-
ment Group are prepared for their senior manage-
ment teams and supervisory boards as part of the 
regular reporting cycle. 

The details on the RMS, including all policies and strat-
egies, are documented in the company’s risk manual.
The internal audit department carries out an annual 
review of the RMS to ensure that it is fully operational.

The following sections describe the key components of 
the RMS in the Union Investment Group. 

Analysis of risk-bearing capacity

In order to ensure that the Union Investment Group 
and its companies continue to survive as going con-
cerns, their ability to bear risk is regularly monitored 
as part of the economic risk and capital manage-
ment system. The material types of risk are limited in 
accordance with the risk strategy and the aggregate 
risk cover available and are backed by risk capital. 
This involves limiting the maximum risk permitted 
by risk propensity in the form of upper loss limits in 
such a way that the survival of UMH and the Union 
Investment Group as going concerns is not put at risk. 
This process incorporates the effects of diversification 
between the different risk types. Independent experts 
use industry standards and methods to calculate the 
risk capital requirement and monitor the upper loss 
limits. Union Investment carries out regular stress tests 
in respect of the main types of risk. The methods used 
are subject to an annual adequacy review.

Early-warning system

Data on risk indicators is regularly collected and 
aggregated into twelve categories as part of the 
early-warning system. If predefined tolerance limits are 
exceeded or the risk is classed as elevated, an early 
warning is triggered that prompts those responsible 
for risk management to conduct a causal analysis and 
implement risk mitigation measures. The early warn-
ings generated by the system therefore guarantee that 
corrective action will be initiated in good time. The risk 
indicator system essentially covers operational risk, 
business risk and risks that can arise from outsourced 
functions. In addition, the Group has an ad hoc report-
ing system for the early identification of exceptional 
risk situations that require immediate action.

Risk reporting

The Board of Managing Directors of UMH receives 
quarterly written reports on changes in the risk posi-
tion in the reporting period. The risk report describes 
and assesses the overall risk position. It highlights 
any critical areas of potential risk and, if necessary, 
recommends action to eliminate such potential risk. 
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The Board of Managing Directors uses this report as 
the basis for the information it forwards to the Super-
visory Board. In addition to these regular risk reports, 
any critical risk information is passed to the Board of 
Managing Directors without delay and, if necessary, 
also passed on to the Supervisory Board.

2.  Description of the main risks

The Union Investment Group’s risk strategy applies to 
the risks identified and classified as material in the an-
nual risk inventory. These risks are regularly monitored 
and managed with the help of the risk management 
system on the basis of the guidance specified in the 
risk strategy.

Operational risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of losses arising 
from human behaviour, technological failure, process 
or project management weaknesses or external events. 
Legal risk is included in this definition. Compared to 
other risks, operational risk is extremely important in 
the Union Investment Group because the activities of 
the Group focus on the provision of services for third 
parties and not on the Group’s assumption of risk on 
its own account. 
 
Since 2015, operational risk has been quantified 
centrally by DZ BANK AG using an economic portfolio 
model. In the previous year, risk capital requirements 
were still calculated using the standardised approach 
of the Capital Requirements Regulation (CRR). A risk 
contribution of EUR 163.9 million was calculated 
for UMH as at 31 December 2015 (previous year: 
EUR 111.8 million). The alert threshold was EUR 170.1 
million (previous year: EUR 113 million). The risk 
contribution did not exceed the alert threshold at any 
point during the course of the year.

The additional risk indicator system triggered warnings 
for various risk indicators as intended and initiated 
corrective action to facilitate management of the risk. 
During the course of the year, there were no indica-
tions of any critical situations likely to represent a risk 
to the Group as a going concern. 

The Group records all losses of EUR 1,000 (gross) or 
more arising in connection with operational risk in its 
internal loss database. If such a risk materialises, it can 
cause not only the immediate losses, but also delays or 
interruptions to operations, or even subsequently give 
rise to reputational risk. If loss events are recorded, 
it enables Union Investment to analyse operational 
risks that have become critical and identify trends 

and concentrations. The action specified subsequently 
to mitigate the risk or prevent such risk materialis-
ing can then also be refined. Over the course of time, 
there are regular fluctuations in the pattern of losses 
as the probability of relatively large losses occurring 
in individual cases is very low. Losses did not reach a 
critical level relative to the upper loss limit at any point 
during 2014.

The risk profile in connection with operational risk is 
honed as part of an annual risk self-assessment in 
which scenario-based analyses are applied. Worst-case 
scenarios play a key role in this process. They provide 
indications as to how the Group should manage 
extreme risk events.

The Group has implemented various organisational 
precautions to mitigate or avoid the effects of opera-
tional risk:

The Union Investment Group’s practice of bundling 
activities, and the associated specialisation at indi-
vidual stages of the value chain, fundamentally helps 
to reduce operational risk. For example, IT services and 
related tasks are outsourced to a specialist IT service 
provider in the Group. Back-office activities are also 
pooled in the organisational structure. 

In addition to the pooling of tasks internally, some 
services are outsourced to specialist third-party provid-
ers. This is the case, for example, in IT operations. 
All planned outsourcing is subject to a standardised 
outsourcing process, which also includes an analysis 
of the risk arising in connection with the outsourc-
ing project concerned. Depending on the outcome 
of the analysis, outsourced activities and processes 
are included in the risk management system. Existing 
outsourcing arrangements are monitored and reports 
regularly submitted to senior management teams. Any 
necessary corrective action is initiated, where appropri-
ate.

Various organisational, technical and HR structures 
and procedures have been put in place to improve the 
stability of processes and reduce risk. These include 
an internal control system, a central fraud prevention 
unit, the segregation of functions except at Board of 
Managing Directors level, an appropriate technical 
infrastructure, the use of suitably skilled and quali-
fied employees and the provision of adequate HR 
resources.

In the Union Investment Group, the structure of the 
remuneration systems is the responsibility of the Group 
HR division and is enshrined in the remuneration 
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policy. The objective of the remuneration systems is to 
provide an appropriate reward in return for the ser-
vices of the employees and offer effective performance 
incentives. One of the express provisions in the policy 
and systems is that targets leading to the assumption 
of excessive risk must not be agreed. This helps to 
minimise operational risk. The remuneration systems 
are designed such that they comply with applicable 
regulatory requirements.

Insurance policies have been taken out to cover certain 
risks, some of which cannot be managed or controlled.

Union Investment has a business continuity plan 
covering emergencies and critical situations. The aim of 
the plan is to reduce the impact of external risks that 
could lead to extremely high losses or damage, or even 
jeopardise the continued existence of the Group as a 
going concern.

Market risk

Market risk comprises market risk in the narrow sense 
of the term and market liquidity risk. 

Market risk in the narrow sense of the term is defined 
as the risk of losses on financial instruments or other 
assets arising from changes in market prices or in the 
parameters that influence prices (for example, interest 
rate risk, spread risk, migration risk, currency risk, eq-
uity price risk, real estate risk, fund price risk and asset 
management risk). Market liquidity risk is the risk of 
loss arising from adverse changes in market liquidity, 
for example as a result of a reduction in market depth 
or market disruption. Market liquidity risk is only of 
minor significance.

Fund price risk and asset management risk are par-
ticularly important for UMH and the Union Investment 
Group. Fund price risk arises from the own-account 
investing activities undertaken by the companies in 
the Group. The Union Investment Group adopts a 
conservative approach to its own-account investing 
activities, investing primarily in the Group’s funds. 
Heightened volatility in financial markets can lead 
to changes in the value of fund assets, which are 
then reflected in the income statement. UMH uses a 
planning committee to monitor and manage its own-
account investing, and does not undertake trading 
activities specifically in pursuit of short-term gain. 
Fund price risk also includes interest rate risk in con-
nection with the measurement of pension obligations. 
The fund price risk is quantified as a value-at-risk with 
a confidence level of 99.9% and a holding period of 
one year. The calculation is based on a Monte Carlo 

simulation, taking into account crisis scenarios and 
risk mitigation techniques. Asset management risk is 
the risk arising from contractually agreed obligations 
to make additional capital payments to fund investors 
or clients if there is a shortfall in the funds. This risk 
category is relevant because the risk of such payments 
may arise in connection with subsidised pension plan 
products (Riester pension plan products, particularly 
UniProfiRente) and guarantee funds. Such additional 
payments to investors would represent expenses for 
the company. The risk relating to the pension products 
is calculated using a simulation of the expected future 
obligations to make additional capital payments. The 
risk of possible additional capital payments in connec-
tion with guarantee funds is quantified using suitable 
models and statistical methods depending on the 
structure of the product concerned. The performance 
of pension plan products and guarantee funds is 
constantly monitored. 

The economic risk capital requirement for market risk 
was calculated as EUR 190.4 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2015 (previous year: EUR 123.1 million). The upper 
loss limit was EUR 209 million (previous year: EUR 148 
million). The risk capital requirement did not exceed 
the upper loss limit at any point during the year.

Equity risk

Equity risk is defined as the risk of losses arising from 
negative changes in the fair value of that portion of 
the equity investments portfolio in which the risks 
are not covered by other types of risk. Equity risk only 
includes equity investments that are not integrated 
into the differentiated risk measurement process with 
a look-through approach for the individual risks. If the 
risk materialises, there may be a need to recognise 
impairment losses to reduce the carrying amounts of 
the equity investments concerned. The equity risk is 
calculated as a relative value-at-risk with a confidence 
level of 99.9% and a holding period of one year. The 
economic risk capital requirement for equity risk was 
calculated as EUR 44.8 million as at 31 December 
2015 (previous year: EUR 32.3 million). The upper loss 
limit was EUR 70 million (previous year: EUR 36 mil-
lion). The risk capital requirement did not exceed the 
upper loss limit at any point during the year.

Business risk

Business risk is the risk of losses arising from earn-
ings volatility for a given business strategy and not 
covered by other types of risk. In particular, this com-
prises the risk that, as a result of changes in material 
circumstances (such as economic conditions, product 
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environment, customer behaviour, market competi-
tors) corrective action cannot be taken solely at an 
operational level to prevent the losses. The company 
would thus report an operating loss if such a risk 
should materialise.

The economic risk capital requirement is calculated 
using an earnings-at-risk approach as a value-at-risk 
with a one-year timeframe and a confidence level of 
99.9%. The risk capital requirement was reported as 
EUR 0 as at 31 December 2015 (previous year: EUR 
3.3 million). As in the previous year, the upper loss 
limit was EUR 10 million. The risk capital requirement 
did not exceed the upper loss limit at any point during 
the year. The additional risk indicator system triggered 
warnings for various risk indicators as intended and 
initiated corrective action to facilitate management of 
the risk. During the course of the year, there were no 
indications of any critical situations likely to represent 
a risk to the Group as a going concern.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is defined as the risk of losses 
from events that damage confidence, particularly the 
confidence of clients, distributors, investors, the labour 
market or the general public, in the companies of 
the Union Investment Group or in the products and 
services they offer. 

Reputational risk affecting the Group or the Group 
companies may arise from the management of invest-
ment fund assets. If a reputational risk were to ma-
terialise, this could lead to an outflow of client funds 
and therefore to lower income in future. The effects of 
reputational risk are factored into the measurement of 
business risk and covered by the risk capital deter-
mined for the latter.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the loss that can arise if 
insufficient funds are available to meet payment ob-
ligations when due (liquidity risk in the narrow sense 
of the term) or if any necessary funding can only be 
obtained on unfavourable terms (funding risk). The 
main items that can give rise to liquidity risk are the 
payment obligations of the companies in the Group. If 
liquidity risk materialises, the settlement of payment 
obligations by the Group companies could be delayed. 
To avoid any such scenario, liquidity items are subject 
to continuous liquidity management. Active plan-
ning and control of liquidity aims to ensure that the 
companies can meet their payment obligations at all 

times. The solvency of the Union Investment Group 
was not in jeopardy at any time in the reporting 
period.

Total risk

Total risk is calculated on the basis of the individual 
risk types. Diversification effects are taken into ac-
count in aggregation. The total capital requirements 
amounted to EUR 375.7 million as at 31 December 
2015 (previous year: EUR 247.7 million). The overall 
limit was EUR 427.5 million in the reporting period 
(previous year: EUR 279 million). The total capital 
requirements did not exceed the overall limit at any 
point during the course of the year.

Risk cover is calculated quarterly in line with the 
specifications of DZ BANK in line with the liquidation 
approach. Risk cover amounted to EUR 593 million 
as at 31 December 2015 (previous year: EUR 639.8 
million). Utilisation of risk cover by the overall limit 
was 72.1% as at 31 December 2015 (previous year: 
43.6%). The Union Investment Group’s ability to bear 
risk was ensured at all times during the year.

3.  Summary of the risk position 
  in the year under review

The results from the risk monitoring process were 
discussed at regular meetings of the Risk Manage-
ment Committee and suitable action was initiated 
where appropriate. The Board of Managing Directors 
of UMH was kept abreast of developments relevant to 
risk by means of the quarterly risk reports and ad hoc 
notification of any critical issues as necessary. Based 
on these details, the Board of Managing Directors took 
action to manage risk and reported to the Supervisory 
Board of UMH on the risk situation. Individual high-
risk trends were mitigated by specific corrective action 
taken as part of the risk management process.

Over the 2015 financial year as a whole, there were 
no risks to UMH or the Union Investment Group as a 
going concern. The analysis of risk-bearing capacity 
does not highlight any obvious trends that could not 
be countered by the corrective action taken. The Union 
Investment Group’s ability to bear risk was ensured 
at all times. The Group complied with all limits during 
the reporting period. As dictated by prudent business 
practice, provisions were recognised in the annual 
financial statements to cover business and tax risks. 
The solvency of UMH and the companies in the Union 
Investment Group was never in jeopardy at any point 
in the year under review. 
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III. Forecast

Please refer to the details in section B. V. 3.2 for infor-
mation on the non-financial performance indicators.

This forecast covers the 2016 financial year.

Following the highest level of net profit ever achieved 
by the company, the highest level of net inflows and 
the record volume of assets under management in the 
previous year, Union Investment has again set itself 
ambitious targets for 2016.

Against the background of persistently tough condi-
tions – significant capital market volatility coupled 
with consistently low returns and low interest rates, 
moves towards tougher regulations, the enduring 
European sovereign debt crisis and geopolitical conflict 
– Union Investment intends to systematically leverage 
opportunities for positive business performance in Ger-
many and abroad, such as through the acquisition of 
the Austrian companies UIA and Immo KAG. However, 
it is precisely these conditions that mean there is still 
an inherent potential for a setback in this forecast. If, 
for example, there are serious changes in the regula-
tory environment, this could necessitate adjustments in 
the budgeted income or expenses. The capital market 
moving from a low interest to a negative yield scenario 
could also squeeze the Group’s earnings.

For 2016, Union Investment is again striving to main-
tain new business at its current extremely high level 
and expects to see further substantial growth in assets 
under management to another new high in spite of 
the lower overall performance assumptions.

A minor decrease in net fee and commission income 
is forecast. While volume-based income will increase 
significantly owing to the higher average assets 
under management, income from performance-based 
management fees is not expected to be generated to 
the same extent as in the previous year on account of 
the current capital market environment. In addition, 
Union Investment is forecasting a significant decline in 
transaction fees in the property sector. 

Administrative expenses are expected to increase 
substantially in the 2016 financial year. In addition to 
regulatory requirements, this development is due to 
strategic measures for marketing and sales as well as 
the future position of Union Investment in the digital 
era. Administrative expenses will also rise on the back 
of infrastructure investments and the resulting operat-
ing costs. Staff costs will increase slightly as a result of 

targeted recruitment in core competence and growth 
fields. Average salary adjustments and the full-year ef-
fect of appointments to new and unoccupied positions 
in the previous year will also serve to increase staff 
costs slightly.

Given the factors described above, a significant net 
profit is once again forecast for 2016, although there 
will be a clear reduction as against the previous year. A 
corresponding deterioration in the cost / income ratio is 
also expected as a result.  

Frankfurt / Main, 4 March 2016 

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke 
(Chief Executive Officer)

 
Jens Wilhelm 
(Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors)

Alexander Schindler 
(Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors)

Dr Andreas Zubrod
(Member of the Board  
of Managing Directors)



48



Union Asset Management Holding AG Annual Report 2015 Group Management Report

4949

2015 Financial Year

Consolidated Financial Statements

Co
ns

ol
id

at
ed

 F
in

an
cia

l S
ta

te
m

en
ts

Union Asset Management Holding AG Annual Report 2015 IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements 



50

Consolidated income statement for the financial year from  
1 January to 31 December 2015

UMH Group Note 2015 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand

Net interest income [25] 14,991 10,772

Interest income and current income 16,014 14,092

Interest expenses -1,023 -3,320

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables [26] -21 18

Net interest income after allowances for losses on loans and 
receivables

14,970 10,790

Net fee and commission income [27] 1,227,248 1,101,074

Fee and commission income 1,950,182 1,683,643

Fee and commission expenses -722,934 -582,569

Net income from investment securities [28] -7,358 -2,708

Other net remeasurement income on financial instruments [29] -15,158 11,510

Net income from companies accounted for using the equity 
method

[30] 2,063 2,167

Administrative expenses [31] -702,739 -655,501

Other operating result [32] 36,538 18,022

Consolidated earnings before taxes 555,564 485,354

Income taxes [22], [33] -180,509 -140,057

Consolidated net income 375,055 345,297

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 368,242 339,580

Non-controlling interests 6,813 5,717

Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS) 
of Union Asset Management Holding AG 
for the financial year from 1 January to 
31 December 2015 
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UMH Group Note 2015 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand

Consolidated net income 375,055 345,297

Other comprehensive income 21,537 -19,060

Amounts reclassified to profit or loss 8,286 5,846

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets [34], [35], [52] 3,206 796

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries [35], [52] 764 -830

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates 
accounted for using the equity method

[35], [52] 5,349 6,161

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income [35] -1,033 -281

Amounts not reclassified to profit or loss 13,251 -24,906

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans  [35], [52] 18,177 -36,099

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income [35] -4,926 11,193

Total comprehensive income 396,592 326,237

Attributable to:

Shareholders of Union Asset Management Holding AG 389,451 321,032

Non-controlling interests 7,141 5,205

Statement of comprehensive income for the financial year from  
1 January to 31 December 2015
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Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015

Equity and liabilities Note 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks [17], [46] 13,100 16,057

Liabilities to customers [17], [47] 59 84

Liability derivatives [18], [48] 13,962 8,434

Provisions [19], [20], [49] 153,105 173,802

Income tax liabilities [22], [50] 102,161 57,142

Other liabilities [51] 588,442 527,760

Equity [52] 1,121,801 978,783

Issued capital 87,130 87,130

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617

Retained earnings 620,040 518,736

Revaluation surplus 2,511 523

Currency translation reserve 10,887 4,719

Consolidated net profit 368,242 339,580

Non-controlling interests 14,374 9,478

Total equity and liabilities 1,992,630 1,762,062

Assets Note 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cash reserve [9], [36] 37 38

Loans and advances to banks [10], [37] 435,683 389,193

Loans and advances to customers [10], [38] 63,898 57,482

Investment securities [12], [39] 1,057,948 1,012,456

Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method [13], [40] 57,698 60,700

Property, plant and equipment [14], [41] 58,631 49,429

Intangible assets [15], [42] 127,111 68,165

Income tax assets [22], [43] 27,255 25,459

Other assets [44] 147,963 89,083

Assets held for sale [16], [45] 16,406 10,057

Total assets 1,992,630 1,762,062
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Statement of changes in equity for the financial year from  
1 January to 31 December 2015

UMH Group Note Issued 
capital

Capital 
reserves

Retained 
earnings

Revalua-
tion 

surplus

Currency 
translation 

reserve

Consoli-
dated net 

profit

Equity 
before 

non-
controlling 

interests

Non-
controlling 

interests

Total 
equity

EUR 
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR 
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR  
thousand

EUR  
thousand

1 Jan. 2014 87,130 18,617 467,727 52 -623 280,418 853,321 8,033 861,354

Consolidated net income – – – – – 339,580 339,580 5,717 345,297

Other comprehensive 
income

[52] – – -24,361 471 5,342 – -18,548 -512 -19,060

Total comprehensive 
income – – -24,361 471 5,342 339,580 321,032 5,205 326,237

Dividends paid [52] – – -205,048 – – – -205,048 -3,760 -208,808

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 280,418 – – -280,418 – – –

31 Dec. 2014 87,130 18,617 518,736 523 4,719 339,580 969,305 9,478 978,783

1 Jan. 2015 87,130 18,617 518,736 523 4,719 339,580 969,305 9,478 978,783

Consolidated net income – – – – – 368,242 368,242 6,813 375,055

Other comprehensive 
income

[52] – – 13,053 1,988 6,168 – 21,209 328 21,537

Total comprehensive 
income – – 13,053 1,988 6,168 368,242 389,451 7,141 396,592

Capital increase – – – – – – – 1,470 1,470

Acquisition/disposal of 
non-controlling interests 

– – -1,265 – – – -1,265 -205 -1,470

Changes in the consolidated 
group

– – – – – – – 552 552

Dividends paid [52] – – -250,064 – – – -250,064 -4,062 -254,126

Appropriation to retained 
earnings

– – 339,580 – – -339,580 – – –

31 Dec. 2015 87,130 18,617 620,040 2,511 10,887 368,242 1,107,427 14,374 1,121,801
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Statement of cash flows for the financial year from  
1 January to 31 December 2015

UMH Group 2015 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand

Consolidated net income 375,055 345,297

Non-cash items included in consolidated net income and reconciliation to cash flows from 
operating activities

Depreciation, amortisation, impairment losses and reversals of impairment losses on assets and 
measurement changes on financial assets and liabilities

47,795 14,251

Non-cash changes in provisions and deferred liabilities 507,843 468,026

Other non-cash income and expenses 233,577 98,093

Gains and losses on the disposal of assets and liabilities -1,046 788

Other adjustments (net) -17,086 -13,155

Subtotal 1,146,138 913,300
Cash changes in assets and liabilities arising from operating activities

Loans and advances to banks -38,857 -68,780

Loans and advances to customers -6,426 -9,376

Other assets -57,689 20,633

Liabilities to banks -3,024 -593

Liabilities to customers -25 -4

Liability derivatives -2,911 -9

Other liabilities -461,980 -393,782

Interest and dividends received 19,448 17,222

Interest paid -1,265 -3,105

Income taxes paid -195,900 -107,061

Cash flow from operating activities 397,509 368,445

Proceeds from the disposal of:

Investment securities 944,888 929,439

Property, plant and equipment 8 2

Intangible assets 146 1,542

Payments for the acquisition of:

Investment securities -995,150 -1,067,049

Joint ventures and associates – –

Property, plant and equipment -13,271 -5,072

Intangible assets -73,419 -22,752

Effects of changes in consolidation:

Payments for the acquisition of consolidated companies less cash acquired
-13,634 -1,094

Cash flow from investing activities -150,432 -164,984

Dividend payments to the shareholders of UMH AG and other shareholders -254,126 -208,808

Changes in cash from other capital 7,048 5,342

Cash flow from financing activities -247,078 -203,466

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 38 43

Cash flow from operating activities 397,509 368,445

Cash flow from investing activities -150,432 -164,984

Cash flow from financing activities -247,078 -203,466

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 37 38
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Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows correspond to the cash and cash equivalents item 
in the statement of financial position, which comprises cash in hand and balances at central banks, plus debt 
instruments from public-sector entities and bills of exchange eligible as collateral for central bank funding if the 
residual maturity is less than three months and the amounts concerned are deemed to be the retention of liquid-
ity. Receivables from banks that are repayable on demand are not included; these items are assigned to operat-
ing activities.

The statement of cash flows shows a breakdown of, and changes in, cash and cash equivalents during the 
 financial year. It is broken down into operating activities, investing activities and financing activities.

Cash flows from operating activities comprise cash transactions (cash inflows and outflows) in connection with 
loans and advances to banks and customers, other assets, liabilities to banks and customers and other liabilities. 
Interest and dividend payments, together with current income tax payments, are also assigned to cash flows from 
operating activities.

Cash flows from investing activities show cash transactions relating to investment securities, property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets. This item also includes the effects from changes in the consolidation group.

Cash flows from financing activities comprise proceeds from capital increases, proceeds from the utilisation of 
loans, loan repayments, dividend payments and changes in cash related to other capital.

A statement of cash flows is not particularly meaningful as far as investment companies are concerned. The 
statement of cash flows for the UMH Group does not replace liquidity and financial planning, nor is it used as  
a management tool.
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Notes to the Consolidated 
 Financial Statements
General Information

[1] Principles of Group accounting

Union Asset Management Holding AG (UMH AG) is 
the holding company of the Union Investment Group. 
It is a subsidiary of DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral- 
Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main (DZ BANK). 
The primary purpose of UMH AG’s subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates is to issue and sell investment 
funds, hold these funds in safe custody and provide 
associated services. The Union Investment Group is 
also the centre of competence for asset management 
within Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe.

The registered office of UMH AG is Weissfrauenstrasse 
7, 60311 Frankfurt/Main, Germany. The company was 
entered in the commercial register of the Frankfurt/
Main Local Court on 16 June 1999 under HRB 47289. 
The shares in UMH AG are not publicly traded.

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG are 
included in the consolidated financial statements of 
DZ BANK, which in turn prepares the consolidated 
financial statements covering the greatest number of 
entities included in the overall group and is entered 
in the commercial register of the Frankfurt/Main Local 
Court under HRB 45651.

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG 
comprise the consolidated income statement, the 
statement of comprehensive income, the statement 
of financial position, the statement of changes in 
equity, the statement of cash flows and the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements. They comprise 
the separate financial statements of UMH AG and its 
subsidiaries (hereafter also referred to as the “UMH 
Group” or “Union Investment Group”). The consoli-
dated financial statements have been prepared as at 
the end of UMH AG’s reporting period, 31 December 
2015. The subsidiaries included share the same report-
ing period.

In accordance with standard international practice, 
the consolidated income statement and statement 
of financial position are presented in a condensed 
and clearly structured format in compliance with the 
requirements of IAS 1. Statement of financial posi-
tion line items are shown in order of liquidity. More 
detailed information is provided in the additional 
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in euro (EUR). Unless stated otherwise, amounts 
are presented in thousands of euro (EUR thousand) to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are 
clear and comprehensible. Rounding differences can 
occur in tables.

All items in the consolidated financial statements are 
recognised and measured under the assumption of 
the going concern principle. Income and expenses 
are recognised using the accrual method, i.e. they are 
recognised in the period to which they relate.

With the exception of the contractual maturity analysis 
(note [57]) as required by IFRS 7.39, the disclosures 
on the nature and extent of risks arising from financial 
instruments (IFRS 7.31-42) are included in the risk 
report in the Group management report.

[2] Accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements and the  
Group management report for the financial year from 
1 January to 31 December 2015 have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European Union 
(EU), and the additional requirements of German com-
mercial law pursuant to section 315a(1) of the Han-
delsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) in 
conjunction with section 315a(3) HGB.

The financial statements of the companies consoli-
dated in the UMH Group have been prepared using 
uniform accounting policies.

Changes in accounting policies

•  First-time adoption of IFRS changes in the 2015 
financial year

The following new, amended or revised versions of 
financial reporting standards, the new interpretation 
shown below and the stated improvements to IFRS 
were adopted for the first time in the UMH consoli-
dated financial statements for the 2015 financial year:
- IFRIC 21 Levies,
-  Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 

as part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 
2011 –  2013 Cycle,

-  Amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 
as part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 
2011 –  2013 Cycle,

-  Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property as part 
of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2011 – 2013 
Cycle.
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IFRIC 21 Levies deals with the issue of accounting for 
public levies that are not charges as defined by IAS 
12 Income Taxes or other fines imposed for infrac-
tions of law. In particular, it clarifies that obligations 
to pay such levies must be recognised as liabilities or 
provisions on occurrence of the obligating event. The 
clarifications do not give rise to any material qualita-
tive or quantitative effects.

The amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations as 
part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2011 – 2013 
Cycle, specify the exceptions to IFRS 3 as regards the 
financial statements of joint ventures or joint opera-
tions. This amendment is to be applied prospectively.

The amendment to IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement as 
part of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2011 – 2013 
Cycle, clarifies that the portfolio exception in accord-
ance with IFRS 13 can be applied not just to finan-
cial assets and liabilities but also to other contracts 
covered by IAS 39 or IFRS 9. This amendment is to be 
applied prospectively.

The amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property as part 
of the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2011 – 2013 
Cycle, clarify that the scopes of IAS 40 and IFRS 3 are 
independent of each other. This means that IFRS 3, 
and not IAS 40, serves as the basis for determining 
whether a transaction is an acquisition of investment 
property or a business combination. This amendment 
is to be applied prospectively. There have been no 
such business combinations in the UMH Group since 
1 January 2015.

The other above amended financial reporting 
standards and the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 
2011 – 2013 Cycle, have no material impact on the 
UMH consolidated financial statements.

•  IFRS changes endorsed but not yet adopted

The UMH Group has decided against voluntary early 
adoption of the following new, revised/amended 
financial reporting standards and the stated IFRS 
improvements that have been endorsed by the EU:
-  Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits – Defined 

Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions,
-  Amendments to IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements – Ac-

counting for Acquisitions of Interests,
- Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative,
-  Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 – Clarification of 

Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation,
-  Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2010 – 2012 Cycle,
-  Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2012 – 2014 Cycle.
 

The amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions adds an option regarding 
 accounting for defined benefit obligations with the 
employee’s mandatory contributions. If such contribu-
tions are linked to service but independent of the 
number of years of service, an entity is permitted to 
recognise such contributions as a reduction of the 
service cost in the period in which the related service 
is rendered rather than over the term of service. These 
amendments are to be effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 February 2015. These amend-
ments are to be applied retrospectively.

The amendments to IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests clarify that 
the acquirer of an interest in a joint operation that 
constitutes an operation as defined by IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations must apply the corresponding principles 
for accounting in accordance with IFRS 3. It is also 
clarified that a previously held interest in a joint op-
eration does not have to be remeasured if additional 
interests are acquired but the operation is still subject 
to joint control. The amendments are to be applied 
prospectively to financial years beginning on or after  
1 January 2016.

The amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 Clarification 
of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisa-
tion establish that a revenue-based method cannot be 
used for depreciation of property, plant and equip-
ment. It is also clarified for both intangible assets and 
property, plant and equipment that a decline in sales 
prices for goods and services is an indication of their 
commercial obsolescence and thus an indication of 
a decline in the commercial potential benefit of the 
assets required for production. These amendments are 
to be effective for financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2016. These amendments are to be applied 
prospectively.

The amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative  
clarify that the concept of materiality applies to all 
components of the IFRS financial statements includ-
ing the notes. Immaterial information does not have 
to be disclosed. This applies even if its disclosure is 
explicitly called for in other standards. Instructions 
on the presentation of subtotals in the statement of 
financial position, the income statement and in other 
comprehensive income were also added. Furthermore, 
the presentation of interests of equity investments ac-
counted for using the equity method in the statement 
of comprehensive income was clarified. These amend-
ments are effective for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016.
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In the Annual Improvements to IFRSs, 2010 – 2012 
Cycle and 2012 – 2014 Cycle, the IASB provides 
clarifications and makes small amendments to various 
existing standards.

The above amendments and improvements to IFRS 
have no material impact on the UMH consolidated 
financial statements. They will be adopted in the UMH 
Group from the 2016 financial year in compliance 
with the relevant transition guidelines.

•  IFRS changes not yet endorsed

The following new or revised accounting standards, 
amended accounting standards and IFRS improve-
ments that have been issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU:
- IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,
- IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts,
- IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
- IFRS 16 Leases,
-  Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – 

Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation 
Exception,

-  Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture,

-  Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred 
Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses.

In future the regulations of IFRS 9 Financial Instru-
ments will replace the content of IAS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 
contains provisions on the fundamentally revised regu-
latory areas of the categorisation and measurement 
of financial instruments, accounting for impairment on 
financial assets and hedge accounting. 

With its regulations on categorisation and meas-
urement, IFRS 9 will introduce a reclassification of 
financial assets. Both the business models of the 
portfolios and the characteristics of the contracted 
cash flows for the individual financial assets must be 
taken into account for the purposes of the reclassifica-
tion. Unlike IAS 39, IFRS 9 specifies that, as regards 
financial liabilities designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss, any changes in such liabilities resulting 
from a change in credit risk must be recognised in 
other comprehensive income. The other requirements 
relating to financial liabilities have been largely taken 
over from IAS 39 unchanged. 

The new provisions on accounting for impairment 
fundamentally change their recognition, as they 
require the recognition not just of losses that have 
already occurred but that are already expected as well. 
In determining the extent to which expected losses are 
recognised, a distinction must be made as to whether 
or not the risk of default on financial assets has de-
teriorated significantly since their addition. If this risk 
has deteriorated and is not classified as low as at the 
end of the reporting period, all losses expected over 
the entire term must be recognised from this date. 
Otherwise only the losses expected over the term of 
the instrument from future, possible loss events in the 
next twelve months have to be recognised.

The new IFRS 9 hedge accounting model will enable 
an improved presentation of internal risk management 
and entails extensive disclosure requirements. As in 
the past, the respective risk management strategy and 
risk management objectives must be documented at 
the inception of the hedge, though in future the link 
between the hedged item and the hedging instru-
ment must be in line with the specifications of the 
risk management strategy. If this link changes during 
a hedge, but not the risk management objective, the 
factors included in the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument must be adjusted without discontinuing 
the hedge. Under IFRS 9 it will no longer be possible 
to discontinue a hedge at any time without reason. 
The requirements for demonstrating the effectiveness 
of hedges are also changing. IFRS 9 will do away with 
both the retrospective effectiveness assessment and 
the effectiveness range. In future, opposing changes 
in value on the basis of the economic relationship 
between the hedged item and the hedging instrument 
can be demonstrated purely qualitatively rather than 
by using quantitative bright lines.

The effects on the UMH consolidated financial state-
ments are currently being examined in a project. The 
regulations of IFRS 9 are effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and must first 
be applied retrospectively. There are relief provisions 
for the restatement of prior-year comparative figures.

The regulations and definitions of IFRS 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers will in future replace 
the content of IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts and the interpretations IFRIC 13, IFRIC 
15, IFRIC 18 and SIC-31. Under IFRS 15, revenue is 
recognised when the customer acquires control of the 
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agreed goods and services and can derive benefits 
from them. The questions of how much and at what 
time or over what period revenue must be recognised 
are to be determined in five steps in future. First, the 
contract with the customer and the separate perfor-
mance obligations contained in it must be identified. 
Then the transaction price of the customer contract 
is determined and allocated to the individual perfor-
mance obligations. Variable components of the trans-
action price are estimated using the expected value 
method or the most likely amount method, and taken 
into account in line with the provisions limiting the 
inclusion of variable consideration in the transaction 
price. Finally, using the new model, revenue is recog-
nised in the amount of the allocated pro rata transac-
tion price for each performance obligation when the 
agreed service has been rendered or the customer 
achieves control over it. Using the criteria provided, 
a distinction must be made between performance 
at a point in time and performance over a period of 
time. The new standard does not distinguish between 
different types of contracts or services, and instead 
provides uniform criteria for when performance must 
be recognised at a point in time or over a period of 
time. IFRS 15 also includes additional qualitative 
and quantitative disclosure requirements in terms of 
information on the nature, amount and progress of 
revenue and cash flows in addition to the associated 
uncertainty. The amendments are effective for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The UMH 
Group does not expect that IFRS 15 will significantly 
affect its consolidated financial statements.

The IASB published the new standard IFRS 16 Leases 
on 13 January 2016. The main new regulations under 
IFRS 16 affect accounting by lessees. For all leases, a 
lessee must recognise assets for rights of use obtained 
and liabilities for payment obligations entered into. 
Convenience options are granted for low-value leased 
assets and short-term leases. The accounting regula-
tions for lessors are therefore largely the same as the 
current regulations of IAS 17. Compared to IAS 17, 
IFRS 16 significantly expands the disclosures in the 
notes for lessees and lessors. The effective date is 
1 January 2019, though earlier adoption is possible (if 
IFRS 15 is adopted at the same time).

The amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes published 
by the IASB on 19 January 2016 concern the recogni-
tion of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses. The 
amendments are intended to address various issues in 
relation to the recognition of deferred tax assets for 

unrealised losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of debt instruments and recognised in other compre-
hensive income. These amendments are effective for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

The effects of the implementation of the new and 
amended standards published after the end of the 
reporting period on the consolidated financial state-
ments are currently being examined.

The other amendments referred to above will have  
no material impact on the UMH consolidated financial 
statements.

The dates of first-time adoption for approved  
IFRS amendments are subject to the proviso that  
the amendments are first endorsed in EU law.

•  Voluntary changes in accounting policies

There were no voluntary changes in accounting poli-
cies in the financial year.

[3] Consolidated group

In addition to UMH AG as the parent company, the 
UMH consolidated financial statements include 18 sub-
sidiaries (previous year: 15) in which UMH AG directly 
or indirectly holds more than 50% of the shares or vot-
ing rights. Twelve of these subsidiaries (previous year: 
eleven) have their registered office in Germany, while 
six (previous year: four) are headquartered in other 
countries. Six subsidiaries (previous year: five) that are 
not material to an understanding of the financial posi-
tion and financial performance of the UMH Group have 
not been consolidated and are reported as investments 
in subsidiaries under investment securities.

VisualVest GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, was founded  
on 2 February 2015. The company is included in 
consolidation.

On the basis of a purchase agreement dated 
3 July 2015, the acquisition of all shares in Volksbank 
Invest Kapitalanlagegesellschaft m.b.H., Vienna, at  
a cash purchase price of EUR 13.6 million was closed 
as at 17 December 2015 in order to tap the Austrian 
sales market. Control of the company was achieved 
by way of the acquisition of voting rights and the 
fulfilment of all closing conditions as at 17 Decem-
ber 2015 after the transaction was approved by 
the Austrian Financial Market Authority by way of 
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notification dated 10 December 2015. The company 
was renamed Union Investment Austria GmbH (UIA) 
and included in consolidation for the first time as at 
31 December 2015. Through UIA, UMH AG indirectly 
acquired 94.5% of the shares in its subsidiary Immo 
Kapitalanlage AG, Vienna (IKG). No goodwill arose 
under this transaction.

The net assets at fair value attributable to the con-
trolling interest as at the acquisition date amount 
to EUR 13.6 million. Non-controlling interests of 
EUR 0.6 million relate to IKG as at the transaction date.

The net assets of EUR 14.2 million comprise invest-
ment securities of EUR 19.9 million, intangible assets 
of EUR 5.8 million, income tax receivables and other 
assets of EUR 2.1 million plus other equity and liabilities 
of EUR 5.3 million, provisions of EUR 4.4 million, 
financial obligations of EUR 2.5 million and income tax 
liabilities of EUR 1.4 million. The fair value of the receiv-
ables acquired is EUR 5.8 million and, at EUR 5.1 mil-
lion, essentially relates to loans and advances to banks. 
These amounts are the gross receivables.

The commission income for UIA and IKG amounts to 
EUR 24.8 million in the reporting year, the result in 
profit or loss is EUR 7.4 million. Given their first-time 
consolidation as at the end of the reporting period, 
the results of the company are not included in the 
consolidated income statement. The closing costs 
recognised in administrative expenses amount to 
EUR 1.2 million.

Together with the acquisition of UIA, the seller of 
UIA was paid a further EUR 36.4 million in total for 
the acquisition of distribution and exclusive rights for 
the distribution of Union Investment Group products 
through the Austrian Volksbank Group, which was not 
a component of the purchase price allocation for the 
acquisition of UIA, and instead is treated as a separate 
transaction in accordance with IFRS 3.51. These rights 
are recognised under intangible assets. Please see 
note [42].

The consolidated financial statements of UMH AG 
do not include any subgroups that prepare their own 
subgroup financial statements.

In the financial year, one investment fund (previous 
year: one) was included in the consolidated financial 
statements as a consolidated structured entity in ac-
cordance with IFRS 10.

Two joint ventures (previous year: two) – one of which 
is in Germany (previous year: one) – are accounted for 
using the equity method. 

Three associates (previous year: three) – three of 
which in Germany (previous year: three) – are ac-
counted for using the equity method. 

Four investment funds (previous year: two) that UMH 
AG controls and that are not material to an under-
standing of the financial position and financial perfor-
mance of the UMH Group have not been included in 
consolidation and are instead reported as investments 
in subsidiaries under investment securities.

Eight investment funds (previous year: 13) that UMH 
AG controls were held for sale as at the end of the 
reporting period. 

A complete list of the subsidiaries, joint ventures, asso-
ciates and investment funds included in the consoli-
dated financial statements can be found in the list of 
shareholdings (note [62]).

[4] Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries and investment funds are consolidated 
using the acquisition method. This method requires all 
the subsidiaries’ assets and liabilities to be recognised 
at their fair value at the acquisition date or at the date 
on which control is acquired (note [61]).

Any difference between the cost and the fair value of 
the assets and liabilities is recognised as goodwill un-
der intangible assets. The carrying amount of goodwill 
is tested for impairment at least once a year or more 
frequently if there are any indications of possible im-
pairment. An impairment loss is recognised if goodwill 
is found to be impaired.

Any negative goodwill is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Intragroup assets, liabilities, income and expenses are 
eliminated in full. Intragroup profits or losses result-
ing from transactions within the Group are eliminated 
unless the amounts concerned are immaterial.

Joint ventures and associates are accounted for us-
ing the equity method and are reported as shares in 
companies accounted for using the equity method. The 
cost of these equity investments and any goodwill are 
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determined at the time the investments are included 
in the consolidated financial statements for the first 
time. The same rules are applied as for subsidiaries.

The carrying amount of equity is adjusted over time 
based on the associates’ and joint ventures’ financial 
statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with local accounting standards and reconciled to 
IFRS.

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of funding 
provided for a number of investment funds, as a result 
of which the Group is in a position to exercise control 
over the fund concerned. These holdings are consoli-
dated unless they satisfy the criteria specified in IFRS 5 
and can be reported as assets held for sale.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and as-
sociates that are of no material significance and are 
therefore not consolidated, and equities and other 
shareholdings, are recognised under investment secu-
rities and measured at fair value or, if their fair value 
cannot be reliably determined, at cost.

[5] Estimates

Assumptions and estimates must be made in accord-
ance with the relevant financial reporting standards 
in order to determine the carrying amounts of assets, 
liabilities, income and expenses recognised in these 
consolidated financial statements. These assumptions 
and estimates are based on past experience, planning 
and expectations or forecasts of future events.

Assumptions and estimates are mainly used in deter-
mining the fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities and in identifying any impairment on finan-
cial assets. In addition, estimates have a significant 
influence on determining the amount of provisions for 
employee benefits and other provisions in addition 
to the recognition and measurement of income tax 
assets and income tax liabilities.

Fair values of financial assets and financial 
liabilities

If there are no prices available for certain financial 
instruments on active markets, the fair values of such 
financial assets and financial liabilities have to be de-
termined on the basis of estimates, resulting in some 
uncertainty. Estimation uncertainty mainly arises if fair 
values are calculated using measurement methods 

involving significant measurement parameters that are 
not observable on the market. This affects both finan-
cial instruments measured at fair value and financial 
instruments measured at amortised cost whose fair 
values are disclosed in the notes.

Impairment of financial assets

When testing financial assets in the “loans and 
receivables” category for impairment, the estimated 
future cash flows from interest payments, the repay-
ment of principal and the recovery of collateral must 
be determined. This requires estimates and assump-
tions, which in turn give rise to some uncertainty.
 
Provisions for employee benefits and other 
provisions

Uncertainty associated with estimates in connection 
with provisions for employee benefits primarily arises 
from the measurement of defined benefit obligations, 
on which actuarial assumptions have a material effect. 
Actuarial assumptions are based on a large number 
of long-term, forward-looking factors, such as salary 
increases, annuity trends and average life expectancy.

Actual future cash outflows due to items for which 
other provisions have been recognised may differ from 
the forecast utilisation of the provisions.

Income tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated on the 
basis of estimates of the future taxable income of tax-
able entities. In particular, these estimates affect any 
assessment of the extent to which it will be possible 
to utilise deferred tax assets in future. The calculation 
of current tax assets and liabilities for the purposes 
of preparing HGB financial statements still requires 
estimates of details relevant to income tax.

[6] Financial instruments

All financial assets and financial liabilities, including all 
derivatives, are recognised in the statement of finan-
cial position in accordance with IAS 39. All financial 
instruments are measured at fair value on first-time 
recognition. The amounts initially recognised for finan-
cial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair 
value through profit or loss include transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets 
or liabilities concerned. The subsequent measurement 
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of financial assets and financial liabilities depends on 
the IAS 39 category to which they are assigned on 
acquisition.

Categories of financial instruments

•  Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss

A distinction is made within this category between 
financial instruments held for trading and financial 
instruments that are irrevocably designated as at fair 
value through profit or loss on acquisition.

The UMH Group has no financial assets or liabilities in 
its portfolio that the Group has purchased or entered 
into with the intention of generating a gain from 
short-term fluctuations in prices or from the trading 
margin. No financial assets form part of any portfolio 
that has been used to generate short-term profit-
taking in the recent past.

Items in the designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss subcategory arise from application of the fair 
value option as specified in IAS 39. Fair value is used 
as the basis for determining both the risks and the 
returns from own-account investments, and these 
figures are then reported to the Board of Manag-
ing Directors. Exercising the fair value option helps 
to harmonise the financial management and the 
presentation of the financial position and financial 
performance.

•  Held-to-maturity investments

The Union Investment Group has not assigned any 
investments to the held-to-maturity category.

•  Loans and receivables

All non-derivative financial instruments that have fixed 
or determinable payments and that are not quoted on 
an active market are classified as loans and receiva-
bles. The basic requirement is that these financial 
instruments are not initially classified as “financial 
assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” 
or as “available for sale”. Loans and receivables are 
measured at amortised cost.

The Union Investment Group assigns all its trade 
receivables and its loans and advances to banks and 
customers to this category.

•  Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise all non-
derivative financial instruments that have not already 
been assigned to one of the other categories. Availa-
ble- for-sale financial instruments are measured at fair 
value, with any changes in fair value reported in the 
revaluation surplus in other comprehensive income. 
Any impairment losses due to changes in credit rating 
or gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in 
the income statement. Reversals of impairment losses 
on debt instruments are recognised in the income 
statement; reversals of impairment losses on equity 
instruments are recognised in other comprehensive in-
come. Available-for-sale securities are reported under 
investment securities.

•  Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities comprise financial liabilities 
and debt certificates including bonds unless they have 
been designated as at fair value through profit or loss. 
They are recognised at amortised cost.

The Union Investment Group assigns all its trade 
payables and liabilities to banks and customers to this 
category.

Initial recognition and derecognition of 
 financial assets and liabilities

Derivatives are initially recognised on the trade date. 
Regular way purchases and sales of non-derivative 
financial assets are accounted for at the settlement 
date. Changes in fair value between the trade date 
and settlement date are recognised in accordance 
with the category of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contrac-
tual rights derived from them expire or are transferred 
to parties outside the Group such that substantially 
all the risks and rewards or control of the assets are 
transferred to the receiving party. Financial liabilities 
are derecognised when they have been fully repaid.

Impairment losses and reversals of impairment 
losses on financial assets

Financial assets not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss must be tested at the end of each report-
ing period to determine whether there is any objective 
evidence that these assets are impaired.
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For debt instruments, important objective evidence 
includes financial difficulties on the part of the issuer 
or debtor, delay or default on interest payments or re-
payments of principal, failure to comply with ancillary 
contractually agreed arrangements or the contractually 
agreed provision of collateral, a significant downgrad-
ing in credit rating or issue of a default rating.

Significant objective evidence of impairment on equity 
instruments includes a lasting deterioration in financial 
performance, sustained losses or consumption of equi-
ty, substantial changes with adverse consequences for 
the issuer’s technological, market, economic or legal 
environment, or a considerable or enduring reduction 
in fair value associated with such changes.

For securities the disappearance of an active market 
for a financial asset owing to financial difficulties 
on the part of the issuer may constitute evidence of 
impairment.

•  Available-for-sale financial assets

If there is a negative revaluation surplus as at the end 
of the reporting period for individual financial assets 
in the available-for-sale financial assets category, an 
impairment test is carried out to determine whether 
there is any objective evidence, as detailed above, that 
the assets concerned are impaired. In this case the 
cumulative negative amount in the revaluation surplus 
must be reclassified to profit or loss. Impairment losses 
on equity instruments measured at cost are deducted 
directly from the carrying amounts of the financial as-
sets concerned and recognised in profit or loss.

For debt instruments, if the reasons for a previously 
recognised impairment loss no longer apply and this 
can be attributed to an event that occurred after the 
impairment was identified, any such impairment loss 
can be reversed. The reversal of impairment losses 
on equity instruments measured at fair value in the 
available- for-sale financial assets category is not 
permitted. Any subsequent increases in fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Impair-
ment losses cannot be reversed for equity instruments 
measured at cost.

Classes of financial instruments

The classes of financial instruments correspond to line 
items in the statement of financial position, with the 
exception of “Investment securities”. This is subdivid-

ed into “Investment securities measured at fair value” 
and “Investment securities measured at amortised 
cost”. Please see note [53].

[7]  Fair Financial instruments at fair value

Fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction 
to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take 
place between market participants at the measure-
ment date. The fair value of financial instruments is 
determined on the basis of market prices or observ-
able market data at the end of the reporting period or 
by using recognised measurement models. Investment 
fund units are measured at the redemption price less 
a redemption charge, if such a charge is stipulated in 
the contractual terms. If securities and derivatives can 
be traded with sufficient liquidity on active markets, 
i.e. market prices are available, or tradable prices 
can be established by active market participants, 
then these prices are used as the basis for determin-
ing fair value. If no prices are available from liquid 
markets, fair value is determined using techniques 
whose parameters are based on observable market 
data. Financial instruments repayable on demand are 
measured at their nominal amount. These instruments 
include cash in hand, current account credit balances 
and trade receivables.

[8] Currency translation

All monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the 
closing rate at the end of the reporting period into the 
relevant functional currency of the entities in the UMH 
Group. The translation of non-monetary assets and 
liabilities depends on the way in which these assets 
and liabilities are measured. If non-monetary assets 
are measured at amortised cost, they are translated 
using the historical exchange rate. Non-monetary 
assets measured at fair value are translated at the 
closing rate. Income, expenses, gains and losses are 
translated at the prevailing closing rate when they are 
recognised either in profit or loss or in other compre-
hensive income.

If the functional currency of subsidiaries included in 
the financial statements of the UMH Group is different 
from the Group’s reporting currency (euro), all assets 
and liabilities are translated at the closing rate and 
equity is translated at the historical rate. The result-
ing difference is reported in the currency translation 
reserve. Income and expenses are translated at the 
average rate. In most cases, the functional currency 
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of the entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements is the euro, i.e. the Group’s reporting cur-
rency.

[9] Cash reserve

Cash and cash equivalents are cash in hand and 
balances with central banks and other government 
institutions. Cash and cash equivalents are measured 
at their nominal amount.

[10] Receivables

Loans and advances to banks and customers are rec-
ognised at amortised cost. Loans are recognised when 
the loan is paid out.

Premiums, discounts and transaction costs are rec-
ognised in the income statement under net interest 
income. Deferred interest on receivables and premiums 
and discounts are reported with the respective loans 
and receivables under the corresponding statement 
of financial position items. Premium and discount 
amounts are allocated over the term of the loan or 
receivable using the effective interest method.

[11] Allowances for losses on loans and  
 receivables

An allowance is recognised for losses on loans and 
receivables if there is objective evidence that it will not 
be possible to collect the full amount when due. The 
amount of the allowance is measured as the differ-
ence between the carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows from this loan or 
receivable.

Uncollectible loans and receivables are written off 
immediately; any subsequent receipts from loans and 
receivables already written off are recognised in the 
income statement. The total amount of the allow-
ances for losses on loans and receivables is shown as 
a deduction from loans and advances to banks and 
customers on the face of the statement of financial 
position.

[12] Investment securities

Investment securities comprise non-trading bonds and 
other fixed-income securities, equities and other non-
fixed-income securities and investments in subsidiar-
ies, joint ventures and associates. This item mainly 
consists of investment fund units. These investments 

comprise short-term investments for the purposes of 
liquidity management (liquidity), initial funding for 
newly launched funds (funding), investments in pen-
sion plans or employee retention programs (employee 
investments) or longer-term capital investments (stra-
tegic investments). In addition, temporary investments 
in funds used to protect the liquidity of these funds 
are allocated to the “funding” category. Financial 
instruments are recognised at fair value plus individu-
ally attributable transaction costs on acquisition. The 
subsequent measurement of financial assets and 
financial liabilities depends on the IAS 39 category to 
which they are assigned on acquisition.

[13]  Shares in companies accounted for 
using the equity method

Investments in associates and joint ventures are 
recognised at cost in the consolidated statement of fi-
nancial position when significant influence is acquired 
or the entity is established. In subsequent years, the 
carrying amount of the equity is adjusted to take into 
account the Group’s share of the changes in equity. 
The equity carrying amount is reduced by dividend 
payments received. The Group’s share of the profit or 
loss from the associate or joint venture is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement as the profit or 
loss from companies accounted for using the equity 
method, the Group’s share of other comprehensive 
income is recognised in other comprehensive income.

[14] Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment comprise the following 
assets used by the Group for its own purposes: land 
and buildings that are expected to be used over more 
than one period and operating and office equipment. 
Property, plant and equipment is measured at cost 
less depreciation. If there are indications as at the 
end of the reporting period that the assets may be 
impaired, they are tested for impairment. If the higher 
of the fair value less costs to sell or the value in use 
is found to be lower than the cost less depreciation, 
a corresponding impairment loss is recognised. If the 
reasons for a previously recognised impairment loss 
no longer apply, the impairment loss is reversed up to 
a maximum of the carrying amount net of depreciation 
that would have applied if the impairment loss had 
not been recognised.

The normal useful lives of property, plant and equip-
ment are determined by taking into account expected 
physical wear and tear, technical obsolescence and 
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legal and contractual restrictions.

Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis. 
Land is not depreciated.

The depreciation expense on property, plant and 
equipment is included in administrative expenses 
(note [31]). Impairment losses, reversals of impairment 
losses and gains and losses on disposals of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised under other net 
operating result (note [32]).

[15] Intangible assets

In addition to purchased software, intangible assets 
also include distribution and exclusive rights, custom-
ers and any goodwill. Intangible assets are measured 
at amortised cost.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life.

If there are indications at the end of the reporting 
period that an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
may be impaired, the asset is tested for impairment. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, intangible 
assets not yet ready for use and goodwill are not amor-
tised but are instead tested for impairment once a year.

The Union Investment Group does not develop any 
of its own software as part of its software projects. 
However, standard software products are customised, 
resulting in expenses that are regularly capitalised as 
ancillary costs for purchased software licenses. 

The amortisation expense on intangible assets is 
included in administrative expenses (note [31]). 
Impairment losses, reversals of impairment losses and 
gains and losses on disposals of intangible assets are 
recognised under other operating result (note [32]).

[16]  Assets and liabilities held for sale

The carrying amount of non-current assets or disposal 
groups for which a sale is planned is recovered prin-
cipally through a sale transaction rather than through 
their continuing use. These assets and disposal groups 
therefore need to be classified as held for sale if the 
criteria set out below are satisfied.

To be classified as held for sale, the assets or disposal 
groups must be available for immediate sale in their 
present condition, subject only to terms that are usual 

and customary for sales of such assets or disposal 
groups, and it must be highly probable that a sale will 
take place. A sale is deemed to be highly probable if 
there is a commitment to a plan to sell the asset or 
disposal group, an active programme to locate a buyer 
and complete the plan has been initiated, the asset or 
disposal group is being actively marketed for sale at a 
price that is reasonable in relation to the current fair 
value, and a sale is expected to be completed within 
one year of the date on which the asset or disposal 
group is classified as held for sale.

Assets classified as held for sale are measured at the 
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. The assets are no longer depreciated or amortised 
from the date on which they are classified as held for 
sale.

Assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale 
are shown separately in the statement of financial 
position under non-current assets and disposal groups 
classified as held for sale and liabilities included in 
disposal groups classified as held for sale. Gains and 
losses arising on remeasurement at the lower of carry-
ing amount and fair value less costs to sell and gains 
and losses on the sale of these assets or disposal 
groups that represent a component of an entity (i.e. 
they represent a cash-generating unit or groups of 
cash-generating units) are recognised in the con-
solidated income statement under profit (loss) from 
discontinued operations. Gains and losses arising on 
remeasurement and on the sale of assets or disposal 
groups that do not represent a component of an entity 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement 
under other operating result (note [32]).

Occasionally, the UMH Group has holdings of funding 
provided for a number of investment funds, as a result 
of which the Group is in a position to exercise control 
over the fund concerned. These holdings are consoli-
dated unless they satisfy the criteria specified in IFRS 
5 allowing them to be reported as disposal groups 
under non-current assets and disposal groups classi-
fied as held for sale and liabilities included in disposal 
groups. This is the case if the UMH Group actively en-
deavours to sell off the holdings immediately in order 
to ensure that the funding is repaid and if it is highly 
probable that the investment funds concerned will no 
longer be under the control of the UMH Group within 
one year of the initial acquisition of the holdings. They 
are measured at fair value in line with IAS 39 in ac-
cordance with IFRS 5.5 (c).
[17] Liabilities
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Financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.

Liabilities from financial guarantees that fall within the 
scope of IAS 39 are measured at fair value on initial 
recognition. They are subsequently measured at the 
higher of any provision recognised in accordance with 
IAS 37 and the amount initially recognised. Liabilities 
from financial guarantees are reported as other liabili-
ties in the statement of financial position.

[18]  Asset and liability derivatives

Derivative financial instruments with positive and 
negative fair values are assigned to the statement of 
financial position items “Asset derivatives” and “Li-
ability derivatives” if, despite the intention to hedge, 
the requirements for hedge accounting have not been 
met. Gains and losses on the remeasurement of these 
items are reported under other net remeasurement 
income on financial instruments.

Figures reported in the item “Liability derivatives” 
represent funding gaps in capital preservation com-
mitments in accordance with section 1(1) no. 3 of the 
Gesetz über die Zertifizierung von Altersvorsorge- und 
Basisrentenverträgen (AltZertG – German Personal 
Pension Plan Certification Act) in connection with the 
UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select products issued 
by Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH to the extent 
that such funding gaps arise on the measurement of 
each individual contract as specified in section II no. 1 
in conjunction with section V of circular 2/2007 (BA) 
issued by the Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistung-
saufsicht (BaFin – German Federal Financial Supervisory 
Authority) on 18 January 2007. The amounts recog-
nised as liabilities in each case represent the difference 
between the present value of the pension plan con-
tributions guaranteed in accordance with section 1(1) 
no. 3 AltZertG and the market value of the customer 
portfolio, provided that this difference is positive.

In addition, the “Liability derivatives” statement of 
financial position item also includes funding gap risks 
arising from guarantee funds that were issued by as-
set management companies belonging to the Group. 
The carrying amount is recognised as the difference 
between the present value of the guarantee commit-
ments at the next guarantee date of a fund and the 
net asset value of the fund, provided that this differ-
ence is positive.
[19] Provisions for employee benefits

Provisions for employee benefits are recognised in 
accordance with IAS 19.

A distinction is made in occupational pension 
schemes between defined contribution plans and 
defined benefit plans. In defined contribution plans, 
the entity concerned has no obligation other than 
to pay contributions to an external pension provider. 
The providers covering the pension entitlements of 
employees in the Union Investment Group’s German 
companies are as follows: BVV Versicherungsver-
ein des Bankgewerbes a.G., Berlin (BVVaG), BVV 
Versorgungskasse des Bankgewerbes e.V., Berlin 
(BVVeV), R+V Pensionsversicherung a.G., Wiesbaden 
(RVPaG), R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, 
Wiesbaden (RVP) and Versorgungskasse genossen-
schaftlich orientierter Unternehmen VGU e.V., Wies-
baden (VGUeV). All these plans are defined benefit 
plans, but they are treated as defined contribution 
plans in accordance with the rules for multi-employer 
plans specified in IAS 19.34.

Under defined benefit plans, the entity concerned has 
an obligation to pay the benefits promised to current 
and former employees, although there is a distinction 
between plans funded by provisions and those funded 
by third-party arrangements.

In accordance with IAS 19, the Union Investment 
Group recognises provisions for obligations arising 
in connection with pension entitlements and cur-
rent benefits payable to eligible current and former 
employees of the Group and their surviving depend-
ants (the plans being funded by both employer and 
employees). There are various different pension sys-
tems in operation at the individual Union Investment 
Group sites depending on local legal, financial and tax 
circumstances. However, all the systems are gener-
ally based on the length of service and the individual 
employee’s level of remuneration.

Since 1 November 2007, the remaining pension 
obligations under employer-funded pension commit-
ments to retirees and former employee beneficiaries 
with vested pension entitlements and to a significant 
proportion of the beneficiaries who are still employed 
have been funded via VGUeV or RVP. As these remain-
ing obligations are funded via external pension provid-
ers, the UMH Group does not have any direct payment 
obligations in respect of these people.
The defined benefit obligation of UMH Group compa-
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nies is measured in accordance with IAS 19 using the 
projected unit credit method and is based on actuarial 
reports. The calculation of the obligation takes into 
account current projections of mortality, invalidity and 
employee turnover, expected increases in salaries, 
entitlements and pensions, and uses a realistic dis-
count rate. The discount rate is based on interest rates 
currently available for long-term corporate bonds from 
investment-grade issuers, and was set at 2.25% (pre-
vious year: 2.00%). Mortality and invalidity assump-
tions are derived from the Heubeck 2005 G mortality 
tables. Irrespective of the investment structure of the 
existing plan assets and pension insurance policies, 
the expected return on the plan assets and pension 
insurance policies was determined using a discount 
rate of 2.00%.

The employer-funded pension obligations are covered 
by VGUeV and RVP assets, which may be used solely 
for the purposes of meeting the pension commitments 
and are protected from the claims of any creditors. The 
VGUeV and RVP assets are plan assets as defined by 
IAS 19 and are netted against the pension obligations. 
If the assets exceed the pension obligations, an asset 
item is reported in accordance with IAS 19. If the as-
sets do not cover the obligation, the net obligation is 
recognised under provisions for pensions.

In some cases in the past, pension insurance policies 
were taken out to cover the risks arising from pen-
sion obligations. Some of these policies are pledged 
to employees. The premiums are paid by the Union 
Investment Group.

The obligations arising from the deferred compensa-
tion scheme (employee-funded) are covered by invest-
ments in Union Investment Group investment fund 
units. Since September 2013, these investment fund 
units have been held in a contractual trust arrange-
ment (CTA) by R+V Treuhand GmbH, Wiesbaden. They 
are plan assets as defined by IAS 19 and are netted 
against the corresponding pension obligations.

Actuarial gains or losses can arise from increases or 
decreases in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation, the fair value of plan assets or reimburse-
ment rights. The reasons for these actuarial gains 
or losses can include changes in the calculation 
parameters, changes in the estimates of risk from 
pension obligations, differences between the actual 
and expected return on plan assets and differences 
between the actual and expected return on reim-

bursement rights.

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit obliga-
tions, plan assets and reimbursement rights are rec-
ognised in other comprehensive income in accordance 
with IAS 19.120 (c).

Provisions are recognised to cover obligations arising 
from partial retirement schemes. To secure partial early 
retirement claims, since 2015 the investment fund 
units have been held in a contractual trust arrange-
ment (CTA) by R+V Treuhand GmbH, Wiesbaden. The 
provisions for partial early retirement arrangements 
are netted against the fair value of the investment 
units.

[20] Other provisions

Other provisions are recognised in accordance with 
IAS 37.

When determining the amount to be recognised for 
provisions, the UMH Group must make assumptions 
regarding the probability of an outflow of resources. 
Although these assumptions are a best estimate 
based on the prevailing circumstances in each case, 
the need to make assumptions means that a degree 
of uncertainty is involved. When measuring provisions, 
assumptions also have to be made regarding the likely 
amount of the outflow of resources. A change in the 
assumptions used can alter the amount recognised for 
the provisions.

[21] Revenue

Revenue comprises management fees, sales commis-
sion and other commission. Revenue is recognised 
when the underlying services have been performed, it 
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the amount of the revenue can be reliably 
determined. Revenue is recognised over the period 
in which the underlying services are performed. For 
performance-based management fees, revenue is rec-
ognised when the contractually agreed performance 
criteria have been satisfied.

The management fees represent the payment of 
consideration for the professional management of 
mutual funds, special funds, individual portfolios and 
portfolios forming part of advisory agreements with 
institutional clients.
Management fees vary depending on the asset classes 



68

being managed and sometimes include performance-
based components. 

The volume-based sales commission generated from 
the sale of fund units with a front-end fee is used, 
among other things, to cover sales and marketing 
expenses. Sales commission is recognised at the date 
of the sale. The amount recognised is reduced by the 
portion of the sales commission passed on to sales 
partners, with any such reduction reported as a deduc-
tion from revenue.
Interest income generated from deposits and fixed 
income securities is recognised using the effective 
interest method.

Dividend income from equity investments and distribu-
tions from investment fund units are recognised at the 
date that the legal entitlement to the payment arises.

[22] Income taxes

Current and deferred tax assets are reported under 
income tax assets; current and deferred tax liabilities 
are reported under income tax liabilities.

Current income tax assets and liabilities are calcu-
lated using current tax rates. A corporation tax rate 
of 15.0% (previous year: 15.0%) and a solidarity 
surcharge of 5.5% (previous year: 5.5%) of corpora-
tion tax is used for the German companies. The trade 
tax rate for the subsidiaries was 16.1% (previous 
year: 16.1%). Deferred tax assets and liabilities arose 
in connection with differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in accordance with 
IFRS and those in the tax base. These differences are 
expected to affect income tax liabilities or refunds in 
the future (temporary differences). Deferred taxes were 
measured using the tax rates expected to apply in the 
country of the company concerned in the period in 
which the taxes will actually be paid or recovered. De-
ferred tax assets for as yet unused tax loss carry-for-
wards are only recognised if it is probable that there 
will be sufficient future taxable profits in the same tax 
entity against which the losses can be utilised. Current 
tax receivables and payables are reported separately 
and are not netted, nor are they discounted.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised either 
in profit or loss (under income taxes) or in equity, de-
pending on the treatment of the items to which they 
relate. Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
are netted in the statement of financial position if they 

relate to the same tax authorities.

Other, non-income-related taxes are reported under 
other net operating income/expense (note [32]).

After the end of the reporting period there were no 
changes to tax rates or tax legislation that could have 
a significant impact on the UMH Group’s income tax 
assets or liabilities.

The income tax expense represents the total of the 
current tax expense and the deferred taxes. The 
current tax expense is calculated on the basis of the 
taxable income for the year. Taxable income is differ-
ent from the net income for the year reported in the 
income statement because taxable income disregards 
income and expense that is not taxable/deductible for 
tax purposes or that is only taxable/deductible for tax 
purposes in subsequent years. The UMH Group’s cur-
rent tax liabilities were calculated using the tax rates 
in force at the end of the reporting period or enacted 
prior to the end of the reporting period.

The UMH Group is required to pay income taxes in 
various countries, and the basis for measuring this 
liability varies from country to country. Provisions for 
taxes worldwide were recognised on the basis of prof-
its determined in accordance with local stipulations 
and locally applicable tax rates. However, there are 
some transactions whose final taxation cannot be de-
finitively determined during the normal course of busi-
ness. The amount of the provisions set aside for these 
matters is based on estimates as to the probability of 
additional tax becoming due in future and the amount 
of such liabilities. An appropriate provision is recog-
nised for any risks arising from different tax treatment. 
If the final taxation of these transactions differs from 
the tax originally assumed, this will affect the current 
and deferred taxes recognised in the period in which 
the taxation is definitively determined.

The UMH Group also needs to make estimates to 
determine whether any impairment losses need to 
be recognised on deferred tax assets. There are two 
key elements in deciding whether deferred tax assets 
are impaired: an assessment of the probability that 
temporary measurement differences will reverse and 
an assessment as to whether the loss carryforwards 
that have given rise to the recognition of deferred tax 
assets can be utilised. These factors depend on the 
availability of future taxable profits during the periods 
in which the temporary measurement differences 
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reverse and the tax loss carryforwards can be utilised. 
The interpretation of complex tax legislation and the 
amount and timing of future taxable income are sub-
ject to a degree of uncertainty. There may be changes 
to the taxes payable in future periods as a conse-
quence of differences between actual outcomes and 
assumptions or future changes in these assumptions, 
especially in view of the increasing interdependence of 
international markets.

[23] Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations arising 
from past events. The existence of these obligations 
will only be confirmed by future events outside the 
control of the UMH Group. Present obligations arising 
out of past events but not recognised because of the 
improbability of an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits also constitute contingent liabilities.

Contingent liabilities are measured at the best esti-
mate of possible future outflows of resources embody-
ing economic benefits.

[24] Leases

Under IAS 17, a lease is classified as an operating 
lease if substantially all the risks and rewards inciden-
tal to ownership are not transferred to the lessee. In 
operating leases, the lessor accounts for the assets. 
By contrast, a finance lease is a lease that transfers 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the asset concerned to the lessee.

There are also a very small number of cases in which 
rental income is earned from leasing office space 
to third parties. All such leases are operating leases. 
Lease payments under an operating lease are rec-
ognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease and reported as administrative expenses.

There were no contractual arrangements classified as 
finance leases in the reporting year.
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[25] Net interest income

[27] Net fee and commission income

Consolidated income statement disclosures

[26] Allowances for losses on loans and receivables

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Directly recognised write-downs -21 -9 -12

Changes in liabilities from financial guarantee contracts – 27 -27

Total -21 18 -39

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest income and current income 16,014 14,092 1,922

from lending and money market operations 462 561 -99

from negative interest on financial assets -274 – -274

from investment fund units 13,478 12,136 1,342

from other receivables 0 – 0

from equity investments 6 6 –

from investments in subsidiaries 2,342 1,389 953

Interest expenses -1,023 -3,320 2,297

for liabilities to banks and customers -992 -3,105 2,113

for other liabilities -31 -215 184

Total 14,991 10,772 4,219

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Fee and commission income 1,950,182 1,683,643 266,539

from sales commission 32,070 28,197 3,873

from management fees 1,691,887 1,446,537 245,350

from securities custody accounts 51,094 50,750 344

Other 175,131 158,159 16,972

Fee and commission expenses -722,934 -582,569 -140,365

for volume-based commission -562,172 -452,903 -109,269

for revenue-based commission -9,283 -6,872 -2,411

for securities custody accounts -15,682 -6,954 -8,728

Other -135,797 -115,840 -19,957

Total 1,227,248 1,101,074 126,174
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[28] Net income from investment securities

[29] Other net remeasurement income on financial instruments

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Gains and losses on the sale or change in fair value of 
available-for-sale equities and other non-fixed-income securities 
(including other shareholdings)

0 – 0

Gains and losses on the sale of other shareholdings or on the 
recognition of impairment losses for other shareholdings  0 – 0

•  Gains and losses realised on the sale of other shareholdings measured 
at cost

0 – 0

Gains and losses on the sale or change in fair value of 
investments in joint ventures  

-7,358 – -7,358

•  Impairment on investments in joint ventures accounted for using the 
equity method 

-7,358 – -7,358

Gains and losses on the sale or change in fair value of 
investments in associates

– -2,708 2,708

•  Impairment on investments in associates accounted for using the equity 
method

– -2,708 2,708

Total -7,358 -2,708 -4,650

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading

-5,540 -818 -4,722

Fair value gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading 

-5,528 -809 -4,719

Realised gains and losses on derivatives used for purposes other than 
trading

-12 -9 -3

Net income from financial instruments designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss

-9,618 12,328 -21,946

Gains and losses on financial instruments measured at fair 
value through profit or loss

-6,731 12,329 -19,060

•  Fair value gains and losses on shares and other non-fixed-income 
securities (including other shareholdings)

-10,681 13,099 -23,780

•  Realised gains and losses on shares and other non-fixed-income 
securities (including other shareholdings)

3,950 -770 4,720

Net income from investments in subsidiaries 12 -1 13

•  Net remeasurement income from investments in subsidiaries 12 -1 13

• Realised net income from investments in subsidiaries 0 – 0

Net income from derivative financial instruments in relation to 
non-derivative financial instruments

-2,899 – -2,899

•  Realised net income from derivative financial instruments in relation to 
non-derivative financial instruments

-2,899 – -2,899

Total -15,158 11,510 -26,668
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[31] Administrative expenses

[32] Other operating result

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Staff costs -339,042 -320,113 -18,929

Wages and salaries -298,500 -283,607 -14,893

Social security contributions -28,342 -26,970 -1,372

Pension and other post-employment benefit expenses -12,200 -9,536 -2,664

Other administrative expenses -339,517 -313,812 -25,705

IT expenses -82,145 -75,263 -6,882

Public relations/marketing -58,886 -52,725 -6,161

Consulting -48,046 -38,992 -9,054

Property and occupancy costs -41,161 -34,103 -7,058

Office expenses -40,453 -38,600 -1,853

Miscellaneous -68,826 -74,129 5,303

Depreciation and amortisation expense -24,180 -21,576 -2,604

Property, plant and equipment -4,062 -3,250 -812

Intangible assets -20,118 -18,326 -1,792

Total -702,739 -655,501 -47,238

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Other operating income 50,350 24,998 25,352

Income from the refund of other taxes 15,442 9,158 6,284

Income from the reversal of deferred liabilities 8,736 6,734 2,002

Income from the reversal of provisions 16,233 650 15,583

Income from exchange differences on currency translation 377 220 157

Miscellaneous other operating income 9,562 8,236 1,326

Other operating expenses -13,812 -6,976 -6,836

Expenses for other taxes -4,038 -1,460 -2,578

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment -9 -1,909 1,900

Expenses for exchange differences on currency translation -507 -176 -331

Impairment losses on intangible assets – -69 69

Impairment losses on other assets -29 – -29

Miscellaneous other operating expenses -9,229 -3,362 -5,867

Total 36,538 18,022 18,516

[30] Net income from companies accounted for using the equity method

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Joint ventures 1,798 1,961 -163

Associates 265 206 59

Total 2,063 2,167 -104
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[33] Income taxes

The breakdown of income taxes is as follows: 

The following reconciliation shows the relationship between profit/loss before taxes and income taxes in the 
financial year:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Current tax expense -184,662 -132,806 -51,856

Deferred taxes 4,153 -7,251 11,404

Total -180,509 -140,057 -40,452

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Consolidated earnings before taxes 555,564 485,354 70,210

x income tax rate 30.980% 30.910% 0.070%

= expected income tax expense in financial year 172,114 150,023 22,091

Deduction from tax owing to tax-exempt income -6,082 -17,621 11,539

Addition to tax owing to non-deductible expenses 8,171 7,142 1,029

Trade tax variance 5,215 4,425 790

Tax rate differences on income subject to taxation in other countries -3,191 -2,653 -538

Current tax expense/income relating to prior periods 3,130 -5,898 9,028

Deferred tax expense/income relating to prior periods 2 4,303 -4,301

Other 1,150 336 814

Tax expense in accordance with IFRS 180,509 140,057 40,452

The income tax expense included income from the interest on recognised corporation tax credits amounting  
to EUR 132 thousand (previous year: EUR 176 thousand).

The deferred tax income (expense) attributable to temporary differences or the reversal thereof that did not  
result from either loss carryforwards or tax rate differences amounted to EUR 4,153 thousand (previous year:  
tax income of EUR -2,995 thousand).

The deferred tax expense/income attributable to tax rate changes or the introduction of new types of tax is 
shown separately in the reconciliation. 
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2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets – – –

Gains (+) and losses (-) arising in the financial year – – –

Gains (-) and losses (+) reclassified to profit or loss – – –

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Amounts reclassified to profit or loss (before taxes) 9,319 6,127 3,192

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income

-1,033 -281 -752

Amounts reclassified to profit or loss (after taxes) 8,286 5,846 2,440

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (before taxes) 3,206 796 2,410

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income -1,035 -257 -778

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets (after 
taxes)

2,171 539 1,632

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 
(before taxes)

764 -830 1,594

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income 2 -24 26

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries (after taxes)

766 -854 1,620

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and associates 
accounted for using the equity method (before taxes)

5,349 6,161 -812

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income – – –

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method (after taxes)

5,349 6,161 -812

Amounts not reclassified to profit or loss (before taxes) 18,177 -36,099 54,276

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income

-4,926 11,193 -16,119

Amounts not reclassified to profit or loss (after taxes) 13,251 -24,906 38,157

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (before taxes) 18,177 -36,099 54,276

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income -4,926 11,193 -16,119

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans (after taxes) 13,251 -24,906 38,157

Other comprehensive income (before taxes) 27,496 -29,972 57,468

Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive 
income

-5,959 10,912 -16,871

Other comprehensive income (after taxes) 21,537 -19,060 40,597

Statement of comprehensive income disclosures

[34] Amounts reclassified to profit or loss

[35] Income taxes relating to components of other comprehensive income

The table below shows the income taxes relating to the various components of other comprehensive income.
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Consolidated statement of financial position disclosures

[36] Cash reserve

[37] Loans and advances to banks

[38] Loans and advances to customers

Loans and advances to customers included loans of EUR 19 thousand secured by mortgage (previous year: 
EUR 21 thousand).

Loans and advances to customers also included employer loans to salaried staff amounting to EUR 1,400 thou-
sand (previous year: EUR 1,882 thousand).

In addition, they include receivables from customers of EUR 6,988 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,659 thou-
sand) in respect of deferred custody account fees for investment accounts under the Vermögensbildungsgesetz 
(VermBG – German Capital Accumulation Act).

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cash in hand 37 38 -1

Total 37 38 -1

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks in Germany 324,980 337,215 -12,235

of which repayable on demand 321,367 329,540 -8,173

Loans and advances to banks outside Germany 110,703 51,978 58,725

of which repayable on demand 85,365 49,228 36,137

Total 435,683 389,193 46,490

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to customers in Germany 37,182 34,909 2,273

Loans and advances to customers outside Germany 26,716 22,573 4,143

Total 63,898 57,482 6,416
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[39] Investment securities

Changes in investment securities

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Equities and other non-fixed-income securities 1,047,047 1,002,492 44,555

Equities 32 32 –

Investment fund units 1,046,709 1,002,157 44,552

Other shareholdings 306 303 3

Investments in subsidiaries 10,901 9,964 937

Total 1,057,948 1,012,456 45,492

Equities and other 
non-fixed-income 

securities

Investments in 
subsidiaries 

Total

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cost as at 1 Jan. 2015 992,340 9,995 1,002,335

Additions 994,887 264 995,151

Reclassifications -4,434 -2,522 -6,956

Disposals -947,272 -14 -947,286

Currency translation -1 -12 -13

Change in consolidated group − additions 14,995 11 15,006

Cost as at 31 Dec. 2015 1,050,515 7,722 1,058,237

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at fair value as 
at 1 Jan. 2015

10,152 771 10,923

Changes recognised in other comprehensive income resulting from 
measurement at fair value in reporting period

– 3,206 3,206

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value through profit or loss  
in reporting period

-12,245 12 -12,233

Reclassifications (measurement at fair value) 626 -8 618

Disposals (measurement at fair value) -1,774 0 -1,774

Changes resulting from currency translation (measurement at fair value) 5 0 5

Change in consolidated group − additions -232 0 -232

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement at fair value as 
at 31 Dec. 2015

-3,468 3,981 513

Impairment losses as at 1 Jan. 2015 – -802 -802

Impairment losses as at 31 Dec. 2015 – -802 -802

Carrying amount as at 1 Jan. 2015 1,002,492 9,964 1,012,456

Carrying amount as at 31 Dec. 2015 1,047,047 10,901 1,057,948
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[40] Shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

There are no active markets for the investments accounted for using the equity method, nor can their fair value 
be reliably determined by using a measurement method based on assumptions that do not rely on available 
observable market data. There are no other suitable markets elsewhere. The investments in joint ventures and 
associates are largely intended to support the operating activities of the UMH Group over the long term.

Changes in shares in companies accounted for using the equity method

The changes recognised in equity relating to investments in joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method include EUR 5,401 thousand (previous year: EUR 6,197 thousand) attributable to currency translation, 
EUR -52 thousand (previous year: EUR -36 thousand) attributable to the remeasurement of available-for-sale 
financial assets and EUR -3,022 thousand (previous year: EUR -3,075 thousand) attributable to distributions.

The changes recognised in equity relating to investments in associates accounted for using the equity method 
comprised EUR -138 thousand (previous year: EUR -56 thousand) attributable to distributions.

The impairment loss recognised in the reporting year of EUR -7,358 thousand relates to the joint venture BEA 
Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong. The fair value of the joint venture calculated on the basis 
of an income capitalisation approach is lower than the equity carrying amount before impairment on account of 
lower expected income. 

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Investments in joint ventures 52,311 54,563 -2,252

Investments in associates 5,387 6,137 -750

Total 57,698 60,700 -3,002

Investments in joint 
ventures

Investments in 
associates

Total

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cost as at 1 Jan. 2015 56,262 21,304 77,566

Additions 981 – 981

Disposals – -877 -877

Cost as at 31 Dec. 2015 57,243 20,427 77,670

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under the 
equity method as at 1 Jan. 2015

-1,699 -12,459 -14,158

Changes resulting from measurement under the equity method 4,125 127 4,252

• of which changes recognised in other comprehensive income 2,327 -138 2,189

• of which changes recognised in profit or loss 1,798 265 2,063

Cumulative changes resulting from measurement under the 
equity method as at 31 Dec. 2015

2,426 -12,332 -9,906

Impairment losses as at 1 Jan. 2015 – -2,708 -2,708

Additions (impairment losses) -7,358 – -7,358

Impairment losses as at 31 Dec. 2015 -7,358 -2,708 -10,066

Carrying amount as at 1 Jan. 2015 54,563 6,137 60,700

Carrying amount as at 31 Dec. 2015 52,311 5,387 57,698
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[41] Property, plant and equipment

Changes in property, plant and equipment

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Land and buildings 49,090 45,104 3,986

Operating and office equipment 9,541 4,325 5,216

Total 58,631 49,429 9,202

Land and buildings Operating and office 
equipment

Total

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cost as at 1 Jan. 2015 69,307 27,900 97,207

Additions 5,823 7,446 13,269

Reclassifications -192 192 –

Disposals -3,457 -1,545 -5,002

Currency translation – 7 7

Change in consolidated group − additions – 21 21

Cost as at 31 Dec. 2015 71,481 34,021 105,502

Depreciation and impairment losses as at 1 Jan. 2015 -24,203 -23,575 -47,778

Additions (depreciation) -1,636 -2,427 -4,063

Additions (impairment losses) -9 – -9

Disposals 3,457 1,544 5,001

Currency translation – -3 -3

Change in consolidated group − additions – -19 -19

Depreciation and impairment losses as at 31 Dec. 2015 -22,391 -24,480 -46,871

Carrying amount as at 1 Jan. 2015 45,104 4,325 49,429

Carrying amount as at 31 Dec. 2015 49,090 9,541 58,631

The normal useful life for buildings is 40 years, and for office furniture and equipment between three and  
13 years.
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[42] Intangible assets

Changes in intangible assets

No goodwill has been recognised by the UMH Group. All intangible assets have a finite useful life. 

The purchased customer relationships in the amount of EUR 5,690 thousand relate to the customers of IKG, 
which were identified and capitalised in the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of UIA. Together with 
the acquisition of UIA, the seller of UIA was paid a EUR 36.4 million in total for the acquisition of distribution 
and exclusive rights for the distribution of Union Investment Group products through the Austrian Volksbank 
Group, which was not a component of the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of UIA, and instead is 
treated as a separate transaction in accordance with IFRS 3.51, plus the VAT amounts to be deducted under the 
reverse charge procedure of EUR 6.5 million, which were capitalised under miscellaneous intangible assets.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Software 78,512 68,165 10,347

Purchased customer relationships 5,690 – 5,690

Miscellaneous intangible assets 42,909 – 42,909

Total 127,111 68,165 58,946

Software Purchased 
customer 

relationships

Miscellaneous 
intangible assets

Total

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Cost as at 1 Jan. 2015 195,471 – – 195,471

Additions 30,518 – 42,901 73,419

Disposals -1,012 – – -1,012

Currency translation -3 – – -3

Change in consolidated group − additions 1,528 5,690 8 7,226

Cost as at 31 Dec. 2015 226,502 5,690 42,909 275,101

Amortisation and impairment losses as at 1 Jan. 2015 -127,306 – – -127,306

Additions (amortisation) -20,117 – – -20,117

Disposals 866 – – 866

Currency translation 1 – – 1

Change in consolidated group − additions -1,434 – – -1,434

Amortisation and impairment losses as at 31 Dec. 2015 -147,990 – – -147,990

Carrying amount as at 1 Jan. 2015 68,165 – – 68,165

Carrying amount as at 31 Dec. 2015 78,512 5,690 42,909 127,111

The normal useful life of most software is four or five years, for purchased customer relationships twelve years 
and for miscellaneous intangible assets 15 years. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis.
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[43] Income tax assets

Current income tax assets included corporation tax credits of EUR 2,195 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 3,223 thousand).

Deferred tax assets that were only expected to be realised after twelve months amounted to EUR 18,849 thou-
sand (based on their net value; previous year: EUR 17,786 thousand).

Deferred tax assets represent the potential income tax relief from temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the IFRS consolidated statement of financial position and the tax accounts in 
accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group.

No deferred taxes were recognised in respect of loss carryforwards of EUR 81 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 60 thousand) as it is not currently considered certain that they can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets were recognised in connection with the following statement of financial position items:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Current tax assets 3,025 4,058 -1,033

Germany 3,002 4,058 -1,056

Rest of world 23 – 23

Deferred tax assets 24,230 21,401 2,829

Deferred tax assets (recognised in profit or loss) 43,650 41,861 1,789

Deferred tax assets (recognised outside profit or loss) 22,294 25,116 -2,822

Netting -41,714 -45,576 3,862

Total 27,255 25,459 1,796

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets

Investment fund units 15 1 14

Investments in subsidiaries and equity investments 31 27 4

Property, plant and equipment 123 207 -84

Intangible assets 10 10 –

Other assets 778 1,009 -231

Equity and liabilities

Liability derivatives 3,645 2,025 1,620

Provisions for employee benefits 53,984 55,304 -1,320

Other provisions 1,331 821 510

Other liabilities 6,027 7,573 -1,546

Total 65,944 66,977 -1,033
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[44] Other assets

[45] Assets held for sale

[46] Liabilities to banks

[47] Liabilities to customers

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Other financial receivables 114,457 66,811 47,646

Trade receivables 113,556 66,580 46,976

• of which from investment funds 111,247 65,412 45,835

Miscellaneous other receivables 901 231 670

Other tax assets 17,316 10,281 7,035

Miscellaneous other assets 6,782 5,803 979

•  of which funding surplus for defined benefit plans 58 – 58

•  of which reimbursement rights recognised as assets in accordance with 
IAS 19.116

6,130 5,244 886

Deferred income 9,408 6,188 3,220

Total 147,963 89,083 58,880

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Investment securities 16,406 10,057 6,349

Total 16,406 10,057 6,349

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks in Germany 12,672 15,664 -2,992

of which repayable on demand – – –

Liabilities to banks outside Germany 428 393 35

of which repayable on demand – – –

Total 13,100 16,057 -2,957

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to customers in Germany 59 84 -25

of which repayable on demand 59 84 -25

Liabilities to customers outside Germany 0 – 0

of which repayable on demand 0 – 0

Total 59 84 -25

[48] Liability derivatives

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

In connection with guarantee commitments 13,962 8,434 5,528

Total 13,962 8,434 5,528



82

[49] Provisions

Provisions for defined benefit obligations

The provisions for defined benefit plans predominantly relate to closed pension schemes that are no longer 
accepting new participants. There are also defined benefit pension plans for members of boards of managing 
directors. New employees in Germany are almost always only offered defined contribution pension plans, for 
which no provisions have to be recognised. The picture outside Germany is more varied because there are both 
defined contribution and defined benefit plans that are open to a small proportion of new employees. However, 
the proportion of the Group’s total obligations accounted for by obligations outside Germany is not material. 

The cost of defined contribution plans was EUR -3,215 thousand in the financial year (previous year: 
EUR -2,729 thousand) and is recognised in administrative expenses under pension and other post-employment 
benefit expenses.

The present value of defined benefit obligations is broken down by risk class as follows:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Provisions for employee benefits 132,141 144,889 -12,748

Provisions for defined benefit obligations 83,870 96,316 -12,446

Provisions for other long-term employee benefits 45,616 44,154 1,462

• of which provisions for partial retirement schemes 10,845 18,141 -7,296

•  of which miscellaneous provisions for other long-term employee 
benefits

34,771 26,013 8,758

Provisions for termination benefits 2,655 4,419 -1,764

•  of which provisions for termination benefits linked with restructuring 2,655 4,419 -1,764

Other provisions 20,964 28,913 -7,949

Provisions for onerous contracts 2,971 – 2,971

Provisions for sales commission 146 – 146

Provisions for litigation costs – 300 -300

Provisions for restructuring – 2,871 -2,871

Miscellaneous provisions 17,847 25,742 -7,895

Total 153,105 173,802 -20,697

The final-salary-dependent pension obligations are the employer’s pension obligations to employees, the amount 
of which depends on the employee’s final salary before the insured event occurred. For the most part, they can 
be assumed to constitute a life-long payment obligation. In Germany, section 16(1) of the Betriebsrentengesetz 
(BetrAVG – German Occupational Pensions Act) requires the pension amount to be adjusted every three years 
to reflect the change in consumer prices or net wages. The main risk factors for final-salary-dependent pension 
plans are therefore longevity, changes in salary, inflation risk and the discount rate.

A significant risk factor – over which the company has no influence – is the level of market interest rates for 
investment-grade fixed-income corporate bonds because the resulting interest affects both the amount of the 
obligations and the measurement of the plan assets. This risk can be limited by structuring the plans in such a 
way as to match the obligations and the plan assets.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Germany 249,498 246,806 2,692

Final-salary-dependent plans 113,609 119,092 -5,483

Defined benefit contribution plans 135,889 127,714 8,175

Rest of world 5,439 4,076 1,363

Final-salary-dependent plans – – –

Defined benefit contribution plans 5,439 4,076 1,363

Total 254,937 250,882 4,055
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The majority of defined benefit contribution plans comprise obligations to pay fixed capital amounts or amounts 
at fixed interest rates, part of which are paid by the employee and part by the employer. The most prevalent 
pension scheme is funded by employees paying part of their salary into the scheme. Under the other significant 
scheme, the contributions are linked to remuneration and must be paid by the employer. However, this pension 
scheme is closed to new employees.

The pension plans in Germany are not subject to minimum funding requirements. Some pension plans outside 
Germany are governed by local regulations, but these do not include minimum funding requirements. 

The changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligations were as follows: 

The following actuarial assumptions were used in the measurement of defined benefit obligations:

Based on the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the weighted absolute percentages for the salary 
increase parameter and pension increase parameter are 1.48% (previous year: 1.53%) and 1.46% (previous 
year: 1.53%) respectively. The weighted absolute percentage for staff turnover is 0.84% (previous year: 0.83%).

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Opening balance as at 1 Jan. 250,882 196,436 54,446

Current service cost 6,837 4,969 1,868

Interest cost 5,024 6,395 -1,371

Current pension payments -3,367 -3,071 -296

Employee contributions 4,739 3,725 1,014

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) -10,245 42,472 -52,717

of which due to experience adjustments 962 1,214 -252

of which due to changes in financial assumptions -11,207 41,258 -52,465

Changes in the consolidated group 1,166 – 1,166

Reclassifications -99 -48 -51

Changes resulting from assumption – 4 -4

Closing balance as at 31 Dec. 254,937 250,882 4,055

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

% % Percentage points

Discount rate 2.25 2.00 0.25

Salary increases 0.00 – 3.00 0.00 – 2.50 0.00 – 0.50

Pension increases 0.00 – 3.00 0.00 – 3.00 –

Staff turnover 0.00 – 6.00 0.00 – 6.00 –
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The duration of the defined benefit obligations as at the end of the financial year was 15 years for Germany 
(previous year: 16 years) and 14 years for the rest of the world (previous year: 15 years).

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to the main actuarial assumptions. 
The effects shown are based on an isolated change to one assumption, with the other assumptions remaining 
the same. Correlation effects between individual parameters are not considered.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Change in the present value of defined benefit obligations as at 
31 December 2015 if

254,937 250,882 4,055

the discount rate were 100 basis points higher -29,354 -33,335 3,981

the discount rate were 100 basis points lower 37,954 42,837 -4,883

the future salary increase were 50 basis points higher 3,437 3,805 -368

the future salary increase were 50 basis points lower -3,238 -3,573 335

the future pension increase were 25 basis points higher 3,669 3,932 -263

the future pension increase were 25 basis points lower -3,504 -3,752 248

the future life expectancy were one year longer 4,188 4,529 -341

the future life expectancy were one year shorter -4,425 -4,789 364

Plan assets

The funding status of the defined benefit obligations is shown in the following table:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Opening balance as at 1 Jan. 154,566 139,098 15,468

Interest income 3,142 4,604 -1,462

Income from plan assets (not including interest income) 7,742 6,314 1,428

Funding of plan assets 8,303 7,069 1,234

of which contributions by employer 3,574 3,357 217

of which contributions by employees 4,729 3,712 1,017

Pension benefits paid -2,628 -2,519 -109

Closing balance as at 31 Dec. 171,125 154,566 16,559

The following table shows the changes in plan assets: 

The actual return on plan assets amounted to EUR 10,884 thousand in the year under review (previous year: 
EUR 10,918 thousand).

Additional contributions to plan assets of EUR 8,273 thousand are expected in the subsequent financial year 
(previous year: EUR 7,514 thousand).

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Present value of defined benefit obligations 254,937 250,882 4,055

of which not funded by plan assets 54,471 52,321 2,150

of which funded by plan assets 200,466 198,561 1,905

less fair value of plan assets -171,125 -154,566 -16,559

Defined benefit pension obligations (net) 83,812 96,316 -12,504

Funding surplus 58 – 58

Provisions recognised for defined benefit obligations 83,870 96,316 -12,446

Fair value of reimbursement rights 6,130 5,244 886



85

Union Asset Management Holding AG Annual Report 2015 IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements 

The plan assets mainly comprise entitlements arising from insurance contracts and investment fund units with 
broadly diversified portfolios. The risks attached to plan assets in connection with entitlements arising from insur-
ance contracts are reviewed regularly by the pension providers VGUeV and RVP in order to determine the funding 
ratio for the obligation.

The defined benefit obligations and the plan assets are in the euro currency area.

The fair value of the plan assets is broken down by asset class as follows:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Investment fund units (securities funds) – no market price quoted 
on an active market

87,529 74,391 13,138

Investment fund units (real estate funds) – no market price 
quoted on an active market

1,287 1,243 44

Entitlements arising from insurance policies 82,310 78,932 3,378

Total 171,126 154,566 16,560

Reimbursement rights

The following table shows the changes in reimbursement rights:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Opening balance as at 1 Jan. 5,244 4,567 677

Interest income 105 148 -43

Income from reimbursement rights (not including interest income) 190 59 131

Funding of reimbursement rights 658 490 168

of which contributions by employer 648 477 171

of which contributions by employees 10 13 -3

Pension benefits paid -67 -20 -47

Closing balance as at 31 Dec. 6,130 5,244 886

The actual return on reimbursement rights amounted to EUR 295 thousand in the year under review (previous 
year: EUR 207 thousand). 
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Changes in other provisions

The remaining terms of other provisions are shown in the table below:

Provisions for 
onerous 

contracts

Provisions for 
sales 

commission

Provisions for 
litigation costs

Provisions for 
restructuring

Miscellaneous 
provisions

Total

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Opening balance as at 1 Jan. 2015 – – 300 2,871 25,742 28,913

Additions – 146 – – 8,832 8,978

Utilisation – – -105 -1,163 -725 -1,993

Reversals – – -195 -25 -16,014 -16,234

Reclassifications – – – -1,683 – -1,683

Effect from the increase in the discounted 
amount over time and change in the discount 
rate

– – – – 12 12

Changes in the consolidated group 2,971 – – – – 2,971

Closing balance as at 31 Dec. 2015 2,971 146 – – 17,847 20,964

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Provisions for onerous contracts 2,971 – 2,971

Up to three months 74 – 74

Three months to one year 223 – 223

One year to five years 1,188 – 1,188

More than five years 1,486 – 1,486

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for sales commission 146 – 146

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year 146 – 146

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for litigation costs – 300 -300

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – 300 -300

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Provisions for restructuring – 2,871 -2,871

Up to three months – – –

Three months to one year – 422 -422

One year to five years – 1,020 -1,020

More than five years – 1,429 -1,429

Indefinite – – –

Miscellaneous provisions 17,847 25,742 -7,895

Up to three months 241 95 146

Three months to one year 6,016 14,899 -8,883

One year to five years 9,596 5,288 4,308

More than five years 1,052 3,805 -2,753

Indefinite 942 1,655 -713
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[50] Income tax liabilities

Provisions for income taxes are tax liabilities for which a final and binding tax assessment notice has not yet 
been issued. Income tax liabilities include payment obligations for current income taxes owed to tax authorities 
both in Germany and in other countries.

Deferred tax liabilities represent the potential income tax expense from temporary differences between the carry-
ing amounts of assets and liabilities in the IFRS consolidated statement of financial position and the tax accounts 
in accordance with local tax regulations for the companies in the UMH Group. Deferred tax liabilities that were 
only expected to be actually incurred after twelve months amounted to EUR 12,206 thousand (based on their net 
value; previous year: EUR 8,050 thousand).

Deferred tax liabilities were recognised in connection with the following statement of financial position items:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Current income tax liabilities 88,935 49,087 39,848

Provisions for income taxes 88,850 48,455 40,395

Income tax liabilities 85 632 -547

Deferred tax liabilities 13,226 8,055 5,171

Deferred tax liabilities (recognised in profit or loss) 47,618 49,282 -1,664

Deferred tax liabilities (recognised in equity) 7,322 4,349 2,973

Netting -41,714 -45,576 3,862

Total 102,161 57,142 45,019

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets

Loans and advances to banks 6 – 6

Investment fund units 6,445 10,284 -3,839

Investments in subsidiaries and equity investments 1,362 324 1,038

Property, plant and equipment 8,503 8,106 397

Intangible assets 1,423 0 1,423

Other assets 80 52 28

Equity and liabilities

Provisions for employee benefits 37,112 34,863 2,249

Other provisions 6 – 6

Other liabilities 3 2 1

Total 54,940 53,631 1,309

[51] Other liabilities

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Other financial liabilities 7,165 8,151 -986

Liabilities to social security providers 1,279 1,147 132

Trade payables 4,262 5,047 -785

Liabilities from profit transfer agreements 134 – 134

Miscellaneous other liabilities 1,490 1,957 -467

Other tax liabilities 41,079 46,265 -5,186

Deferred liabilities 539,442 473,224 66,218

of which for sales commission 398,087 338,086 60,001

Miscellaneous other liabilities 56 29 27

Deferred income 700 91 609

Total 588,442 527,760 60,682
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[52] Equity

Issued capital

The issued capital corresponds to the share capital of UMH AG. It amounts to EUR 87,130 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 87,130 thousand) and is divided into 29,043,466 (previous year: 29,043,466) fully paid-up, registered 
no-par-value shares. The UMH Group did not hold any treasury shares at the end of the reporting period. There 
were no preferential rights or restrictions in relation to the distribution of dividends.

A dividend of EUR 8.61 per share (previous year: EUR 7.06 per share) was distributed to shareholders in the 
reporting year in accordance with the resolution adopted by the Annual General Meeting on 26 May 2015. This 
equates to a total dividend payment of EUR 250,064 thousand (previous year: EUR 205,048 thousand).

The payment of a basic dividend of EUR 10.29 per share and a special dividend of EUR 2.80 per share will be 
proposed at the Annual General Meeting on 29 April 2016. This would equate to a total dividend payment of 
EUR 380,179 thousand. The Supervisory Board of UMH AG approved the proposed appropriation of profit at its 
meeting held on 2 March 2016.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves comprise the premiums arising on the issue of shares in the company.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Issued capital 87,130 87,130 –

Capital reserves 18,617 18,617 –

Retained earnings 620,040 518,736 101,304

Revaluation surplus 2,511 523 1,988

Currency translation reserve 10,887 4,719 6,168

Consolidated net profit 368,242 339,580 28,662

Non-controlling interests 14,374 9,478 4,896

Total 1,121,801 978,783 143,018

Retained earnings

Retained earnings comprise the undistributed earnings from prior years, actuarial gains and losses on defined 
benefit plans and plan assets in accordance with IAS 19.120 (c), and on reimbursement rights in accordance with 
IAS 19.116, together with the effects of the first-time adoption of IFRS with the exception of the effects from the 
remeasurement of available-for-sale financial instruments.

Breakdown of changes in retained earnings by component of other comprehensive income:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 13,053 -24,361 37,414

Total 13,053 -24,361 37,414
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Currency translation reserve

The effects of exchange rates arising when the financial statements of Group companies denominated in foreign 
currency are translated into the group reporting currency (euro) are reported in the currency translation reserve.

Breakdown of changes in the currency translation reserve by component of other comprehensive income:

Revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus comprises the effects from the remeasurement of the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial instruments (net of the associated deferred taxes) before these effects can be recognised in profit or 
loss. Gains and losses are only recognised in profit or loss when the relevant asset is sold or an impairment loss 
has been recognised.

Breakdown of changes in the revaluation surplus by component of other comprehensive income:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets 2,041 507 1,534

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method

-53 -36 -17

Total 1,988 471 1,517

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Exchange differences on currency translation of foreign 
subsidiaries

767 -854 1,621

Share of other comprehensive income of joint ventures and 
associates accounted for using the equity method

5,401 6,196 -795

Total 6,168 5,342 826

Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of subsidiaries’ equity not attributable to UMH AG.

Breakdown of changes in non-controlling interests by component of other comprehensive income:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets 130 32 98

Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit plans 198 -544 742

Total 328 -512 840
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Financial instruments disclosures

[53] Categories of financial instruments

Investment securities with a carrying amount of EUR 388 thousand (previous year: EUR 360 thousand) were 
measured at cost. There are no active markets for these investment securities, nor can their fair value be reliably 
determined by using a measurement method based on assumptions that do not rely on available observable 
market data. There are no other suitable markets elsewhere. The purpose of these investment securities is largely 
to support the business operations of the UMH Group on a permanent basis.

The carrying amount of equity instruments measured at cost and derecognised in the financial year was EUR 0 
thousand (previous year: EUR 0 thousand).

The financial instruments in the UMH Group do not form part of any hedge.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and receivables 614,038 513,486 100,552

Loans and advances to banks 435,683 389,193 46,490

Loans and advances to customers 63,898 57,482 6,416

Other financial receivables 114,457 66,811 47,646

Other financial liabilities 20,324 24,292 -3,968

Liabilities to banks 13,100 16,057 -2,957

Liabilities to customers 59 84 -25

Other financial liabilities 7,165 8,151 -986

Available for sale 10,090 6,856 3,234

Investment securities 10,090 6,856 3,234

 •  Equities and other non-fixed-income securities (including equity 
investments)

338 335 3

   - measured at cost 338 335 3

• Investments in subsidiaries 9,752 6,521 3,231

   - measured at fair value 9,702 6,496 3,206

   - measured at cost 50 25 25

Designated as at fair value through profit or loss 1,064,264 1,015,657 48,607

Investment securities 1,047,858 1,005,600 42,258

•  Equities and other non-fixed-income securities (including equity 
investments)

1,046,709 1,002,157 44,552

•  Investments in subsidiaries 1,149 3,443 -2,294

Assets held for sale 16,406 10,057 6,349

Held for trading 13,962 8,434 5,528

Liability derivatives 13,962 8,434 5,528
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[54] Items of income, expense, gains and losses

Net gains and losses

The breakdown of net gains and losses on financial instruments by IAS 39 category for financial assets and 
financial liabilities is as follows:

Net gains or net losses comprise gains and losses on fair value measurement through profit or loss, impairment 
losses and reversals of impairment losses and gains and losses on the sale or early repayment of the financial 
instruments concerned. These items also include interest income/expense and current income.

Interest income and expenses

The following total interest income and expense arose in connection with financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not at fair value through profit or loss:

Items of income and expense arising from commission for asset management provided for 
 third-party account

Impairment losses on financial assets

The table below shows impairment losses on financial assets broken down by financial instruments in the follow-
ing statement of financial position line items:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss -1,680 23,646 -25,326

Held-for-trading financial instruments -5,540 -818 -4,722

Financial instruments designated as at fair value through profit or loss 3,860 24,464 -20,604

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,348 1,395 953

Loans and receivables 167 454 -287

Other financial liabilities -1,011 -3,138 2,127

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest income 462 561 -99

Interest expenses and negative interest on financial assets -1,284 -3,236 1,952

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Fee and commission income 1,950,182 1,683,643 266,539

Fee and commission expenses -721,105 -580,683 -140,422

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to customers 21 9 12
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[55] Fair values

If there is an active market for financial assets and financial liabilities, the fair value is based on the relevant 
 market price as at the end of the reporting period. The fair values of investment fund units are the redemption 
prices (net asset value) published by the relevant asset management companies in accordance with requirements 
under national investment law. If the contractual conditions of a fund stipulate a redemption charge, the fair 
value is reduced by this charge.

The fair value of investment securities classified as equity instruments that are not quoted on an active market is 
determined using an income capitalisation approach based on parameters such as forecasts, calculated free cash 
flows, beta factors or risk-adjusted and interpolated interest rates based on the basic discount curve. If fair value 
cannot be reliably determined largely owing to the unavailability of profit planning data, equity instruments that 
are not quoted on an active market are measured at cost.

Owing to the short remaining term, the carrying amount is used as a realistic estimate of the fair value of finan-
cial resources, current trade receivables and other receivables, checking account and instant-access deposits with 
banks, current trade payables and other payables, checking-account liabilities to banks and 
borrowing with or without an interest rate that is fixed in the short term.

The carrying amounts of the financial assets in the table reflect the amount that best represents the company’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end of the reporting period. Collateral and other credit enhancements 
held were not taken into account. The maximum credit risk for liability derivatives was EUR 11,419 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 6,342 thousand) in respect of capital preservation commitments for the UniProfiRente 
 retirement pension product and EUR 2,543 thousand (previous year: EUR 2,092 thousand) in respect of minimum 
payment commitments in connection with guarantee funds launched by asset management companies belonging 
to the Group.

The measurement methods described above are used to determine the fair values of all classes of financial instru-
ment.

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks (fair value) 435,683 389,193 46,490

Loans and advances to banks (carrying amount) 435,683 389,193 46,490

Loans and advances to customers (fair value) 63,898 57,482 6,416

Loans and advances to customers (carrying amount) 63,898 57,482 6,416

Investment securities (fair value) 1,057,948 1,012,456 45,492

Investment securities (carrying amount) 1,057,948 1,012,456 45,492

Other financial receivables (fair value) 114,457 66,811 47,646

Other financial receivables (carrying amount) 114,457 66,811 47,646

Assets held for sale (fair value) 16,406 10,057 6,349

Assets held for sale (carrying amount) 16,406 10,057 6,349

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks (fair value) 13,100 16,057 -2,957

Liabilities to banks (carrying amount) 13,100 16,057 -2,957

Liabilities to customers (fair value) 59 84 -25

Liabilities to customers (carrying amount) 59 84 -25

Liability derivatives (fair value) 13,962 8,434 5,528

Liability derivatives (carrying amount) 13,962 8,434 5,528

Other financial liabilities (fair value) 7,165 8,151 -986

Other financial liabilities (carrying amount) 7,165 8,151 -986
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[56] Fair value hierarchy

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position

The recurring fair value measurements are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical financial assets  
or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are based on inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are 
 observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). Investment 
fund units held for own-account investing activities are assigned to this level of the fair value hierarchy.

Level 3 fair value measurements use models with inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on  observable 
market data (unobservable inputs).

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Investment securities 1,057,560 1,012,096 45,464

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 1,039,432 995,142 44,290

of which level 3 18,128 16,954 1,174

Assets held for sale 16,406 10,057 6,349

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 16,406 10,057 6,349

of which level 3 – – –

Total 1,073,966 1,022,153 51,813

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liability derivatives 13,962 8,434 5,528

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 13,962 8,434 5,528

of which level 3 – – –

Total 13,962 8,434 5,528
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Transfers between levels 1 and 2 take place when there is a change in the inputs that is relevant to categorisa-
tion in the fair value hierarchy.

In the previous year the private equity funds PE-Invest 1 (EUR 4,054 thousand) and PE-Invest 2 (EUR 6,403 thou-
sand) and the UniInstitutional Infrastruktur SICAV-SIF – Erneuerbare Energien fund (EUR 1 thousand) were 
reclassified from level 2 to level 3 as the redemption price published by the asset management companies for 
these types are essentially based on discounted cash flow calculations and the weighting between observable 
and unobservable inputs for the calculation of fair value were reassessed.

Fair value measurements at level 3 

The table below shows the changes in the recurring fair value measurements of level 3 assets in the financial 
year:

Reclassifications 

Assets held at the end of the reporting period and measured at fair value on a recurring basis were reclassified 
between the levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Transfers from level 2 to level 3

Investment securities – 10,458 -10,458

As part of the processes for fair value measurement, the UMH Group reviews whether the measurement methods 
used are typical and whether the measurement parameters used in the measurement methods are observable in 
the market. This review takes place at the end of each reporting period. On the basis of this review, the fair values 
are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy. In the UMH Group, transfers between the levels take place 
as soon as there is a change in the inputs that is relevant to categorisation in the fair value hierarchy. In each 
step of this process, both the distinctive features of the particular product type and the distinctive features of the 
business models of the group entities are taken into consideration.

The loss of EUR -2,032 thousand (previous year: gain of EUR 1,199 thousand) in the reporting year is reported in 
profit or loss under other net remeasurement income on financial instruments. The gain recognised in equity of 
EUR 3,206 thousand (previous year: EUR 796 thousand) is reported in the statement of comprehensive income 
under gains and losses on available-for-sale financial assets.

The fair value of level 3 investments in subsidiaries is determined on the basis of the income capitalisation 
approach using unobservable inputs, such as future income. The risk-adjusted interest rate is 9.20%. The 
“ Investment securities” item contains units in investment funds (units in private equity funds). The fair value 
is the redemption price published by the asset management companies in line with national investment law 
provisions (net asset value). The calculation of the redemption price is essentially based on the discounted cash 
flow values sent by third-party managers of the funds in question.

Strategically held investments in subsidiaries and other shareholdings whose fair values are calculated using  
an income capitalisation approach are not included in a sensitivity analysis.

Level 3 – Investment securities 2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Opening balance as at 1 Jan. 16,954 5,700 11,254

Reclassifications – 10,458 -10,458

Changes resulting from measurement at fair value 1,174 796 378

of which in profit or loss -2,032 – -2,032

of which in equity 3,206 796 2,410

Closing balance as at 31 Dec. 18,128 16,954 1,174
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Assets and liabilities not measured at fair value 

Recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities that are not recognised at fair value in the statement 
of financial position, but whose fair value must be disclosed, are assigned to the levels of the fair value hierarchy 
as follows:

Level 3 investment securities comprise equities and other non-fixed-income securities (including equity invest-
ments) and investments in subsidiaries measured at cost.

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks 435,683 389,193 46,490

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 435,683 389,193 46,490

of which level 3 – – –

Loans and advances to customers 63,898 57,482 6,416

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 63,898 57,482 6,416

of which level 3 – – –

Investment securities 388 360 28

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 – – –

of which level 3 388 360 28

Other financial receivables 114,457 66,811 47,646

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 114,457 66,811 47,646

of which level 3 – – –

Total 614,426 513,846 100,580

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks 13,100 16,057 -2,957

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 13,100 16,057 -2,957

of which level 3 – – –

Liabilities to customers 59 84 -25

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 59 84 -25

of which level 3 – – –

Other financial liabilities 7,165 8,151 -986

of which level 1 – – –

of which level 2 7,165 8,151 -986

of which level 3 – – –

Total 20,324 24,292 -3,968
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[57] Contractual maturity analysis

The maturity analysis shows the contractually agreed cash inflows and outflows.

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks 435,683 389,193 46,490

Up to one month 435,683 389,155 46,528

One month to three months – 38 -38

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Loans and advances to customers 64,162 58,203 5,959

Up to one month 54,759 49,402 5,357

One month to three months 1,637 1,526 111

Three months to one year 283 5 278

One year to five years 7,337 6,296 1,041

More than five years 146 974 -828

Indefinite – – –

Investment securities 1,057,948 1,012,456 45,492

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 1,057,948 1,012,456 45,492

Other financial receivables 114,457 66,811 47,646

Up to one month 112,875 66,617 46,258

One month to three months 94 – 94

Three months to one year 383 61 322

One year to five years 1,033 54 979

More than five years 63 29 34

Indefinite 9 50 -41

Assets held for sale 16,406 10,057 6,349

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 16,406 10,057 6,349
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The table above shows the potential cash outflows for financial guarantees rather than their expected outflows.

Liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks 13,100 16,057 -2,957

Up to one month 13,100 16,057 -2,957

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Liabilities to customers 59 84 -25

Up to one month 59 84 -25

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite – – –

Liability derivatives 13,962 8,434 5,528

Up to one month 2,618 13 2,605

One month to three months 13 2 11

Three months to one year 127 15 112

One year to five years 1,519 538 981

More than five years 9,685 5,774 3,911

Indefinite – 2,092 -2,092

Other financial liabilities 7,165 8,151 -986

Up to one month 5,668 5,912 -244

One month to three months 116 344 -228

Three months to one year 12 214 -202

One year to five years 33 170 -137

More than five years 20 290 -270

Indefinite 1,316 1,221 95

Other disclosures 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Financial guarantees 57,306 51,345 5,961

Up to one month – – –

One month to three months – – –

Three months to one year – – –

One year to five years – – –

More than five years – – –

Indefinite 57,306 51,345 5,961
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[58] Assets past due

Assets past due but not yet impaired 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks 27 24 3

Up to three months 24 24 –

Three months to six months – – –

Six months to one year – – –

More than one year 3 – 3

Loans and advances to customers 388 378 10

Up to three months 167 160 7

Three months to six months – 2 -2

Six months to one year 23 9 14

More than one year 198 207 -9

Other financial receivables 35 1 34

Up to three months 35 1 34

Three months to six months – – –

Six months to one year – – –

More than one year – – –
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[59] Foreign currency volumes

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks 25,886 22,868 3,018

US dollar (USD) 1,600 1,105 495

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 595 387 208

Polish zloty (PLN) 23,680 21,363 2,317

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 11 13 -2

Loans and advances to customers 3,647 2,536 1,111

US dollar (USD) 3,305 2,325 980

Swiss franc (CHF) 39 – 39

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 261 165 96

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 42 46 -4

Investment securities 4,922 3,702 1,220

US dollar (USD) – – –

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 1 1 –

Polish zloty (PLN) 4,921 3,701 1,220

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Other financial receivables 2,616 3,755 -1,139

US dollar (USD) 27 4 23

Swiss franc (CHF) 26 10 16

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) 32 56 -24

Polish zloty (PLN) 2,527 3,680 -1,153

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies 4 5 -1

Assets held for sale 1,425 904 521

US dollar (USD) – – –

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) 1,425 904 521

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 38,496 33,765 4,731
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The nominal amount is reported for financial guarantees.

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Other financial liabilities 282 147 135

US dollar (USD) 61 54 7

Swiss franc (CHF) – 11 -11

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – 17 -17

Polish zloty (PLN) 221 65 156

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 282 147 135

Other disclosures 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Financial guarantees 57,306 51,345 5,961

US dollar (USD) 57,306 51,345 5,961

Swiss franc (CHF) – – –

Japanese yen (JPY) – – –

Pound sterling (GBP) – – –

Polish zloty (PLN) – – –

Hong Kong dollar (HKD) – – –

Other foreign currencies – – –

Total 57,306 51,345 5,961
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Other disclosures
 
[60] Equity management

As a subsidiary of DZ BANK, UMH AG is not subject to separate consolidated supervision as a banking group 
under the Kreditwesengesetz (KWG – German Banking Act) and, consequently, nor is it subject to any regulatory 
capital requirements at UMH Group level. However, some of the companies in the Union Investment Group are –  
at individual bank level – subject to regulatory capital requirements under national legislation, which was com-
plied with at all times in the reporting year. Regulatory capital requirements in the Federal Republic of Germany 
are specified for capital management companies by section 25 of the Kapitalanlagegesetzbuch (KAGB – German 
Capital Investment Code) and for Union Investment Service Bank AG and Quoniam Asset Management GmbH 
by European Regulation No. 575/2013 in conjunction with section 10 KWG. The Board of Managing Directors of 
UMH AG also uses the corporate guidelines on integrated risk and capital management as the basis for ensuring 
appropriate capital adequacy in the Union Investment Group. The aggregate risk is compared against the avail-
able aggregate risk cover for a given analysis period in order to make sure that, with a specified confidence level, 
the potential losses do not exceed the aggregate risk cover. Aggregate risk cover comprises the equity reported 
in the statement of financial position and quasi-equity components, and also takes into account hidden reserves 
and liabilities that would arise in the event of a loss. Please refer to the statement of changes in equity for further 
information on the composition of and changes in equity. Additional details on risk management can also be 
found in the risk report in the Group management report.

The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to variable returns from the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. 

In order to determine whether an entity must be consolidated, the UMH Group checks a series of factors, such as
- the purpose and form of the entity,
- the relevant activities and how these are determined,
- whether the Group’s rights result in the ability to direct the relevant activities,
- whether the Group has exposure or rights to variable returns and whether the Group has the ability to use its 
power to affect the amount of its returns.

Where voting rights are relevant, the Group is deemed to have control where it holds, directly or indirectly, more 
than half of the voting rights over an entity unless there is evidence that another investor has the practical ability 
to unilaterally direct the relevant activities. Potential voting rights that are deemed to be substantive are also 
considered when assessing control. Likewise, the UMH Group also assesses existence of control where it does not 
control the majority of the voting power but has the practical ability to unilaterally direct the relevant activities. 
This can arise in circumstances where the size and distribution of shareholders’ voting right give the Group the 
power to direct the relevant activities.

The Group reassesses the consolidation status at least at the end of each quarter. Therefore, any changes in 
the structure leading to a change in one or more of the control factors require reassessment when they occur. 
This includes changes in decision making rights, changes in contractual arrangements, changes in the financ-
ing, ownership or capital structure and changes following a trigger event which was anticipated in the original 
documentation.
In relation to the funds managed by the asset management companies of the Group, after assessing their role in 
line with the national provisions of investment law, the UMH Group assumes that 
- it has power of control within the meaning of IFRS 10.7(a), 
- it has exposure, and rights, to variable returns from its involvement in these entities (IFRS 10.7(b)) and
- it has the ability to use its power over these entities to influence the amount of its returns (IFRS 10.7(c)).

[61] Disclosure of interests in other entities

Significant judgements and estimates

•  Control of other entities
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Against this backdrop, it reviews for which of these funds the UMH Group has the role of the principal, which 
would necessitate consolidation, and for which it only acts as agent for third-party investors. The procedure for 
this is as follows:

At its own discretion, the UMH Group always plays the role of an agent for these funds if
- the contractually agreed remuneration is commensurate with the services provided and includes only terms  
 customarily present in arrangements negotiated on an arm’s length basis (IFRS 10.B69) and
- the scope of the UMH Group’s participation in such a fund and the associated variability, taking into account  
 its direct participation in this fund, and the material remuneration components of the UMH Group for the  
 management of the fund do not exceed an internally determined threshold. If this threshold is exceeded, the  
 overall circumstances are analysed on a case by case basis.

•  Associates, joint control and significant influence

Associates are entities in which the UMH Group directly or indirectly has significant influence. Significant 
 influence is generally presumed when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

The UMH Group holds 49% of the voting rights of BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong (BU), 
and VR Consultingpartner GmbH, Frankfurt/Main. As both equity investments are controlled jointly with other 
partners, decisions on the relevant activities of both equity investments require the unanimous approval of all 
parties and the Group has rights to the net assets of both equity investments, these have been classified as joint 
ventures. Both equity investments have been included in the consolidated financial statements using the equity 
method since their acquisition.
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Investments in subsidiaries

•  Deviating reporting periods

In the reporting year there were no companies in the UMH Group with a reporting period deviating from that of 
the UMH Group.

•  Non-controlling interests in the activities of the UMH Group and its cash flows

There are significant non-controlling interests in the UMH Group for the subsidiaries Union Investment Real 
Estate GmbH, Hamburg (UIR), Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (QAM) and Union Investment 
Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg (UII):

Non-controlling interests 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH 9,296 5,588 3,708

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH 3,030 2,652 378

Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH 1,490 1,233 257

Miscellaneous 558 5 553

Total 14,374 9,478 4,896

Non-controlling interests 2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH 4,608 3,897 711

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH 1,919 1,598 321

Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH 286 221 65

Miscellaneous 0 1 -1

Total 6,813 5,717 1,096

- Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

UIR is a leading property manager in Europe. It has more than 50 years’ expertise in asset management for 
properties and provides bespoke real estate solutions for private and institutional asset allocation. With its 
internationally diversified property portfolio, now distributed across 20 national markets, it leverages the oppor-
tunities of global market cycles for investors. Extensive market knowledge and an investment strategy based on 
the presence of its own teams and strong cooperation partners in target markets contribute to a high return on 
investment. UIR operates on commercial property markets as an investor and seller, builder and developer, lessor 
and service provider for all aspects of real estate. UIR currently manages seven property funds with net assets of 
EUR 27.4 billion (previous year: EUR 25.1 billion). UMH AG directly holds 94.0% of shares in UIR. Its share in the 
voting rights is equal to its shareholding. There are non-controlling interests of 5.5% (WGZ BANK) and 0.5% (DZ 
BANK).

UMH AG concluded an indefinite control agreement with UIR in January 2014, which can be cancelled with no-
tice of six months to the end of a financial year. For the duration of the agreement, this guarantees the non-con-
trolling interest WGZ BANK a share of profits (cash dividend) for each full financial year of EUR 1,961 thousand 
for 5.5% of shares in the company and, for DZ BANK, EUR 178 thousand for 0.5% of shares. In the financial 
year the non-controlling interests in UIR received dividend distributions (cash dividends) of EUR 2,553 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 2,589 thousand).
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31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 265,142 217,464 47,678

Liabilities 110,178 101,272 8,906

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest and commission income 280,224 249,515 30,709

Net income in profit or loss 76,800 64,946 11,854

Other comprehensive income 3,055 -2,949 6,004

Total comprehensive income 79,855 61,997 17,858

Cash flow -7 -7 –

Summarised financial information on UIR:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 55,509 45,407 10,102

Liabilities 30,192 24,949 5,243

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest and commission income 66,492 52,654 13,838

Net income in profit or loss 15,989 12,295 3,694

Other comprehensive income 612 -1,717 2,329

Total comprehensive income 16,601 10,578 6,023

Cash flow – -1 1

- Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt/Main

QAM is a limited liability asset management company based in Frankfurt and with a branch in London. Using is 
engineering-based approach, QAM focuses exclusively on the development and implementation of quantitative 
portfolio management strategies for global institutional investors.

UMH AG directly holds 88.0% (previous year: 87.0%) of the capital and all voting rights in QAM. Non-controlling 
interests account for 12.0% (previous year: 13.0%) of capital shares. These non-voting shares are held by the 
management of QAM.

In the financial year (cash) dividends of EUR 1,409 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,072 thousand) were paid to 
the non-controlling interests of QAM.

Summarised financial information on QAM:
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31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 21,320 18,045 3,275

Liabilities 6,420 5,717 703

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest and commission income 17,041 14,621 2,420

Net income in profit or loss 2,860 2,215 645

Other comprehensive income 712 -1,113 1,825

Total comprehensive income 3,572 1,102 2,470

Cash flow – – –

- Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg

As an asset manager for property, UII is systematically and successfully focused on the investment requirements 
of institutional investors, and has been for more than 30 years now. Vehicle expertise, best-in-class processes 
and a precise knowledge of the different requirements of institutional investors allow it to deliver tailored real 
estate solutions for institutional asset allocation. In addition to institutional mutual funds and multi-client special 
funds, UII also offers institutional investors individual solutions. The fund vehicles can be of either German or 
Luxembourg provenance. UII currently manages a volume of EUR 3.2 billion (previous year: EUR 4.5 billion) in its 
institutional business.

UMH AG directly holds 90.0% of shares in UII. Its share in the voting rights is equal to its shareholding. At 
10.0%, the sole non-controlling interest is R+V Lebensversicherung a.G., Eltville.

UMH AG concluded an indefinite control agreement with UII in October 2013, which can be cancelled with 
notice of six months to the end of a financial year. For the duration of the agreement, this guarantees the non-
controlling interest a share of profits (cash dividend) for each full financial year of 12% of the notional value of 
the company of EUR 620,000, i.e. EUR 74,400. In the financial year the non-controlling interest in UII received 
dividend distributions (cash dividend) of EUR 100 thousand (previous year: EUR 100 thousand).

Summarised financial information on UII:
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•  Nature and extent of material restrictions

National regulatory requirements and provisions of company law restrict the UMH Group’s ability to transfer as-
sets to or from other companies within the Group. However, these restrictions cannot be specifically assigned to 
individual assets or items of the statement of financial position. 

In addition, owing to regulatory provisions, Union Investment Service Bank AG, the asset management companies 
and the securities companies of the Union Investment Group are subject to restrictions on lending to other Group 
companies.

•  Nature of risks entailed by interests in consolidated structured entities

The fund UI Vario: 2 is consolidated in the UMH consolidated financial statements at a net asset value of 
EUR 461.1 million as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 325.9 million). This is a fund of funds 
that was set up as a vehicle to bundle the strategic own-account investment positions of the UMH Group and its 
investment universe, and concentrates on funds managed by the Union Investment Group. All unit certificates of 
this fund managed by Union Investment Luxembourg S.A. are owned by companies of the UMH Group. Only the 
companies of the UMH Group can acquire these unit certificates. The maximum downside risk is limited to the 
consolidated net assets of this structured entity.

Interests in joint arrangements and associates

•  Deviating reporting periods

In the reporting year there were no companies in the UMH Group with a reporting period deviating from that of 
the UMH Group.

The last available annual financial statements are used. Any known material effects in the year under review are 
covered in a reconciliation statement.

• Type, extent and financial impact of interests in joint arrangements

- BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong

BU is a joint venture of UMH AG and The Bank of East Asia Limited, Hong Kong (BEA). The asset management 
company provides portfolio management services for mutual funds and mandatory provident fund schemes 
(MPF) – regulated pension products – and asset management and advisory services for institutional clients. Sales 
activities run through BEA and, increasingly, third parties, and mainly focus on Hong Kong and China. At the end 
of 2015 the company had HKD 37.4 billion (previous year: HKD 35.8 billion) in assets under management in 66 
products (previous year: 66 products). UMH’s shareholding at the end of the reporting period was 49% (previous 
year: 49%). The remaining 51% of shares (previous year: 51%) are held by BEA. The shares in BU are accounted 
for in the UMH Group using the equity method. In the reporting period BU distributed a dividend of HKD 31.0 
million or EUR 3,589 thousand (previous year: HKD 31.7 million or EUR 2,991 thousand) to UMH AG.
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Summarised financial information on BU:

Statement of reconciliation from summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the shares in BU:

- Other joint ventures

The carrying amount of individually insignificant joint ventures accounted for using the equity method was 
EUR 1.5 million as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 0.9 million).

Summarised financial information on individually insignificant joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method:

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 63,990 60,776 3,214

•  of which: cash reserve – – –

Liabilities -3,879 -3,967 88

•  of which: financial liabilities -3,161 -2,897 -264

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest income 595 588 7

Interest expenses – – –

Fee and commission income 21,918 17,547 4,371

Fee and commission expenses -2,798 -2,065 -733

Administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation -13,515 -10,568 -2,947

Income taxes -897 -802 -95

Net income from continuing operations 4,490 4,194 296

Net income from discontinued operations – – –

Other comprehensive income -107 73 -180

Total comprehensive income 4,383 4,267 116

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Recognised net assets 60,111 56,810 3,301

Multiplication by shareholding 29,454 27,837 1,617

Goodwill 28,750 25,840 2,910

Impairment of goodwill -7,358 – -7,358

Carrying amount from remeasurement in line with the equity 
method

50,846 53,677 -2,831

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Pro rata net income from continuing operations -820 -191 -629

Pro rata net income from discontinued operations – – –

Pro rata other comprehensive income – – –

Pro rata total comprehensive income -820 -191 -629
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•  Type, extent and financial impact of interests in associates

- Other associates

The carrying amount of associates individually insignificant to the UMH Group accounted for using the equity 
method was EUR 5.4 million as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 6.1 million).

Summarised financial information on individually insignificant associates accounted for using the equity method:

•  Nature and extent of material restrictions

In its domestic country of Hong Kong, the joint venture BU is subject to regulatory minimum capital requirements 
and therefore restrictions on its dividend and capital distributions. 

The associate R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft is subject to standard industry restrictions on dividend and 
capital distributions owing to insurance supervisory law regulations.

•  Risks associated with interests in joint ventures and associates

- Obligations in relation to joint ventures

The two shareholders of BU are not permitted to end the joint venture without stating grounds. A special mecha-
nism would take effect in this event. The terminating partner has to offer the non-terminating partner its shares 
at a price per share determined by the terminating partner itself. If the non-terminating partner refuses this offer, 
the terminating partner must, in return, assume the shares of the non-terminating partner at the previously 
determined price per share. This arrangement is not reflected in the carrying amounts of the UMH Group.

The UMH Group had recognised provisions for commission for BU of EUR 496 thousand as at the end of the 
reporting period.

•  Unrecognised losses

There are no unrecognised losses for the joint ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method in 
the UMH consolidated financial statements.

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Pro rata net income from continuing operations 665 420 245

Pro rata net income from discontinued operations – – –

Pro rata other comprehensive income – – –

Pro rata total comprehensive income 665 420 245
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Interest in unconsolidated structured entities

•  Nature of interests

In its business activities, in its capacity as an asset manager and an investor, the UMH Group has relationships 
with various entities set up to generate commission or investment income. Some of these entities have one or 
more of the following characteristics:  
- The structures have been set up so that any voting rights or similar rights are not the dominant factor  
 in deciding who controls the entity,
- they have restricted activities or
- they have a narrow and well defined objective.

Such entities are referred to as structured entities. They are consolidated when the substance of the relationship 
between the UMH Group and the structured entities indicate that the structured entities are controlled by the 
Group. The entities covered by this note are not consolidated as the Group has no control over voting rights, 
contracts, financing agreements or other funds. 

The Group has interests in structured entities as defined by IFRS 12 when the UMH Group is contractually or non-
contractually exposed to variable returns on the performance of these entities. Examples include debt or equity 
investments, investment management agreements, liquidity facilities, guarantees and derivative instruments in 
which the Group absorbs the financial risks from the structured entities. By contrast, instruments that transfer 
risks to these entities do not give rise to interests in structured entities on the part of the Group.

The business activities of the UMH Group with unconsolidated structured entities can be broken down into the 
following two types:

- Business activity 1: Management of and own-investment in funds set up by companies of the Union Investment 
 Group.

- Business activity 2: Management of portfolios of funds set up by third-party companies.

•  Business activity 1: Management of and own-investment in funds set up by companies of the Union 
Investment Group.

The unconsolidated structured entities to be taken into account in reporting in accordance with IFRS 12 are 
essentially funds set up by companies of the Union Investment Group in line with the contractual form model 
without voting rights and, to a smaller extent, in company structures with their own legal identity. The asset 
 management companies of the Group form such structured entities in order to satisfy different customer require-
ments in relation to investments in specific asset classes or investment styles.

The UMH Group generates income from ongoing management fees for its fund-based investment management 
services, supplemented in part by performance fees. In addition, the Group’s expenses are reimbursed from funds, 
partly in the form of flat-rate remuneration.

There are no derivative transactions between companies of the UMH Group and the funds managed by the Union 
Investment Group. Funds are not refinanced by loans from Union Investment Group companies.

Own-account investments in funds are classified as at fair value through profit or loss, hence the recognised and 
unrecognised gains and losses on the remeasurement of these items are included in other net remeasurement 
income on financial instruments.

The funds are financed by issuing unit certificates to investors. Further financing – in the form of borrowing – is 
only used for open-ended mutual real estate funds, special property funds and other individual funds. 
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A key feature of all the funds managed by Union Investment Group is risk diversification according to national 
investment law provisions.

A further component of business activity 1 is the guarantee funds set up by companies of the Union Investment 
Group. These have market value guarantees. This means that a certain amount or a certain performance is guar-
anteed for these investments up to a certain level. The amount of the market value guarantees and the maturity 
dates vary on the basis of the agreements made for the individual investment funds. A market value guarantee 
is triggered when the market value of the unit certificates in question do not meet the guaranteed specifica-
tions at certain dates. As at the end of the reporting period the UMH Group managed guarantee funds with a 
volume of EUR 7,847,486 thousand (net asset value) and a minimum payment commitment (nominal amount) of 
EUR 7,361,110 thousand. The put options embedded in the guarantee funds were measured at EUR 2,543 thou-
sand as at the end of the reporting period and reported as liability derivatives on the equity and liabilities side of 
the statement of financial position.

Number and volume of funds managed by the UMH Group as business activity 1:

Volume Number

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014

EUR thousand EUR thousand No. No.

Mutual funds 136,216,783 124,950,693 430 362

of which: Guarantee funds 7,847,486 10,270,929 71 78

Special funds 80,497,504 68,428,355 361 324

of which: Guarantee funds – – – –

Total 216,714,287 193,379,047 791 686

of which: Guarantee funds 7,847,486 10,270,929 71 78

The following assets and liabilities are recognised in the statement of financial position of the UMH Group in 
connection with the interests in business activity 1. There is also possible exposure from contingent liabilities and 
financial guarantees, credit commitments and other commitments.

2015 financial year Mutual funds Special funds Total

of which: 
Guarantee funds

of which: 
Guarantee funds

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 1,152,128 83 26,380 – 1,178,508

Loans and advances to customers 2,841 – 659 – 3,500

Investment fund units 1,029,706 – 16,504 – 1,046,210

Investments in subsidiaries 1,139 – 11 – 1,150

Other receivables 102,037 83 9,207 – 111,244

Assets held for sale 16,406 – – – 16,406

Liabilities 2,548 2,543 6 – 2,554

Liability derivatives 2,543 2,543 – – 2,543

Other liabilities 5 – 6 – 11

Net reported exposure (assets less liabilities) 1,149,580 -2,460 26,374 – 1,175,954

Contingent liabilities 0 0 154 – 154

Financial guarantees, credit commitments and other commitments 7,358,567 7,358,567 3,839 – 7,362,406

Financial guarantees – – – – –

Credit commitments – – – – –

Other commitments 7,358,567 7,358,567 3,839 – 7,362,406

Reported exposure (net reported exposure + contingent  
liabilities + financial guarantees, credit commitments and other 
commitments)

8,508,147 7,356,107 30,367 – 8,538,514

Actual maximum exposure 8,508,147 7,356,107 30,367 – 8,538,514
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Financial guarantees, credit commitments and other commitments are stated at their nominal amounts. This takes 
into account only financial guarantees, credit commitments and other commitments for which no liabilities or 
contingent liabilities have been recognised. 

The actual maximum exposure is calculated in the UMH Group as a gross value without offsetting any collateral 
and is equal to the exposure reported in the table above for business activity 1. 

Regarding the disclosure of the maximum downside risk, it should be noted that, in addition to EUR 3,839 thou-
sand from outstanding subscription obligations for a special real estate fund, the above table includes market 
price guarantees in the amount of the nominal values of the guarantee commitments for guarantee funds 
(EUR 7,361,110 thousand), less the liability amounts recognised for the put options embedded in these products 
(EUR 2,543 thousand). However, the maximum loss exposure for the market price guarantees on guarantee funds 
is not the economic risk of this product class, as this also takes into account the net assets of these guarantee 
funds (EUR 7,847,486 thousand) as at the end of the reporting period and the management model for securing 
minimum payment commitments for these products.  

2014 financial year Mutual funds Special funds Total

of which: 
Guarantee funds

of which: 
Guarantee funds

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Assets 1,066,289 105 18,653 – 1,084,942

Loans and advances to customers 2,445 – 1,429 – 3,874

Investment fund units 993,349 – 8,807 – 1,002,156

Investments in subsidiaries 3,443 – – – 3,443

Other receivables 56,995 105 8,417 – 65,412

Assets held for sale 10,057 – – – 10,057

Liabilities 2,092 2,092 – – 2,092

Liability derivatives 2,092 2,092 – – 2,092

Net reported exposure (assets less liabilities) 1,064,197 -1,987 18,653 – 1,082,850

Contingent liabilities – – 429 – 429

Financial guarantees, credit commitments and other commitments 9,641,825 9,641,825 10,727 – 9,652,552

Financial guarantees – – – – –

Credit commitments – – – – –

Other commitments 9,641,825 9,641,825 10,727 – 9,652,552

Reported exposure (net reported exposure + contingent  
liabilities + financial guarantees, credit commitments and other 
commitments)

10,706,022 9,639,838 29,809 – 10,735,831

Actual maximum exposure 10,706,022 9,639,838 29,809 – 10,735,831
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The UMH Group incurred losses of EUR -10,242 thousand from business activity 1 in the year under review. 
These were included solely in net income in profit or loss. The distributions by the funds in the year under review 
were deducted in calculating the losses incurred for each fund.

2014 financial year Management fees and 

other fee and com-

mission income

Income from distribu-

tions

Realised and unreal-

ised gains and losses 

on remeasurement 

in profit or loss from 

own-account invest-

ments and guarantees

Total income recog-

nised in profit or loss

Unrealised gains and 

losses on remeasure-

ment in other com-

prehensive income

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Mutual funds 1,294,594 11,717 13,617 1,319,928 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

95,448 – 1,292 96,741 –

Special funds 91,446 419 -4 91,860 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

– – – – –

Total 1,386,039 12,136 13,612 1,411,788 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

95,448 – 1,292 96,741 –

2015 financial year Management fees and 

other fee and com-

mission income

Income from 

 distributions

Realised and unreal-

ised gains and losses 

on remeasurement 

in profit or loss from 

own-account invest-

ments and guarantees

Total income 

 recognised in profit 

or loss

Unrealised gains 

and losses on 

remeasure ment in 

other  comprehensive 

income

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Mutual funds 1,504,187 12,747 -8,612 1,508,322 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

80,424 – -2,544 77,881 –

Special funds 99,377 731 -650 99,458 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

– – – – –

Total 1,603,564 13,478 -9,262 1,607,780 –

of which: Guarantee 
funds

80,424 – -2,544 77,881 –

In the reporting year the UMH Group generated the following income from the structured entities for business 
activity 1:
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• Business activity 2: Management of portfolios of funds set up by third-party companies 

In addition to managing funds set up by asset management companies of the Union Investment Group, the 
companies of the UMH Group also manage portfolios of funds set up by third-party companies. The UMH Group 
generates management fees and, in some cases, additional performance fees from these contractual relation-
ships. There are no derivative transactions between companies of the UMH Group and these third-party funds. 
Third-party funds are not refinanced by loans from Union Investment Group companies.

The volumes and number of mandates for business activity 2 were as follows year-on-year:

Volume Number

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2013

EUR thousand EUR thousand No. No.

Outsourcing mandates 27,268,954 24,289,040 175 163

As at the end of the reporting period, business activity 2 was reflected only in the statement of financial position 
item loans and advances to customers with fee and commission receivables of EUR 14,564 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 14,148 thousand). There was no other exposure from contingent liabilities, financial guarantees, credit 
commitments or other commitments for this business activity as at the end of the reporting period.

The maximum downside risk from assets from unconsolidated structured entities for business activity 2 is equal to 
the current carrying amounts of these items and is EUR 14,564 thousand (previous year: EUR 14,148 thousand).

In the year under review the Group generated only fee and commission income of EUR 61,160 thousand (previ-
ous year: EUR 55,269 thousand) from business activity 2. There were no losses from this business activity in the 
reporting year.

Support arrangements for unconsolidated structured entities

•  Nature of support

The UMH Group is considered a fund’s sponsor if market participants justifiably associate this structured entity 
with the UMH Group. The UMH Group assumes this to be the case if the terms “Union Investment” or “Union” 
are used in a fund’s name.

As the asset management services performed by the UMH Group for the funds set up by the companies of the 
Union Investment Group and third-party companies generally already satisfy the criteria for interests in structured 
entities, these business relationships have already been included in the disclosures on relationships with uncon-
solidated structured entities above and are not necessary here.
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[62] List of shareholdings

The shareholdings of Union Asset Management Holding AG were as follows as at the end of the reporting period:

Consolidated subsidiaries

Consolidated investment funds

Joint ventures accounted for under the equity method

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

Asset management companies

Immo Kapitalanlage AG, Vienna – 94.5%

Union Investment Austria GmbH, Vienna 100.0% –

Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 100.0% –

Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, Hamburg 1) 90.0% –

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 100.0% –

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg 1) 94.0% –

Union Investment Towarzystwo Funduszy Inwestycyjnych S.A., Warsaw 100.0% –

Financial services institutions

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 2) 88.0% –

Banks

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main 1) 100.0% –

Securities trading companies

attrax S.A., Luxembourg 100.0% –

Union Investment Financial Services S.A., Luxembourg – 100.0%

Service companies

UIR Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg 3) – 94.0%

Union IT-Services GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 3) 100.0% –

Union Service-Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 3) 100.0% –

Other subsidiaries

BIG-Immobilien GmbH & Co Betriebs KG, Frankfurt/Main 3) 94.0% 6.0%

BIG-Immobilien Gesellschaft mit beschränkter Haftung, Frankfurt/Main 3) 100.0% –

VisualVest GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 3) 100.0% –

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

UI Vario: 2, Luxembourg – 100.0%

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

BEA Union Investment Management Limited, Hong Kong 49.0% –

VR Consultingpartner GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 49.0% –

1)  The shareholder meetings of these subsidiaries resolved, exercising section 264(3) HGB, not to disclose their annual financial statements or their management 
report for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2015 in accordance with section 325 HGB.

2) The share of voting rights for this company is 100%.
3) No audited annual financial statements were produced for these companies.
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Investment funds held for sale

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

Quoniam Funds Selection SICAV - Global Credit Libor EUR I, Luxembourg – 95.7%

UniAkcje Biopharma, Warsaw – 29.0%

UniAkcje Globalny Dywidendowy, Warsaw – 48.3%

UniAktywny Pieniezny, Warsaw – 100.0%

UniBessa, Warsaw – 85.5%

UniInstitutional European Mixed Trend, Luxembourg – 62.4%

UniInstitutional Global Bonds Select, Luxembourg – 72.1%

UniObligacje High Yield FIZ, Warsaw – 45.9%

1) No audited annual financial statements were produced for these companies.

Associates accounted for under the equity method

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

compertis Beratungsgesellschaft für betriebliches Vorsorgemanagement mbH, Wiesbaden 49.0% –

Nalinus GmbH, Frankfurt/Main 1) 49.0% –

R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden 25.1% –

Unconsolidated subsidiaries

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

UII Issy 3 Moulins SARL, Paris 1) – 90.0%

UII Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg 1) – 90.0%

UIR FRANCE 1 S.a.r.l., Paris 1) – 94.0%

UIR FRANCE 2 S.a.r.l., Paris 1) – 94.0%

UNION INVESTMENT REAL ESTATE ASIA PACIFIC PTE. LTD., Singapore – 94.0%

Union Investment Real Estate France SAS, Paris – 94.0%

Unconsolidated investment funds

Name, registered office Shareholding − direct Shareholding 
– indirect

UniAkcje Long Short FIZ, Warsaw – 100.0%

UniStrategia Opcja na Zysk, Warsaw – 97.5%

UniStrategii Dluznych FIZ, Warsaw – 99.5%

VB Mündel-Rent für VB-Nostro 1, Vienna – 100.0%
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[63] Contingent liabilities

There are contingent liabilities of EUR 154 thousand (previous year: EUR 429 thousand) for outstanding sub-
scription obligations in respect of a fund (UII Shopping Nr. 1) of Union Investment Institutional Property GmbH, 
Hamburg, of EUR 3,839 thousand (previous year: EUR 10,727 thousand).

The likelihood of the contingent liabilities being utilised – and in what amount – is uncertain.

[64] Other commitments

The Union Investment Group has capital preservation commitments under section 1(1) no. 3 of the German 
Personal Pension Plan Certification Act (AltZertG) amounting to EUR 10,469,542 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 9,225,104 thousand). These commitments are the total amount of the contributions paid by investors into 
the individual variants of the UniProfiRente and UniProfiRente Select products of Union Investment Privatfonds 
GmbH. Statutory provisions specify that this is the minimum amount that must be made available at the start of 
the payout phase, plus the amounts guaranteed by Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH for agreements in the 
payout phase.

There are also minimum payment commitments of EUR 7,361,110 thousand (previous year: 
EUR 9,643,917 thousand) in connection with actual guarantee funds launched by fund management companies 
in the UMH Group.

The fair value of the shortfall in cover for these guarantee commitments is reported in the statement of financial 
position under “Liability derivatives” (note [48]).
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[65] Operating lease disclosures

UMH Group as lessee

Some lease arrangements include index-linked contingent rents.

Individual leases for buildings have options to renew the lease at the end of the initial term.

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases

143,320 145,047 -1,727

of which up to one year 27,870 26,080 1,790

of which one year to five years 78,827 72,596 6,231

of which more than five years 36,623 46,371 -9,748

Future minimum lease payments are attributable to: 143,320 145,047 -1,727

Land and buildings leases 109,668 114,635 -4,967

Vehicle leases 5,012 4,507 505

IT leases 28,640 25,905 2,735

Future rental receipts expected under non-cancellable subleases 
at the end of the reporting period

14 41 -27

Lease and sublease payments recognised as an expense in the 
period

27,902 26,358 1,544

of which minimum lease payments 25,818 24,331 1,487

of which contingent rents 2,084 2,027 57

of which payments under subleases – – –

31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases

14 41 -27

of which up to one year 14 27 -13

of which one year to five years – 14 -14

of which more than five years – – –

Future minimum lease payments are attributable to: 14 41 -27

Land and buildings leases 14 41 -27

Vehicle leases – – –

IT leases – – –

UMH Group as lessor
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[66] Financial guarantees

Following the disposal of GVA GENO-Vermögens-Anlage Gesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt/Main, (GVA), in the 2011 
financial year UMH AG issued guarantees to DZ BANK and WGZ BANK as security for loans extended by these 
banks to two closed-end investment funds marketed by GVA. As at 31 December 2015, the nominal amount of 
these guarantees was USD 62,400 thousand (previous year: USD 62,400 thousand) or EUR 57,306 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 51,345 thousand).

[67] Number of employees

The following table gives a breakdown by category of the average number of employees in the year under review, 
calculated in accordance with section 267(5) HGB: 

2015 2014 Change

Number Number Number

Female employees 1,165 1,125 40

of which full-time employees 663 647 16

of which part-time employees 502 478 24

Employees 1,459 1,393 66

of which full-time employees 1,355 1,285 70

of which part-time employees 104 108 -4

Total employees 2,624 2,518 106

For information only:

Female trainees 48 41 7

Male trainees 69 60 9

Total trainees 117 101 16

[68] Auditor fees

The following table shows the breakdown of auditor fees by type of service:

Auditor fees comprise expenses relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements and Group man-
agement report of UMH AG, the statutory audit of the annual financial statements and management report of 
UMH AG and the audit of the separate financial statements and management reports of subsidiaries included 
in the consolidated financial statements for which an audit is required. The fees charged for other attestation 
services essentially included fees for the audit performed in accordance with section 36 of the Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz (WpHG – German Securities Trading Act), the auditor’s review of the condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements package and other assurance and audit-related services. The fees for other services mainly 
resulted from the auditing of funds.

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Audits of financial statements 435 464 -29

Other assurance services 176 128 48

Other services 1,278 1,309 -31

Total 1,889 1,901 -12
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[69] Events after the end of the reporting period

There were no events of particular significance after the end of the financial year.

[70] Related party disclosures

As at the end of the reporting period DZ BANK directly held 54.51% of the share capital of UMH AG (previous 
year: 54.44%). In accordance with IFRS 10, UMH AG is therefore controlled by DZ BANK and is a related party of 
the UMH Group. Other companies included in the DZ BANK consolidated group, non-consolidated subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures of DZ BANK are listed below.

Taking into account shares held indirectly, WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düssel-
dorf, (WGZ BANK) also holds a significant investment in UMH AG.

The list of shareholdings (note [62]) shows the related parties controlled by the UMH Group or over which the 
UMH Group can exercise a significant influence.

In the UMH Group, the following are related parties (individuals) as defined by IAS 24.9: the Board of Managing 
Directors and the Supervisory Board of DZ BANK, the Board of Managing Directors and the Supervisory Board of 
UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions and further key management personnel in the UMH Group and their 
respective close family members.

UMH AG maintains extensive business relationships with the entities included in the consolidated financial state-
ments as part of its normal business activities. The transactions within these relationships are conducted on an 
arm’s-length basis.

UMH AG and other entities included in the consolidated financial statements enter into relationships with other 
related parties in their normal business activities. Such business is transacted on an arm’s-length basis.
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Related party disclosures

Assets 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Loans and advances to banks 365,936 266,978 98,958

of which DZ BANK 34,756 147,772 -113,016

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 75,088 26,089 48,999

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 89 30 59

of which WGZ BANK 256,003 93,087 162,916

Loans and advances to customers 1,152 1,068 84

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 1,014 962 52

of which unconsolidated subsidiaries 44 1 43

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 94 105 -11

Other assets 24,048 14,953 9,095

of which DZ BANK 17,151 9,030 8,121

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 720 651 69

of which unconsolidated subsidiaries 47 28 19

of which pension plans for employees 6,130 5,244 886

Equity and liabilities 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Liabilities to banks 457 478 -21

of which DZ BANK 2 – 2

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 364 405 -41

of which WGZ BANK 88 56 32

of which associates of UMH AG 3 17 -14

Liabilities to customers 44 46 -2

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 44 46 -2

Other liabilities 78,480 68,382 10,098

of which DZ BANK 40,004 37,561 2,443

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 24,791 17,264 7,527

of which WGZ BANK 13,028 12,623 405

of which associates of UMH AG 161 114 47

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 496 820 -324
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Consolidated income statement 2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Interest income and current income -24 2 -26

of which DZ BANK 30 2 28

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -54 – -54

of which WGZ BANK 0 0 –

of which unconsolidated subsidiaries – – –

Interest expenses -921 -3,054 2,133

of which DZ BANK -892 -3,035 2,143

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -29 -19 -10

of which WGZ BANK 0 – 0

Allowances for losses on loans and receivables – 27 -27

of which DZ BANK – 18 -18

of which WGZ BANK – 9 -9

Fee and commission income 25,993 29,208 -3,215

of which DZ BANK 5,044 5,937 -893

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 20,573 23,303 -2,730

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK 28 13 15

of which WGZ BANK 14 -457 471

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 334 412 -78

Fee and commission expenses -169,053 -120,369 -48,684

of which DZ BANK -80,364 -59,412 -20,952

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -61,367 -37,862 -23,505

of which WGZ BANK -24,607 -19,711 -4,896

of which associates of UMH AG -510 -485 -25

of which joint ventures of UMH AG -2,205 -2,899 694

Administrative expenses -7,494 -9,610 2,116

of which DZ BANK -3,861 -4,964 1,103

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK -1,578 -2,665 1,087

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK -28 -27 -1

of which WGZ BANK -170 -136 -34

of which unconsolidated subsidiaries -1,500 -1,326 -174

of which associates of UMH AG -243 -335 92

of which joint ventures of UMH AG -114 -157 43

Other operating result 8,833 9,034 -201

of which DZ BANK 8,387 7,867 520

of which entities also controlled by DZ BANK 211 686 -475

of which joint ventures of DZ BANK -94 11 -105

of which WGZ BANK 43 52 -9

of which unconsolidated subsidiaries 213 253 -40

of which associates of UMH AG 1 3 -2

of which joint ventures of UMH AG 72 162 -90

Other disclosures 31 Dec. 2015 31 Dec. 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Financial guarantees 57,306 51,345 5,961

of which DZ BANK 38,204 34,230 3,974

of which WGZ BANK 19,102 17,115 1,987

Please see the information in note [66] regarding financial guarantees.
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The fair value of the plan assets at the associate R+V Pensionsfonds Aktiengesellschaft, Wiesbaden, was 
EUR 25,053 thousand as at the end of the reporting period (previous year: EUR 24,127 thousand). Funding of 
EUR 101 thousand was provided in the year under review (previous year: EUR 158 thousand).

The “Other assets” item includes pension plans for the benefit of employees with a value of EUR 6,130 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 5,244 thousand). This includes the fair value of reimbursement rights at R+V Lebensversi-
cherung AG, Wiesbaden, a company also controlled by DZ BANK, amounting to EUR 4,112 thousand (previous 
year: EUR 3,615 thousand). Funding of EUR 494 thousand was provided in the year under review (previous year: 
EUR 329 thousand).

Remuneration paid to related parties

The UMH Group’s key management personnel are deemed to comprise the Board of Managing Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of UMH AG, the heads of segments/divisions and other staff in key positions in the Group.

In accordance with IAS 19.151, disclosures are also made with regard to the post-employment benefits paid to 
these persons.

The remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board of UMH AG for the performance of their 
duties amounted to EUR 355 thousand in the financial year (previous year: EUR 349 thousand). The remunera-
tion paid to the members of the Board of Managing Directors of UMH AG in the financial year amounted to 
EUR 4,453 thousand (previous year: EUR 4,055 thousand). The disclosure of the total remuneration of active 
and former members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Managing Directors in accordance with section 
314(1) no. 6 HGB has been waived in accordance with section 286(4) HGB. 

2015 2014 Change

EUR thousand EUR thousand EUR thousand

Short-term remuneration 10,503 11,466 -963

Long-term remuneration 3,295 1,337 1,958

Contributions to defined contribution plans 35 35 –

Current service cost of defined benefit plans 2,030 1,427 603

Total 15,863 14,265 1,598
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[71] Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

[72] Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Name Professional capacity

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Dr Andreas Zubrod Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Name and Supervisory Board post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch
Chairman 1)

Chief Executive Officer,
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main

Karl-Heinz Moll
Deputy Chairman 1)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde
Employee representative

Works Council,
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Dr Friedrich Caspers
Member

Chief Executive Officer,
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich
Member

President,
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin

Lars Hille
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main

Roland Müller
Employee representative 1)

Works Council,
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Prof Wolfgang Müller
Member

Chief Executive Officer,
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Wolfgang Nett
Employee representative

Sales director,
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt/Main   

Jörn Nordenholz
Member

Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank eG, Sulingen

Heike Orth
Employee representative

Group leader, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt/Main

Rainer Schaidnagel
Member 1)

Chief Executive Officer,
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Stefan Schindler
Member (since 26 May 2015)

Chief Executive Officer,
Sparda-Bank Nürnberg eG, Nuremberg

Andreas Theis
Member

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg 

Claudia Vives Carrasco
Employee representative

Real estate manager,
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr Heinz Wings
Member (until 31 January 2015)

Chief Executive Officer,
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg (until 31 January 2015)

1) Also a member of the Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board.
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[73] Supervisory mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees 

As at 31 December 2015, members of the Board of Managing Directors and employees also held mandates on 
the statutory supervisory bodies of major corporations. Companies included in the consolidated financial state-
ments are indicated with an asterisk (*).

Mandates held by members of the Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management 
Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Hans Joachim Reinke Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*)
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Alexander Schindler Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Jens Wilhelm Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg (*)
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Quoniam Asset Management GmbH, Frankfurt/Main
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Dr Andreas Zubrod Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Member of the Supervisory Board

Mandates held by employees of Union Asset Management Holding AG:

Name Mandate(s)

Sonja Albers Union Investment Service Bank AG, Frankfurt/Main (*)
Member of the Supervisory Board
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Mandates held by members of management boards/senior management and employees:

[74] Miscellaneous other disclosures

The Board of Managing Directors signed these consolidated financial statements on 4 March 2016 and approved 
them for submission to the Supervisory Board. It is the responsibility of the Supervisory Board to review the con-
solidated financial statements and then to declare whether the consolidated financial statements are approved.

Frankfurt/Main, 4 March 2016

Union Asset Management Holding AG

Hans Joachim Reinke Alexander Schindler
Chief Executive Officer Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Dr Andreas Zubrod
Member of the Board of Managing Directors Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Name Mandate(s)

Giovanni Gay
Member of management
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*)
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors

Björn Jesch
Member of management
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

Union Investment Luxembourg S.A., Luxembourg (*)
Member of the Board of Directors   

Rainer Kobusch
Member of the Board of Managing Directors
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S.A., Luxembourg (*)
Deputy Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Dr Reinhard Kutscher
Chief Executive Officer
(Union Investment Real Estate GmbH)

Deutsche Genossenschafts-Hypothekenbank Aktiengesellschaft, Hamburg
Member of the Supervisory Board

Klaus Riester
Member of management
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

attrax S. A., Luxembourg (*)
Member of the Board of Directors 

Nikolaus Sillem
Member of management
(Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH)

Union Investment Luxembourg S. A., Luxembourg (*)
Member of the Board of Directors
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Audit opinion

We have issued the following audit opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements and the 
Group management report:

“We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by Union Asset Management Holding 
AG, Frankfurt/Main, comprising the consolidated 
income statement, the statement of comprehensive in-
come, the consolidated statement of financial position, 
the statement of changes in equity, the statement of 
cash flows and the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, together with the Group management 
report, for the financial year from 1 January 2015 to 
31 December 2015. The preparation of the consolidat-
ed financial statements and the Group management 
report in accordance with International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and the 
additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315a(1) of the German Commer-
cial Code (HGB) is the responsibility of the company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with section 317 HGB and 
the German generally accepted standards for the audit 
of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer (German Institute of Public Auditors ) 
(IDW). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit such that misstatements materially 
affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the applica-
ble financial reporting framework and in the Group 

management report are detected with reasonable as-
surance. Knowledge of the business activities and the 
economic and legal environment of the Group and ex-
pectations as to possible misstatements are taken into 
account in the determination of audit procedures. The 
effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements and the Group 
management report are examined primarily on a test 
basis within the framework of the audit. The audit 
includes assessing the annual financial statements of 
the companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements, the determination of the companies to 
be included in the consolidated financial statements, 
the accounting and consolidation principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements and the Group management re-
port. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the 
consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS 
as adopted by the EU and the additional require-
ments of German commercial law pursuant to section 
315a(1) HGB, and give a true and fair view of the net 
assets, financial position and results of operations of 
the Group in accordance with these requirements. 
The Group management report is consistent with the 
consolidated financial statements and as a whole 
provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and 
suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future 
development.”

Eschborn, Frankfurt/Main, 4 March 2016

Ernst & Young GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Heist Kruskop
Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)
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Shareholders

As at 4 March 2016

Supervisory Board of Union Asset Management Holding AG

1) Also a member of the Executive Committee of the Supervisory Board.

Shareholders and executive bodies of 
Union Asset Management Holding AG

DZ BANK AG
Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main

54.51%

WGZ BANK AG
Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

17.72%

VR GbR
Frankfurt/Main

24.25%

Local cooperative banks including holding companies of the primary banks, trade associations and special-purpose entities of 
Deutsche Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe and other entities

3.52 %

Name Supervisory Board 
post Professional capacity

Wolfgang Kirsch 1) Chairman Chief Executive Officer,
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main

Karl-Heinz Moll 1) Deputy Chairman Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
WGZ BANK AG Westdeutsche Genossenschafts-Zentralbank, Düsseldorf

Hermann Buerstedde Employee representative Works Council,
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Dr Friedrich Caspers Member Chief Executive Officer,
R+V Versicherung AG, Wiesbaden

Uwe Fröhlich Member President,
National Association of German Cooperative Banks (BVR), Berlin

Lars Hille Member Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
DZ BANK AG Deutsche Zentral-Genossenschaftsbank, Frankfurt/Main

Roland Müller 1) Employee representative Works Council, 
Union Asset Management Holding AG, Frankfurt am Main

Prof Wolfgang Müller Member Chief Executive Officer,
BBBank eG, Karlsruhe

Wolfgang Nett Employee representative Sales director,
Union Investment Privatfonds GmbH, Frankfurt/Main   

Jörn Nordenholz Member Chief Executive Officer, 
Volksbank eG, Sulingen  

Heike Orth Employee representative Group leader, Admin Service, Institutional Clients,
Union Investment Institutional GmbH, Frankfurt/Main

Rainer Schaidnagel 1) Member Chief Executive Officer,
Raiffeisenbank Kempten eG, Kempten

Stefan Schindler Member (since 26 May 
2015)

Chief Executive Officer, 
Sparda-Bank Nürnberg eG, Nuremberg

Andreas Theis Member Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bitburg eG, Bitburg

Claudia Vives Carrasco Employee representative Real estate manager, 
Union Investment Real Estate GmbH, Hamburg

Dr Heinz Wings Member (until 31 January 
2015)

Chief Executive Officer, 
Sparda-Bank Hamburg eG, Hamburg (until 31 January 2015)
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Board of Managing Directors of Union Asset Management Holding AG

Advisory Board

Roger Winter
Chairman

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank eG Konstanz Radolfzell Steisslingen, Constance

Andreas Otto
Deputy Chairman

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Remscheid-Solingen eG, Remscheid

Matthias Battefeld
(since 1 December 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Hannoversche Volksbank eG, Hanover

Mario Baumert Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Raiffeisen-Volksbank eG, Aurich Uplengen-Remels

Ralph Blankenberg
(since 1 November 2015)

Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Ulm-Biberach eG, Ulm

Andreas Böhler Chief Executive Officer,
Volksbank Kraichgau Wiesloch-Sinsheim eG, Wiesloch

Thomas Bommer
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Volksbank Hochrhein eG, Waldshut-Tiengen

Dr Thomas Brakensiek
(since 1 March 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Hamburger Volksbank eG, Hamburg

Günter Brück
(since 1 December 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Volksbank Alzey-Worms eG, Worms

Gerd-Ulrich Cohrs Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Volksbank Lüneburger Heide eG, Winsen (Luhe)

Andreas Fella
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors
Raiffeisenbank Main-Spessart eG, Lohr/Main

Josef Frauenlob
(since 10 June 2015)

Chief Executive Officer
Volksbank Raiffeisenbank Oberbayern Südost eG, Bad Reichenhall

Dr Christoph Glenk Chief Executive Officer, 
VR Bank Dinkelsbühl eG, Dinkelsbühl

Mirko Gruber
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Rosenheim-Chiemsee eG, Rosenheim

Peter Herbst
(since 1 January 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Nordthüringer Volksbank eG, Nordhausen

Thomas Jakoby
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
VVB Münster, Münster

Jochen Kerschbaumer
(since 1 January 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Wiesbadener Volksbank eG, Wiesbaden

Marija Kolak
(since 1 January 2016)

Chief Representative,
Berliner Volksbank eG, Berlin

Martin Ließem
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
VR-Bank Bonn eG, Bonn

Jörg Lindemann
(since 1 January 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Darmstadt-Südhessen eG, Darmstadt

Jan Mackenberg
(since 1 January 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Osterholz-Scharmbeck eG, Osterholz-Scharmbeck

Wolfgang Mauch Chief Executive Officer, 
Volksbank Kirchheim-Nürtingen eG, Nürtingen

Sascha Monschauer
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Rhein-Ahr-Eifel eG, Bad Neuenahr-Ahrweiler

Eckhard Rave Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Husumer Volksbank eG, Husum

Hans Joachim Reinke Chief Executive Officer

Alexander Schindler Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Jens Wilhelm Member of the Board of Managing Directors

Dr Andreas Zubrod Member of the Board of Managing Directors
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As at 4 March 2016.

Advisory Council (continued from page 128)

Georg Schneider Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
VR-Bank Handels- und Gewerbebank eG, Gersthofen

Dr Klaus Schraudner
(since 1 November 2015)

Chief Executive Officer,
PAX Bank, Cologne

Uwe Schulze-Vorwick
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Bochum-Witten eG, Bochum

Thomas Sterthoff
(since 1 November 2015)

Chief Executive Officer,
VB Bielefeld-Gütersloh, Gütersloh

Thomas Taubenberger
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors, 
Volksbank Tübingen eG, Tübingen

André Thaller
(since 1 November 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors, 
PSD Bank Köln eG, Cologne

Roland Trageser
(since 1 January 2016)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volks- und Raiffeisenbank Main-Kinzig-Büdingen eG, Büdingen

Edmund Wanner Chief Executive Officer, 
Volksbank Straubing eG, Straubing

Michael Weidmann
(since 27 May 2015)

Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Sparda-Bank Hessen eG, Frankfurt/Main

Rolf Witezek Member of the Board of Managing Directors,
Volksbank Mittelhessen eG, Gießen
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Associates (investments in associates)

An associate is an entity in which an investor can 
exercise significant influence over the entity’s financial 
and operating policy decisions. Associates are gener-
ally included in the investor’s consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method.
  
Fair value
 
Fair value is the price at which an orderly transaction 
to sell an asset or to transfer a liability would take 
place between market participants at the measure-
ment date.
  
Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments consist of non-derivative 
financial assets listed on an active market with fixed 
or determinable payments and fixed maturity that an 
entity has the positive intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. IAS 39 provides for a separate measurement 
category for such financial instruments. However, this 
category is not used in the UMH Group.
  
Cash flow

Cash flow is the term given to inflows and outflows of 
cash and cash equivalents.
  
Derivatives

Derivatives are financial instruments with the follow-
ing characteristics: their value changes in response to 
the change in a specified underlying instrument (for 
example share price, foreign exchange rate, inter-
est rate); they generally require only a small initial 
investment or no initial investment at all; and they are 
settled at a future date in cash or by the delivery of 
the underlying instrument.
 

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of determin-
ing the effective interest income or expense on inter-
est-bearing financial instruments. The effective interest 
method is used, for example, to allocate premiums 
or discounts and capitalised transaction costs over 
the term of a financial instrument so as to generate a 
constant rate of interest on the carrying amount.
  
Designation as at fair value through profit 
or loss (fair value option)

IAS 39 offers the option of designating any financial 
asset or financial liability irrevocably as at fair value 
through profit or loss (fair value option). Further 
criteria must be satisfied before the option can be 
exercised. Exercise of the option normally reduces ac-
counting mismatches.
  
Equity method

The equity method is a prescribed method for recog-
nising and measuring investments in associates and 
joint ventures in consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. The measurement 
of the investment in the investor’s financial statements 
is based on the proportion of equity attributable 
to the investor. Changes in this share of equity are 
reflected in the financial statements of the investor by 
an adjustment to the measurement of the investment 
(mirror-image method).
  
Acquisition method

The acquisition method must be used to account 
for business combinations in consolidated financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS. The 
acquisition method is based on the notion that all the 
assets and liabilities held by the acquiree – rather than 
this entity’s shares – are acquired at their respective 
fair value. Hidden reserves and liabilities reported in 
the acquiree’s financial statements must therefore be 
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.
  

Glossary
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Finance lease

A lease is classified as a finance lease if substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to the owner-
ship of the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. 
As the beneficial owner, the lessee must account for 
the asset and recognise a liability for the payment of 
lease instalments to the lessor. The lessor recognises 
the present value of the lessee’s lease payments as a 
receivable.

Financial instrument
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability 
or equity instrument of another entity.
  
Amortised cost

Amortised cost is the amount at which a financial as-
set or financial liability is measured at initial recogni-
tion minus principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount 
and the maturity amount, and less any reduction 
(directly or through the use of an allowance account) 
for impairment or uncollectibility.
  
Goodwill

Goodwill is the positive difference between the price 
paid for a business combination and the sum of the 
fair values for the proportion of assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. It encompasses future economic 
benefits that cannot be separately identified and 
recognised as individual assets.
  
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS)

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) are 
the accounting standards published by the Interna-
tional Accounting Standards Board (IASB). In addition 
to the IFRSs published since 2003, the standards 
include the previously published International Ac-
counting Standards (IASs), the interpretations of the 
Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC) and the 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC).

Joint venture

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby 
two or more parties undertake an economic activity 
that is subject to joint control.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets that have fixed or determinable payments and 
that are not quoted on an active market. This category 
includes, in particular, receivables and some types of 
investment securities.
  
Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are income taxes that are to be paid or 
refunded in future, that arise from measurement dif-
ferences between the tax base and the IFRS financial 
statements and that do not constitute a current tax 
liability due to the tax authorities, or a current tax 
receivable due from the tax authorities, on the date 
they are recognised. Deferred taxes are recognised in 
respect of timing differences and, in certain circum-
stances, in respect of tax loss carryforwards.
  
Revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus is a separate item under 
equity. Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets are reported in this item.
  
Non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interests comprise the share of sub-
sidiaries’ equity that is not attributable to the parent 
company.
 
Operating lease

All leases that do not satisfy the requirements for 
finance leases are classified as other financial li-
abilities operating leases. Beneficial ownership of the 
leased asset remains with the lessor and the asset 
is recognised and measured in the lessor’s financial 
statements.
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Other financial liabilities

All financial liabilities that are not classified as held for 
trading or designated as at fair value through profit 
or loss are classified as other financial liabilities. Other 
financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost.
  
Impairment of assets

An asset is impaired if its recoverable amount is less 
than its carrying amount. The methodology for calcu-
lating the amount of an impairment loss depends on 
each individual case and the relevant IFRS provisions.
  
Held-for-trading
financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are classified 
as financial instruments held for trading if they are 
primarily purchased with the intention of reselling 
them in the near term or sold with the intention of 
repurchasing them in the near term. Derivatives not 
designated as an effective hedge are also allocated to 
this category.
  
Held for sale

A non-current asset or disposal group is classified as 
held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.  

Available-for-sale financial assets
financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative 
financial assets that cannot be assigns to any other 
category as specified in IAS 39. Changes in the fair 
value of assets in this category are recognised in eq-
uity. Only permanent impairment losses are recognised 
in the income statement.
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About this report

The 2015 annual report and CSR report for the Union 
Investment Group presents an overview of the main 
economic, environmental and social developments and 
advances made by the Union Investment Group in the 
2015 financial year. 

Scope and data measurement

The economic section of this report relates to the 
Group companies in Germany and abroad. Unless 
otherwise stated, the key data in respect of employees 
and social issues refer only to the German offices for 
the 2015 reporting year. The environmental figures at 
company level relate to the offices in Germany and 
Luxembourg in 2015, again unless stated otherwise. 
The key figures for the real estate portfolio of the 
Union Investment Group are shown for 2012, 2013 
and 2014 and cover parts of the global real estate 
portfolio held by Union Investment.

G4-22 + G4-23 + G4-32 
Transparency and comparability of reporting 

The current report was prepared in accordance with 
the new guidance of Version G4 Core of the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI). Union Investment also takes 
into account sector-specific requirements that are 
documented in the additional protocols for the finan-
cial sector and the construction and real estate sector 
(Financial Service Sector Supplement and Construction 
& Real Estate Sector Supplement). The report is based 
on the principles of materiality, stakeholder inclusive-
ness and sustainability context.
 
In addition to following the GRI guidance, the report 
complies with the requirements of the German Prop-
erty Federation (ZIA) for sustainability reporting in the 
real estate sector. Union Investment is a signatory to 
the ZIA sustainability code and undertakes to comply 
with the ten principles of the code when conducting 
its business activities. Each year, in accordance with 
the code, the Union Investment Group publishes its 
objectives, action plans, activities and progress, includ-
ing such details in the clusters relevant to the Group 
(“2: Operating & leasing” and “3: Investing”).

At company level, there were no material changes in 
the period under review relating to the “employees”, 
“society” or “products and services” areas of activity, 
hence the data is directly comparable with previous 
publications. 

In the “environment” area of activity, environmental 
performance indicators at company level for the year 
under review are extrapolated on the basis of prior 
consumption and emissions. This results in current 
performance indicators. As soon as the actual figures 
are available for the extrapolated figures, these will be 
applied in future reports, meaning that there may be 
discrepancies between the environmental performance 
indicators at company level over time. The reference 
value for data on energy savings at company level has 
changed compared with previous reports. Reflecting 
the reporting standard of the Group parent DZ BANK 
AG, full-time equivalents (FTEs) are reported as at 
31 December; the data previously referred to specific 
employee key indicators.

Union Investment bases its reports covering the real 
estate portfolio on international standards such as 
those published by Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG 
Protocol). These standards are being continuously 
refined with modifications to the methodology used. 
In preparing its report on the real estate portfolio, 
Union Investment has taken into account these annual 
changes to the calculation and adjustment methods 
used for the CO2 data records. Some of the reported 
values can therefore differ from those reported in the 
previous year.

G4-18 + G4-24 + G4-26 + G4-27 
Determining report content

Union Investment's sustainability strategy is based on 
the requirements we make of ourselves in order to be 
sustainably successful on a long-term basis, as well 
as the impetus provided by our stakeholders and their 
expectations. An active dialogue with them is the only 
way to ensure that we perform better in the inter-
ests of our investors, customers and partner banks, 
our employees and shareholders, and improve our 
sustainability performance for the benefit of society 
and the environment. As such, questions, concerns 
and suggestions from stakeholder groups are gathered 
and examined continuously in the regular course 
of business, forwarded to the responsible specialist 
department as required, and responded to. Points 
of contact in the regular course of business include 
customer service (contact with end customers, partner 
banks, enquiries from members of the public), formats 
for regular dialogue with partner banks and share-
holders, formats for dialogue with institutional clients, 
and numerous industry meetings with and without an 
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explicit focus on sustainability (BVI, EFAMA, UN PRI 
and others).

G4-24 + G4-25 + G4-26  
Determining the key stakeholders

The relevant stakeholder groups were identified by 
way of an internal survey using a structured question-
naire. In a materiality analysis conducted in 2013, 98 
people from the different stakeholder groups were 
asked about relevant aspects from the five CSR areas 
of activity that are relevant to Union Investment by 
way of an online survey using a structured question-
naire. The relevant areas of activity for the company 
are derived from the sustainability strategy adopted by 
the Board of Managing Directors, internal employee 
surveys and discussions among the members of the 
CSR round table. The CSR round table is a twice-
yearly panel at which members from all areas of the 
company report on the progress made in integrating 
sustainability into core processes. The following areas 
of activity were identified as material: products and 
services, dealing responsibly with employees, impact 
of business operations on the environment and society 
and transparent communications.

Questioned on a scale of 1 to 5: 1 = exceptionally important to 5 = unimportant ;  
(n ≥ 98)
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Environment

G4-18 + G4-20 + G4-21 + G4-24 + G4-26  
Determining, prioritising and validating the 
material aspects

Using a materiality matrix, the areas of activity are 
broken down in terms of their relevance according 
to the stakeholder survey on a scale of 1 (exception-
ally important) to 5 (unimportant). The relevance of 
the areas of activity for Union Investment are derived 
accordingly. 

12%

17%

3%

22%

9%

2%

2%

7%

11%

4%
4% 1%

1% 5%

■ Cooperatives
■ Tenants
■ Employees
■ Journalists
■ Associations
■ Rating agencies
■ Investors

■ Institutional clients
■ Invested companies
■ Group
■ NGOs
■ SRI initiatives
■ Employee CSR round table
■ Others

The key aspects within the areas of activity are 
examined in order to determine their impact on Union 
Investment's current and future business activities. At 
the same time, we must be in a position to influence 
the respective issue, either directly or indirectly. If an 
issue meets these criteria, it is included in the next 
stage of the process. 

The overlap between the aspects that are relevant 
to stakeholders and the aspects considered to be 
relevant by Union Investment (see the objectives and 
activities of the sustainability programme on p. 137, 
for example) serves to define the key aspects underly-
ing the CSR report. 

Key stakeholders and percentage of stakeholder groups 
in materiality analysis:
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G4-19 Identified material aspects

The key aspects identified in the course of the 
 materiality analysis have been allocated to the 

Union Investment CSR area of ac-
tivity Identified material aspects Allocation to GRI G4 categories and G4 aspects (catego-

ries: aspects)

Corporate governance / Communication Corporate governance / Communication

• General standard disclosures
• Economic: Economic performance
• Economic: Procurement practices 
• Society: Anti-competitive behaviour
• Society: Compliance

Products and services

Product portfolio

• Environmental: Products and services
• Product responsibility: Marketing communications
• Product responsibility: Customer privacy
• Product responsibility: Compliance

Product and service labelling • Product responsibility: Product and service labelling
• Product responsibility: Marketing communications

Employees Employees

• Social: Employment
• Social: Occupational health and safety
• Social: Training and education
• Social: Diversity and equal opportunity
• Social: Equal remuneration for women and men
• Human rights: Non-discrimination
• Society: Anti-corruption

Environmental

Environmental management system

• Environmental: Materials
• Environmental: Energy
• Environmental: Water
• Environmental: Effluents and waste
• Environmental: Compliance

Climate protection • Environmental: Emissions 
• Environmental: Transport

Society

Representation of interests, association 
and committee work • Society: Public policy

Responsibility in the supply chain • Environmental: Supplier environmental assessment
• Social: Supplier assessment for impacts on society

G4-29 + G4-30 
Formal aspects and additional information

The 2015 annual report and CSR report can be down-
loaded from www.die-summe-des-vertrauens.de in 
German and English. The most recent previous report, 
published in May 2015, can be downloaded from 
http://ui-link.de/gb2014. The next combined annual 
report and CSR report of the Union Investment Group 
will be published in 2017. An overview of the Union 
Investment Group is available at the website https://
unternehmen.union-investment.de/.

 corresponding GRI G4 categories and G4 aspects  
as shown in the table below: 
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Union Investment sustainability 
 programme

Union Investment has implemented a sustainability programme to manage and monitor its internal sustainability 
activities and objectives across all areas of CSR involvement. Each year the responsible departments check the 
implementation level of the measures and objectives of the sustainability programme. Any new objectives and 
measures are added in consultation with the sustainability officer and approved by the Board of Managing Direc-
tors of Union Investment. This has enabled us to ensure that a consistent logic is in place for managing sustain-
ability issues with the support of IT systems and that matching data material is available for all sustainability 
objectives and activities. 

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Introduce sustainability management
1.  Redesign the CSR strategy and continue the 2015+ sustainability programme
2.  Participate in 2014 Corporate Responsibility Index 2014 benchmarking for 

sustainability strategy

2015
2015
2015

completed
completed
completed

Integrate sustainability into company management 
1.  Integrate sustainability issues into reports to the supervisory bodies of Union Asset 

Management Holding AG
2.  Check whether sustainability issues can be incorporated into the activities of foreign 

companies in which Union Investment holds equity investments
3.  Develop a climate strategy for the Union Investment Group
4. Actively participate in external work groups or associations on environmental issues

2018
2015

2016

2016
2018

completed

on schedule

on schedule
on schedule

Continue to develop sustainability management 
1.  Implement updated requirements of the German sustainability code
2.  Update and implement Union Investment sustainability code (previously: sustainability 

policy)
3.  Implement Union Investment climate strategy
4.  Adjust environmental management processes to comply with new ISO 14001 standard

2018
2016
2016

2017
2017

on schedule
on schedule

on schedule
on schedule

Strategy/organisation 

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Establish a systematic process of communication on sustainability issues
1.  Devise a strategy for possibly switching the reporting standard to GRI 4.0
2.  Expand internal and external sustainability communications using the 2013 materiality 

 analysis
3.  Review a CO2-optimised event management concept
4.  Prepare sustainability reporting in accordance with GRI 4.0
5.  Hold events to train employees and raise their awareness of environmental issues
6. Design and implement a Union Investment sustainability day for employees
7. Design a user-oriented sustainability website
8.  Examine the option of an online-only annual report and CSR report

2018
2015
2015

2016
2016
2018

2018
2017
2017

completed
completed

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Re 6: Measure extended to 2018.

Communication 

• Measure added in 2016.
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Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Reduce energy consumption by employee for electricity, gas, district heating and fuel 
by 10% (base year 2014)

1. Relocate to an environmentally sustainable building certified with a gold certificate 
    from the German Sustainable Building Council (DGNB)
2. Carry out safety and environmental training for drivers of company vehicles
3. Introduce energy management 
4. Review electromobility for the Union Investment company car fleet
5. Develop an electromobility concept 
6.  Implement the building strategy at the Frankfurt location by relocating to another 

building certified gold by the DGNB on the MainTor Porta grounds
7.  Continue to develop the green car policy and continuous reduction of maximum CO2 

levels for new cars
8. Optimise air conditioning 

completed

completed
completed

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

on schedule

on schedule

Re 1.: As stated in the 2014 
annual report and CSR report, 
this measure was postponed 
from 2014 until the first quarter 
of 2015. The measure was 
implemented successfully.

Maintain water consumption at level already achieved of 13 m3 per employee
1.  Switching employee drinking water from mineral water to a water cooler connected to 

the mains water supply at MainTor Porta location

2018
2015 completed

Reduce CO2 emissions by 40% by 2030 (base year 2009)
1. Bundle CO2 compensation providers for climate-neutral printing
2. Report CO2 emissions in the business trip booking system
3. Convert to climate-neutral natural gas at the Frankfurt location
4. Optimise space usage
5. Develop building strategy for the Luxembourg location

2018 
2015
2017
2016
2016
2019

completed
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

planned

The objective “Reduce CO2 
emissions per employee by 15% 
(base year 2014)” that was 
stated in the 2014 annual and 
CSR report was adjusted as part 
of the climate strategy developed 
in 2015.

Reduce total paper consumption by 25% per depot (base year 2014)
1.  Continuous reduction of printed matter for individual products and adjustment of 

customer brochures to current customer requirements

2018
2018 on schedule

Reduce printer and photocopying paper by 10% per employee (base year 2014)
1. Raise employee awareness of handling photocopying paper

2018 
2018 on schedule

Cover total annual paper requirements with a share of recycled paper of at least 
17%; remaining requirements should be at least 95% FSC/PEFC-certified paper

1. Additional measures to optimise print jobs

2018 

2018 on schedule

Environmental

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Maintain and improve employee job satisfaction levels 
1. Implement measures from the 2015 climate barometer
2. Continue to develop sustainability training as part of UniKompetenz
3.  Conduct climate barometer (employee survey) in 2017

2018
2016
2017
2017

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Ensure employee retention 
1. Introduce a system to facilitate job-shadowing opportunities across divisions 
2.  Participate in the Top Employers contest
3. Conduct management feedback 2016
4. Expand employee training measures on resilience
5. Continue to develop management culture: Leadership initiatives
6. Continue to develop management culture: Implement measures arising from 
management feedback 2016

2018
2015
2016
2016
2016
2017
2017

completed 
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Re 2: Measure extended to 2016.

Promote a work/life balance  
1.  Obtain berufundfamilie® work and family audit re-certification
2.  Reach company agreement on mobile and home working (pilot project and roll-out)
3. Sign the “work/life balance” charter
4. Implement measures arising from work and family audit 2016

2018
2015
2015
2016
2016

completed
completed

on schedule
on schedule

Employees

• Measure added in 2016.
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Society

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Continue to develop corporate social responsibility at Union Investment 
1. Support planned SOS children's embassy in Berlin
2.  New foundation project: Improve investment fund expert training courses in 

conjunction with FH Mainz University of Applied Sciences (or another new foundation 
project with a social benefit)

2018
2016  
2017

on schedule
on schedule

Promote sustainability and investor-oriented interests in the finance industry and in 
connection with regulatory issues  

1.  Contribute to the EU Commission’s proposal for a regulation governing European 
long-term investment funds (ELTIFs)

2.  Carry out joint development work within the Sustainable Investment Forum (FNG) on  
a standard label for SRI funds

3.  Represent investor interests in relation to a proposal from the EU Commission on 
investor information for packaged retail investment products (PRIPS)

4.  Participate in the introduction of a standard Europe-wide personal pension product

2018

2015

2015

2015

2018

postponed

completed

postponed

on schedule

Re 1: Measure postponed to 
2016: Delay in definition by the 
regulator.
Re 3: Measure postponed to 
2016: Delay in definition by the 
regulator.

Develop general corporate social responsibility for sustainability 
1.  Include sustainability components in the selection of relevant service provider 

agreements in connection with portfolio management
2.  Check and expand the sustainability requirements in procurement and supplier 

management
3.  Focus the sustainability dialogue with suppliers to boost efficacy
4.   Discuss sustainability issues with 100% of Union Investment's top suppliers
5.   Increase degree of ISO 14001 certification among top suppliers
6.   Annual sustainability discussions with 100% of Union Investment's top suppliers

2018
2015

2015

2017
2016
2017
2018

completed

completed

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Increase sustainable assets under management by 50% (from 2014 to 2018)
1.  Develop new target groups for SRI investments and sales initiatives
2.  Systematically integrate sustainability issues (ESG benefits) into investment committee 

reports and meetings
3. Apply external quality standards to sustainable institutional funds
4.  Increase number of customers with portfolios as part of active shareholder strategy by 

25% (base year 2014)
5. Make the carbon footprint of portfolios reportable for interested investors
6.  Introduce new climate product for institutional investors
7.  Launch additional institutional SRI funds as long as there is a good business case

2018
2015
2015

2018
2018

2016
2016
2018

completed
postponed

on schedule
on schedule

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Re 2: Completion expected in 
2016 due to technical delays.
Re 7: Measure extended to 
2018.

Expand communication on sustainability issues and SRI in institutional business
1.  Establish the “sustainability day” as an annual client event
2.  Establish the “CSR experts group” as a client event
3. Carry out survey among institutional investors on trends in sustainable investment
4.  Hold sustainability conference on climate issues
5.  Prepare scientific study on the impact of climate data on company performance
6.  Develop sustainability conference for clients
7.  Add new participants to “CSR experts' group”

2018
2015
2015
2018
2016
2016
2018
2018

completed
completed

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Institutional clients 
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• Measure added in 2016.

Retail clients 

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Expand and refine investment processes
1.  Check whether it is possible to include SRI funds in Union Investment retirement 

planning products
2.  Improve sustainability as an overall competency in portfolio management
3.  Continue to develop depth of ESG analysis to cover the UN Global Compact in ESG 

analysis 
4.  Expand SIRIS (Sustainable Investment Research Information System) within portfolio 

management as a proprietary research tool
5. Perform regular collaborative engagement activities
6. Extend ESG analyses to various asset classes by issuer
7. UN PRI assessment with above-average results
8. Report fund-related climate data via the Montreal Pledge initiative
9. Continue to develop the ESG data pool for climate-related data

2018
2015

2015
2016

2018
2018
2018
2018
2018
2016
2017

completed

completed
on schedule

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Re 1.: Own-account investments 
cannot currently be converted 
to SRI products, but material 
ESG effects are systematically 
taken into account in the 
investment process.

Expand active share ownership
1.  Attend seven annual general meetings with a focus on sustainability and 300 proxy 

votes
2.  Depending on client approach, raise the number of votes cast at annual general 

meetings
3. Increase international shareholder engagement activities
4. Raise range of ESG engagement and proxy voting by 75% (base year 2014)
5. Increase ESG investor discussions by 75% (base year 2014)
6. Expand engagement on climate issues

2018
2015

2015

2015
2018
2018
2017

completed

completed

completed
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Securities portfolio management  

Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Increase sustainable assets under management by 18% (from 2014 to 2018)
1.  Include ESG aspects in the private label area in investment committee meetings
2. Maintain and update the sustainability criteria in the private label area
3. Report on current sustainability issues
4.  Support and actively discuss sustainability with sales partners

2018
2018
2018
2018
2018

on schedule
on schedule
on schedule
on schedule

Increase the support for bank advisors, enabling them to provide investment fund 
advice with greater investor and investment focus

1.  Help the cooperative banks to implement regulatory aspects of consumer protection in 
their advisory services

2015

2015

completed

completed
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Objectives and activities Timetable Status Notes

Expand and refine investment processes for real estate funds
1.  Implement a responsible investment policy in processes used by the Real Estate 

segment
2.  Prepare a concept for integrating sustainability elements into European office space 

leases (green leases)
3.  Prepare a concept for integrating sustainability elements into leases for hotel, retail 

and logistics real estate in Germany (green leases)
6.  Analyse at least 75% of the real estate portfolio (in terms of space) from the 

perspective of sustainability
7. Integrate sustainability considerations into the existing real estate portfolio
8. Introduce green leases to be used for new European office space leases

2018
2015

2015

2015

2015

2015
2016

postponed

completed

completed

completed

completed
on schedule

Re 1.: The measure was 
implemented in 2016.

Increase energy efficiency and improve the environmental impact of portfolio 
properties

1.  Review further green electricity offers for other property projects 
2.  Define specific improvement targets for energy, CO2, water and waste for portfolio 

properties
3.  Specify improvement measures with a view to optimising energy, CO2, water and 

waste data for office properties in Germany
4.  Increase the recording of energy, CO2, water and waste data from the relevant parts of 

the real estate portfolio to approximately 75% of the total portfolio
5.  Measure the level of target attainment for the action plans that have been developed: 

analyse the energy, CO2, water and waste data for the real estate portfolio
6.  Implement the optimisation action plans that have been developed

2018

2015
2015

2016

2018

2020

2020

completed
postponed

on schedule

on schedule

on schedule

on schedule

Re 2.: The measure will be 
planned in 2016.

Develop and increase commitment to sustainability across the real estate sector
1.  Devise an action concept for social commitment in the real estate sector 
2.  Collaborate with the ZIA “Sustainability, energy and environment” working group and 

contribute to the work of the DGNB’s real estate advisory committee on developing 
the determination of key figures for the real estate sector in Germany

3.  Design and collaborate in studies, initiatives and ratings, e.g. ESI, Sire, GRESB and 
Scope

2018
2016
2018

2018

on schedule
on schedule

on schedule

Re 2. and 3.: Cooperation will 
continue beyond 2015.

Real estate funds 
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In the following section, Union Investment reports 
to its employees, customers, business partners and 
interested members of the public on its activities 
in the field of sustainable real estate management. 
This includes not just a presentation of the different 
processes and instruments, but also in particular the 
consumption data gathered and extrapolated for 
investment funds1) over the last three periods. Union 
Investment is therefore making an important contri-
bution to transparency as a basis for the sustainable 
ongoing development of the real estate investment 
sector.

1.  Growing with challenges

Sustainability has been acknowledged as one of the 
most important issues for the future of society for 
a number of years now. The real estate industry in 
particular plays a key role when it comes to climate 
change. However, the challenges are as varied as the 
real estate industry itself, and not only because every 
commercial property is unique and highly complex. 
The large number of industry participants, including 
construction companies, investors, facility managers, 
experts, politicians, tenants and landlords, and their 
different interests also mean that solutions can only 
be developed painstakingly.

As a real estate investment manager, Union Invest-
ment represents the interests of its clients and their 
trust and confidence when it comes to resolving sus-
tainability issues. At the same time, Union Investment 
is aware of its responsibility to society as a whole and 
future generations in its capacity as a member of a 
cooperative banking association. Legislative measures 
can also serve to promote or restrict sustainability 
activities. Last but not least, the size of the portfolio, 
with more than 300 actively managed properties in 
24 countries and permanent portfolio turnover, mean 
that planning and managing sustainability processes 
remains a challenging task at all times.

Because sustainability is an essential element of active 
building management, Union Investment made a 
commitment to transparency at portfolio level and the 
development of industry standards at an early stage. 

The instruments developed allow for the sustainable 
optimisation of the portfolio and the processes with a 
view to stakeholder interests. In the spirit of the three 
pillars of sustainability - economic, environmental 
and social - sustainability measures are planned and 
implemented where they can benefit investors, ten-
ants and the environment in equal measure. A strong 
management approach allows the best solution to be 
developed from the wide range of potential levers. 
Union Investment is continuously focused on the fur-
ther development of objectives and measures in order 
to reflect changes on the market and new scientific 
insights. Sustainability is a path that must be pursued 
systematically.

2.  Processes in sustainability 
management

2.1 Comprehensive understanding  
 of sustainability 

Union Investment is committed to responsible action 
and has vowed to play its own part in maintaining an 
intact environment. This includes integrating sustain-
ability comprehensively and systematically into its 
business processes. For real estate as a product this 
means reducing the environmental impact of proper-
ties on an ongoing basis while maintaining long-term 
financial success, and thereby gradually improving the 
property portfolio.

In 2011 Union Investment introduced a comprehen-
sive environmental management system and was 
successfully certified according to the international 
standard DIN EN ISO 14.001. In addition to the 
operational ecology, i.e. the environmental impact of 
operations, this system also looks at product ecol-
ogy, i.e. the environmental impact of the “real estate 
funds” product. As part of the environmental manage-
ment system (EMS) at Union Investment, processes 
are subject to quality assurance and their progress is 
monitored. Progress audits are conducted every year 
and recertification takes place every three years. The 
most recent recertification audit and last year's interim 
audit were both confirmed by an external auditor 
without qualification. 

1) Each less the number of residential buildings and properties under construction or restructuring; see also 3.2 Portfolio under review.

Union Investment  
property portfolio
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Union Investment has established the responsibilities 
of its business units by enshrining the issue of sustain-
ability in its guidelines and programmes at company 
level. Union Investment’s voluntary commitment to 
structure business processes in accordance with the 
requirements of the ZIA Code has therefore been 
satisfied.

The sustainability instruments of Union Investment are 
applied throughout the entire lifecycle of the respec-
tive properties. In the acquisition, letting and even the 
refurbishment and revitalisation of buildings, there are 
objectives in play that contribute to upholding their 
value of properties and their future viability, and the 
support business performance in the long term. To 
this end, external service providers are integrated into 
internal processes.

Union Investment also understands holistic sustain-
ability management as meaning a view that en-
compasses not only the consumption and emissions 
resulting directly and indirectly from operations, but 
also the environmental impact of the properties held 
in the portfolio. As the largest environmental impact 
results from the consumption and emissions caused 
by the properties held, these are presented explicitly in 
the following sections. Accordingly, the CO2 emissions 
generated in the real estate portfolio are reported as 
scope 3 emissions in accordance with the United Na-
tions Greenhouse Gas Protocol. The direct and indirect 
emissions resulting from operations (scope 1 and 2) 
are shown on page 164 of the report.

2.2 Analysis and evaluation instruments

The core of sustainability management at Union 
Investment is formed by its proprietary portfolio 
sustainability management (SoFi-PSM). This does 
not just create the necessary transparency regarding 
sustainability aspects, but also tracks the objectives 
and activities derived from this. Among others, the 
following instruments and processes are controlled 
with SoFi-PSM:

Key performance indicators (KPIs)

The analysis of the property-specific consumption data 
recorded in SoFi-PSM enables the identification of 
optimisation potential such as properties’ energy or 
water consumption. It also enables the introduction 
of measures for the more efficient use of resources or 
reducing operating costs. SoFi PSM therefore forms 
the foundation for the long-term orientation of the 

international real estate funds portfolio at Union In-
vestment. The recording of consumption data is firmly 
integrated into standard asset and property manage-
ment processes at Union Investment, and ensures that 
the portfolio is analysed on an annual basis.

Sustainable investment check (SI check)

The SI check provides a qualitative assessment of the 
fund properties on acquisition and annually thereafter. 
It does this by capturing and analysing criteria relating 
to energy, resources, economy, user comfort, opera-
tion and location. This instrument not only records the 
actual values, but also identifies the specific develop-
ment potential of each building. The SI check is subject 
to continuous further development and refinement.

The combination of SI checks for qualitative as-
sessment and the recording of KPIs for quantitative 
analysis guarantees that Union Investment documents 
and evaluates comprehensive real estate and portfolio 
data on an annual basis. At the same time, it follows 
up the impact of the actions it has taken and is gradu-
ally integrating this review of the success of the ac-
tions into work processes as a standard requirement.

Internal benchmarking

Union Investment applies reliable data adjustment to 
the KPIs recorded in compliance with the guidelines 
for introducing sustainability measurements in a real 
estate portfolio, as recommended by the ZIA. This 
ensures the comparability of consumption data and 
facilitates internal benchmarking based on the type of 
use. Asset and fund managers can use these bench-
marks to obtain indications of potential improvements 
at property and portfolio levels.

Given the lack of statutory international specifications 
for benchmarking, comparisons with other portfolio 
managers are only possible to a limited extent. Union 
Investment is actively participating in finding a solu-
tion for this (see section 2.7)

Green due diligence

Measures specific to individual properties are devised 
to reduce energy and operating costs, enhance user 
comfort and increase the value of buildings. This 
is achieved with a targeted selection of properties 
requiring optimisation based on data from SoFi-PSM. 
Screening is then conducted by experts using green 
due diligence (GDD).
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Share of portfolio properties with certification or pre-certification

Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Emporio Tower Hamburg Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland LEED CS 2.0 “Platinum”

Emporio Hotel Scandic Hamburg Germany Hotel UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB “Silver”

12 – 15 Finsbury Circus London United Kingdom Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM New Construction “Excellent”

CityQuartier  
DomAquarée Berlin Germany Hotel UniImmo:  

Deutschland
DGNB New Mixed City Districts 
“Silver” (pilot project)

Rhein-Galerie Ludwigshafen Germany Shopping UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NHA09 “Gold”

Trocadero Paris France Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

HQE Bâtiment Durable “Tres Bon”,  
HQE Gestion Durable “Excellent”

Atmos Munich Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NBV08 “Silver”

Rund Vier Vienna Austria Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NBV09 “Silver”

Rade Logpark Neu Wulmstorf Germany Logistics UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NIN09 “Gold”

Centurion Commercial Hamburg Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

DGNB NBV09 “Gold”   
HafenCity eco-label “Gold” pre-certificate

Mélia Paris France Hotel UniImmo:  
Deutschland HQE

Rosmarin Karree Berlin Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Eventes Business  
Gardens Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniImmo:  

Deutschland LEED CS 2009 “Gold”

City Zen, Building A Paris France Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM “Very Good”, HQE

City Zen, Building B Paris France Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM “Very Good”, HQE

Europlaza 4 Vienna Austria Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NBV 09 “Gold”

2013 2014 2015

Number of 
 properties

% (by # appraisal 
value)

Number of 
 properties

% (by # appraisal 
value)

Number of 
 properties

% (by # appraisal 
value)

45 27 65 37 87 43

Portfolio properties with certification or pre-certification

GDD serves to determine specific optimisation 
measures for selected portfolio properties in terms of 
business, ecological and social aspects and therefore 
involves more than just an energy analysis. These 
measures are assessed by way of profitability studies 
in combination with emissions and environmental 

analyses. The property manager therefore has  
a well-founded basis for his decisions regarding the 
development of buildings. The impact of the activi-
ties implemented is tracked in order to measure the 
attainment of goals and to take further action as 
necessary. 

Certification

While the aforementioned instruments allow sustaina-
bility criteria to be managed throughout the entire real 
estate portfolio, the certification of portfolio properties 
is an additional tool that makes sustainable property 
qualities transparent for users and other stakehold-
ers in particular. Union Investment examines when 

certification makes sense for the individual properties. 
For new construction projects and extensive renova-
tions, certification is an important sign of quality 
when it comes to implementing sustainability criteria. 
These must be taken into account during the property 
planning and construction phases in order to create 
optimal conditions for subsequent sustainable building 
operations. 

Source: Union Investment as at 31 December of the respective year.
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Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Manufaktura Łód´z Poland Shopping UniImmo:  
Deutschland

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Excellent”

G1 Glasgow United Kingdom Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM Office 05, “Very Good”

Akzo Nobel Amsterdam Netherlands Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland BREEAM “Excellent” (pre-certificate)

UPM Helsinki Finland Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland LEED NC “Gold”

Bülow Carree Stuttgart Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland LEED CS “Platinum”

Forum am Hirschgarten Munich Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NBV09 “Silver”

K2 Ellipse Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

K2 Forte 1 and 2 Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Mercedes Benz Berlin Germany Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NBV09 “Silver”

Fiege Mega Center Dieburg Germany Logistics UniImmo:  
Deutschland DGNB NIN09 “Platinum”

GreenWorx Vienna Austria Office UniImmo:  
Deutschland LEED CS “Platinum”

600 13th Street Washington D.C. United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Silver”

Am Seestern Düsseldorf Germany Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

Corporate Village  
“Davos” Brussels Belgium Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

Corporate Village  
“Elsinore” Brussels Belgium Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

Corporate Village  
“Figueras” Brussels Belgium Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

Centre d’Affaires  
Paris-Victoire Paris France Office UniImmo: Europa HQE

France Avenue Paris France Office UniImmo: Europa HQE “Very Good” 

Torre Diagonal Barcelona Spain Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Corporate Village  
“Caprese” Brussels Belgium Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

140 Broadway New York United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

Infopark Research 
Center Budapest Hungary Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

111 South Wacker Chicago United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”, LEED EB “Gold”

Limbecker Platz Essen Germany Shopping UniImmo: Europa DGNB NHA09 “Silver”

Corporate Village  
“Bayreuth” Brussels Belgium Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Gold”

L´Unico Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Pixel Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

HaagscheZwan The Hague Netherlands Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Good”,  
Part 2 “Pass”

Da Vinci Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Forum Kayseri Kayseri Turkey Shopping UniImmo: Europa BREEAM Europe Retail “Very Good”

CapSquare Kuala Lumpur Malaysia Office UniImmo: Europa GBI Certificate, LEED EB

Paseo del Mar San Diego United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EB “Silver”

51 Fifty-one Zurich Switzerland Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

Central Seine Paris France Office UniImmo: Europa HQE 

Kinetik Boulogne- 
Billancourt France Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Very Good”,  

HQE Bâtiment Durable “Excellent”

555 Mission Street San Francisco United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

Multi-Cube Heddesheim Germany Logistics UniImmo: Europa DGNB NIN09 “Gold”

Alberga B Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Very Good”

145

Union Asset Management Holding AG Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2015 Key Performance Indicators



Source: Union Investment as at 31 December 2015.

Property City Country Type of use Fund Current certification

Alberga C Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Very Good”

Motel One Amsterdam Netherlands Hotel UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Excellent”

Europlaza 5 Vienna Austria Office UniImmo: Europa DGNB NBV09 “Gold”

Senator Warsaw Poland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Very Good”

One Snowhill Birmingham United Kingdom Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Very Good”

50 South 10th Street Minneapolis United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EBOM “Gold”

HQ EY Helsinki Finland Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

space2move A+B Vienna Austria Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

space2move C Vienna Austria Office UniImmo: Europa LEED CS “Gold”

1000 Main Houston United States Office UniImmo: Europa LEED EBOM “Gold” 

4+5 Grand Canal Street 
(Part 1) Dublin Ireland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Excellent”

4+5 Grand Canal Street 
(Part 2) Dublin Ireland Office UniImmo: Europa BREEAM “Excellent”

1 Coleman Street London United Kingdom Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM Office 05 “Very Good”

Torre Mayor Mexico City Mexico Office UniImmo: Global LEED EBOM “Gold”

Radisson Blu Hotel  
London Stansted Airport Essex United Kingdom Hotel UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Good”

Woodland Pointe Virginia Herndon United States Office UniImmo: Global LEED EB “Certified”

Krisztina Palace Budapest Hungary Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

3Stawy Katowice Poland Shopping UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

West-Park Zurich Switzerland Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Excellent”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Horizon Plaza Warsaw Poland Office UniImmo: Global BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Excellent”

Rembrandt Tower Amsterdam Netherlands Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM In-Use NL Part 1 “Good”

Pilke Helsinki-Vantaa Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM “Very Good”

Zebra Tower Warsaw Poland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate LEED CS “Gold”

Alberga A Helsinki-Espoo Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM “Very Good”

Monarch The Hague Netherlands Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM NB “Excellent”

Hehku Helsinki Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate BREEAM “Very Good”

Europa-Galerie  
Saarbrücken Saarbrücken Germany Shopping UniInstitutional  

European Real Estate DGNB NHA 2009 “Silver”

K-Point Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Helsinki, Skanska HQ Helsinki Finland Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate LEED CS VS2009 Platinum 

K2 Dolce Luxembourg Luxembourg Office UniInstitutional  
European Real Estate

BREEAM In-Use Part 1 “Very Good”,  
Part 2 “Very Good”

Hampton by Hilton Warsaw Poland Hotel DEFO  
Immobilienfonds 1 LEED NC “Gold”

Space 20 Darmstadt Germany Office UniInstitutional  
German Real Estate DGNB NBV09 “Silver”

Karlstr. 4 – 6 Frankfurt Germany Office UniInstitutional  
German Real Estate

BREEAM In-Use Part 1, “Good”, Part 2, 
“Good”, Part 3, “Pass”

Kettwiger Tor Essen Germany Office UniInstitutional  
German Real Estate

DGNB NBV09 “Silver”,  
DGNB NHA09 “Silver”
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2.3 Ratings

Green Star classification in GRESB rating
Union Investment took part in the Global Real Estate 
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) survey for the 
fourth year in succession. The initiative, which was 
formed by investors in 2009, assesses the sustain-
ability performance of real estate funds on the basis 
of an annual analysis. In last year's survey, all of the 
six participating Union Investment funds were clas-
sified as “Green Stars”. Funds are designated Green 
Stars – the highest of a total of four ratings – if they 
have integrated sustainability management and their 
processes and reporting procedures focus on sustain-
ability criteria. The assessment also takes into account 
the management of environmental performance, such 
as the energy consumption and CO2 emissions of the 
real estate portfolio. In the overall ranking of the par-
ticipating funds, all Union Investment's funds recorded 
above-average performance, while also being ranked 
among the leaders in their respective peer groups. 
The funds improved on their previous score in almost 
all of the seven categories assessed. The categories 
include management, policy and disclosure, risks and 
opportunities, and stakeholder engagement. This 
benchmarking helps to actively manage sustainability 
performance and steadily improve the sustainability of 
the real estate portfolio.

Scope recognises Union Investment's sustain-
ability strategy as the most mature in the 
industry
Another rating that Union Investment systematically 
takes part in is the Scope rating. Scope has included 
sustainability criteria in its assessment of open-ended 
property funds since 2013. In 2015, the participating 
funds – UniImmo: Deutschland, UniImmo: Europa, 
UniImmo: Global and UniInstitutional European Real 
Estate – were rated as excellent to above-average 
by industry standards in sustainability matters. Union 
Investment Real Estate's sustainability strategy was 
also recognised as the most mature in the entire 
industry.

2.4 Raising stakeholder awareness 

Real estate management can only be fully sustainable 
if all those involved play their part. This is why Union 
Investment raises awareness by means of a variety 
of media and events, such as this report or presenta-
tions at trade fairs, that provide its employees, market 
participants, clients and tenants with information on 
the opportunities and necessities of sustainability. 

Information is also provided in the form of Union 
Investment's “Sustainable Real Estate Investment 
Knowledge Portal”, which was comprehensively 
revised in 2015. Interested readers can gain an insight 
into the understanding and value added of sustain-
ability criteria in the real estate industry as well as de-
tails of their practical implementation. This is comple-
mented by current information and news. Signing up 
for the newsletter to receive the latest information is 
recommended. The site can be found at the following 
address: www.nachhaltige-immobilien-investments.de

2.5 Obligations placed on property users

In addition to the fabric of a building, the use to which 
it is put and its management are also major factors 
that determine its ecological footprint. This realisation 
is increasingly being taken into account in leases.

The key component of a green lease is the commit-
ment to sustainability by both the landlord and the 
tenant. This means a partner-like approach to efforts 
to achieve the sustainable use and management of 
the building in order to ensure that it maintains its val-
ue in the long term and, not least, that operating costs 
remain reasonable. Issues covered by green leases 
include, for example, information on and the exchange 
of sustainability-related data, stipulations regarding 
low-pollutant construction and cleaning materials, 
assistance for low-impact usage and more besides. For 
certified properties, the parties can also agree to seek 
or improve certification.

Union Investment implemented green leases as the 
standard for new lettings of German office proper-
ties in 2014. Green lease clauses can be agreed on 
a property-specific and tenant-specific basis. The aim 
is to develop this standard for additional usage types 
and countries.

In 2015, Union Investment and other players from the 
real estate industry developed and published a guide 
entitled “Green Leases – Recommended Clauses and 
Actions for Sustainable Building Use”. This guideline 
can be downloaded free of charge at https://www.
nachhaltige-immobilien-investments.de/aktuelles/.

2.6 Obligations placed on service providers 

Under the environmental management system, Union 
Investment has undertaken to incorporate environ-
mentally relevant criteria into the development of 
products and services, new contracts for tender and 
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the selection of business partners. In property asset 
management this has been a factor in the selection 
of property and facility managers since 2014 and 
in contract design. As it aims to constantly improve 
its environmental performance, Union Investment 
requires its service providers to apply sustainable 
principles to their activities and to impose similar ob-
ligations on their business partners. Union Investment 
examines the compliance of service providers with the 
obligations of environmental law in a newly developed 
process.

2.7  Information sharing and benchmarking 
within the industry

As part of its participation in a number of initiatives, 
Union Investment regularly shares information with 
other portfolio holders. It has been a member of the 
Urban Land Institute (ULI), which campaigns for the 
sustainable development of living environments, since 
1999. As a founding member of the German Sustain-
able Building Council (DGNB), Union Investment has 
also been contributing its expertise and experience to 
wide-ranging working groups and expert panels since 
2007. The DGNB certification system, for example, was 
established with the help of pilot certification projects 
closely supported by Union Investment.

Union Investment has been a member of the Ger-
man Property Federation (ZIA) since June 2008 and 
has been heavily involved in the development of the 
industry-wide sustainability code. Union Investment 
also played a significant role in the development of 
ZIA’s Guideline for the Introduction of Sustainability 
Measurement in Real Estate Portfolios – Technologi-
cal & Environmental Aspects, which was published in 
2013. The objective of sustainability measurement is 
to provide an important basis for the value-added de-
velopment of the majority of the existing properties in 
the portfolio, integrating environmental, economic and 
social criteria. Together with other major institutions 
and holders of real estate portfolios, Union Investment 
also plays an active role in developing industry-wide 
benchmarks and is thus a constant driving force 
behind this process. 

As a member of Bundesverband Investment und Asset 
Management e.V. (BVI), Union Investment has worked 
on the development of sustainability standards for 
real estate portfolios since 2015. The aim is to identify 
performance indicators at fund and portfolio level in 
order to ensure sustainability and hence long-term 
returns for investors.

3.  Property-specific portfolio 
 consumption data

In its portfolio sustainability management (SoFi-PSM) 
Union Investment tracks property-specific consump-
tion data for the buildings in its portfolio each year. 
One of the aims is to identify optimisation potential 
for properties through internal benchmarking. Cor-
responding work on buildings can then be initiated.

3.1 Method

By recording consumption data for its property portfo-
lio, Union Investment ensures the transparency of its 
portfolio and can derive recommendations for action 
at property and portfolio level. 

Consumption data for a given calendar year is record-
ed in the autumn of the following calendar year. This is 
because the information sources applied include utility 
bills, for example, which are usually only produced as 
at the end of a year. The additional time required for 
quality assurance means that there is a lag of one year 
in the recording of consumption data for reporting. 
Accordingly, this report is based on the consumption 
data for 2014. The data for 2015 cannot be included 
in the current analysis. The analysis encompasses final 
energy consumption, CO2 emissions, water consump-
tion and the volume of waste produced.

The figures in this report are shown as absolute values 
as well as specific values per m² and year. In light 
of the international orientation and heterogeneous 
nature of the portfolio, specific consumption data was 
adjusted for aspects that are specific to countries, 
properties and uses and that influence a property’s 
environmental performance. These include building 
characteristics such as time in use, vacancy rates and 
special uses, and also take into account local weather 
conditions. As a result, the analysis below shows com-
parable consumption data that can be assessed with 
the help of internal benchmarks. The data used for the 
analysis of environmental performance was recorded 
for the entire floor area of each building and includes 
consumption by tenants.

The consumption data for 2012 and 2013, which 
were already published in the 2014 CSR report, 
have been presented again in this report to take into 
account the latest developments and optimisation in 
SoFi-PSM. Modifications to calculation methods can 
lead to changes in absolute and specific values, which 
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3.2 Portfolio under review

Union Investment's real estate portfolio is subject 
to permanent change. Properties are continuously 
purchased and sold during the course of the year as 
part of active portfolio management. Selected port-
folio properties are also subject to restructuring and 
renovation processes. 

This dynamic development means that the property 
cannot be examined exhaustively. Accordingly, Union 
Investment aims to record data for a large-scale, 
representative sub-portfolio consisting of at least 
75% of its total portfolio (in terms of floor area). The 
consumption data for the properties recorded is then 
extrapolated for the portfolio as a whole. 

The portfolio as a whole contains actively managed 
properties in the office, shopping, hotel and logistics 
usage types. As at 31 December 2015, the portfolio 

consisted of 306 properties with a value of around 
EUR 24.6 billion. Properties under construction and 
residential properties are not included in this analysis.

In 2015, the ambitious target of 75% was not met 
for the first time. A total of 216 properties or 72% 
of the floor area was included in the analysis. No 
consumption data was recordable for extremely small 
properties and individual properties with high vacancy 
rates, while the necessary information was missing 
for properties acquired during the year. There was a 
particularly high level of portfolio turnover in 2014 
and 2015 in terms of floor area, meaning that acquisi-
tions account for the largest share of the properties 
for which no data is available.

Nevertheless, the properties reviewed are representa-
tive of the overall portfolio in terms of usage types 
and floor area, and the data extrapolated for the 
portfolio as a whole is conclusive.

are due exclusively to the refinement of the methods 
used. Optimisations are also applied retrospectively. 
The continuously changing nature of the portfolio 
means that comparability between years is limited, 
particularly with regard to the absolute figures. To 
improve the comparability of the current years, the 

following analysis also discusses the consumption 
data for a like-for-like portfolio. However, the updated 
data recording and methodology will lead to opti-
mised results in the future, thereby providing better 
comparability over the long term.

Consumption data:

Absolute values provide information on the overall consumption of an indicator. The consumption data 
recorded for the portfolio included in the analysis is extrapolated for the entire portfolio using a floor area factor. 
Absolute values cannot be used as comparative values as they do not relate to other key performance indicators 
(e.g. in relation to square metres).
Specific values define a quantity dependent on its environment. The specific KPIs of Union Investment mainly 
relate to the energy reference area in square metres and years. These values therefore essentially describe 
resource efficiency in relation to area. As previously, only the consumption data actually recorded for the portfolio 
reviewed is included in the calculation. Specific values therefore provide comparable indicators that allow com-
parisons between properties or funds. In addition, specific consumption/KPIs at Union Investment are adjusted 
for factors such as vacancy rates, climate and special users to filter out fluctuations within these factors and to 
create optimum comparability of values.
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Type of use, 2012 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 141 2,602,897 54%

Retail buildings 38 1,232,025 26%

Hotel buildings 17 343,006 7%

Logistics buildings 13 639,867 13%

Total 209 4,817,795 100%

Type of use, 2012 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 193 3,175,293 51%

Retail buildings 53 1,461,353 24%

Hotel buildings 29 530,972 9%

Logistics buildings 20 981,267 16%

Total 295 6,148,885 100%

Portfolio reviewed Extrapolated portfolio

Type of use, 2013 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 139 2,407,649 54%

Retail buildings 38 1,212,232 27%

Hotel buildings 21 401,942 9%

Logistics buildings 11 456,200 10%

Total 209 4,478,023 100%

Type of use, 2013 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 199 3,208,338 54%

Retail buildings 54 1,472,950 25%

Hotel buildings 33 585,633 10%

Logistics buildings 15 633,183 11%

Total 301 5,900,104 100%

Type of use, 2014 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 136 2,336,597 51%

Retail buildings 39 1,188,350 26%

Hotel buildings 29 524,599 11%

Logistics buildings 12 539,034 12%

Total 216 4,588,580 100%

Type of use, 2014 Number of 
properties

Floor area 
(m²)

Floor area 
(%)

Office buildings 191 3,180,537 50%

Retail buildings 60 1,687,416 27%

Hotel buildings 39 726,687 11%

Logistics buildings 16 736,362 12%

Total 306 6,331,002 100%

■ Floor area reviewed  ■ Floor area not reviewed
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Absolute values, all KPIs, entire portfolio (extrapolated) 2012 (295 properties) 2013 (301 properties) 2014 (306 properties)

Final energy consumption [GWh/year] 1,331 1,288 1,309 

Direct final energy consumption [GWh/year] 131 126 104 

Indirect final energy consumption [GWh/year] 1,200 1,162 1,205 

CO2 emissions GR-EN17 [t CO2 /year] 449,381 399,548 408,707

Direct CO2 emissions [t CO2 /year] 26,496 25,589 20,953 

Indirect CO2 emissions [t CO2 /year] 422,885 373,959 387,754 

Water consumption [m³/year] 3,935,213 3,549,401 3,979,708 

Volume of waste [t/year] 51,774 40,897 45,607 

Specific values, portfolio reviewed 2012 2013 2014

Final energy consumption, G4-CRE1 [kWh/(m²/year)] 260 246 246 

Energy consumption value, heating [kWh/(m²/year)] 94 88 92 

Energy consumption value, electricity [kWh/(m²/year)] 166 158 154 

CO2 emissions G4-CRE3 [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 72 64 61 

Specific CO2 emissions, heat [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 15 15 13 

Specific CO2 emissions, electricity [kg CO2 /(m²/year)] 57 49 48 

Water consumption, G4-CRE2 [m³/(m²/year)] 0.62 0.56 0.59 

Volume of waste [kg/(m²/year)] 7.9 6.5 6.8 

3.3 Main findings

All in all, the specific values for all usage types in the 
overall portfolio developed positively in the period 
from 2012 to 2014, particularly with regard to reduc-
tions in CO2 emissions and the volume of waste. 
Despite natural fluctuations between the years, these 
KPIs fell by 15% and 14% respectively. Since 2014, 
the company has purchased green electricity with the 
OK Power label for most of the general office space 
in its German office properties. Union Investment is 
therefore making an important contribution to reduc-
ing CO2 emissions in its property portfolio.

Substantial portfolio turnover led to a significant 
change in the composition of the properties in 
the portfolio. Fluctuations can be observed in the 
breakdown by usage type in particular. This is most 
evident when it comes to logistics properties. The 
development of consumption figures for the relatively 
small logistics portfolio is influenced to a consider-
able extent by the sale of two consumption-intensive 
buildings in 2013. Consumption data for office and 
retail buildings was relatively stable with a slight 
downward trend.

Note on data quality

Quality assurance – Independent parties manually and objectively reviewed the recorded data for each property to check that they were complete and plausible.

Completeness of data – In cases where some of the consumption data was unavailable, it was added on the basis of reference values. The mechanism developed for this 
purpose incorporated use-related averages from different sources and historical portfolio data.

Extrapolation – If it was not possible to determine some of the data (such as tenant data) in full, data was extrapolated on the basis of usage and with a floor area weight-
ing on the basis of reference values within the software used.

Adjustment – Specific data was adjusted to ensure that the properties in the international portfolio were comparable. Final energy consumption data was adjusted for cli-
mate, operating hours, vacancy rates and special users. The climate adjustment was applied using location-related weather periods for the last few years compared with the 
Würzburg location. The specific consumption values for water and waste were adjusted for special users. Greenhouse gas emissions (shown in CO2 equivalents, or CO2), which 
are calculated on the basis of country-specific emissions factors, are not adjusted. Absolute values are not adjusted. 

Energy reference area – The total floor area in a building that is heated or temperature-controlled.

Note: Energy consumption and CO2 emissions are shown separately according to direct and indirect primary energy sources. Direct primary energy sources are, for example, 
coal, natural gas, oil, biofuels, etc., i.e. energy generated directly on site by means of combustion. Indirect primary energy sources are, for example, electricity from fossil fuels, 
nuclear energy, district heating and others, i.e. purchased energy.

3.4 Total values

The extrapolation of the reviewed KPIs to reflect the overall portfolio produced the following absolute and 
specific values:

Unadjusted values for portfolio reviewed in 2014 Portfolio re-
viewed

Office build-
ings

Retail build-
ings

Hotel build-
ings

Logistics 
buildings

Specific final energy consumption, G4-CRE1 [kWh/(m²/year)] 198 208 219 252 52

Specific CO2 emissions, G4-CRE3 [kg CO2/(m²/year)] 62 59 81 67 16

Specific water consumption, G4-CRE2 [m³/(m²/year)] 0.59 0.47 0.75 1.35 0.05
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3.5 Absolute and specific consumption values 
for portfolio by type of use

Direct energy is energy in which the fossil fuel is actu-
ally burnt on site or in a process owned or controlled 
by the company concerned (such as natural gas for a 
heating system in the organisation or the consumption 
of fuel by a company’s vehicle fleet). Indirect energy 
is energy in which the fossil fuel is burnt off site or 
outside the control of the company concerned to meet 
the needs of the organisation for secondary energy 
(such as electricity, heating or cooling). 

Despite the extremely high level of portfolio turnover 
in the last two years, the absolute energy consump-
tion values changed only marginally. The slightly lower 
level of consumption in 2013 is due to the lower floor 
area of the portfolio in the same year.

In addition to a breakdown by energy sources, a 
breakdown of consumption by types of use is also 
possible. The share of energy consumption accounted 
for by office buildings is approximately equal to their 
share of area of the overall portfolio. Retail buildings/
shopping centres and hotel buildings have slightly 
disproportionately higher energy consumption in 
relation to their area on account of how they are 
used, whereas logistics buildings have much lower 
than average energy consumption. The consumption 

values for office buildings were relatively constant 
at between 650 and 700 GWh. Among other things, 
this was due to the only minor changes in net floor 
area. Retail and hotel buildings recorded an increase 
in absolute energy consumption. This was due to net 
growth within the respective usage types. The substan-
tial reduction in consumption for logistics buildings 
between 2012 and 2013 was due in particular to the 
sale of two energy-intensive buildings.

■ Absolute final energy consumption by direct primary energy source 

■ Absolute final energy consumption by indirect primary energy source

Absolute final energy consumption broken 
down by direct and indirect primary energy 
sources – (GWh/year, extrapolated portfolio)    
Share of consumption by extrapolated portfolio by primary energy source per year
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Absolute final energy consumption (GWh/year, extrapolated portfolio) 

Share of consumption by type of use per year Consumption for each type of use per year
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The specific CO2 emissions for the portfolio as a 
whole changed only slightly. A comparison of usage 
types shows that office, retail and hotel buildings had 
average specific consumption of between around 250 
and just under 300 kWh/m² per year. The pronounced 

fluctuations for hotel buildings are due to the high 
turnover within the hotel portfolio and the resulting 
change in the shares attributable to the different en-
ergy sources. The figures for logistics properties reflect 
the sale of energy-intensive properties.
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0 

Specific final energy consumption – G4-CRE1 [kWh/(m²/year)]
Average consumption by portfolio per year, by type of consump-
tion
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■ Energy consumption value, heating (kWh/m²)                  ■ Energy consumption value, electricity (kWh/m²)                      Portfolio average over three years (kWh/m2)

Total portfolio

Absolute CO2 emissions broken down by direct 
and indirect primary energy sources – GR-EN17 
(t CO2 e/year1), extrapolated portfolio)      

449,381

399,548 408,707

■ Direct CO2 emissions [tCO2 e/year] ■ Indirect CO2 emissions [tCO2 e/year]
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greenhouse gases were calculated and converted us-
ing factors in line with the specifications of the United 
Nations’ Greenhouse Gas Protocol. As discussed in 
section 2.1, Union Investment classifies the emissions 
generated by its portfolio properties as scope 3 emis-
sions. Recording the origin of the scope 3 emissions 
means that they can also be broken down into direct 
and indirect emissions.

The absolute CO2 emissions, which are also referred to 
as the carbon footprint, are based on the consumption 
of heating and electricity. In 2014, the carbon foot-
print for the entire portfolio was around 409,000 tons, 
a reduction of 41,000 tons or around nine percent 
compared with 2012. A comparison with the develop-
ment of absolute energy consumption shows that CO2 
emissions changed in almost the same ratio. Both 
figures reached their peak levels in 2012. In terms of 
the origin of the emissions, the changes in direct and 
indirect emissions were largely identical.

In the following, the term “CO2” is used as a simplifi-
cation and abbreviation for “CO2 equivalents”. Other 

153

Union Asset Management Holding AG Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2015 Key Performance Indicators



An analysis of the share of CO2 emissions broken 
down by type of use shows that the share for office 
and hotel buildings is slightly lower than its share of 
energy consumption (see section 3.2). By contrast, re-
tail buildings account for a slightly higher share of CO2 
emissions than energy consumption. The three-year 

development of emissions for the individual types of 
use largely corresponds to the changes in their energy 
consumption. Lower absolute consumption for office 
and logistics properties is offset by rising consumption 
for retail and hotel buildings.
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Absolute CO2 emissions – G4-EN17 (t CO2 e/year, extrapolated portfolio)
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Specific CO2 emissions – G4-CRE3 [kg CO2 e/(m²/year)]  
Average emissions per year, by type of consumption
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Total portfolio

The trend in terms of CO2 emissions was also largely 
in line with the changes in energy consumption. 
However, they fell by around 15 percent between 
2012 and 2014, while energy consumption only 
declined by around five percent in the same period. 
This was primarily due to the higher share of total 
electricity consumption attributable to green electric-
ity, which doubled from around eight percent in 2012 

to around 16 percent in 2014. Union Investment itself 
has played a major role in increasing the share of 
green electricity. Since 2014, the company has pur-
chased green electricity with the OK Power label for 
most of the general office space in its German office 
properties. Union Investment is therefore making an 
important contribution to reducing CO2 emissions in 
its property portfolio.
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Specific water consumption – G4-CRE2 [m³/(m²/year)]
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■ Specific water consumption [m3/(m²/year)]                    Portfolio average over three years [m3/(m²/year)]
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Absolute water consumption comprises the total 
volume of water consumed. The sources of supply 
included are drinking water, groundwater and surface 
water. Compared with 2013, the water footprint 
for the overall portfolio increased by around twelve 
percent to a figure of just under 4 million m³ in 2014. 
This development was driven by all types of use.

While retail buildings saw a parallel development 
between the growth in the floor area and water 
consumption, the water consumption of hotel and 
logistics properties increased to a greater extent than 
the growth in net floor area. This was due to individual 
properties with higher water consumption compared 
with the previous year.

Specific water consumption describes the consump-
tion per square metre and, unlike the absolute value, 
is adjusted for special users. At 0.59 m³/m², average 
water consumption in 2014 was six percent higher 
than in the previous year, but still exactly in line with 
the three-year average for the portfolio. An analysis of 
the different types of use clearly shows that the values 

for office and retail properties have remained constant 
over the years. Hotel properties use the most water 
due to the nature of their use. However, specific water 
consumption in the hotel portfolio decreased by eight 
percent year-on-year in 2014. In terms of water con-
sumption, too, the logistics portfolio was characterised 
by the sale of two consumption-intensive properties.
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82%

The absolute volume of waste is the total quantity of 
waste produced in the categories of recycled waste, 
landfill waste and incinerated waste.

In 2014, it amounted to just under 46,000 tonnes 
for the total portfolio, thereby falling by around 13 

percent as against 2012. Looking at the individual 
types of use, the absolute volume of waste for office 
properties declined by five percent year-on-year, 
while the other types of use saw a slight rise. This 
was due to the increased floor area in the respective 
portfolios.
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The specific volume of waste is adjusted for special 
users. Between 2012 and 2014, the specific volume 
of waste for the entire portfolio fell by 14 percent, 
amounting to 6.8 kg/m² in 2014. An analysis of the in-
dividual types of use shows that the volume of waste 
for hotel buildings in particular has declined steadily 
and fell below the portfolio average for the first time 

in 2014. While the specific volume of waste for office 
and retail buildings remained essentially unchanged 
year-on-year, the volume for logistics buildings 
increased by 37 percent. The increase in the recycling 
share is a positive development. However, the volume 
of waste remains generally difficult to calculate as the 
measurements involved are imprecise.
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15.9

2013

8.2

14%

68%

17%

56%

2014

11.2

15%

7.0

8.3

17%

18%

41%

24%

7.8

14%

18%

51%

17%

8.0

60%

12%

12%

16%

8%
10%

21%

9.2

7.8
6.9

39%

25%

10%

26%

28%

11%

13%

Office buildingsTotal portfolio Logistics buildingsHotel buildingsRetail buildings

17%
48%

24%
3%

1%

3%

■ Office buildings ■ Retail buildings  

■ Hotel buildings ■ Logistics buildings

17%

61%
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Type of use
2013/2014

Number of properties Floor area (m²) Floor area (%)

Office buildings 105 1,903,686 49%

Retail buildings 35 1,151,216 30%

Hotel buildings 20 384,814 10%

Logistics buildings 10 427,486 11%

Total 170 3,867,202 100%

Like-for-like portfolio

3.6 Like-for-like portfolio

Like-for-like is a factor that adjusts the development 
in an indicator for new acquisitions or disposals. The 
like-for-like analysis of the Union Investment property 
portfolio therefore only includes properties that were 
in the portfolio in both 2013 and 2014. Above all, this 
is used in dynamic markets to allow comparisons of 
growth factors, in this case consumption values. The 
adjusted analysis allows specific statements on the 

changes in consumption values within the property 
portfolio. Measures that have contributed to the 
reduction in the respective types of consumption can 
thus be tracked and monitored. A disadvantage of 
this method is that statements do not apply to the 
portfolio as a whole, and rather only to a portion of it. 
 Owing to the rapid changes within the Union Invest-
ment real estate portfolio, the like-for-like portfolio 
covers only 170 properties and therefore only encom-
passes just over half of the total portfolio.

An analysis of the development in like-for-like 
consumption data from 2013 to 2014 shows a 
slight reduction in all types of consumption with the 
exception of water. Energy consumption declined by 
approximately one percent, while CO2 emissions fell 
by around seven percent. As energy consumption 

and CO2 emissions generally go hand-in-hand, the 
difference is due to a higher share of green electricity 
or a change in energy sources. Water consumption 
increased slightly by around three percent, while the 
volume of waste fell by approximately three percent. 
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Specific final energy consumption –  
Like-for-like [kWh/(m²/year)] 

Specific water consumption – Like-for-like  
[m3/(m²/year)] 

Specific CO2 emissions – Like-for-like  
[kg CO2 e/(m²/year)]

Specific volume of waste – Like-for-like  
[kg/(m²/year)]

Average like-for-like portfolio consumption per year, by type of consumption

Average consumption per year

Average emissions per year, by type of consumption

Average volume

2013 20132014 2014

249

65%

35%

247

64%

36%

2013

0.58

2014

0.60

66

77%

23%

61

79%

21%

24%

250

0.59

65

10,0

 

7.5 

 

5.0 

 2.5 

 

0.0 

7.0

■ Energy consumption value, heating (kWh/m²)

■ Energy consumption value, electricity (kWh/m²)

  Portfolio average over three years (kWh/m2)

■ Specific water consumption [m2/(m2/year)]

  Portfolio average over three years [m2/(m2/year)]

■ CO2 emissions, heating [kgCo2e/ (m²/year)]

■ CO2 emissions, electricity [kgCo2e/ (m²/year)]

  Portfolio average over three years [kgCo2e/ (m²/year)]

■ Waste, not indicated [kg/m2]

■ Waste, incinerated [kg/m2]

  Portfolio average over three years [kg/m2]

■ Waste, landfill [kg/m2]

■ Waste, recycled [kg/m2]

2014

6.3

55%

21%

11%

2013

16%

46%

17%

21%

6.5

13%

4.  ZIA-compliant sustainability 
reporting

ZIA position on sustainability

The ZIA set out the basic principles for sustainable 
business in the real estate sector in its sustainability 
code published in 2011. The “ZIA Code” encompasses 
an industry code together with stipulations covering 
industry reporting, sustainability measurement, cor-
porate governance/responsibility and corporate social 
responsibility. Union Investment is a member of the 
ZIA and has been heavily involved in the development 
of the industry code. 

Union Investment also played a significant role in the 
development of ZIA’s Guideline for the Introduction of 
Sustainability Measurement in Real Estate Portfolios – 
Technological & Environmental Aspects, which was 
published in 2013. These guidelines contain recom-
mendations for standard sustainability measurements 
to be used in the real estate industry. 

Union Investment complies with methodology recom-
mended by ZIA in carrying out the sustainability 
measurements for its portfolio and satisfies all the 
criteria, thereby ensuring that consumption data is 
of the requisite quality and facilitating benchmarking 
throughout the market. 
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■ Waste, landfill [kg/m2]

■ Waste, recycled [kg/m2]

GRI G4 Content Index

General standard disclosures

GSD Page / Content EA

Strategy and analysis

G4-1 AR p. 4 –

Organisational profile

G4-3 AR U1 –

G4-4 AR p. 28 – 30 yes

G4-5 AR U4 –

G4-6 Germany, Luxembourg, Poland, Austria, Hong Kong –

G4-7 AR p. 127 –

G4-8

In addition to its activities in Germany, the Union Investment Group offers selected funds in the markets of Austria, Italy, Switzerland the 
United Kingdom, the Netherlands and Scandinavia. The joint venture between Union Investment and the Bank of East Asia (BEA Union 
Investment Management Ltd.) focuses entirely on the future market of Asia. In addition, the Polish market is served via a subsidiary in 
Warsaw. This report concentrates on the Union Investment Group in Germany.

In retail business, Union Investment services are exclusively available to the retail clients of the cooperative partner banks (“Verbund 
First”). The products and services in institutional clients business are aimed at discerning institutional investors of varying sizes. Clients 
from within the Genossenschaftliche FinanzGruppe include banks, the other specialist institutions and the corporate clients of the 
cooperative partner banks. Union Investment also competes to attract custom from other institutional investors outside the Genossen-
schaftliche FinanzGruppe in Germany and abroad, such as pension funds and insurance companies.

–

G4-9

Company level: AR p. 18 – 20; real estate portfolio: annual and half-yearly reports at http://realestate.union-investment.de/startseite-
immobilienkunden/publikationen/fondspublikationen.html (where publication is permitted)
• Total number of employees: 2,717
• Fee and commission income: EUR 1,949,523 thousand
• Reported equity: EUR 1,121,801 thousand
• Liabilities to banks: EUR 13,100 thousand
• Liabilities to clients: EUR 59 thousand

yes

G4-10

• Total workforce: 2,717 employees, of which 1,824 not employed under collective bargaining agreements and 886 employed under 
collective bargaining agreements
• The activities of the Union Investment Group are primarily performed by permanent employees.
See also AR p. 159

–

G4-11 The collectively agreed rate is 32.6% –

G4-12

The supply chain in the context of the indirect materials purchased by Union Investment for its operations, management and change relate 
to the following products and services sorted in descending order by volume:
Consulting, outsourcing (primarily IT outsourcing), facility management, marketing, information technology, market data, conference/
event/trade fair services, logistics, travel

–

G4-13 AR p. 14 yes

G4-14

Union Investment takes a precautionary approach within the company by actively managing and improving its consumption of resources. 
The “2° sind machbar” (2 degrees is achievable) climate strategy explicitly describes our commitment to helping to successfully curb 
climate change.

In our core business, our main priority is to safeguard our clients' assets and secure their pension and provision commitments through our 
services.

–

G4-15

Union Investment strives to comply with high internationally or nationally recognised standards in all its activities relating to 
sustainability. For example, we are a member of the UN Global Compact and have pledged to apply the UN Principles for Responsible 
Investment. We signed the declaration of conformity with the German Sustainability Code in December 2013 and renewed this 
declaration in December 2014. In our real estate activities, we have signed up to the ZIA sustainability code for the real estate industry. 
We are represented in the sustainability committees of our industry associations (Efama, BVI, VfU). Since July 2013, Union Investment has 
been represented on the Board of the Sustainable Investment Forum by its head of Sustainability Management.

–

GSD = General standard disclosures EA = External audit 

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015

Permanent employees Fixed-term employees

Male 1,479 50

Female 1,127 61

Total 2,606 111

G4-10 Number of employees by employment contract and gender
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AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 

G4-16
AR magazine p. 49 and:
• German Property Federation (ZIA)
• Association for Environmental Management and Sustainability in Financial Institutions (VfU)

–

Identified material aspects and boundaries

G4-17
AR p. 114
• The CSR report covers the listed participations in Germany and Luxembourg excluding other 
    subsidiaries, Quoniam Asset Management GmbH and attrax S.A.

–

G4-18 AR p. 135 –

G4-19 AR p. 136 –

G4-20 AR p. 135 –

G4-21 AR p. 135 –

G4-22 AR p. 134 –

G4-23 AR p. 134 –

Stakeholder engagement

G4-24 AR p. 134; AR magazine p. 17 – 19 –

G4-25 AR p. 135 –
G4-26 AR p. 134 – 135 –
G4-27 AR p. 134 –
Report profile

G4-28 1 Jan. 2015 to 31 Dec. 2015 –

G4-29 May 2015 –

G4-30 Annual –

G4-31 AR U4 –

G4-32
• AR p. 134
• AR p. 159 – 169 –

G4-33
The sustainability section of the report is not externally audited. The management report and consolidated financial statements are 
audited by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. There are currently no plans to extend the external audit to the CSR 
section of the report.

–

Environment

G4-34 AR p. 123 –

Ethics and integrity

G4-56

Union Investment developed a new mission statement in 2010. This states that the company's mission is geared towards the interests of 
our investors and enshrines transparency, partnership and professionalism as key elements of the corporate culture alongside our 
cooperative identity. 

In 2015, the existing sustainability policy was revised and the new version was adopted by the Board of Managing Directors as a 
sustainability code. The code contains a comprehensive description of our understanding of good corporate governance and the various 
areas of activity of sustainability. There are separate guidelines on responsible investment for our core business process of asset 
management. The sustainability requirements for suppliers of the DZ BANK Group are applied as guidelines for dealing with external 
suppliers. Separate management guidelines also exist for employee management.

–

G4-EN1 + G4-EN2 Paper consumption1) and use of recycled paper 
[comparison with base year 2014 (kg)]

1) Paper consumption includes the following types of consumption: customer mail, copier paper, customer information (magazines, flyers, product brochures), reports, office 
supplies (stationery, business cards, letterheads) and tissue paper. All print jobs and paper orders are recorded in the company's procurement portal.  
This forms the basis for calculating paper quantities. Reports from the cleaning service provider are applied for tissue paper consumption. 

Paper consumption 2014 2015 Share in 2015 in %

Recycled paper 131,785 178,575 21%

FSC-certified paper 495,880 469,164 55%

PEFC-certified paper 372,058 200,899 24%

Non-certified paper 49,476 81 >1%

Total 1,049,199 848,719 100%
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Specific standard disclosures

DMA Page / Content Omissions
Reasons for 
omissions

Explanation for 
omission(s)

EA

Economic

Economic performance

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EC1 AR p. 50 – 51; p. 52 – 53
KPIs for the 
real estate 
portfolio.

The information 
is not currently 
available.

Data collection is 
largely dependent 
on other 
companies.

yes

G4-EC2

As part of the climate strategy that was created in 2015, a comprehensive 
inventory of climate risks was undertaken at company level. No specific 
direct climate risks were identified. The risks arising from a general 
intensification of climate policy were addressed by Union Investment setting 
itself the aim of fully realising the political objectives of the 2° target by 
2050 within the company.

Climate change risk primarily exists in connection with the securities and real 
estate portfolios held by our clients. On the whole, the CO2 values held in 
these portfolios are significantly higher than the emissions caused by Union 
Investment. Potential risks due to the mispricing of assets on the capital 
markets (stranded assets) represent a material long-term risk for clients. As a 
leading SRI asset manager, Union Investment offers its clients solutions for 
these problems allowing them to analyse these risks and minimise them 
where applicable. 

As part of its trustee obligations, Union Investment will take into account 
material climate change risks in its mutual funds when analysing and 
selecting securities. In the real estate sector, too, climate risks are an 
important element of the investment process when selecting and 
maintaining properties in fund portfolios.

KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

The information 
is not currently 
available.

Data collection 
would involve 
disproportionate 
manual effort.

–

G4-EC3

There is no separate fund specifically for our pension obligations.

All employees on permanent contracts at Union Investment receive a 
pension commitment. Information on provisions for employee benefits can 
be found in the annual reports of the individual companies. There are also 
the following social benefits, for example: job ticket, partial early retirement, 
childcare places, kindergarten subsidy.

–

G4-EC4

• The companies of the Union Investment Group did not receive any of the 
   listed forms of financial assistance during the period under review.
• The government is not present in the shareholder structure of the Union 
   Investment companies.

–

Procurement practices

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EC9

Due to the structure of the supplier portfolio, we are assuming that around 
75% of indirect materials are “locally” purchased goods and services. 
“Locally” is defined as procurement within the Federal Republic of Germany. 
A further 20% is considered to be purchased from EU member states. The 
budget volume outside the EU is estimated at 5%. The significant locations 
of operation are the parts of the Group in Germany and Luxembourg.

–

Environmental

Materials

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN1
The primary material used in the Group's operations is paper.  
See AR p. 160 –

G4-EN2 AR p. 160 –

Energy

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN3 Company level see AR p. 163
KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

The information 
is not currently 
available.

Only qualitative 
data is available; 
no quantitative 
data is collected.

–

DMA = Disclosure on Management Approach and Indicators EA = External audit

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 

161

Union Asset Management Holding AG Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2015 Key Performance Indicators



DMA Page / Content Omissions
Reasons for 
omissions

Explanation for 
omission(s)

EA

G4-EN5 Company level see AR p. 163 –

G4-EN6 Company level see AR p. 163
KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

The information 
is not currently 
available.

Instruments for 
collecting the 
necessary data 
are currently 
being developed.

–

Water

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN8
Company level:
See also AR p. 163

KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

The information 
is not material for 
the real estate 
portfolio.

Water for the 
funds is largely 
provided by the 
respective utility 
companies.

–

Emissions

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN15 AR p. 164
KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

Indicator not 
applicable.

Union Investment 
Real Estate's 
funds are a 
product whose 
emissions are 
reported as scope 
3; see G4-CRE3

–

G4-EN16 AR p. 164

G4-EN17

Company level see AR p. 164
Real estate portfolio: Scope 3 relates to the product level (real estate 
portfolio) and is reported in accordance with the G4-CRE3 indicator on p. 
151, 153 and 154.

–

G4-EN18 AR p. 164 –

G4-EN19 AR p. 164 –

Effluents and waste

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN22 AR p. 163 –

G4-EN23 AR p. 163
KPIs for the real 
estate portfolio.

The information 
is not material for 
the real estate 
portfolio.

Union Investment 
Real Estate 
GmbH's primary 
business model is 
the purchase, 
rental and sale of 
properties.

–

Products and services

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN27
For securities investments, Union Investment seeks to appeal to companies 
to reduce their emissions as part of its active share ownership. –

Compliance

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN29 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Transport

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN30 AR p. 164 –

DMA = Disclosure on Management Approach and Indicators EA = External audit

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 
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G4-EN3 + G4-EN5 + G4-EN6 Direct energy consumption 1) (fuels) by source 
[comparison with base year 2014 3) (MJ)]

G4-EN8 + G4-EN22 Total water withdrawal and water discharge by source 1) (m³)

2014 2015

Location/ 
fuel type Consumption in MJ Consumption in MJ Reduction vs. 

base year in MJ
Emissions per employee 

[MJ/FTE 2)]

Luxembourg

• Diesel 1,920,729.35 2,325,385.13 -404,655.8 910.5

• Natural gas 2,037,718.80 2,037,718.80 0.0 797.9

• Electricity 3,386,116.80 3,631,986.00 -245,869.2 1,422.1

Germany

• Petrol 522,885.27 556,806.97 -33,921.7 218.0

• Diesel 16,185,306.89 18,493,813.03 -2,308,506.1 7,241.1

• Natural gas 14,295,027.60 12,328,106.40 1,966,921.2 4,827.0

• District heating 7,000,326.00 5,921,797.14 1,078,528.9 2,318.6

• Electricity 28,814,115.60 32,751,573.55 -3,937,458.0 12,823.6

Total 74,162,226.31 78,047,187.02 -3,884,960.71 30,558.80

1) The KPIs are calculated on the basis of the utility bills and the report on the vehicle fleet. Missing data for individual locations is extrapolated on the basis of employee de-
velopment. Fuel consumption is converted into quantities of energy using the factors published by the German Society for Environmental Management and Sustainability in 
Financial Institutions (VfU). Direct energy consumption relates to non-renewable sources. The energy intensity ratio is based on energy consumption within the organisation.

2) FTE = full-time equivalent = equivalent to the workload of a full-time employee.
3) The base year of 2014 was selected on account of the target agreement in the sustainability programme; see p. 138.

1) Union Investment exclusively uses drinking water from the communal water supply in its buildings, and hence discharges waste water into the communal drainage  
systems. Water and waste water volumes are based on the utility bills. If these are not available for the current reporting year, they are extrapolated on the basis of  
employee  development. 

2) The change in water withdrawal between 2014 and 2015 was due to: a) the opening of a second staff restaurant at the new location in Frankfurt, b) the conversion  
of the drinking water supply from bottles to a fresh water system at the new location in Frankfurt.

3) The difference between water withdrawal and waste water discharge is due to water used for cooking, kettles, plant care and evaporation due to air conditioning.

1) Volumes of waste are calculated on the basis of reports or disposal certificates via the waste register. In the rare cases where waste data is not available, e.g. where 
 collection containers are shared with other tenants, the data is extrapolated on the basis of the number of employees at the respective location. Our disposal companies  
are responsible for selecting the disposal method. Toner waste is returned to the service provider of our printing service provider.

2013 2014 2015

Water withdrawal 2) 27,481 26,574 35,261

Water discharge 3) 24,710 24,122 33,414

Water withdrawal per employee 11.8 10.7 13.8

Type of waste 2015

Paper waste [t] 346.4

Mixed packaging [t] 9.9

Residual waste [t] 160.0

Other

Lamps [kg] 9.0

Old batteries [kg] 6.0

Commercial waste [t] 179.5

Data carriers [kg] 197.0

Electronic waste [kg] 5,155.0

Toner waste [kg] 3,519.4

G4-EN23 Total weight of waste by type and disposal method 1)
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Source of green-
house gas emissions 2009 2015 Scope Reduction vs. 

base year
Emissions per  

employee [kg/FTE]

Vehicle fleet
(fuel consumption) 2,992.2 2,355.9 Scope 1 636.3 922.4

Heating 1,605.2 1,029.6 Scope 1 575.7 403.1

Loss of coolant 0.0 0.0 Scope 1 0.0 0.0

District heating 148.6 270.1 Scope 2 -121.5 105.7

Electricity consumption 6,929.8 714.5 Scope 2 6,215.3 279.8

Paper consumption 1,385.1 1,019.8 Scope 3 365.4 399.3

Travel (rail, rental car, air-
craft, private car) 3,621.3 3,511.0 Scope 3 110.4 1,374.7

Water supply 19.4 26.4 Scope 3 -7.0 10.3

Hotel accommodation 68.4 82.1 Scope 3 -13.7 32.2

Commuter traffic 2,138.9 2,497.8 Scope 3 -358.9 978.0

Letters 621.7 13.6 Scope 3 608.1 5.3

Packages 116.4 0.0 Scope 3 116.4 0.0

Waste 115.6 480.1 Scope 3 -364.5 188.0

Events 3,567.1 3,567.1 Scope 3 0.0 1,396.7

Toner consumption 50.7 36.2 Scope 3 14.5 14.2

Total 23,380.6 15,604.0 – 7,776.6 6,109.6

Electricity consumption 6,929.85 6,578.35 Scope 2 351.5 2,575.7

Total ²) 23,380.60 21,467.87 – 1,912.7 8,405.6

G4-EN15 + G4-EN16 + G4-EN17 + G4-EN18 + G4-EN19 Total direct, indirect and other greenhouse 
gas emissions by weight (t CO2 equivalent) 1), reduction compared with the base year of 2009 and 
greenhouse gas emissions intensity.

Scope 2 electricity consumption based on the energy mix for Germany 2)

1) With the development of a climate strategy, the system boundaries of the carbon footprint have been extended to include all relevant upstream and downstream scope 3 
emissions (CDP standard; GHG market-based method). This was necessary in order to record the climate impact along the company's entire value chain. 2009 was applied 
as the base year because this was the year in which the environmental management system was introduced, meaning it provides the best possible transparency with regard 
to the measures already implemented. In recalculating the base year, only the values for events and toner consumption were required to be extrapolated retrospectively as 
there was insufficient data available. The carbon footprint is calculated on the basis of utility bills and reports from service providers. Manufacturer information was applied 
for the emission factors where possible. Where this information was not available, the factors published by the VfU were applied. 

2) Shows the emissions from electricity consumption (GHG location-based method) where this was not purchased as renewable energy.

1) The KPIs are calculated on the basis of travel expense reports and reports 
from service providers. The figures do not include the distances travelled us-
ing company cars, as these are also used privately and are already reported 
extensively in G4-EN3. 

G4-EN30 Environmental impacts of transport – business trips and logistics 1)

Means of transport 2015 Distance Distance per 
employee

Flight [km] 10,359,354.00 4,056.13

Car [km] 1,237,541.09 484.55

Rail [km] 3,558,851.00 1,393.44

Delivery 2015 Consignments

Letters sent within Germany [number] 20,173,730.00

Letters sent within Europe [number] 111,720.00

Packages sent [number] 104,719.00
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DMA Page / Content Omissions
Reasons for 
omissions

Explanation for 
omission(s)

EA

Supplier environmental assessment

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-EN32 0% –

G4-EN33

• Number of suppliers subject to environmental impact assessments: 9
• Number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 
   negative environmental impacts: 0
• Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 
   negative environmental impacts with which improvements were agreed 
   upon as a result of assessment: 0
• Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential
   negative environmental impacts with which with which relationships were
   terminated as a result of assessment: 0

–

Social 

Labour practices and decent work

Employment

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA1 AR p. 165 –

G4-LA2
No distinction is made between full-time and part-time employees for work 
benefits. –

Occupational health and safety

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA6

The following statistics contain all the accidents required to be reported 
under the German Occupational Safety Act (absence of more than three 
days) as well as all accidents not required to be reported but resulting in 
employee absence, providing that they were reported to Group HR in the 
form of an accident report. There is no breakdown by region due to the low 
number of accidents. 
• Occupational accidents: 40
• Occupational accident rate: 1%
• Travel accidents: 35
• Travel accident rate: 1%
• Fatalities: 0
• Lost days: men 86 days, women 88 days
• Lost day rate: 0.03%
• Workplace accidents: 4
• Workplace accident rate: 1.54%
• Sick days: 26,486
• Sick day rate: 4.40%

–

Training and education

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA9

• Training at head of division level: 27.1 hours per employee
• Training at head of department level: 44.5 hours per employee
• Training at group manager level: 37.8 hours per employee
• Training at group manager level: 24.1 hours per employee
• Training, men: 31.5 hours per employee
• Training, women: 19.8 hours per employee

–

< 30 30 – 50 > 50 Total

Male 32 79 5 116

Female 37 60 3 100

< 30 30 – 50 > 50 Total

Male 7 36 1 44

Female 2 39 4 45

< 30 30 – 50 > 50

by age 0.33% 2.76% 0.18%

Male 1.66%

Female 1.62%

Total 3.28%

G4-LA1 New employee hires1) in 2015 by age 
group and gender

G4-LA1 Overall turnover in 2015 by age group and gender

G4-LA1 Number of employees who left the 
company in 2015 by age group and gender

1)  Only a person joining Union Investment for the first time is considered a new appointment.

DMA = Disclosure on Management Approach and Indicators EA = External audit

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 
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Female % Male % under 30 (%) 30-50 (%) over 50 (%)
Board of Managing Di-
rectors and heads of di-
vision

6.7 93.3 0 46.7 53.3

Heads of department 15.2 84.8 0 77.7 22.3

Group managers 14.1 85.9 0 84.6 15.4

Employees 48.3 51.7 9.1 77.2 13.7

Junior staff – – – – –

G4-LA12 Percentage of employees per employee category by gender and age group

DMA Page / Content Omissions
Reasons for 
omissions

Explanation for 
omission(s)

EA

G4-LA10

HR development at Union Investment is based on a multi-dimensional 
approach:

1. Needs-driven development (adjusting or upgrading for direct workplace 
requirements)
2. Potential development (qualification for future requirements or taking on 
further functions)
3. Promoting internal employability (grasp of processes and connections with 
regard to diverse employability).

Different target group-specific programmes and instruments are used. 
Knowledge management systems are used in various organisational units.

Transition assistance programmes to facilitate continued employability and 
the management of career endings resulting from retirement or termination 
of employment are not provided.

Not relevant for 
Union Investment 
as a service 
company.

–

G4-LA11

• Percentage of employees receiving appraisal and feedback interviews: 
   100%
• Percentage of employees receiving target agreement and attainment 
   interviews: 65.7% (2,717 employees)
Both employees covered by collective bargaining agreements (appraisal 
interview) and employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements 
(target agreement interview) receive a review at least once a year. In the 
case of employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements, this 
relates to 1,251 men and 577 women.

–

Diversity and equal opportunity

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA12

• Percentage of female employees in the workforce as a whole: 43.7%
• Percentage of male employees in the workforce as a whole: 56.3%
• Percentage of minority groups in the workforce as a whole: 0%
• Percentage of female employees at management level: 14.0%
• Percentage of male employees at management level: 85.9%
• Percentage of minority groups at management level: 0%
• Percentage of employees at management level under 30 years old: 0%
• Percentage of employees at management level 30-50 years old: 81%
• Percentage of employees at management level over 50 years old: 19%
See also AR p. 166

–

Equal remuneration for women and men

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA13

The different pay systems for collective bargaining and non-collective 
bargaining are the same for all employee groups at all locations, regardless 
of age, gender or other diversifications. There can be slight differences in the 
basic salary of men and women depending on employee group, but some 
salaries are at the same level. There is no discernible significant difference 
between the sexes in terms of basic salaries or annual pay adjustments.

–

Supplier assessment for impacts on society

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-LA14 Percentage of new suppliers screened using labour practices criteria: 0% –

DMA = Disclosure on Management Approach and Indicators EA = External audit

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 
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G4-LA15

• Number of suppliers subject to impact assessments for labour practices: 9
• Number of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential 
   negative impacts for labour practices: 0
• Percentage of suppliers identified as having significant actual and potential
   negative impacts for labour practices with which improvements were 
   agreed upon as a result of assessment: 0
• There are no significant actual or potential negative impacts for labour 
   practices in the supply chain. The specific characteristics of Union 
   Investment's industry combined with the aforementioned focus in terms of
   sourcing means we do not have any services/suppliers with material 
   connections to the low-wage sector or with a connection to ethically or 
   socially controversial goods or practices. Our supplier portfolio primarily 
   consists of consultants, developers, agencies, service providers, production
   companies (media), trainers and others. Our suppliers are mostly located in 
   Germany and are subject to national occupational safety legislation.

–

Social: Human rights

Non-discrimination

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-HR3 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Society

Anti-corruption

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-SO3 Number of units assessed for corruption: 16 / 100% –

G4-SO4

• Governance body members that the organisation’s anti-corruption policies 
   and procedures have been communicated to: not specified.
• Number and percentage of employees that the organisation’s 
   anti-corruption policies and procedures have been communicated to: not 
   specified.
• Business partners that the organisation’s anti-corruption policies and 
   procedures have been communicated to, broken down by type of business 
   partner and region: 0
• Percentage of governance body members that have received training on 
   anti-corruption: 3 members, 100%
• Employees that have received training on anti-corruption: 983 employees, 
   100%

The governance body is coordinated by a central unit managed by 
Compliance. The precise scope of the additional committee members to be 
involved is determined on a case-by-case basis. Typically, the Legal 
department, Internal Audit, the affected specialist department and the HR 
department are involved.

–

G4-SO5 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Public policy

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-SO6
As a matter of principle, the Union Investment Group does not contribute 
financially or provide benefits in kind to political parties or politicians. –

Anti-competitive behaviour

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-SO7 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Compliance

G4-DMA

G4-SO8 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Product responsibility

Product and service labelling

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-PR3

The Union Investment Group is committed to abiding by the code of conduct 
of the Federal Association of German Fund Management Companies (BVI). It 
therefore also respects the standards of the code when reporting on the 
performance of its funds.

–

G4-PR4 None in the 2015 reporting year. –
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DMA Page / Content Omissions
Reasons for 
omissions

Explanation for 
omission(s)

EA

G4-PR5

Company level:
Customer surveys are conducted every two years by telephone interview for 
the following target groups: managers and consultants at cooperative 
partner banks, private and institutional investors, commercial tenants, attrax 
broker banks and institutional clients of attrax. In the intervening years, 
customer surveys are carried out to a smaller extent as needed.

Results of the customer survey:
• 93% of institutional clients are either exceptionally happy (1) or very 
   happy (2) with Union Investment.
• 92% of brokers at Genossenschaftliche Finanzgruppe and 93% of 
   managers are either exceptionally happy (1) or very happy (2) with Union
   Investment.
• 50% of private investors are either exceptionally happy (1) or very happy
   (2) with Union Investment.
• 63% of tenants of fund properties are either exceptionally happy (1) or 
   very happy (2) with Union Investment.

Union Investment also values customer feedback outside the biannual 
surveys. It therefore conducts systematic market research on a recurring 
basis. Quality assurance is performed for every customer contact, whether via 
the website, regular publications for the different customer groups by e-mail 
or written correspondence or at events.

Real estate portfolio:
An annual tenant survey is conducted to measure tenant satisfaction and 
retention and allow tenants to evaluate their property manager. Specific 
measures are derived from the results of this survey. A survey of selected 
institutional clients on topics such as real estate expertise is also conducted 
every year.

–

Marketing communications

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-PR6
Union Investment does not invest in products that are outlawed under the 
Oslo and Ottawa Conventions. Information on the exclusion criteria for 
investments can be found under G4-FS11.

–

G4-PR7 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Customer privacy     

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-PR8 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Compliance     

G4-DMA http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-PR9 None in the 2015 reporting year. –

Industry-related disclosures (G4-FS and G4-CRE)     

G4-DMA 
(FS1)

http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-DMA 
(FS2)

http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-DMA 
(FS3)

http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-DMA 
(FS4)

http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-DMA 
(FS5)

http://ui-link.de/csrmanagement2015en –

G4-FS6 AR p. 28 – 30 –

G4-FS7

An inventory of assets under management managed using ESG criteria was 
carried out in 2015. This resulted in reclassification from the Retail Clients 
segment to the Institutional Clients segment. Furthermore, the sustainable 
mandates of the subsidiary Quoniam were included in full for the first time, 
which is the main reason for the significant increase in assets under 
management for institutional investors.
Assets under management for sustainably managed products:
• Private investors: EUR 1,679,500,000
• Institutional investors: EUR 16,250,500,000
• Total : EUR 17,930,000,000

–

G4-FS8 See G4-FS7 –

DMA = Disclosure on Management Approach and Indicators EA = External audit

AR = Annual and CSR Report 2015 AR Magazine = Magazine accompanying the Annual and CSR Report 2015 
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Audit     

G4-DMA

Relevant ESG criteria are established and controlled in governance in the 
balanced scorecard and in risk management. Ecological risks are also 
regularly audited, analysed and controlled by the environmental 
management system, which is certified according to ISO 14001. For the key 
factor for a service provider “Employees”, social issues are included in the 
regular external audit programme “Germany’s Top Employers”. Deficiencies 
that arise or potential for improvement are included in future company 
planning and target planning for the persons in the company responsible 
following a resolution by the Board of Managing Directors.

–

Active ownership

G4-DMA
• Proxy voting policy: http://ui-link.de/proxyvoting
• Voting policies by company and region: 
   http://ui-link.de/abstimmungsverhalten

–

G4-FS10

As part of its business activity, Union Investment uses ESG checks to 
examine all relevant service providers and suppliers. The approximately 30 
largest suppliers are subject to an annual review in terms of the relevant 
environmental and social aspects, including in the form of face-to-face 
meetings in some cases. In our investment activities, we conduct more than 
4,000 discussions with companies every year, at which we also address 
environmental and social issues. We also exercise our trustee owner voting 
rights on predefined issues (voting policy) or in response to current events. In 
2015, this occurred in more than 1,000 cases.

–

G4-FS11

Application of negative criteria to 100% of non-current assets. Application of 
positive criteria to 6.37% of non-current assets.
Combined application of negative and positive criteria to 6.37% of 
non-current assets.

The following criteria are applied in Union Investment's standardised 
sustainability approach. These are not yet prescribed by law:

1. Negative criteria for companies:
a) ILO labour standards including child labour and forced labour, b) human 
rights, c) environmental protection, d) anti-corruption, e) cluster bombs1), 
landmines1), nuclear energy, f) animal testing for cosmetic purposes, g) 
armaments 2), h) pornography, gambling, tobacco production, alcohol 
production 2), i) controversial genetic engineering 2), j) coal 3)

2. Negative criteria for states:
a) undemocratic regime, b) restrictions on religious freedom, c) use of the 
death penalty, d) high degree of corruption, e) nuclear energy (exclusion if > 
35% of the total energy mix)

3. Positive criteria:
a) solar technology, b) wind power technology, c) thermal insulation, d) 
green building materials, e) fair trade, f) education, g) recycling, h) 
environmental consulting, i) LEDs, j) white biotechnology, k) water 
infrastructure, l) membranes, m) medical technology, n) diagnostics, o) rail, p) 
electric cars and batteries

–

G4-CRE1 AR p. 151 and 155 (method described on p. 148) –

G4-CRE2 AR p. 151 and 155 (method described on p. 148) –

G4-CRE3 AR p. 151 and 154 (method described on p. 148) –

G4-CRE8 AR p. 144
KPIs for 
performance 
improvement.

The information 
is not currently 
available.

The performance 
improvements in 
accordance with 
the last 
paragraph cannot 
be reported at 
present.

–

1) UN Global Compact, Oslo and Ottawa Conventions.
2) Exclusion if revenue > 5% of total revenue.
3) Exclusion if > 30% of revenue or energy production from coal.
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Note on forward-looking statements

The Group management report and other sections of 
this annual report contain forward-looking state-
ments that are based on current planning, assump-
tions and estimates rather than on historical facts. 
Forward-looking statements always apply to the time 
the statements are made. We accept no obligation to 
update content on the basis of new information or 
future events after the publication of this information. 
We have derived our assessments and conclusions 
from these forward-looking statements, expecta-
tions and forecasts. We explicitly draw attention to 
the fact that all our forward-looking statements are 
subject to known or unknown risks and uncertainties 
and are based on conclusions that relate to future 
events. These in turn are subject to risks, uncertain-
ties and other factors outside our control. Such risks, 
uncertainties and other factors can arise from changes 
in general economic conditions or the competitive 
environment, trends on the capital markets, changes in 
the tax/legal framework and other risks. Actual events 
in the future can therefore differ substantially from our 
forward-looking statements, expectations, forecasts 
and conclusions. We accept no liability for the accu-
racy or completeness of the information provided and 
can make no warranty that future situations will occur 
as described.

General disclaimer

Unless stated otherwise, the past performance of the 
funds has been determined on the basis of Union 
Investment’s own calculations using the BVI method 
(front-end fees not included, where applicable). Past 
performance is not necessarily a guide to future per-
formance. For extensive product-specific information 
and details of the opportunities and risks of Union 
Investment Group funds, please refer to the latest 
sales prospectuses, the company’s terms and condi-
tions or the annual and half-yearly reports, which can 
be obtained free of charge from the customer service 
offered by Union Investment Service Bank AG at 
Weißfrauenstraße 7, 60311 Frankfurt/Main, Germany. 
These documents constitute the sole binding basis for 
the purchase of funds. The content of this annual re-
port does not constitute a recommendation to take a 
specific course of action; it is not a substitute for per-
sonal investment advice from the Bank or for expert 
personal tax advice. Although Union Asset Manage-
ment Holding AG has taken due care in preparing and 
producing this document, Union Investment makes 
no guarantee that the information contained is up to 
date, accurate and complete. Only the printed annual 
report and sustainability report for 2015 are legally 
binding. The online and app versions of the report are 
for information purposes only.
Revision date of all information, disclosures, explana-
tions, charts and diagrams: 4 March 2016, unless 
stated otherwise.

Formal aspects of the report
 
In the interests of simplicity, this report uses only 
the male form. Naturally the female form is also 
always included. To improve readability, repeated use 
throughout the report of the full legal form of the 
names of group companies has been avoided. The 
2015 annual report and CSR report are available in 
both German and English. They can be accessed at 
www.die-summe-des-vertrauens.de as an interactive 
report and PDF download.
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